

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

Copyright © 2001-2024 EMCO. All rights reserved.

Company web site: emcosoftware.com

Support e-mail: support@emcosoftware.com

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	
Chapter 2: Getting Started	6
Getting to Know the Program Interface	
Overview of MSI Creation Methods	
How Installation Repackaging Works	
Overview of Repackaging Best Practices	
Demo: Create Customized Installations Using Monitoring	
Demo: Repackage Silent Installations Using Wrapping	6
Installation Project Editing and Customizing	
Selecting the Monitoring Environment	6
How to Create an App-V Package	
How to Create an MSIX Package	
Packages Testing and Troubleshooting	
Chapter 3: Program Interface Overview	
Welcome View	
Projects View	
Packages View	
Log view	
Graphical User Interface features	
Chapter 4 Installations Papaskosing	
Chapter 4: Installations Repackaging	
How to Choose a Repackaging Method	113
Capture Installations	
Capture System Changes	
Repackaging via wrapping	
Projects Prenaration	
How should I configure the repackaged installations to support an upgrade?	
Repackaging in Windows Sandbox	
Repackaging on a Virtual Machine	113
Chapter 5: Creating a Package	
MSI Packaging	
MSIX Packaging	
App-V Packaging	
Signing Packages	
Chapter 6: Installation Projects	191
Projects Management	
File System Modifications	
Registry Modifications	
Services Modifications	
Side-by-side Assemblies Deployment	
Drivers Deployment	191
Printers Deployment	
Windows Firewall Modifications	
Scheduled Tasks Modifications	
Nested Packages Deployment	
Using Custom Actions	
Using Placeholders	191
Exporting a Project	
Importing a Project	
Chapter 7: Packages Management	
Packages Testing	
Chapter 8: Command-Line Interface	
Monitoring Command	
Package Building and Signing Commands	
Repackaging Commands	
Project Import and Export Commands	
Chapter 9: Log	

Contents

Analyzing Log	
Exporting Log	
Chapter 10: Program Preferences	
MSI Package Builder Part	
Filters Part	
Miscellaneous Part	
Chapter 11: Evaluation of the Program	
Evaluation Wizard	
Where can I get my License Code?	
How should I formulate the Extended License request?	
Chapter 12: Program Updates	
Live Update	
Major Update	
Chapter 13: Requirements	
Chapter 14: Edition Upgrade	
Chapter 15: How can I leave my Feedback?	
Chapter 16: About EMCO Software	
Chapter 17: Contact Information	
•	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Welcome to EMCO MSI Package Builder. The program is designed to help you with repackaging of non-silent installations into silent MSI packages, virtual App-V packages and MSIX/AppX packages. This allows you to deploy repackaged installations remotely using any of software distribution tools, Microsoft Application Virtualization technology, Windows Store, sideloading or local distribution network. You can also use the program to create and test silent custom installations quickly and easily. This manual provides you with a detailed description of the program's features and shows you how to use these features in practice.



Downloading the Program

You can download the program on the *Downloads* page of the website. The download includes a free 30-days trial of the Architect edition of the program. It provides access to all the available features. You can compare the features of the different editions on the *Compare Editions* page of the website.

You can use an evaluation version during 30 days. After this period, you have to register the program to continue using it. Packages generated by an evaluation copy have some limitations: they can be deployed during 30 days following their generation date and are displayed with the evaluation mark in Windows Programs and Features after being deployed.

Using Documentation

The program is designed to provide you with an easy and straightforward approach to repackaging third-party installations and creating customized installations in the MSI, App-V and MSIX/AppX formats. To repackage an installation, you just need to follow the steps of the repackaging wizard, and you will get an automatically generated MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX in the end. It means that you can use the program without referring to the documentation.

If you wish to get an overview of the program features, to understand how the program works and to see how to use the main features in practice, you can read the Getting Started guide. To get more information about the program features, you can refer to the corresponding chapters of this manual.

Getting Help

If you see that a generated MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX package doesn't work as required, first you need to check if the repackaging best practices were followed during the repackaging since the repackaging results depend on the compliance with the repackaging requirements and other aspects. You can learn more about this in the Overview of the Repackaging Best Practices chapter. You can also refer to MSI Packages Testing and Troubleshooting to learn about the general troubleshooting recommendations.

To get help on a problem, you can also *contact support*. Please send us the problem details including the name and the version of the installation you try to repackage, the OS name and the platform (x86 or x64) of your repackaging environment, and the problem description. This information should help the support team to reproduce the problem and provide you with troubleshooting instructions.

Chapter 2: Getting Started

EMCO MSI Package Builder is a packaging tool that allows you to repackage non-silent installations into silent MSI packages and create custom silent installations quickly and easily. The program uses a unique repackaging technology that allows converting almost any non-silent installation into a silent MSI to enable its automatic deployment using Group Policy or other software distribution tools. The same technology can be used for automatic creation of customized MSI packages. If you need to repackage applications into App-V or MSIX/AppX, the program can cope with this task as well.



Using EMCO MSI Package Builder, you can benefit from the following features that are demonstrated in the course of this tutorial.

- **Multiple MSI packaging methods**. Depending on the project, you can use one of the provided packaging methods that are suitable for that project. You can convert non-silent installations into a silent MSI automatically using Live Monitoring. In the specific cases, when Live Monitoring cannot be used, you can wrap installations into an MSI package if those installations can be deployed silently.
- **Best-in-class repackaging technology**. The program allows you to repackage a non-silent installation of any complexity into a silent MSI package. The program supports repackaging of installations that perform complex changes such as modifying file system and registry permissions, installing Windows services and drivers, changing Windows environment variables, etc.

- Automatic MSI creation. The program allows you to repackage EXE to MSI automatically: you just need to go through the deployment steps of the original EXE installation, and the program will capture all the performed changes on the fly and generate an MSI for you. You can also use the Live Monitoring technology to monitor any activity on a PC and generate an MSI reproducing the captured changes.
- **Easy MSI customization**. Having created an MSI package, you can edit it, if required. You can have an access to all captured changes to modify them or add additional changes. You can also configure the MSI package to execute any scripts or executable files before and after the MSI installation.
- **Repackaging on virtual machines**. You can repackage installations not only on a local machine but also on virtual machines by connecting to Hyper-V, VMware and VirtualBox servers. In this case, you can install a single copy of the program and repackage installations on different virtual machines.
- **Repackaging in Windows Sandbox**. You can use Windows Sandbox running on the local machine for repackaging installations in a clean environment. Windows Sandbox is available on the modern Windows versions, it doesn't require any setup and allows you to repackage installations in an isolated, clean OS environment.
- **App-V packaging**. In addition to generating MSI packages, the program can also create App-V packages. The procedure of repackaging into virtual packages is the same as repackaging into MSI, so you only need to change the output format. Moreover, if you have a previously stored project, you can open it and generate an App-V package without repeating the repackaging process.
- **MSIX/AppX packaging**. Together with generating classic MSI packages and App-V virtualization packages, the program can also create MSIX (targeting Windows 10 October 2018 Update or later) or AppX (earlier versions of Windows 10) packages, that can be distributed through Windows Store, installed by sideloading or distributed in local networks.
- **Packages deployment testing**. The program enables testing of packages by deploying them on a local machine or VM to verify installation, uninstallation, and functionality.

In the following chapters, you will learn about different packaging methods offered by the program and will see how to use them in practice. In addition, you will get a brief overview of the installation repackaging internals and best practices. Finally, you will learn how to test generated packages and how to troubleshoot packaging problems.

What's Inside

Getting to Know the Program Interface Overview of MSI Creation Methods How Installation Repackaging Works Overview of Repackaging Best Practices Demo: Repackage EXE to MSI Using Monitoring Demo: Create Customized Installations Using Monitoring Demo: Repackage Silent Installations Using Wrapping Installation Project Editing and Customizing Selecting the Monitoring Environment How to Create an App-V Package How to Create an MSIX Package Packages Testing and Troubleshooting

Getting to Know the Program Interface

When you start EMCO MSI Package Builder the first time, you can see the main screen of the program and the **Repackage Installation** wizard displayed at the top of it. The main goal of the program is installation repackaging, so the wizard is designed to guide you through the repackaging process. In the wizard, you can select the required repackaging method, choose the installations to be repackaged, configure the deployment package settings, etc. In the next chapter, you will learn how to select the right repackaging method in the wizard and you will see how to use the wizard in practice in the following chapters.

The program has a Ribbon user interface, so the Ribbon menu is displayed at the top of the screen providing you with access to the main actions of the program. Different types of the actions are located on different Ribbon tabs, so you can switch them, if required. Additional Ribbon tabs are displayed automatically when specific elements are selected and provide you access to the contextual actions.

The main screen of the program provides access to the several views, which can be accessed using the vertical navigator on the left side. **Welcome** is the default view **Pic 1**. It features a list of recent projects on the left and the program's primary functions on the right. These functions allow users to repackage installations, open existing projects, and test the packages they have created. Additionally, the **Welcome** view provides links to a video tour of the program and its technical documentation.

Ē	3 Ø ▶ Ø		EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect 🛛 🙁 — 🗆	×
	W Home View Program			
Repa	ckage lation Installations Changes Repackage	m Wrap Installation Projects	t Test Start Manage Deployment Packages Capture Virtualization	^
	MSI Package B Architect	Builder		
	Open Recent		Get Started	
	P]	~ Repackage	-
	✓ Today Adobe Reader 11 D:\MSIPBRoot	12/5/2023 12:15 AM	Capture Installations Repackage single or multiple installations by capturing their changes. The program initiates monitoring, runs specified installations, automatically ceases monitoring, and generates an output package upon completion.	
	LibreOffice D:\MSIPBRoot	12/5/2023 12:07 AM	Capture System Changes Capture system changes to create an output package. The program initiates monitoring, you need to make the required changes and manually cease monitoring. An output package is generated upon completion.	
	Yesterday Adobe Packages D:\MSIPBRoot	12/4/2023 11:33 PM	Wrap Installation Create an MSI package by wrapping existing installations. Repackage single or multiple installations, which support silent deployment, into an output MSI package.	
	Manager Toolkit D:\MSIPBRoot	12/4/2023 11:32 PM	V Project Management Create Empty Project Create a new project and save it to the project storage. The new, empty project can be configured with a list of changes and use to ensemble an output datage.	d
Welcome	Get Help ② Getting Started 데 What's new	Video Tour Contact Support	Open Existing Project Open one or multiple projects from those available in the project storage. Once open, projects can be edited or used to generate deployment packages.	e
	Log 🗵 Operations			
Done			Cipboard: None	L ai

Pic 1. The main screen

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

To manage installation projects you can switch to the **Projects** view using the navigator, located on the left of the main screen. In the **Projects** tree you can see currently opened projects. You can have more than one project opened to be able to copy data between the projects. A project consists of different types of resources. If you select a project node in the **Projects** tree, you can see and edit the project settings. If you select, for example, the **File System** node, you can review and modify files and folders in an installation project using the file system editor **Pic 2**. There are different editors for managing different types of resources, so you need to select the required item in the **Projects** tree to review and modify its content using the corresponding editor.

Were Project View Program File System System Drive Folder System File	- 8 8 ▶	 ∉ × -		File System Tools	EMCO MSI	Package Builder Architect				30	-	٥	×
Projects File System Image: Strate	System Folder	ne Project View Folder Sync File Folder New	Program Program Shortcut	File System Edit Delete Copy Move To To Management	Folder File	Roll Unroll Roll System Folders	Unroll All Presentation						^
	Projects Pro	jects Storage rojects in the storage be Reader 11 ion: 11.0.337 File System 450 entries Priverses No entries Services Services 3 entries Drivers No entries Drivers No entries Drivers No entries Scheduled Tasks No entries Scheduled Tasks No entries Scheduled Tasks No entries Scheduled Tasks No entries Scheduled Tasks No entries Services Scheduled Tasks No entries Scheduled Tasks No entries Scheduled Tasks No entries Scheduled Tasks No entries		File System CommonProgramMenuFolde File Spote FrogramFilesFolder File Spote Reader Reader File Reader File Resource File File File File File File File Fil		Name AIR AIR Browser DTemplates lavascripts Legal plug_ins plug_ins3d Services Tracker A3DUtils.dll AccoRd32.dll AccoRd32.dll AccoRd32.dll AccoRd32.dll AccoRd32.dll AccoRd32.lnfo.exe AccoRd32.	manifest	k.	Size	Attributes			
Store AdobeXMP.dll 297,096 AdobeXMP.dll 4,902,966 AGM.dll 1727	Log	2 Operations		ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11	.0\Reader	AdobeXMP.dll AGM.dll AGMGPLIOotlo.ini			297,096 4,902,968 1 727				

Pic 2. The program screen with an opened project

To manage the program's stored projects, select the **Projects Storage** node within the **Projects** tree. It enables you to manage the project storage location, browsing available projects, opening projects for editing, deleting, or importing projects into the storage **Pic 3**.



Pic 3. Projects storage

You can manage generated packages in the **Packages** view, accessible through the navigation bar on the left. This view lists all generated packages, allows you to manage them and provides options to test their deployment **Pic 4**.

😰 🖉 🕨 🕼 🕞	≋ – ¤ X
Import Edit Remove Check All Packages Import Edit Remove Remove All Missing Packages Deployment Package Management Links Links Presentation Presentation By Type Wanage Virtualization	^
Image: Register of the system of the syst	2 📋 1
Adobe Reader MSI Packages App-V Packages App-V Packages App-V Packages App-V Packages App-V Packages	MSIX/AppX Package
MSI [9.3] Alex Delorian 12/6/2023 98.13 MB C:\msi\Adobe Reader 9\Adobe Reader 9\msi 98.13 MB C:\msi\Adobe Reader 9\Adobe Reader 9\msi	
Adobe Keader11 MSI [11.0.3.37] Alex Delorian [12/5/2023 175.23 MB C\msi\Adobe Reader11\Adobe Reader11\msi Import an installation package into the package int	ist.
LibreOffice MSI 7.0.0.3 Alex Delorian 12/5/2023 505.82 MB C:\msi\LibreOffice\Libre	
Manager Toolkit App-V 1.0.0.0 Alex Delorian 12/6/2023 C:\msi\Manager Toolkit\Manager Toolkit.appv	
Open Office App-V 4.1.1 EMCO 12/6/2023 288.93 MB C:\msi\Open Office\Open Office.appv	
RealWorld Cursor Editor MSIX/AppX 13.1.0.0 RealWorld Graphics 12/6/2023 10.13 MB C:\msi\RWCursorEditor32\RWCursorEditor32.msix	
I Log I Operations Done	X.a

Pic 4. Packages view

At the bottom of the main screen, you can see the **Log** and **Operations** views. The **Log** view reports status information for deployment packages generation and other operations. You can use this view to find error messages and troubleshooting information in case of a problem. The **Operations** view displays the currently running operations and allows you to manage them.

You can learn more about the available views and editors in the **Program Interface Overview** chapter where you can find detailed explanations of features provided by every view.

Overview of MSI Creation Methods

EMCO MSI Package Builder is designed to create silent MSI packages, i.e. packages that can be deployed without interacting with a user. Such packages can be deployed manually on a local PC or remotely across a network using any remote software distribution tool.

The primary feature of EMCO MSI Package Builder is repackaging of non-silent installations into silent MSI packages. This allows you to convert non-silent installations, which cannot be deployed remotely, into MSI packages that are ready for remote deployment. You can use the program in many other cases, for example, to create custom silent installations or to combine multiple installations into a single MSI package. The program offers different approaches to creating an MSI to be used in different cases, so you need to know all available options and their features to select the right approach for every case.

What is Monitoring, Wrapping and Manual Creation?

The primary method of MSI creation is monitoring, which is available in all editions of the program. Using this method, you can repackage non-silent installations into silent MSI packages and create custom silent installations according to your needs. It uses the Live Monitoring technology to capture all changes performed under Windows to create an MSI reproducing such changes. You can learn how it works in the How Installation Repackaging Works chapter.

The other MSI creation methods are wrapping and manual creation. Wrapping is available in the Enterprise and Architect editions of the program. It can be used to repackage Windows system installations that cannot be repackaged using monitoring. This method allows including one or multiple silent installations in the EXE or MSI format into an MSI package, so the included installations are deployed silently when you deploy the wrap MSI. Besides, you can create silent MSI packages manually through visual editors by specifying the changes to be included into an MSI.

How to use these MSI creation methods in the program? When you start the program for the first time, the **Repackage Installation** wizard is displayed automatically **Pic 1**. In the Enterprise and Architect editions of the program, as the first step, you need to select if you would like to use monitoring or wrapping. In the Professional edition, you cannot use wrapping, so you need to select the capturing type that will be described later in this chapter. If you wish to create an MSI manually though editors, you can close the wizard and create a new project using the Ribbon options.

Repackage Installation Wizard × Repackaging Method Select whether you would like to monitor changes performed by the existing installations or to wrap the existing installations into an MSI package. Image: Compact a package by capturing the file system and registry changes performed by the existing installations. Select this option to repackage any type of executable installations, except for installations that deploy Windows system components. Also, use this option if you want to capture the system changes and generate a package reproducing those changes. Wrapping (generate MSI packages) Image: Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repackage installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and you know how to configure them to be deployed silently. Learn more about the repackaging methods Image: About the repackaging methods Reak Next > Finish		
Repackaging Method Select whether you would like to monitor changes performed by the existing installations or to wrap the existing installations into an MSI package. • Monitoring (generate MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX packages) Create a package by capturing the file system and registry changes performed by the existing installations. Select this option to repackage any type of executable installations, except for installations that deploy Windows system components. Also, use this option if you want to capture the system changes and generate a package reproducing those changes. Wrapping (generate MSI packages) Wrapping (generate MSI packages) Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repackage installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and you know how to configure them to be deployed silently. Learn more about the repackaging methods Back Next > Finish Cancel 	Repackage Installation Wizard	×
 Monitoring (generate MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX packages) Create a package by capturing the file system and registry changes performed by the existing installations. Select this option to repackage any type of executable installations, except for installations that deploy Windows system components. Also, use this option if you want to capture the system changes and generate a package reproducing those changes. Wrapping (generate MSI packages) Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repackage installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and you know how to configure them to be deployed silently. Learn more about the repackaging methods Kext > Finish Cancel 	Repackaging Method Select whether you would like to monitor changes performed by the existing installations or to wrap the existing installations into an MSI package.	
 Create a package by capturing the file system and registry changes performed by the existing installations. Select this option to repackage any type of executable installations, except for installations that deploy Windows system components. Also, use this option if you want to capture the system changes and generate a package reproducing those changes. Wrapping (generate MSI packages) Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repackage installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and you know how to configure them to be deployed silently. Learn more about the repackaging methods Resk Next > Finish Cancel 	Monitoring (generate MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX packages)	
Wrapping (generate MSI packages) Image: Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repackage installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and you know how to configure them to be deployed silently. Learn more about the repackaging methods < Back	Create a package by capturing the file system and registry changes performed by the existing installations. Select this option to repackage any type of executable installations, except for inst that deploy Windows system components. Also, use this option if you want to capture the syst changes and generate a package reproducing those changes.	stallations tem
Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repackage installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and you know how to configure them to be deployed silently. Learn more about the repackaging methods < Back	Wrapping (generate MSI packages)	
Learn more about the repackaging methods < Back	Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to rep installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and how to configure them to be deployed silently.	ackage you know
< Back Next > Finish Cancel	Learn more about the repackaging methods	
< Back Next > Finish Cancel		
< Back Next > Finish Cancel		
< Back Next > Finish Cancel		
< Back Next > Finish Cancel		
	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Selecting a repackaging method

It is recommended that monitoring be used in most cases since it is a universal method, and wrapping or a manual MSI creation should be considered only if you have good reasons to do so. Below, you can find some examples demonstrating when using different types of the MSI creation methods makes sense.

Monitoring usage examples:

- Repackage one or multiple non-silent installations into a silent MSI.
- Create a silent MSI package that includes a repackaged non-silent installation and its customization (the installed product registration, configuration, etc.).
- Create a custom silent MSI that includes any captured changes.

Wrapping usage examples:

- Repackage an installation of a Windows component, such as .NET Framework, for example, that cannot be repackaged using monitoring. The repackaged installation should support silent deployment.
- Wrap one or multiple EXE/MSI installations that can be deployed silently into a silent MSI.

Custom creation examples:

• Create a simple MSI that deploys only a few resources.

Note that you can use monitoring not only for repackaging but also for creating custom installations by capturing the changes performed manually. It is much easier to use that approach than to create an MSI manually using visual editors. You can see how to use monitoring in practice in the demos included in the Repackage EXE to MSI Using Monitoring and Create Customized Installations Using Monitoring chapters. Wrapping is demonstrated in the demo contained in the Repackage Silent Installations Using Wrapping chapter.

How to Select the Capturing Type

You can use monitoring in a number of cases, for instance, to repackage an installation or to repackage an installation together with its post-install customization. To support all those cases, monitoring can work in two options, which are **Capture Installations** and **Capture System Changes** that you can select in the **Repackage Installation** wizard **Pic 2**.

Repackage Installation Wizard X Capturing Type Select whether you would like to repackage existing installations or to capture any system changes and get an output package reproducing the captured changes. Image: Capture Installations Image: Capture Installations This option allows you to repackage one or multiple installations. The program starts monitoring and runs the specified installations to being captured. Upon completion of the installations, the monitoring is stopped automatically and the program generates an output package. Capture System Changes This option allows you to capture system changes and generate an output package reproducing those changes. The program starts monitoring, and you need to make the changes to be captured. When all the changes have been made, you should stop monitoring manually, and then an output package will be generated. Learn more about the capturing types < Back Next > Finish Cancel						
Capturing Type Select whether you would like to repackage existing installations or to capture any system changes and get an output package reproducing the captured changes. • Capture Installations • Capture Installations • This option allows you to repackage one or multiple installations. The program starts monitoring and runs the specified installations to being captured. Upon completion of the installations, the monitoring is stopped automatically and the program generates an output package. Capture System Changes Mis option allows you to capture system changes and generate an output package reproducing those changes. The program starts monitoring, and you need to make the changes to be captured. When all the changes have been made, you should stop monitoring manually, and then an output package will be generated. Learn more about the capturing types < Back	Repackage	Installation Wizard				×
 Capture Installations This option allows you to repackage one or multiple installations. The program starts monitoring and runs the specified installations to being captured. Upon completion of the installations, the monitoring is stopped automatically and the program generates an output package. Capture System Changes This option allows you to capture system changes and generate an output package reproducing those changes. The program starts monitoring, and you need to make the changes to be captured. When all the changes have been made, you should stop monitoring manually, and then an output package will be generated. Learn more about the capturing types 	Capturin Select and g	rg Type whether you would like to repackage existi et an output package reproducing the capt	ing installatio ured change	ns or to capture any	system changes	
This option allows you to repackage one or multiple installations. The program starts monitoring and runs the specified installations to being captured. Upon completion of the installations, the monitoring is stopped automatically and the program generates an output package. Capture System Changes Image: This option allows you to capture system changes and generate an output package reproducing those changes. The program starts monitoring, and you need to make the changes to be captured. When all the changes have been made, you should stop monitoring manually, and then an output package will be generated. Learn more about the capturing types < Back	Captu	re Installations				
Capture System Changes This option allows you to capture system changes and generate an output package reproducing those changes. The program starts monitoring, and you need to make the changes to be captured. When all the changes have been made, you should stop monitoring manually, and then an output package will be generated. Learn more about the capturing types < Back		This option allows you to repackage one of runs the specified installations to being ca is stopped automatically and the program	r multiple in ptured. Upor generates ar	stallations. The progr n completion of the i n output package.	am starts monitor nstallations, the m	ing and ionitoring
This option allows you to capture system changes and generate an output package reproducing those changes. The program starts monitoring, and you need to make the changes to be captured. When all the changes have been made, you should stop monitoring manually, and then an output package will be generated. Learn more about the capturing types < Back	🔿 Captu	re System Changes				
Learn more about the capturing types < Back	<u>~</u> @	This option allows you to capture system or changes. The program starts monitoring, a the changes have been made, you should be generated.	changes and and you need stop monito	generate an output p I to make the change ring manually, and th	ackage reproduci is to be captured. hen an output pac	ng those When all kage will
< Back Next > Finish Cancel	Learn mor	e about the capturing types				
< Back Next > Finish Cancel						
< Back Next > Finish Cancel						
< Back Next > Finish Cancel						
< Back Next > Finish Cancel						
			< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel

Pic 2. Selecting the capturing type

When you select any of these options, EMCO MSI Package Builder uses the Live Monitoring technology to capture the file system and registry changes and create an MSI reproducing such changes. You will learn how it works in the next chapter. To understand which method you need to select, you can review their comparison below.

	Capture Installations	Capture System Changes
How repackaging works	In the wizard, you specify a non-silent installation that you need to repackage, and EMCO MSI Package Builder automatically starts monitoring system changes and runs the specified installation. You follow the installation deployment steps, and after the deployment is finished, EMCO MSI Package Builder automatically stops monitoring and generates an MSI package that includes the captured changes performed by the monitored installation.	As the last step of the wizard, EMCO MSI Package Builder automatically starts monitoring system changes. You manually run one or several installations, apply the required software customization or perform any changes that should be captured and included into the MSI to be generated. Once you are done, you need to switch back to EMCO MSI Package Builder and stop monitoring manually. EMCO MSI Package Builder automatically generates an MSI package that includes the captured changes reproducing the activity you performed during monitoring.

	Capture Installations	Capture System Changes
Requirements	You provide an installation to be repackaged.	You run installations and/or perform any changes you need to capture manually.
	You follow the deployment steps of the repackaged installation by selecting the install options manually.	You manually stop monitoring in the program.
What it can be used for	To repackage one or multiple non-silent installations into a silent MSI package.	To repackage installations that require pre/post customizations, such as software registration or tuning of the settings.
		To capture any custom changes performed manually or by any executable or script to create an MSI reproducing those changes.
Examples	Repackage a non-silent installation of Open Office into a silent MSI.	Repackage a non-silent installation and its registration after deployment.
		Create a silent MSI to install fonts.

In the next chapter, you can learn how monitoring works and what advantages and limitations it has. In addition, you can find recommendations that will help you to use monitoring successfully in the Overview of the Repackaging Best Practices chapter.

How Installation Repackaging Works

Installations monitoring is the primary repackaging method available in EMCO MSI Package Builder that allows you to convert almost any non-silent EXE installation into a silent package. Usually, this kind of repackaging is required to deploy software on remote PCs, because only silent installations can be deployed remotely.

EMCO MSI Package Builder incorporates the best-in-class Live Monitoring technology used for repackaging. It integrates into Windows to capture file system, registry and permission changes performed by the repackaged installation. During repackaging, you just need to follow the installation steps of the repackaged installation manually. After you select the installation options, the monitored installer applies the corresponding file system, registry and permission changes that are captured by EMCO MSI Package Builder.



Installation Repackaging

Once the installation is completed, EMCO MSI Package Builder automatically generates a package that includes the captured changes, so the generated installation is identical to the original installation and includes all the customizations you applied during the monitoring process. When you install the generated package, it applies the same changes that were applied when you deployed the original installation manually.

After the installation is repackaged, you can review the changes captured by EMCO MSI Package Builder. The program intellectually interprets raw-data file system and registry changes into Windows objects, so you can see, for example, Windows services and drivers that were deployed by the monitored installation and edit them through visual editors, if required, to generate a modified package.

Advantages of the Live Monitoring Technology

The Live Monitoring technology used in EMCO MSI Package Builder is the most capable installation repackaging technology available on the market today. It has the following features that allow you to perform repackaging quickly and easily.

- **Successful repackaging of simple and complex installations**. It does not matter what kind of changes are performed by the repackaged installation EMCO MSI Package Builder can repackage anything, including complex Windows drivers, services, permissions, etc.
- **Changes are captured on the fly**. An output package is generated immediately after the monitored installation is finished. Using other repackaging solutions, you need to make Windows snapshots before and after the installation to compare them, so a package generation takes too long.
- **Monitoring is started and stopped automatically**. The program tracks the system information and knows when monitoring should be started and stopped without the risk of losing important data.
- **Repackaging is automated from start to finish**. You just follow a simple wizard and get a generated package at the end.
- **Unwanted changes are filtered out**. The program has a set of filters to avoid capturing changes performed by unrelated processes. Any captured change is associated with the process that generated it, so unwanted changes are removed automatically.

It is very easy to repackage an installation using the Live Monitoring technology. You can see how to use it in practice in the Repackage EXE to MSI Using Monitoring and Create Customized Installations Using Monitoring chapters.

Repackaging Limitations

EMCO MSI Package Builder allows you to repackage almost any installation, but still here are a few cases when repackaging using the Live Monitoring technology is not possible.

- **Windows cloning**. It is impossible to repackage Windows itself, because the repackaging technology is designed to be used for applications only. There are third-party tools that can clone Windows images, so you can use them if needed.
- **Installation of Windows components**. During repackaging, EMCO MSI Package Builder captures file system and registry changes, but when you install a system component such as .NET Framework, for example, it installs resources into protected areas of the file system and registry, so it is not possible to reproduce those changes. In this case, if the repackaged installation supports silent deployment, you can use the wrapping approach to repackage the installation.

• **Installation of system software that modifies Windows on reboot**. When Windows is modified on reboot, it is not possible to capture and reproduce those changes, so use wrapping instead or repackaging for installations that apply such changes.

The limitations listed above are common for all repackaging tools, and there is no way to bypass them using the Professional edition of the program. The Enterprise and Architect editions allow you to use the wrapping method that should be used instead of monitoring to avoid the above limitations. The Architect edition can also generate MSIX/AppX and App-V packages if you need to repackage applications into these formats.

Overview of Repackaging Best Practices

The installation repackaging process is based on monitoring file system and registry changes performed by the monitored installation as explained in the How Installation Repackaging Works chapter. Depending on the computer state before and during the repackaging process, you may obtain either correct or incorrect repackaging results. It is recommended that a special environment be used and the repackaging best practices explained below be followed to achieve correct repackaging results.

How to Create a Clean Environment for Monitoring

It's important to use a clean environment for monitoring to prevent the appearance of any unwanted changes in the monitoring results. A clean environment doesn't have any third-party software installed that can generate file system, registry and other OS changes that may appear in the monitoring results.

Follow the recommendations below to create a clean environment.

- Use a fresh Windows installation. It's recommended to use a brand-new Windows installation where no additional software is installed.
- **Disable an anti-virus, firewall and Windows updates**. The system software running in the background may generate changes that will appear in the created package. To avoid that, it is recommended that Windows updates be disabled. An anti-virus, a firewall and other security software may also produce unwanted changes and might cause an unstable or incorrect monitoring operation, so they should be disabled as well.
- **Close all running programs**. You need to close all running programs to avoid monitoring of the changes they produce.

Use Windows Sandbox for Monitoring

The simplest option to use a clean environment is monitoring in Windows Sandbox. Windows Sandbox is a part of Windows and it is available on Windows 10 or later OS. To use it you need to turn on virtualization capabilities in BIOS on your machine and enable Windows Sandbox in the list of Windows Features. Every time you run Sandbox, it runs a brand-new clean Windows that works in an isolated environment. This clean environment doesn't require any setup, it is available immediately. A sandbox is temporary. When it's closed, all the software and files and the state are deleted.

Note that some software installations cannot be installed in Windows Sandbox, because Sandbox environment has some limitations comparing with the regular environment. If repackaged software fails to deploy in Sandbox, you can monitor it on a virtual machine.

Use a Virtual Machine for Monitoring

Using a virtual machine (VM) allows you to create a reusable clean environment for monitoring. A virtual machine can run a regular Windows environment that doesn't have any limitations of Windows Sandbox, so it's recommended to use a virtual machine (VM) for monitoring. When you use a VM, it is possible to create a snapshot of the machine and return to the same state repeatedly. To follow the repackaging best practices, you should create a VM, set up a clean environment there as explained above and make a snapshot of the clean VM state.



Every time you need to perform monitoring, you should revert the VM to the snapshot with the clean state. The VM revert works quickly and allows you to use a clean environment for every repackaging operation.

To optimize the monitoring process, it's recommended to use "online" snapshots. These snapshots are with running Windows and logged-on user, so you don't have to start Windows on the VM and to log in manually every time you need to repackage an installation.

Depending on the used edition of EMCO MSI Package Builder and the monitoring environment selected in the program, there are different approaches to configuring and using a VM.

• Use a VM for monitoring to monitor on the local machine. Configure the VM as explained above and install EMCO MSI Package Builder on the same VM to perform monitoring locally. In this case, you should run EMCO MSI Package Builder on the VM, perform repackaging and revert the VM to the clean state after repackaging. This is the only option available in the Professional edition of the program. In the Enterprise and Architect editions of the program it can be selected as the **Monitor on This Computer** option.

- When you select the Monitor on an Existing Virtual Machine option (available in the Enterprise and Architect editions of the program), a VM is connected remotely by the program to perform monitoring. You can configure the VM as explained above and run EMCO MSI Package Builder on your machine and use the VM for monitoring.
 - You can benefit from the repackaging automation using the **Monitor on an Existing Virtual Machine** option available in the Enterprise and Architect editions of the program. In this case, the program automatically maintains the clean state of the VM. You can learn more about all advantages of this approach in the Selecting the Monitoring Environment chapter.

How to Perform Repackaging If You Don't Have a Virtual Machine or Sandbox

Using a clean environment for repackaging is important to get correct repackaging results. The repackaging process can be simplified when you use a VM, because you can quickly and easily restore the clean VM state utilizing VM snapshots. Alternatively you can use Windows Sandbox that runs an isolated clean machine and doesn't require any setup. If you plan to perform repackaging regularly, it's strongly recommended to consider creating a VM.

If for some reason you cannot use a VM or Sandbox, you need to follow the repackaging best practices listed in the next section, as well as some additional steps, namely:

- Close all running applications and processes. You should close all running applications and processes except EMCO MSI Package Builder before you start repackaging since they are not related to the repackaged installation and may cause changes that will appear in the repackaging results.
- **Uninstall the monitored application**. If an installation you need to repackage is already installed, uninstall it with all its components and dependencies.

Note that even if these recommendations are complied with, the monitoring results may not be as precise as those produced in a clean environment.

Repackaging Best Practices

When repackaging installations, you should always keep in mind that it is strongly advised:

- **Use a clean environment**. It's important to use a clean environment for repackaging to prevent the appearance of any unwanted changes in the repackaging results. Use a VM for repackaging and create a clean repackaging environment as explained above.
- **Monitor and deploy on the same platform**. When you deploy the same installation on different platforms (x86 and x64), it can create different resources, so you should monitor the installation on the same platform and, preferably, under the same OS that will be used for deployment of the package to be generated. If you need to deploy an installation on both the x86 and x64 platforms, you should create two separate packages for these platforms.

- **Prevent an auto-start of the repackaged application after its installation**. When you use the Capture Installations option for monitoring, EMCO MSI Package Builder automatically starts monitoring before running the repackaged installation and stops monitoring when the installation is finished. Some installations prompt you to run the installed application as the final step of the deployment, which prevents EMCO MSI Package Builder from detecting the end of the installation and stopping the monitoring process at the right place automatically. You have to skip running the installed application in the course of the installation process. If the application starts automatically after the installation, just close it to notify EMCO MSI Package Builder of the end of the installation process.
- **Skip reboots**. If the monitored installation requires a reboot, you should stop monitoring and generate a deployment package before rebooting.

Usually, repackaging problems are caused by non-compliance with one or more of the best practice recommendations, so if you get a deployment package that does not work properly, make sure you use a clean environment for repackaging and follow other best practices.

Demo: Repackage EXE to MSI Using Monitoring

Repackaging of existing non-silent EXE installations into silent MSI packages is one of the main features of EMCO MSI Package Builder, so let's see how to use it. Let's assume we need to distribute Open Office across our entire network. When you run the Open Office installation, it requires that you select the installation options and the packages to be deployed. You cannot use the original installation for remote deployment because it is not silent. To prepare the installation for remote deployment, we can repackage it into a silent MSI package using EMCO MSI Package Builder.

In this demo, we only need to repackage an Open Office installation without any pre- and postinstall customization, so, as you learned in the Overview of the MSI Creation Methods chapter, we can use the **Capture Installations** option for repackaging and follow the steps below.

Step 1. Open the Repackage Installation wizard

The **Repackage Installation** wizard is automatically opened when you start EMCO MSI Package Builder. If you do not see it on the screen, press the **Repackage Installation** button on the **Home** tab in the Ribbon. When the wizard is started, read the welcome information and press the **Next** button.

Step 2. Select the Monitoring option

The wizard allows you to repackage an installation using either monitoring or wrapping. To repackage a non-silent installation into an MSI package, select the **Monitoring** option and press the **Next** button **Pic 1**.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Repackaging Method Select whether you would like to monitor changes performed by the existing installations or to wrap the existing installations into an MSI package.	
 Monitoring (generate MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX packages) Create a package by capturing the file system and registry changes performed by the existing installations. Select this option to repackage any type of executable installations, except for inst that deploy Windows system components. Also, use this option if you want to capture the syst changes and generate a package reproducing those changes. Wrapping (generate MSI packages) Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to rep installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and y how to configure them to be deployed silently. Learn more about the repackaging methods 	tallations em ackage rou know
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Select the repackaging method

Step 3. Select the Monitor on This Computer option

The program allows monitoring an installation on the local machine, in Windows Sandbox or on a virtual machine. In this demo, we will perform repackaging on the local machine, so select the **Monitor on This Computer** option. You can learn how to monitor in Windows Sandbox or on a virtual machine in the Selecting the monitoring environment chapter.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Monitoring Environment Select whether you would like to monitor the installation and capture installation changes on this computer or use an existing virtual machine.	E
Monitor on This Computer	
This option allows you to launch the installation to be repackaged and capture the changes in by this installation on your local machine.	performed
O Monitor in Windows Sandbox	
This option allows you to capture installation changes in a Windows Sandbox environment, represents a brand-new isolated installation of your current OS.	which
O Monitor on an Existing Virtual Machine	
This option allows you to capture installation changes on an existing virtual machine. The pr supports repackaging on VMware, Hyper-V and VirtualBox virtual machines. Select an existing profile or create a new one for the virtual machine to be used for repackaging.	ogram Ig VM
VM Profile: <select profile="" vm=""> ····</select>	
Learn more about monitoring environment	
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 2. Select monitoring environment

Step 4. Select the Capture Installations option

As you learned in the Overview of the MSI Creation Methods chapter, you can convert a non-silent EXE into a silent MSI package using the **Capture Installations** option, so select this option in the displayed dialog **Pic 3**. In this case, the program will automatically stop the monitoring and generate an MSI once the monitored installation is completed. Press the **Next** button to proceed to the next step.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Capturing Type Select whether you would like to repackage existing installations or to capture any system changes and get an output package reproducing the captured changes.	
Capture Installations	
This option allows you to repackage one or multiple installations. The program starts monitori runs the specified installations to being captured. Upon completion of the installations, the main is stopped automatically and the program generates an output package.	ng and onitoring
Capture System Changes	
This option allows you to capture system changes and generate an output package reproducin changes. The program starts monitoring, and you need to make the changes to be captured. We the changes have been made, you should stop monitoring manually, and then an output pack be generated.	ng those Vhen all kage will
Learn more about the capturing types	
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 3. Select the capturing type

Step 5. Check the repackaging best practices

The repackaging results depend on the environment where such repacking is preformed, so the wizard shows you a brief summary of the repackaging best practices. You can find more details on this topic in the Overview of the Repackaging Best Practices chapter. Make sure you perform repackaging in a clean environment and follow other recommendations, then press the **Next** button.

Step 6. Prepare the computer for monitoring

The program automatically checks the computer for potential monitoring problems and displays the discovered issues **Pic 4**. The program checks the status of the Windows services, such as Windows Update and Windows Search, detects if the antivirus is disabled and determines the list of running applications. All those services and applications may introduce unnecessary changes to the package being created. If any issues are detected, you need to follow the displayed instructions. To resolve the environment issues automatically, select the displayed items and click the **Fix Issues** button. Once all the issues have been resolved, you can proceed to the next step.

All system changes made on this computer or detected on this computer may introduce ur	will be captured to g nnecessary changes	generate a packag to the package be	e. Some items sing created.	Ð
Monitoring Environment Issues		🚊 Fix I	ssues 🛞 👺	85 📕
 Additional Preparations 				
MSI Package Builder Monitoring Modul	es		In	stalled
The monitoring modules must be installe	ed to run repackagin	ng.		
 Active Antivirus Software 				
Windows Defender Antivirus			A	ctive
We recommend disabling the Windows I should disable it manually.	Defender Antivirus s	oftware when perf	orming monito	oring. You
 Running Applications 				
Adobe Photoshop 2021			R	unning
We recommend to close this application	since it may affect t	the monitoring res	ults.	
Help & Manual			Ra	unning
low to prepare this computer for monitoring?				

Pic 4. Monitoring environment issues

Step 7. Select the installation file

At this step, we need to specify the path to the original installation file to be monitored, so select the path to the downloaded Open Office installation. Once the path to the installation file is specified, you are prompted to enter the installation parameters. The parameters are optional and should be specified only if you need to run the monitored installation in a special way. In our case, we can leave the parameters empty and press the **OK** button to confirm the installation configuration. As you can see, the wizard allows you to specify multiple installations to be monitored, so the installations will be executed one-by-one and will be repackaged into a single MSI package. We need to create an MSI for the **Open Office** installation only, so we can press the **Next** button **Pic 5**.

roject	t Name: Open Office 4-1-1		
Instal	llations	5 Add Instal	lation 🧪 Edit Installation 🗙 🔥 🗸
# 1.	Installation Path		Parameters

Pic 5. Specify the installation to be repackaged

Step 8. Select an output package format

The program enables generating an output package in different formats, such as MSI, App-V and MSIX. Additionally, it offers the capability to capture changes with no package generation. For our purposes, we will generate an MSI package, so select the **MSI Package** option **Pic** 6.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Output Package Format Select the format of the output package to be generated. Some formats may have functionality or Windows compatibility limitations, so select the format that meets your requirements.	S
 MSI Package This format supports all the packaging features and provides the best compatibility with Window environments and deployment tools. 	vs
 App-V Package This format is compatible with Windows environments ready for App-V (Microsoft Application Virtualization) and may include features supported by App-V. 	
 MSIX/AppX Package This format is compatible with modern Windows environments and distribution tools designed t deploy MSIX/AppX. It may include features supported by MSIX/AppX. 	to
 Skip Package Generation Select this option if you need to monitor changes only and skip package generation upon comp the monitoring. 	leting
< Back Next > Finish C	ancel

Pic 6. Output package format

Step 9. Specify the MSI properties

The wizard prompts you to select the output package type, so select MSI. Also, you need to specify the properties of the MSI package to be generated as a result of the repackaging, so you should enter the MSI path. In this dialog, you should also specify the required **Manufacturer** name, so you can enter your company name, for example. All other information, such as **Product Name**, **Version** and **Icon** is extracted automatically from the original installation, and you can edit it, if required **Pic 7**. You can also manage other options in this dialog, but for most of the installations, including this one, the default options are optimal, so you do not need to change them. You can learn more about the options in this dialog in the Creating an MSI Package chapter. Once you have specified the required settings in the dialog, you can press the **Finish** button.

Seneral	Identifi	cation & Upgrade	Digital Signature	Install Options	Support Information	Summary In	fo
MSI Pati	h:	C:\msi\Open Offi	ce 4-1-1\Open Off	ice 4-1-1.msi			
Product	Name:	Open Office 4-1-1				Platform: A	uto -
Manufacturer: Alex Delorian				- Icon:			
Langua	ge:	English (United St	ates)	• Version: 1	.0.0.0		-
Inst	all MSI t	o Current User		Show in V	Windows Programs an	d Features:	
	Non-Ele	vated Installation		The creat	ted MSI package only		
🔵 Inst	all MSI t	o All Users		Restart N	lode:		
	Smart A	II Users Mode		Restart t	he computer only if ne	cercan/	

Pic 7. Specify the MSI properties

Step 10. Follow the installation steps

As you can see, the wizard has been closed and the specified original installation has been started. It means that monitoring is in progress now, and you need to follow the steps of the original installation. You can select the required installation options and, as a result, the original installation will create corresponding files and registry keys that are monitored by the program. Once the installation is completed, EMCO MSI Package Builder will automatically stop the monitoring and generate an MSI package. Note that if the installation prompts you to run the installed application, you should skip this step to let EMCO MSI Package Builder detect that the installation has been completed. If the application starts automatically after the installation, just close it to notify EMCO MSI Package Builder about the end of the installation process.

Step 11. Get the generated MSI package

Once the installation is completed, you can return to EMCO MSI Package Builder that should automatically start generating an MSI package using the capturing results. Depending on the captured data size, the generation process may take some time. Once the generation is completed, you can see the generated MSI package in Windows Explorer.



Pic 8. Getting the generated MSI

If you use an evaluation version of EMCO MSI Package Builder to generate an MSI, you get a trial MSI package with a few limitations. The generated package can be deployed during 30 days only and after deployment is displayed in Windows **Programs and Features** with the evaluation mark. These limitations do not influence the functionality of the repackaged application, so you can test it to make sure it works as expected. You can learn how to test MSI packages in the MSI Packages Testing and Troubleshooting chapter.

When generation of an MSI package is finished, EMCO MSI Package Builder automatically opens the MSI project, so you can review its content and customize it, if required. You can see the file system, registry and other resources captured during repackaging, modify them and add new resources to generate a new custom MSI package using the data stored in the MSI project. Besides, you can add custom pre- and post-install actions to be executed before and after the MSI deployment. You can learn how to use those features in the Installation Project Editing and Customizing chapter.

Demo: Create Customized Installations Using Monitoring

In some cases, you may need not only to repackage a non-silent installation but also to customize it after installation to apply a license code or change the installed application settings and to get a deployment package that includes the installation and its customization.

As you may have learned in the Overview of the MSI Creation Methods chapter, you can repackage such installations using the **Capture System Changes** option of repackaging. It allows you not only to monitor an installation but also to monitor any changes performed in Windows and create a deployment package reproducing those changes. This very powerful feature of EMCO MSI Package Builder allows you to create any type of installation quickly and easily. Let's have a look at some examples of how you can use it.

Create a Customized Firefox Installation

Let's suppose we need to distribute Firefox across a local network. The standard Firefox installation doesn't work silently, so we need to repackage it into an MSI. An additional requirement here is that the Firefox installation should show our company home page at start and should have certain changed proxy settings. Those changes can be applied in Firefox options after installation, so we need to monitor the installation and application customization steps to create the required MSI.

Step 1. Open the Repackage Installation wizard

As the first step, you need to open the **Repackage Installation** wizard. If it isn't opened automatically, press the **Repackage Installation** button in the **Home** Ribbon page, read the welcome information and press the **Next** button.

Step 2. Select the Monitoring option

We are going to use installation monitoring, so select the corresponding option and press the **Next** button to proceed **Pic 1**.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Repackaging Method Select whether you would like to monitor changes performed by the existing installations or to wrap the existing installations into an MSI package.	0
Monitoring (generate MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX packages)	
Create a package by capturing the file system and registry changes performed by the existing installations. Select this option to repackage any type of executable installations, except for install that deploy Windows system components. Also, use this option if you want to capture the system changes and generate a package reproducing those changes.	ations
O Wrapping (generate MSI packages)	
Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repack installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and you how to configure them to be deployed silently.	age know
Learn more about the repackaging methods	
< Back Next > Finish Ca	ncel

Pic 1. Select the repackaging method

Step 3. Select the Monitor on This Computer option

The program allows performing repackaging on the local computer, in Windows Sandbox or on an existing virtual machine. In this tutorial, we will repackage an installation on the local computer, so select the **Monitor on This Computer** option and proceed to the next step. To learn how to repackage an installation in Windows Sandbox or an existing virtual machine, refer to the Selecting monitoring environment chapter.

Repackage Installation Wizard		×
Monitoring Environment Select whether you would like to monitor the installation and cap computer or use an existing virtual machine.	ture installation changes on this	B
Monitor on This Computer		
This option allows you to launch the installation to be repaired by this installation on your local machine.	ickaged and capture the changes p	erformed
O Monitor in Windows Sandbox		
This option allows you to capture installation changes in a represents a brand-new isolated installation of your current	Windows Sandbox environment, v t OS.	which
Monitor on an Existing Virtual Machine		
This option allows you to capture installation changes on a supports repackaging on VMware, Hyper-V and VirtualBox profile or create a new one for the virtual machine to be us	an existing virtual machine. The pro virtual machines. Select an existin sed for repackaging.	ogram g VM
VM Profile: Select VM Profile> ····		
Learn more about monitoring environment		
< Back	Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 2. Select monitoring environment

Step 4. Select the Capture System Changes option

We need to monitor not only the **Firefox** installation but also the post-install customization, so we cannot rely on automatic monitoring stopping, that is provided by EMCO MSI Package Builder for installations repackaging. As you learned in the Overview of MSI Creation Methods chapter, we need to use **Capture System Changes** to stop monitoring manually, so select the corresponding option and press the **Next** button **Pic 3**.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Capturing Type Select whether you would like to repackage existing installations or to capture any system changes and get an output package reproducing the captured changes.	
 Capture Installations This option allows you to repackage one or multiple installations. The program starts monitorin runs the specified installations to being captured. Upon completion of the installations, the more is stopped automatically and the program generates an output package. Capture System Changes This option allows you to capture system changes and generate an output package reproducin changes. The program starts monitoring, and you need to make the changes to be captured. We the changes have been made, you should stop monitoring manually, and then an output package generated. Learn more about the capturing types 	ng and mitoring g those /hen all age will
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 3. Select the capturing type

Step 5. Check the repackaging best practices

When you use monitoring, you need to follow the repackaging best practices to get accurate repackaging results. Review the recommendations displayed by the wizard, make sure that you perform repackaging in a clean environment and follow other best practices, and then press the **Next** button. You can learn more about this topic in the Overview of Repackaging Best Practices chapter.

Step 6. Prepare the computer for monitoring

The program automatically checks the computer for potential monitoring problems and displays the discovered issues **Pic 4**. The program checks the status of the Windows services, such as Windows Update and Windows Search, detects if the antivirus is disabled and determines the list of running applications. All those services and applications may introduce unnecessary changes to the package being created. If any issues are detected, you need to follow the displayed instructions. To resolve the environment issues automatically, select the displayed items and click the **Fix Issues** button. Once all the issues have been resolved, you can proceed to the next step.

epochoge instantion in the ord			
All system changes made on this computer w detected on this computer may introduce unr	ill be captured to g necessary changes	generate a package. to the package beir	Some items ig created.
Monitoring Environment Issues		Eix Iss	ues 💫 👺 👺 📕
 Additional Preparations 			
MSI Package Builder Monitoring Module The monitoring modules must be installed	s I to run repackagir	ıg.	Installed
 Active Antivirus Software 			
Windows Defender Antivirus We recommend disabling the Windows Do should disable it manually.	efender Antivirus s	oftware when perfo	Active rming monitoring. You
 Running Applications 			
Adobe Photoshop 2021 We recommend to close this application since the second se	ince it may affect t	he monitoring resu	Running Its. Running
low to prepare this computer for monitoring?			

Pic 4. Monitoring environment issues

Step 7. Specify the project name

EMCO MSI Package Builder will automatically create an installation project when the monitoring is completed, so you need to enter the project name and press the **Next** button.

Step 8. Select an output package format

The program enables generating an output package in different formats. For our purposes, we will generate an MSI package, so select the **MSI Package** option **Pic 5**.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Output Package Format Select the format of the output package to be generated. Some formats may have functionality or Windows compatibility limitations, so select the format that meets your requirements.	×°
 MSI Package This format supports all the packaging features and provides the best compatibility with Windows environments and deployment tools. App-V Package This format is compatible with Windows environments ready for App-V (Microsoft Application Virtualization) and may include features supported by App-V. MSIX/AppX Package This format is compatible with modern Windows environments and distribution tools designed to deploy MSIX/AppX. It may include features supported by MSIX/AppX. Skip Package Generation Select this option if you need to monitor changes only and skip package generation upon complet the monitoring. 	ting
< Back Next > Finish Car	ncel

Pic 5. Output package format

Step 9. Specify the MSI properties

At this step, you need to select the output package type, so select MSI. Also, you need to specify the properties of the MSI package to be generated. You need to specify the path to the MSI file that will be generated automatically after the monitoring ends. You also need to specify **Product Name** and **Version** that should be the same as in the repackaged **Firefox** installation. You can enter your company name as **Manufacturer** and click on **Icon** to pick it from the **Firefox** installation file **Pic 6**. To learn more about the options in this dialog, refer to the **Creating an MSI Package** chapter. Press the **Finish** button when you finish editing the MSI properties.

Seneral	Identifi	ication & Upgrade	Digital Signature	Install Options	Support Information	Summary	Info
MSI Pati	h:	C:\msi\Firefox\Fir	efox.msi				
Product	Name:	Firefox				Platform:	Auto -
Manufacturer: Alex Delorian					Ŧ	lcon:	
Langua	ge:	English (United St	ates)	• Version: 1	.0.0.0		Load
Inst	all MSI t	o Current User		Show in V	Windows Programs an	d Features:	
	Non-Ele	vated Installation		The creat	ted MSI package only		
Inst	all MSI t	o All Users		Restart M	lode:		
	Smart A	II Users Mode		Destant	ha computer only if no		

Pic 6. Specify the MSI properties
Step 10. Follow the installation and customization steps

At this step, the monitoring is started, and any file system and registry changes are being captured. Note that you haven't specified the **Firefox** installation in the wizard, so it won't be started automatically, and you need to find the installation file in Windows Explorer and run it manually. You need to follow the **Firefox** installation process until **Firefox** is installed. The difference from installation repackaging lies in the fact that monitoring isn't stopped automatically when the installation is completed, so you can apply the required customization. After **Firefox** is deployed, you can run the **Firefox** application and specify your company website as the home page, then set the required proxy settings in the program options.

Step 11. Stop the installation and get an MSI package

Now that all the Firefox installation and customization steps are finished, you can go back to EMCO MSI Package Builder and press the **Continue** button to stop the monitoring **Pic**?. As you can see, once the monitoring is stopped, EMCO MSI Package Builder generates an MSI package automatically, and you can see it in the Windows Explorer.



Pic 7. Monitoring is in progress

After getting an MSI package, you need to test it before you can deploy it across a network. The testing approach is explained in the Packages Testing and Troubleshooting chapter. If you generate an MSI using the trial version of EMCO MSI Package Builder, you get a trial MSI package that can be deployed during 30 days only and that displays a trial message in Windows **Programs and Features** after the deployment. These limitations do not influence the functionality of the repackaged application, so you can fully test it to make sure it works as expected.

As you can see, installation repackaging using the **Capture System Changes** option works automatically and is identical to the **Capture Installations** option except for the requirement to run the repackaged installation and stop the monitoring manually, but that allows you to repackage installations that require customization.

Create a Custom Font Installer

Using repackaging with the **Capture System Changes** option, you can easily get custom installations for any software deployment or Windows administration task. For example, let's assume that you need to distribute a font across your network, but you only have a font file. Of course, you can create an installation from scratch manually using the visual editors of EMCO MSI Package Builder, but in this case, you need to know a lot of technical details like the folder where the font should be installed, how to register the font, etc. Using **Capture System Changes**, you can create the required MSI automatically and let EMCO MSI Package Builder capture all the required changes while you install the font manually. Let's see how it works.

Steps 1 - 9. Select the Capture System Changes option and configure the MSI properties

Every time you use system changes capturing, the initial steps are the same: you need to open the **Repackage Installation** wizard, select the **Capture System Changes** option and make sure you follow the repackaging best practices. You also need to specify the MSI properties and to use the installation-specific properties such as the **MSI path**, **Product Name** and **Version**. You can see the details steps 1 to 8 in the example above. In the dialog where you need to provide the MSI properties, you should use the **Always restart computer after the installation** option for **Restart Mode**. It is required to make the installed font visible in the system after the deployment.

Step 10. Install the font

Now that EMCO MSI Package Builder monitors all the changes, you can select the font file to be installed in Windows Explorer and choose the option to install it from the context menu. Check the Windows **Control Panel > Fonts** to make sure the font has been installed correctly.

Step 11. Stop the installation and get an MSI package

Once the font installation is finished, you can go back to EMCO MSI Package Builder and press the **Continue** button to stop the installation and generate an MSI. As a result, the MSI generation is started automatically, and you get an MSI package that installs the font.

Using this approach, you can create an MSI automatically for any system administration task. For example, if you need to create an installation that deploys a set of files and registry keys. At Step 9, you can copy these files to the required target folders in Windows Explorer and create the required registry keys in Registry Editor manually, and EMCO MSI Package Builder will create an MSI that reproduces the captured changes.

Demo: Repackage Silent Installations Using Wrapping

As you learned in the Overview of the MSI Creation Methods chapter, you can use the wrapping method to repackage specific installations that install Windows components and cannot be repackaged using monitoring because it isn't possible to reproduce these installations by capturing their changes.

When you wrap an installation, the original installation file is included into the wrapped MSI package and is executed during the MSI deployment. Since the generated MSI package should be deployed silently, the included installation should be configured to run silently as well, so you can use this method if you know how to deploy an installation silently.

Let's see how to use wrapping. For example, we need to repackage a .NET Framework installation that is a Windows component, so we cannot repackage it using monitoring.

Step 1. Determine and test the silent installation parameters

Since we need to create a wrapping MSI package ready for silent deployment, we should ensure that the included installation could be deployed silently. Using the Internet search, we can find out that **.NET Framework** installation can be deployed silently if the installation file is executed with specific parameters. Before generating an MSI package, we need to ensure that the silent deployment of the original installation works as expected. Use a virtual machine with a clean environment to test the silent installation of **.NET Framework**, which should be completed automatically while you should not be prompted to select any installation settings. If the tested installation can be deployed silently, you can proceed to the next step.

Step 2. Open the Repackage Installation wizard

Run EMCO MSI Package Builder. By default, you should see the opened **Repackage Installation** wizard at the start of the program. If it doesn't open automatically, you may click the **Repackage Installation** button on the **Home** Ribbon page. Once the wizard is launched, read the welcome information and press the **Next** button.

Step 3. Select the Wrapping option

We are going to use installations wrapping, so select the **Wrapping** option in the wizard and press the **Next** button to proceed to the next step **Pic 1**.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Repackaging Method Select whether you would like to monitor changes performed by the existing installations or to wrap the existing installations into an MSI package.	
Monitoring (generate MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX packages)	
Create a package by capturing the file system and registry changes performed by the existing installations. Select this option to repackage any type of executable installations, except for inst that deploy Windows system components. Also, use this option if you want to capture the systechanges and generate a package reproducing those changes.	tallations em
Wrapping (generate MSI packages)	
Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repair installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and y how to configure them to be deployed silently.	ou know
Learn more about the repackaging methods	
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Select the repackaging method

Step 4. Specify the installation file and the installation options

You are prompted to enter the path to the installation. In the file picker dialog, specify the path to the .NET Framework executable installation file. You should specify the installation options in the **New Wrapped Package** dialog. You can change the package name to .NET Framework, if you wish. In this dialog, you also need to specify the silent command-line parameters to be passed to the installation **Pic 2**. As we know, a .NET Framework installation can be deployed silently when executed with the /q /norestart parameters, so enter them into the **Parameters** field and press **OK** to close the dialog. Finally, press the **Next** button in the wizard to proceed to the next step.

New Wrap	10.1			
	ped Package	h.		×
Wrappe Specif name	d Package fy the installa and the para	e Properties Ition package to be dep ameters to be passed to	ployed together with the generated MSI, define the package the setup during the package deployment.	•
liName	Microsoft	.NET Framework 4.5		
Setup File	: D:\Install\8	XE\dotNetFx45_Full_x8	36_x64.exe	
Paramet	ers Package	e Files		
and not inp Wh Install P You can Parame	I/or mainten : defined or a ut. y is it import: arameters o define the p ters: ① /s / ck for install	ance if you are going to re defined incorrectly, t ant to supply installer of parameters to be passed v/qn failure by the exit code	o deploy the generated MSI package silently. If the parame the deployment process will hang indefinitely waiting for t <u>ommand line parameters?</u> d to the installer during the MSI package installation, if requ e Success Exit Codes: 0	ters are he user uired.
Mainter	nance Param	eters		
		ne command line to be	used to perform uninstall and repair if you would like this	
You sho installat	tion to be rep	aired or uninstalled usi	ing the created MSI package.	
You sho installat	ould define th tion to be rep w Repair	Repair CMD Line:	ing the created MSI package.	
You sho installat Allo	ould define tr tion to be rep w Repair w Uninstall	paired or uninstalled usi Repair CMD Line: Uninstall CMD Line:	ing the created MSI package.	
You sho installat Allo	uld define ti tion to be reș w Repair w Uninstall	paired or uninstalled usi Repair CMD Line: Uninstall CMD Line:	ing the created MSI package.	

Pic 2. Configure the .NET Framework installation options

Step 5. Specify the MSI properties

You should enter the path to the MSI package to be generated. You also need to enter the **Manufacturer** name and change other options, if required **Pic 3**. Press the **Finish** button to start the MSI generation.

Repackage Installa	ation Wizard				×			
MSI Package F Provide a pati MSI package	Properties h to the MSI packag deployment setting	ge being created, s gs.	pecify the packa	ge metadata and confi	gure the			
General Identifi	ication & Upgrade	Digital Signature	Install Options	Support Information	Summary Info			
MSI Path:	C:\msi\Microsoft	.NET Framework 4	.5\Microsoft .NE	T Framework 4.5.msi				
Product Name:	Microsoft .NET Fra	amework 4.5			Platform: x64 -			
Manufacturer:	Alex Delorian			-	lcon:			
Language:	English (United St	ates)	• Version: 4	.5.50709.17929	953			
Install MSI t	o Current User		Show in \	Windows Programs an	d Features:			
O Install MSI t	Install MSI to All Users			The created MSI package only				
Smart A	ll Users Mode		Restart Mode:					
Learn more abo	ut the MSI installati	on context	Do not restart the computer after installation 👻					
			c Pack	Next > Eini	ich Cancel			
		_	> Dack	Fin	Cancel			

Pic 3. Specify the MSI generation options

Step 6. Get the MSI package

EMCO MSI Package Builder generates an MSI package that wraps the specified silent installations and deploys them when you deploy the MSI. You can see the generated package in Windows Explorer that opens after an MSI is generated.

You need to test the generated MSI package before you can deploy it across a network to make sure it works as expected. Follow the testing recommendations provided in the MSI Packages Testing and Troubleshooting chapter.

If you use the trial version of EMCO MSI Package Builder, the generated MSI has trial limitations, i.e. it can be deployed during 30 days only, and its entry displayed in Windows **Programs and Features** includes the trial mark after the installation.

Using wrapping, you can also create an MSI package that deploys multiple installations. The wrapped package may include both EXE and MSI installations, the only requirement for wrapping being the ability to support silent deployment.

Installation Project Editing and Customizing

Regardless of the repackaging method you use to create a deployment package, you can see that the main screen of EMCO MSI Package Builder changes when the package generation is finished. EMCO MSI Package Builder automatically creates an installation project when you use installation monitoring and wrapping and opens such a project after the deployment package is generated, so you can review and edit it. The projects are created in the program's storage, and you can open and edit them anytime. You can apply custom changes through the visual editors and generate a modified deployment package.

In most cases, you don't need to review and edit installation projects because you get deployment packages at the end of the **Repackage Installation** wizard, but you can get access to the advanced features if you know how to edit and customize installation projects. Let's see how it works in practice.

Review and Modify Project Properties

After the generation of a deployment package is complete, the program automatically opens the **Projects** view, and the newly created installation project is added to the **Projects** tree for editing. Upon addition, a project appears as a root node in the **Projects** tree, with its sub-elements representing the file system, registry, and other modifications included in the project. If you select the root node of a project in the **Projects** tree, you can see the project properties on the right of the screen. Those are the properties you specified in the **Repackage Installation** wizard **Pic 1**.

6	@ ▶ €	14 -				EMCO MSI	Package Buil	lder Archite	ect					×	-	٥	×
	Home	Project Vi	iew Program	n													
2	3 🗔	0_		1	📮 🛄	📕 署		X	Į,	1		l i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i					
Repa Instal	kage Project ation Setup Wizards	Create MSI Package	Create App-V Package Build	Create MSIX/AppX Package	New Open	Close Close All Projec	Rename t Manageme	Delete	Import	Export	Start Monitoring Capture	Manage VM Profiles Virtualization					^
€	Projects			Project Build Pro	perties												
	Projects S 31 projects	torage in the storage		General	^	General	- Produc	t Detail	s								
	Adobe Rea	ader 11 .0.3.37		Product Detai	ls	Product Na	me: Adobe F	leader						F	latform:	x64 -	-
	File Sy 450 er	stem ntries		Digital Signati	ure	Manufactur	er: Alex Del	orian							Icon:		ī I
	2943 e	ry entries		Product Supp	ort Information	Language:	English	(United Sta	ites)			* Version:	11.0.3.37			<i>k</i> .	
	No en	nment Variables tries															
	Service 3 entr	es ies		MSI	^												
	Assem	blies tries		General Prope	erties												
	Drivers No en	s tries		I Identification	& Upgrade												
	Printer No en	rs Itries		Summary Info	5												
		ws Firewall tries															
	- Sched	uled Tasks tries		Mpp-V	^												
	Nester	d Packages tries		General Prope	erties												
	Custor 5 entr	m Actions ies		Install Option	5												
st	LibreOffice	0.0.3		Internal Packa	ige Info												
ojec	File Sy 13707	entries															
P	- Recist	rv.		SIY/AppY	^												
	Log 🗵 🤇	Operations															
Done											9	lipboard: <empty></empty>					👗 lai

Pic 1. Editing the project properties

If you made a mistake when creating a deployment package and specified, for example, a wrong **Product Name** or **Version**, you can edit them in the project settings and press the **Create MSI Package**, **Create App-V Package** or **Create MSIX/AppX Package** button on the Ribbon to generate a new package with the modified properties.

Configure an MSI to Update Another MSI

You can configure an MSI package to be installed as an update for an older version of the same product installed as another MSI package. Windows Installer supports updates automatically; so if it detects that you install an update, it uninstalls the old MSI package and then installs the new one.

To configure an MSI to be deployed as an update, you only need to modify the MSI package properties. First, you need to modify the properties displayed in the **Identification and Upgrade** section. Enable the **Allow an installation upgrade** option and specify the same **Upgrade GUID** as the one used in the MSI you wish to update. You also need to update the **Version** number to ensure that the new MSI has a higher version number than the old one. Learn more about the technical requirements for an upgrade in the How should I configure the repackaged installations to support an upgrade? chapter.

Digitally Sign MSI Packages

MSI packages apply Windows changes on deployment, so Windows Installer requires that they should be run under an account with administrative permissions. The Windows UAC automatically checks the validity of digital signatures when software is executed with administrative permissions. By default, MSI packages generated by EMCO MSI Package Builder aren't digitally signed, so you can see the signature warning in the Windows UAC when you deploy such MSI packages manually. If you need to deploy the generated MSI packages remotely, note that such deployment tools as Microsoft SCCM don't deploy unsigned MSI packages.

EMCO MSI Package Builder allows signing MSI packages if you have a digital code-signing certificate and specify it in the program **Preferences** dialog. You can enable and disable digital signing of the generated MSI packages by configuring the corresponding options in the **Digital Signature** section of the MSI package properties. You can learn more about digital MSI singing in the Signing Packages chapter.

Review and Edit Changes

Under the project node in the **Projects** tree, you can find the list of changes applied by the installation. These changes are grouped by types and are displayed as separate nodes in a tree, so you can see **File System**, **Registry**, **Assembles**, etc. If you select a node, on the right you can see a specific editor for the corresponding type of resources and can use it to review and modify the changes **Pic 2**. You can learn how to use every available editor in the Installation Projects chapter, but here you can get a quick overview of the available features.



Pic 2. Editing File System changes

If you select the **File System** node, for example, you can see the structure of folders on the left and the modified files on the right. The resource icons shows the applied operation type, so you can see the files that were created, modified or deleted. If you created an installation project automatically using repackaging, you can notice that the file system paths are not absolute and include so-called System Folders. This is required to make installations portable from one PC to another, because different PCs may have different paths to standard Windows folders that store applications, their data and so on. EMCO MSI Package Builder can convert an absolute path to system folders automatically, so it's recommended that this conversion be performed if you edit a project manually. You can learn more about System Folders in the System Folder Definition Placeholders chapter.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

If you wish, you can switch the editor to the flat representation mode by clicking the **Flat** button on the contextual Ribbon page. In this case, the changes are displayed as a grid and this grid is grouped by default by the **Creator** values. This mode is helpful if the project was created using monitoring, because it allows seeing the captured processes and the files they changed <u>Pic 3</u>. If you need to troubleshoot a problematic package, you can use this mode to find and delete the changes performed by unrelated process monitored during the repackaging.

e	3 @ ▶ @	File System Tools EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect	∞ –	D	×
	Home Project View Program	File System			
Syster Folde	m Drive Folder Sync File Shortcut	Edit Delete Copy To Move To Folder File Roll Unroll Import Management Import System Folders File Presentation			^
	Projects	File System			
-	Projects Storage	Path	I. Size		At
	31 projects in the storage	v Crastor - mriever eve	-		
1	Adobe Pandar 11	CommonDecese			
	Version: 11.0.3.37	CommonPogrammenoroben			
	File System	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe			
	450 entries	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0			
	2943 entries	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Esl			
	Environment Variables	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader			
	No entries	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\AlR			
	Services	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Browser			
	Assembles	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\/DTemplates			
	16 entries	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\IDTemplates\ENU			
	Drivers	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Javascripts			
	No entries	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Legal			
	No entries	ProgramFilesFolder/Adobe/Reader 11.0/Reader/Legal/ENU			
	Windows Firewall	Programhilesholder\Adobe\Keader 11.0\Keader\plug_ins			
	No entries	Programmiesroidervadooevkeader 11.0vkeaderpuig_inssa			
	Scheduled Tasks	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader11.0\Reader\plug_insSuprc			
	Provide Anticipation Packages	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\plug_instceeterm\PMP			
	No entries	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\plug_ins\Annotations			
	Custom Actions	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\plug_ins\Annotations\Stamps			
	5 entries	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\plug_ins\Annotations\Stamps\ENU			
ts		ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\plug_ins\Multimedia			
jec		ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\plug_ins\Multimedia\MPP			
<u>.</u>		ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\plug_ins\pi_brokers			
	L				ليسلد
	Log 🧵 Operations				
Done		Clipboard: <empty></empty>			Ϊ

Pic 3. File System changes grouped by processes that generated the changes

You can modify the set of file system and other resources using the actions available in the editor's context menu and in the contextual Ribbon pages. If you need to review and modify other types of changes, you can select the required node in the **Projects** tree and use the corresponding editors.

Define Custom Actions

EMCO MSI Package Builder allows you to configure a deployment package to execute custom actions before and/or after the installation or uninstallation and to perform system configuration actions. Such actions can be managed through a special editor displayed after selecting **Custom Actions** in an installation project. You can configure a package to run any executable commands, scripts or applications as pre and post actions. You can learn more about configuring custom actions in the Using Custom Actions chapter.

Using EMCO MSI Package Builder, you can customize installations according to your needs. For example, you can automatically create an installation project by monitoring the required actions and then review and modify the project contents by adding additional resources or a configuration of custom actions.

Selecting the Monitoring Environment

When you follow the **Repackage Installation** wizard, you need to select where you would like to monitor an installation and capture the installation changes: on the local computer, in Windows Sandbox, or on an existing virtual machine **Pic 1**.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Monitoring Environment Select whether you would like to monitor the installation and capture installation changes on this computer or use an existing virtual machine.	E
Monitor on This Computer	
This option allows you to launch the installation to be repackaged and capture the changes by this installation on your local machine.	s performed
O Monitor in Windows Sandbox	
This option allows you to capture installation changes in a Windows Sandbox environment represents a brand-new isolated installation of your current OS.	, which
O Monitor on an Existing Virtual Machine	
This option allows you to capture installation changes on an existing virtual machine. The p supports repackaging on VMware, Hyper-V and VirtualBox virtual machines. Select an exist profile or create a new one for the virtual machine to be used for repackaging.	orogram ing VM
VM Profile: <select profile="" vm=""> ····</select>	
Learn more about monitoring environment	
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Selecting the monitoring environment

Monitoring on a virtual machine is a preferred option, so if you have virtual machines hosted on a Hyper-V, VMware or VirtualBox server, you can select the option of monitoring an installation on an existing virtual machine, which should be specified in the wizard. If a VM isn't available, you can monitor in Windows Sandbox or on the local computer.

Monitoring on the Local Computer

This is the default option that allows monitoring an installation on the same computer where EMCO MSI Package Builder is running. To use it, ensure that the local computer is selected as your monitoring environment and proceed to monitoring. Before starting monitoring, make sure you follow the repackaging best practices and use a clean environment as explained in the Overview of Repackaging Best Practices chapter.

For successful repackaging, you need to use a clean environment and restore the clean state every time you perform monitoring. When you monitor on the local computer, it is required that you perform manual actions before or after repackaging to restore the clean state of the monitoring environment. You can avoid this manual extra work if you use the **Monitor in Windows Sandbox** or **Monitor on an Existing Virtual Machine** options. It's recommended to use existing virtual machines for repackaging, if possible. The advantages of this approach are explained in the corresponding section below.

Monitoring in Windows Sandbox

Windows Sandbox is a feature available on the latest Windows versions starting from Windows 10 and above. Windows Sandbox allows you to run applications safely in isolated environment. Sandbox runs a clean, brand-new Windows installation that is sandboxed and runs separately from the host machine. All changes in sandbox are temporarily and are lost when sandbox is closed. These features of Sandbox meet requirements of a clean repackaging environment explained in the Overview of Repackaging Best Practices chapter, so you can use Windows Sandbox for monitoring.

Windows Sandbox doesn't require any setup or configuration. It is available out of the box on modern Windows versions. To use it you just need to enable virtualization features on your hardware and enable Sandbox it in Windows Features list. You can learn more about enabling Sandbox in the Repackaging in Windows Sandbox chapter.

Using Sandbox is easier than using a virtual machine for repackaging because you don't need to configure environment. Sandbox provides you with a clean environment each time when you run Sandbox. Note that Sandbox environment isn't equal to the regular OS environment, so some installations cannot be installed in Sandbox. If you need to repackage an installation that fails to deploy in sandbox, it's recommended to use a virtual machine to repackage this installation.

Monitoring on an Existing Virtual Machine

This option allows you to connect to a Hyper-V, VMware or VirtualBox virtual machine remotely and use it for monitoring. In this case, virtual machines are used for monitoring only, but all other operations, such as creation of installation projects, projects management and packages generation, are performed on the local computer.

This approach is preferable to the traditional repackaging on the local computer for the following reasons.

- You can switch among repackaging environments quickly and easily. You can install a single copy of the program that can connect to different VMs hosted on Hyper-V, VMware and VirtualBox servers to use them for monitoring. It allows you to have one local copy of EMCO MSI Package Builder, and you don't need to install the program on every VM used for monitoring.
- Installation projects are stored on the computer where EMCO MSI Package Builder is installed. If you revert a VM, your projects stay intact since they are stored on another machine. You don't need to care about manual copying of projects from the VMs because the program automatically copies projects into a central projects storage at the end of every repackaging.
- You can configure the program to restore a VM automatically to a snapshot with a clean state at the end of repackaging. You don't need to restore VMs manually. If a VM has multiple snapshots, you can configure the program to use a specific snapshot for repackaging.

These features help to automate the repackaging process, so it is recommended to use monitoring on an existing virtual machine if possible.

When the **Monitor on an Existing Virtual Machine** option is selected, you need to specify a VM to be used for monitoring. All VM configurations are stored as VM profiles, so you can select the

required profile. If you don't have profiles, you can click the and open the **VM Profiles Manager** to configure a new VM **Pic 2**.



Pic 2. VM profiles configuration

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

The program is able to work with Hyper-V, VMware and VirtualBox virtual machines hosted on the local PC or on remote servers. To create a VM profile, you need to configure where the VM is hosted. There are available default server configurations working on the local PC. If you need to work with a remote server, you can configure it by specifying its host name, username and password. Then you can create a VM profile by specifying the machine name, username, password and the optional snapshot of the virtual machine **Pic 3**.

Machine: Windows10 Encryption Password: ******* * Snapshot: <current state=""> Create a snapshot before operation Revert to the snapshot after operation User Name: Alex Delorian Password: ********</current>	Profile Name:	Windows 10	VM Server:	192.168.5.20	
Snapshot: <current state=""> Image: Create a snapshot before operation Image: Create a snapshot before operation Image: Revert to the snapshot after operation User Name: Alex Delorian Password: ********* Image: Create a snapshot before operation Image: Create a snapshot after operation <tr< td=""><td>Machine:</td><td>Windows10</td><td>··· Encryption Password:</td><td>0 ******</td><td>•</td></tr<></current>	Machine:	Windows10	··· Encryption Password:	0 ******	•
Create a snapshot before operation Revert to the snapshot after operation User Name: Alex Delorian Password: *********	Snapshot:	<current state=""></current>			
	Jser Name:	Revert to the snapshot a	fter operation Password:	****	~
Uescription:	Description:			1	

Pic 3. VM profile configuration

After creating a VM profile, you can select it in the **Repackage Installation** wizard, so the program will use the specified VM for monitoring. You can learn more about VM configuring and other topics in the Repackaging on a Virtual Machine chapter. There you can find important information on the technical requirements for virtual machines and servers that can be used by the program.

How to Create an App-V Package

The Architect edition of the program allows generating packages in multiple formats, including App-V. The App-V format is used by Microsoft Application Virtualization technology, so you can use the program to convert installations into virtual applications for Microsoft App-V.

There are multiple ways to create virtual applications in the program. If you have an installation to be converted into an App-V package, you can use installation monitoring in the same way as you use it to create an MSI package. In this case, you need to open the **Repackage Installation Wizard** and follow its steps. After selecting the **Monitoring** option in the wizard, you will be prompted to choose the output package type. To create an App-V package, you need to select the App-V option there **Pic 1**. The next steps are the same as those for repackaging of installations into MSI packages explained in the Demo: Repackage EXE to MSI Using Monitoring and Demo: Create Customized Installations Using Monitoring chapters. The program starts monitoring to track changes applied by the repackaged installation, and you get an App-V package instead of MSI in the end.

Repackage Installation Wizard		×
Output Package Format Select the format of the output package to Windows compatibility limitations, so sele	to be generated. Some formats may have functionality or ect the format that meets your requirements.	~
MSI Package		
This format supports all the package environments and deployment too	ging features and provides the best compatibility with Wind ols.	lows
App-V Package		
This format is compatible with Win Virtualization) and may include fea	ndows environments ready for App-V (Microsoft Applicatio atures supported by App-V.	n
MSIX/AppX Package		
This format is compatible with mo deploy MSIX/AppX. It may include	dern Windows environments and distribution tools designe features supported by MSIX/AppX.	ed to
Skip Package Generation		
Select this option if you need to m the monitoring.	ionitor changes only and skip package generation upon cor	mpleting
	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel
Skip Package Generation Select this option if you need to m the monitoring.	<pre>conitor changes only and skip package generation upon con </pre> < Back Next > Finish	npleting Cancel

Pic 1. Selecting the output format

If you have previously repackaged an installation into an MSI and have a saved project, you can open it in the program and click on **Create App-V Package** on the Ribbon to generate App-V from the project contents. You don't need to repeat repackaging in this case, because the project already includes the captured changes. It also works in the reverse direction: if you have created an App-V package before, you can just open the project and generate MSI or MSIX/AppX packages. An installation project stores all changes regardless of the output format, so you can generate MSI, App-V and MSIX/AppX packages using the same project.

You can also create an App-V package manually. In this case, you should create a new empty project and use **File System**, **Registry** and other editors in the program to add the required resources into the project. Having the project ready, you can press the corresponding button on the Ribbon to generate an App-V package.

When generating an App-V package, you get a set of files. Those files allow you to deliver an App-V application from App-V Server to App-V Clients and to deploy an App-V package locally in the standalone mode. The MSI file generated together with App-V allows you to install and uninstall the virtualized application locally in the standalone mode.

How to Create an MSIX Package

Using the Architect edition of the program, you can create MSIX/AppX packages and convert existing installations into MSIX/AppX. MSIX is a new installation package format designed for Windows 10. MSIX is a new and improved version of AppX that extends the features of AppX. AppX was originally designed for distribution of UWP apps, so MSIX extends it to provide support for Win32 applications. The generated MSIX/AppX packages can be distributed through Windows Store, installed by sideloading or distributed in local networks.

The contents and structure of an MSIX package are very similar to those of MSI, AppX and App-V packages, so technically it is possible to use the same installation project to generate packages in all these formats. It means that for creating MSIX/AppX packages you can use the same approaches you use to create regular MSI packages: you can repackage an existing EXE installation into MSIX/AppX, create installation contents manually using the editors, or, if you have an existing installation project, use it to generate MSIX/AppX.

Installation repackaging works as described in the Demo: Repackage EXE to MSI Using Monitoring and Demo: Create Customized Installations Using Monitoring chapters. You only need to select MSIX/AppX as the output format in the **Repackage Installation Wizard** Pic 1 and set MSIX/AppX options for the generated package, such as the target platform.

Repackage Installation Wizard			×
Output Package Format Select the format of the output package to be ge Windows compatibility limitations, so select the	nerated. Some formats may format that meets your req	y have functionality or uirements.	~
MSI Package This format supports all the packaging fea environments and deployment tools.	tures and provides the best	compatibility with Wir	ndows
App-V Package This format is compatible with Windows e Virtualization) and may include features so	nvironments ready for App apported by App-V.	-V (Microsoft Applicati	on
MSIX/AppX Package This format is compatible with modern W deploy MSIX/AppX. It may include feature	indows environments and o s supported by MSIX/AppX	distribution tools design	ned to
Skip Package Generation			
Select this option if you need to monitor of the monitoring.	hanges only and skip pack	age generation upon co	ompleting
	< Back Next >	Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Selecting the output format

It's worth noting that MSIX/AppX packages can only be generated on PC running Windows 10 and above. If you need to repackage installations into the MSIX/AppX format, you should run repackaging on Windows 10 (or above). Depending on the selected target platform, the program will automatically select the output package format. MSIX packages are generated only for target platforms supporting MSIX. For earlier versions of Windows 10 that don't support MSIX, the program generates AppX packages.

All MSIX/AppX packages must be digitally signed. So, if you have a digital certificate for code signing, you can configure it in the program's preferences. Alternatively, you can use an auto-generated self-signed certificate. Learn more about this topic in the Signing Packages chapter.

If you have previously repackaged an installation and there is an installation project available, or if you have created a project manually, you can open it in the program and generate an MSIX/AppX package by pressing the **Create MSIX/AppX Package** button on the Ribbon.

Packages Testing and Troubleshooting

Once an installation package is generated, it needs to be thoroughly tested before being deployed remotely across a network. You can test the package manually by deploying it on a virtual machine with a fresh OS installation, or you can utilize the package testing features provided by the program. The generated packages appear in the **Packages** view. You can access this view by clicking the corresponding button on the vertical navigator located on the left side of the main screen. This view enables you to test packages and log the installation results. To test a generated package, follow the steps outlined below.

Step 1. Open the Packages view and initiate the test deployment

Click the **Packages** button on the navigator, located on the left side of the main screen, to open the corresponding view. From the list of displayed packages, select the one you wish to test and click the **Test Deployment** button found in the **Actions** group on the right side of the screen **Pic 1**.

8	[] ↓ ⊕ · · ·		EMCO MSI	Package Builder Architect			∞ –	• ×
Te Deplo Pack	Home View Program Home View Program Import Edit Remove Package Management	Check All Packages	No Grouping Product Presentation	yup Type VM Profiles Virtualization				^
	8 packages	Filter by:	ll packages 👻 Sort b	y: Name (A to Z) +	Packages Available			
	Adobe Packages MSI 1.0.0.0 Alex Delorian 12 Ci\msi\Adobe Packages\Adobe Pa	2/4/2023 sckages-msi		42.36 MB	MSI Packages App-	2 V Packages	T MSIX/AppX F	1 Package
	MSI 11.0.3.37 Alex Delorian	11/28/2023		175.21 MB				
	C:\msi\Adobe Reader.msi				Actions			
	MSI 9.3 Alex Delorian 12/6/ C:\msi\Adobe Reader 9\Adobe Rea	/2023 ader 9.msi		98.13 MB	Test Deployment Test package deployment to ider	ntify any errors.		
	Adobe Reader11 MSI 11.0.3.37 Alex Delorian C\msi\Adobe Reader11\Adobe Re	12/5/2023		175.23 MB	Import Package Import an installation package in	nto the package list.		
	LibreOffice MSI 7.0.0.3 Alex Delorian 12 Ci\msi\LibreOffice\LibreOffice.msi	2/5/2023		505.82 MB	Most Recently Created Package			
	Manager Toolkit App-V 1.0.0.0 Alex Delorian C:\msi\Manager Toolkit\Manager	12/6/2023 Toolkit.appv		133.52 KB				
	Open Office App-V 4.1.1 EMCO 12/6/20 C:\msi\Open Office\Open Office.a)23 Ippv		288.93 MB				
ckages	RealWorld Cursor Editor MSIX/AppX 13.1.0.0 RealWo C:\msi\RWCursorEditor32\RWCurso	rld Graphics 12/6/2023 sorEditor32.msix		10.13 MB				
Ра								
	Log 🗵 Operations							
Done					Clipboard: <em< th=""><th>ipty></th><th></th><th>X la</th></em<>	ipty>		X la

Pic 1. The Packages view

Step 2. Choose the testing environment

In the dialog that appears, select the environment where you wish to test the package. Options include deploying the package on the same computer the program is running, deploying in Windows Sandbox, or deploying to a virtual machine. For accuracy, it's recommended to test in a clean environment consistent with the best practices. Therefore, choose the **Deploy on an Existing Virtual Machine** option and select an existing VM profile or create a new one.

Step 3. Choose the deployment test mode

During package testing, the program can verify the installation only, both installation and execution of the installed program, or conduct a full test that includes installation, execution, and uninstallation. For the purposes of this tutorial, a comprehensive assessment is required. Therefore, select the **Full** option to thoroughly test all aspects of the package.

Step 4. Run the test

Click **Finish** to initiate the test. The program will then establish a connection to the selected test environment, transfer the package, and perform deployment.

In the first testing phase, the package is deployed to the test environment. Deployment is automated, and the program automatically detects and logs any errors that occur during this process.

After deploying the package, MSI Package Builder will display a dialog box. In this box, you need to confirm whether the deployed application functions correctly. To do so you need to manually run the deployed application in the test environment to check its functionality. After testing, choose the appropriate option in the dialog box to indicate if the application worked as expected. Include any necessary comments. Finally, click **Submit Run Results** to proceed to uninstallation testing **Pic 2**.

Testing Pa	ackage in Windows Sa	andbox		– ×
		2		
Pre	paring	Testing		Finalizing
	The 'Adobe Reader' manually to ensure any optional comm	9.msi' package has been installed. Ru it operates as expected, and then sul ents.	un the ii bmit yo	nstalled application ur results along with
	The installed appl	ication operates as expected	[Submit Run Results
	O The installed appl	ication is not operating correctly	L	
	Application verifica	tion was successful		
				Cancel

Pic 2. Submitting the application functionality testing results

The program automatically performs the package uninstallation and detects and logs any errors that occur during this process.

Step 5. Check test results

Once the test has finished, locate the new entry that displays the test results in the package's **Actions History**. To examine the test outcomes and logs, click **View Details**. For each testing phase, the results will be displayed. Any detected issues will be noted here. For detailed installation and uninstallation logs created during the test, click the **View Log** link. For instance, you can access the **Install Log** to review the detailed log generated by the MSI installation **Pic 3**.

eployme Review th	nt Test Re ne package d	sults leploymen	at test results. Check the status of each testing step, and review the generated log	s.
lest Results	Install Log	Run Log	Uninstall Log	
Detailed L	og			
=== Verbo MSI (c) (64:	se logging st 9C) [01:17:3	tarted: 12/6 5:146]: Fon	6/2023 1:17:35 Build type: SHIP UNICODE 5.00.10011.00 Calling process: C:\.MPI at created. Charset: Req=0, Ret=0, Font: Req=MS Shell DIg, Ret=MS Shell DIg	803F0F307-8
MSI (c) (64:	9C) [01:17:3	5:146]: Fon	nt created. Charset: Req=0, Ret=0, Font: Req=MS Shell DIg, Ret=MS Shell DIg	
MSI (c) (64:	C0) [01:17:3	5:271]: Res	etting cached policy values	
MSI (c) (64:	C0) [01:17:3	5:271]: ****	time poncy viace beauging of	
*****	** Product: 0 ** Action:	C://WPB03	FUF307-8F72-43E7-B759-5033E9AB32FB\Inst\Adobe Reader 9.msi	
*****	** Comman	dLine: ****	***	
MSI (c) (64:	:C0) [01:17:3	5:271]: Clie	ent-side and UI is none or basic: Running entire install on the server.	
MSI (c) (64: MSI (c) (64:	C0) [01:17:3:	5:271]: Grai 5:224]: Clo	aking analysis	
MSI (c) (64:	C0) [01:17:3	5:334]: Atte	empting to enable all disabled privileges before calling Install on Server	
MSI (c) (64:	CO) [01:17:3	5:334]: Incr	rementing counter to disable shutdown. Counter after increment: 0	
MSI (e) (EA-	OC) [01:17:35		ning installation inside multi-package transaction C:\.MPB03F0F307-8F72-43E7-	3759-5033E
IVI31 (3) (E4.	OC) [01:17:35	5:400]: Run	bland an an the second as	
MSI (s) (E4:	CON 104 47 35	5:400]: Run 5:400]: Gral	bbed execution mutex.	
MSI (s) (E4: MSI (s) (E4: MSI (s) (E4:	68) [01:17:35	5:400]: Run 5:400]: Gral 5:400]: Rese	etting cached policy values	
MSI (s) (E4: MSI (s) (E4: MSI (s) (E4:	68) [01:17:35	5:400]: Run 5:400]: Gral 5:400]: Rese	etting cached policy values	

Pic 3. Package installation test results

If you encounter any issues during package testing, you can either edit the corresponding project to address them or redo the repacking process.

Troubleshooting

Many problems can be resolved simply by using a clean environment for repackaging and following the best practices explained in the Overview of the Repackaging Best Practices chapter. Below, you can find a list of the most common MSI problems and recommendations on how to resolve them.

A file is locked during MSI install

This problem usually happens when you don't use a clean environment for repackaging, and an unrelated process, such as an antivirus running in the background during the repackaging, generated a file change that is captured and included into the MSI. When you deploy the MSI, it tries to modify the file, but the file is in use by the running antivirus, therefore the MSI deployment cannot be finished. To resolve this problem, you need to repeat the repackaging using a clean environment as suggested in the repackaging best practices.

A file is locked during MSI uninstall

This problem is similar to the one described above. An MSI includes a change initiated by an unrelated application, which may be an antivirus, for example. When you deployed the MSI, the file change is accepted, but when you try to uninstall the MSI, the file is locked by the antivirus. To resolve this problem and uninstall the MSI, you need to close the program that locks the file and then uninstall the MSI. In any case, the generated MSI is incorrect and you need to create a new MSI using a clean environment for repackaging.

An MSI was installed successfully, but the installation does not appear in Windows Programs and Features

By default, EMCO MSI Package Builder creates MSI packages that are deployed per user, so if you didn't use any special options during the MSI deployment, the installation is visible for the current user only, and if you switch to another user, you won't be able find it in the Windows **Start menu** or in **Programs and Features**. To resolve this problem, you may provide special deployment options for the **msiexec** utility to be deployed to all user accounts during the MSI deployment. Alternatively, you may change the MSI project settings to use the **All Users** option instead of the **Current User** option and generate a new MSI package.

An MSI upgrade doesn't remove the old version of the same application

Windows Installer uninstalls the previous version of MSI automatically if a new version is being installed. Note that this only works for MSI packages, so you cannot rely on this feature if the previous version of the application was installed by an EXE installer. Besides, to use this feature, you need to properly configure the MSI version, Upgrade GUID and the installation scope as explained in the How should I configure the repackaged installations to support an upgrade? chapter.

An MSI doesn't replace some files

When you deploy an MSI package, Windows Installer checks the file properties for every file to be replaced. For files that contain version information in their properties, like DLL or EXE files, Windows Installer compares the versions of the new file and the existing one and replaces the existing file only if the new file version is greater than that of the existing one. This behavior is configured in the **Install Options** section of the MSI properties, so you can change it to replace all files unconditionally.

If you face a problem, first make sure that you follow all the repackaging best practices and repeat the repackaging in a clean environment. If you still have questions after that, you can *contact support* and provide information on the problem and the installation you try to repackage.

Chapter 3: Program Interface Overview

EMCO MSI Package Builder is designed for creating, modifying, and testing installation packages. It supports various formats, including MSI, App-V, and MSIX/AppX. The user interface grants access to all necessary features for creation and editing packages in different formats. Key operations like installation repackaging and package testing are automated. The program's graphical interface wizards guide you through these complex tasks, so they can be performed quickly and easily. This chapter explains the organization of the graphical interface and how to utilize the available views in the program.

The program features a modern Ribbon-based interface **Pic 1**. The **Ribbon** menu, located at the top of the screen **A**, includes a few main tabs with the main items. Additional contextual tabs appear on the Ribbon when using certain views and editors.

- 6	888 ▶ \$\$ -	EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect	× – – ×
	Iv <u>Home</u> View Program В I IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII] 🙇 🔋 🕨 🕨 🐻 👘	
Repa	ackage Capture Capture System Wrap New Op allation Installations Changes Installation Repackage Pro	n Import Test Start Manage Deployment Monitoring VM Profiles ects Packages Capture Virtualization	A .
	MSI Package Builder	B	
	Open Recent	Get Started	
	٩	~ Repackage	
	✓ Today Adobe Reader 11 12/4/2023 10.46 D:\MSIPBRoot	2M Capture Installations Repackage single or multiple installations by capturing their changes. The prog installations, automatically ceases monitoring, and generates an output package	gram initiates monitoring, runs specified ge upon completion.
	LibreOffice 12/4/2023 10:46 D:\MSIPBRoot	M Capture System Changes Capture system changes to create an output package. The program initiates mo and manually cease monitoring. An output package is generated upon complete	onitoring, you need to make the required changes tion.
e	Get Help	Wrap Installation Create an MSI package by wrapping existing installations. Repackage single or	multiple installations, which support silent
lcom	S Getting Started Video Tour	deployment, into an output MSI package.	
Ve	Contact Support	 Project Management 	
Log	9		÷ ×
This	s view contains all operation results and other program events	Time	r / 🖬 📰
	D	lime	
	Log Z Operations		
Done		Oipboard: <empty< p=""></empty<>	×× 👔

Pic 1. The main program window

Under the Ribbon the main area is located **B**. It includes one of the main views of the program. By default, the **Welcome** view is presented, which lists recent projects that can be opened for editing. This view also offers access to the program's primary actions, including repackaging and project management. To navigate to other views, use the navigation bar on the left side of the main screen **C**.

If you select the **Projects** button on the navigation bar, the **Projects** view appears in the main area. This view enables you to create new installation projects and edit existing ones to produce output packages. Within this view you can review and edit content of a package to be generated using the views and editors described in the following chapters.

When you click the **Packages** button on the navigation bar, the **Packages** view will be shown in the main area. This view lists all the packages generated by the program, providing functionality for package management and testing. Use this view to find generated packages, initiate test deployments, and examine test results as well as package installation and uninstallation logs.

At the bottom of the main screen, you can find the **Log** and **Operations** views **D**. The **Log** view can be used to see all the events and error messages reported by the program. The **Operations** view can be used to manage the running operations.

To configure the program settings, you can open the **Preferences** dialog by selecting the corresponding option under the **Application** menu. The **Preferences** dialog allows you to configure various settings on the program, such as user interface options, projects configuration, monitoring filters and so on.

What's Inside

Welcome View Projects View Packages View Log View Operations View Graphical User Interface features

Welcome View

The **Welcome view** is displayed when you start the program **Pic 1**. You can also open it by clicking the corresponding button on the vertical navigator located on the left side of the main screen. The **Welcome** view is intended to help you start working with MSI Package Builder.



Pic 1. The Welcome view

The **Open Recent** section A of the **Welcome** view contains links to recently used projects, allowing you to open any of these projects for editing. The **Get Help** part **b** contains links to the information that is useful to anyone who is new to MSI Package Builder and would like to know more about the program. The central feature of the **Welcome** view is the **Get Started** section **C**. It includes shortcuts for commonly used actions such as repackaging installations, managing projects, and handling generated packages. You can use one of the actions available in the Repackage section to start repackaging of an existing installation. As the result, the program opens a wizard that will guide you through the repackaging process.

Projects View

The **Projects** view is intended for the management of installation projects, allowing you to review, edit, import projects into the program, and create new projects **Pic 1**. Access this view by clicking the corresponding button on the vertical navigator on the left side of the main screen, or by selecting the **Projects** button on the **View** tab of the Ribbon.



Pic 1. The Projects view

On the left side of the view you can find the Projects tree A that allows you to navigate through the projects. When the program is started, no projects are open, and the only node visible in the **Projects** tree is **Projects Storage**. Select this node to open the **Project Storage** view B on the right side next to the tree to review all projects saved by the program. From here, you can choose a project to edit. Additionally, project management actions are available to import a project into storage, open an existing project for editing, or create a new project.

After creating a new project or opening one for editing, it will be displayed in the **Projects** tree. You can open a single project or you can open multiple projects, which is particularly useful when you need to transfer changes from one project to another. Each project encapsulates the changes that a generated package will implement. The project is presented as a tree structure: the root node represents the project properties which can be edited, and the child nodes represent various types of changes, including the file system, registry, services, drivers, and more. Selecting a specific node will open a dedicated editor on the right side of the screen, enabling you to review and modify the changes of the selected type.

The **Projects** tree shows a list of currently opened projects. Distinct icons next to each project denote its current status, providing at-a-glance information. These icons reveal if a project is in process or if there are any processing issues. The icons used include:

- an MSI Package Builder project;
- an MSI Package Builder project is being operated;
- an MSI Package Builder project containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package;
- 🛐 an MSI Package Builder project based on monitoring results that is not prepared;
-] an MSI Package Builder project based on monitoring results that is prepared;
- an MSI Package Builder project based on monitoring results that could not be fully prepared (not all of required files were available during the prepare operation).

The **Projects** tree is the starting point for managing changes and creating a deployment package based on existing projects. The actions for adding, editing and deleting projects and other operations are available in the **Projects** tree pop-up menu and on Ribbon.

Functions Overview

Projects Management	In the Projects view, you can create, rename, delete, open and close MSI Package Builder projects. To perform these actions, you can either use the pop-up menu of the Projects tree or the buttons from the Project Management group on the Home Ribbon page. The actions for creating a new project, opening existing projects and closing all projects are available in the pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection of the tree, and to edit, rename, delete and close specific projects, you should first select those projects. Detailed information about the projects management abilities is available in the Projects Management section of this document.
Projects Preparation	Within the Projects view, it is possible to prepare the projects created on a basis of the monitoring results. The preparation steps consist of copying the file system resources to the projects storage, repairing missing links and rolling system folders. These actions are available in the

	pop-up menu of the tree and on the Project Ribbon page. To learn more about preparing the projects, refer to the Projects Preparation section of this document.
Capturing Changes	From the Projects view, it is possible to capture changes to the underlying operating system and create a project, containing the performed changes. To start a new session of changes capturing use either the Start Monitoring item from the pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection of the tree, or the Start Monitoring button from the Capture group on the Home Ribbon page. To stop the changes capturing session, use the Stop Monitoring items. The capturing abilities can be used for low-level repackaging and for simple monitoring of the application activity.
Deployment Package Generation	You can easily create a deployment package containing the changes represented by any project displayed in the Projects tree. Just select that project and choose the Create MSI Package , the Create App-V Package or the Create MSIX/AppX Package item in the pop-up menu – it is equivalent to using the corresponding buttons from the Builder group on the Home Ribbon page. Detailed information on the deployment package generation abilities is available in the Creating an MSI Package, Creating an App-V Package and Creating an MSIX/AppX Package sections of this document.
Deployment Package Import	It is possible to create a project by extracting any deployment package generated with MSI Package Builder in the Projects view. This feature is called a deployment package import. To perform import, use either the Import Project item from the pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection of the tree, or the Import button from the Project Management group on the Home Ribbon page.
Search	Within the Projects tree, you can execute a search for specific project using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

From the **Projects** tree pop-up menu, depending on the selection, it is possible to perform projects management, import existing deployment packages, etc.

In the subsequent chapters, you'll learn more about the **Projects Storage** view and other views for reviewing and editing project content.

What's Inside

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

Project Storage View

Project Details View

File System View

Registry View

Environment Variables View Services View

Assemblies View

Drivers View

Printers View

Windows Firewall View

Scheduled Tasks View

Nested Packages View

Custom Actions View

Wrapped Packages View

Project Storage View

When you select the **Project Storage** node in the **Projects** tree, the **Project Storage** view appears in the main program area **Pic 1**. At the top of this view, the path to the folder where projects are stored is displayed. You have the option to modify this path if necessary. Below the path there is a list of the projects stored by the program. A context menu offers options to open a project for editing, delete a selected project, or search for a specific project.

Ð	3 6⊒ ▶ 66	• •					EM	CO MSI P	ackage Bui	lder Archit	lect					5	e –	0	×
	Home	Project View	v Program	*	•			-		~				R					
Repa Instal	kage Project lation Setup Wizards	Create MSI O Package	Create App-V Package Build	Create MSIX/AppX Package	New	Open	Close	Close All Project	Rename Manageme	Delete	Import	Export	Start Monitoring Capture	Manage VM Profile Virtualizatio	s				^
	Projects			Projects Storage															
8	Projects S 31 projects	torage in the storage		The program saves can update the fold	projects in er path.	n a desigr	nated fold	ler. To mo	odify the sto	orage locat	tion, you	Adobe Reader 11							
	Adobe Rea	ader 11 .0.3.37		Storage Location: D:\MSIPBRoot							¥	Produ	ct Name: Ado	be Reader					
	File Sy 450 er	stem ntries		Projects Available in Storage					Manuf Versio	Manufacturer: Alex Delorian Version: 11.0.3.37									
Registry 2943 entries III NET Framework 4.5					Date C	Created: 9/19	0/2022 11:01:02												
	No en	tries		👰 Adobe Pack	age							Last IV	Last Modimed: 12/3/2023 0:15:13 AM						
	Services Adobe Packages					Actio	Actions												
	Assem 16 ent	Assemblies 16 entries			Adobe Reader			New Project Wizard											
Drivers No entries				Adobe Reader 11				Create a new project and save it to the projects sto											
	Printer	S		Adobe Reader 9					Open Project Open the selected project for editing.										
	Windo	ws Firewall		 Drives Firefox 					Export Project										
	Sched	tries uled Tasks						Export the selected project.											
	No entries			Fonts Installation					X	Delete Pro	ts storage.								
	No en	tries		👰 LibreOffice 👰 Manager Toolkit				 Context on access project room on project avonget 											
	S entr	ies																	
cts	Version: 7.0	0.0.3		MSI Package Builder Shortcut															
oje	File Sy 13707	stem entries		👰 NestedPack	ages														
P		CV.		Office 8.0															
	📕 Log 🕈 Operations																		
Done													2	Clipboard: <emp< th=""><th>oty></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>X</th></emp<>	oty>				X

Pic 1. The Projects Storage view

If no project is currently selected in the list, a chart will be displayed indicating the percentage of free disk space available, which helps ensure there is sufficient space to store new projects. When a project is selected, the main details of that project are shown, including its type, version, creation date, and date of last modification. Additionally, the view presents main actions you can take with projects, such as creating a new project, opening or deleting a selected project, or importing a project into storage. You can also export a project as a file or importing a project into storage.

Project Details View

The **Project Details** view is displayed within the **Projects** view when an MSI Package Builder project node is selected in the **Projects** tree. This view is used to configure properties of the package being created on a basis of the project **Pic 1**. On the left side of the view you can find a navigator that allows you to switch between project configuration sections. These sections are grouped by functionality, so you can navigate through general settings and settings for MSI, MSIX and App-V packages.

፼ @ ▶ @∽-		EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect	⊗ – ¤ X
Home Project View Program	1		
Repackage Installation Setup Wizards	Create MSUX/AppX Package	Close All Project Management Export Start Manage Virtualization	~
Projects	Project Build Properties		
Projects Storage 31 projects in the storage	General	General - Product Details	
Adobe Reader 11 Version: 11.0.3.37	Product Details	Product Name: Adobe Reader	Platform: x64 +
File System	Digital Signature	Manufacturer: Alex Delorian	- Icon:
Registry 2943 entries	Product Support Information	Language: English (United States) • Version: 11.0.3.37	<u>×</u> .
No entries	👧 MSI 🔷		
Assembles	General Properties		
Drivers	I Identification & Upgrade		
Printers No entries	Install Options		
Windows Firewal	Summary into		
Scheduled Tasks No entries	App-V ^		
Nested Packages	General Properties		
Custom Actions 5 entries	Install Options		
State Contraction State	Internal Package Info		
File System 13707 entries			
C Registry	Service August Service		
📕 Log 🕱 Operations			
Done		Clipboard: <empty></empty>	1 II

Pic 1. The Project Details view

The **Product Details** section of the **General** group allows you to define the generic package properties such as the product name, manufacturer, language, etc. Within the **Digital Signature** section, it is possible to override the common package signing configuration for the selected project, if it is required. You can also select there a set of project files that should be digitally signed during the package generation. The **Product Support Information** section can be used to override the common support configuration defined within the program preferences.

The **MSI** group is used to configure the Windows Installer package settings of the project. The **General Properties** section allows you to define the MSI installation context, the way the generated package behaves regarding the Programs and Features section of the Control Panel and if the PC should be restarted for the installation to complete. The **Identification & Upgrade** section is used to define the product GUID and upgrade GUID, if it is required. The **Install Options** section allows you to define the supported operating systems, the required Microsoft .NET Framework version and install mode. And the **Summary Info** section is responsible for defining summary information for the package.

This configuration is stored between sessions and is used to complete the corresponding properties during an MSI package creation. For a detailed description of each option, refer to the Creating an MSI Package section of this document.

The **App-V** and **MSIX/AppX** groups are available only for regular installation projects and are is used to configure the corresponding deployment packages output based on the project.

As for the **App-V** one, within the **General Properties** section, you may define the package GUID (witch is generated automatically by default) and the package description. The **Install Options** section allows you to define the supported operating systems and the model of interaction between the virtual application and the underlying operating system. The **Internal Package Info** section is used to maintain the App-V package history.

In the **MSIX/AppX** group, the **General Properties** section contains the fields to define a package name, a publisher for the package and a description. The **Applications** section is used to configure MSIX entry points and fixups. The **Target Platforms** section allows you to configure the minimum and maximum desktop and server operating system versions, that are supported by the package. The **Capabilities** section allows you to configure MSIX package capability options.

File System View

The **File System** view is displayed within the main program area when the **File System** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. This view is used to define and review the changes to be performed to the file system when installing a deployment package created on a basis of this project **Pic 1**.

e	3 62 ▶ € * •	File System Tools	EMCO MSI Pack	kage Builder Archi	tect			⊠ –	• X
Syste Folde	Home Project View Program m Drive Folder Sync File Shortcut Folder	File System	Folder File R	Roll Unroll	Roll Unroll Tree	Flat			
	New	Management	Import	System Fo	iders Pres	entation			^
	Projects	File System							
	Projects Storage	CommonProgramMenuFold	der Nam	ė			Size	Attributes	
10	time st projects in the storage	V ProgramFilesFolder	🛼 AIR						_
	Adobe Reader 11	Adobe	Brows	ser					_
	Version: 11.0.3.37	Fel	IDTem	nplates					_
	450 entries	V Reader	Javaso	cripts					
	Registry	AIR.	New	· · ·					-
	2943 entries	- Browser	Edit						
	Environment Variables	> 🛼 IDTempla 🚃	Poll System Folder						- 1
	Canal No entries	🖡 Javascript	Kon System Folder						
	3 entries	> 🗛 Legal 📖	Unroll System Folder				196 168		- 1
	Assemblies	> plug_ins	Exclude from Build				949,376		_
	No entries No entries		Copy To				264,776		
			Copy Iom	Move To					-
			Move Io				29,152,840		
	No entries	> 🛼 Setup Files 🛭 📽	Cut (Ctrl+X			1,402,440		
	Windows Firewall	> 😹 SystemFolder 👔	Copy (Ctrl+C			20,624		
	Chad lad Tada	> KundowsFolder	Dacte (ChileV			91,784		
	No entries	> 🕺 WindowsVolume	Faste	r.exe			36,952		
	mested Packages		Export	pende	encies.manifest		1,842		
	No entries		Jump To Explorer	Ctrl+J c.exe			694,352		_
	Custom Actions		Apply As Filter	dll			483,992		_
	[6] LibreOffice						253,664		
cts	Version: 7.0.0.3	X	Delete	Del			297,096		
je	File System	Q	Find	Ctrl+F			4,902,968		
Pro	13707 entries	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Rea	Configuration	•					
	A PERCIFY								
	Log 🧵 Operations								
Done						Clipboard: Window	vs Explorer Files		X

Pic 1. The File System view

The file system modifications can include modifications of folders, files and shortcuts. The location of each element is represented with a file system path, that consists of drive name or system folder and several folders included into each other. When monitoring existing installations, the required changes are created automatically and added to the corresponding project representing the installation process. It is also possible to create the changes manually or import files and folder from local file system.

	Tree
	The Tree button from the Presentation group of the contextual File System tab should
Tree	be used to display the file system modifications in form of a tree, similar to Windows
	Explorer.
	Flat
	The Flat button from the Presentation group of the contextual File System tab allows
E 1.4	The flat button from the Fresentation group of the contextual flie system tab allows
Flat	you to display the file system modifications as a raw list, where each element is
	represented with its full path.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

Information on the file system modifications can be represented both in form of a folder tree with data on each folder and in form of a resource list. When displayed as a resource list, it is by default grouped by processes responsible for the creation of each entry. For entries created manually, such a procedure is not applicable. You can clear the grouping using the table features, and it is possible to revert to the default layout at any time using the **Reset Layout** item from the configuration menu.

The icon next to every item represented in the **File System** view is used to describe of the item's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not, and if there are any processing problems.

Below is the list of icons used to represent the item type and state:

- a logical drive;
- 🔚 a logical drive is being processed;
- a logical drive that contains a permanent path;
- 📴 a system folder;
- a system folder is being processed;
- a system folder that contains a permanent path;
- a folder;
- 🔚 a folder is being processed;
- a folder is a part of a permanent path;
- 👧 a sync folder;
- 🧾 a folder in a sync folder;
- 📄 a file;
- 📄 a file is permanent;
- 🎆 a file in a sync folder;
- a shortcut.

The following overlays are used to represent the operation to be performed with an item:

- an item should be created;
- an item should be modified;
- an item should be deleted;
- 肩 permissions should be defined for an item;
- an item is excluded from the build.

As for the problematic situations, the following overlays are used:

- 🔐 an item containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package;
- an item containing changes that may lead to problems (e. g. removing of system-critical resources);
- 🚟 an item is either a missing link or contains missing links.

The actions for adding, editing and deleting the file system changes as well as copying and moving those changes between projects are available in the **File System** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Changes Management	From the File System view, you can create, edit and delete the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the file system. The actions for creating a new drive, system folder, folder, file and shortcut can be found within the New group on the contextual File System Ribbon page. The System Folder and Drive buttons from the New group on the Project page can also be used to create a new system folder and drive, respectively, together with the New System Folder and New Drive items in the pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection in the File System view. When a drive or folder is selected in the File System view, you can use the New sub-menu of the pop-up menu to create a new folder, sync folder, file or shortcut in the selected location. To change any file system modification, you can use the Edit item from the pop-up menu or the Edit button from the Management group on the contextual File System Ribbon page, and to delete the modification, use the Delete items.
System Folders	Within the File System view, it is possible to replace the common system folders with their definitions and vice-versa. The system folder definition is expanded to the actual path when a deployment package is being installed on a target PC. To replace a path, representing a system folder, with its definition placeholder, you can use the Roll System Folder menu item from the pop-up menu or the Roll button from the System Folders group on the contextual File System Ribbon page. To expand a system folder definition to the path that is defined on a current PC, use the Unroll System Folder menu item from the pop-up menu or the Unroll button from the System Folders group on the contextual File System Ribbon page. It is also possible to roll and unroll all system folders within a project using the Roll All and Unroll All buttons from the System Folders group on the Project Ribbon page.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the file system from the File System view. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual File System Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
External Tools	From the File System view, it is possible to open a location of any file system item in the Windows Explorer using the Jump to Explorer item from the pop-up menu, when a file system item is selected. When a file is selected, you can open this file using the Open File item from the pop-up menu. You can also import changes from a file system of the PC MSI Package Builder is running on. To perform import, you should either use the items available in the Import sub-menu of the pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection and from the Import group on the contextual File System Ribbon page, or the File System button from the Import group on the Project Ribbon page.

Filters' Settings	Any file system item from the File System view can be easily added either to monitoring or uninstall file filters using the Apply As Filter sub- menu from the File System view pop-up menu when a file or folder is selected.
Presentation	The changes to a file system performed by a deployment package can be displayed in the File System view in form of a tree or in form of a table. To switch between different data presentation models, you can use either the Tree and Flat buttons from the Presentation group on the contextual File System Ribbon page, or the Presentation sub-menu of the view pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection.
Search	Within the File System view, you can execute a search for specific changes to the file system performed by a deployment package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on the changes to a file system that can be defined in a project, refer to the File System Modifications section of this document.

Registry View

The **Registry** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Registry** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. This view is used to define and review the changes to be performed to the Windows registry when installing a deployment package created on a basis of this project **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. The Registry view

The registry modifications can include modifications of keys and values. The location of each element is represented with a registry path, that consists of root key and several keys included into each other. When monitoring existing installations, the required changes are created automatically and added to the corresponding project representing the installation process. It is also possible to create the changes manually or import changes from a registration entries (.reg) file.

Tree

۲.

Tree

Flat

The **Tree** button from the **Presentation** group of the contextual **Registry** tab should be used to display the registry modifications in form of a tree, similar to Registry Editor.

Flat

The **Flat** button from the **Presentation** group of the contextual **Registry** tab allows you to display the registry modifications as a raw list, where each element is represented with its full path.
Information on the registry modifications can be represented both in form of a keys tree with data on each key and in form of a resource list. When displayed as a resource list, it is by default grouped by processes responsible for the creation of each entry. For the entries created manually, such a procedure is not applicable. You can clear the grouping using the table features, and it is possible to revert to the default layout at any time using the **Reset Layout** item from the configuration menu.

The icon next to every item represented in the **Registry** view is used to describe of the item's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not, and if there are any processing problems.

Below is the list of icons used to represent the item type and state:

- 📙 a root key;
- a root key containing permanent registry keys or values;
- 👖 a registry key;
- 1 a registry key is a part of a permanent path;
- 具 a string registry value;
- a string registry value is permanent;
- a binary registry value;
- a binary registry value is permanent;
- 🔜 a DWORD registry value;
- a DWORD registry value is permanent;
- 🔜 a QWORD registry value;
- a QWORD registry value is permanent;
- a multi-string registry value;
- a multi-string registry value is permanent;
- in an expandable string registry value;
- in an expandable string registry value is permanent;

The following overlays are used to represent the operation to be performed with a registry key or value:

- an item should be created;
- I an item should be modified;
- 1 an item should be deleted;
- Permissions should be defined for a key;
- an item is excluded from the build.

As for the problematic situations, only the following overlay is used:

I - an item containing changes that may lead to problems (e. g. removing of system-critical resources).

The actions for adding, editing and deleting the registry changes as well as copying and moving those changes between projects are available in the **Registry** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Changes Management	From the Registry view, you can create, edit and delete the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the Windows registry. The actions for creating a new root key, registry key and registry values of different types can be found within the New group on the contextual Registry Ribbon page. The Root Key button from the New group on the Project page can also be used to create a new key together with the New Root Key item in the pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection in the Registry view. When a registry key is selected in the Registry view, you can use the New sub-menu of the pop-up menu to create a new key or a new value of a specific type within the selected key. To change any registry modification, you can use the Edit item from the pop-up menu or the Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Registry Ribbon page, and to delete the modification, use the Delete items. As for the default values for each key, you can also change the value type using the Change Type sub- menu from the Registry view when a default value is selected.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the Windows registry from the Registry view. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut, Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual Registry Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
External Tools	From the Registry view, it is possible to open a location of any key or value in the Registry Editor using the Jump to Registry Editor item from the pop-up menu, when a key or value is selected. You can also import the changes to a Windows registry from a registration entries (.reg) file. To perform import, you should either choose the Registry button available in the Import group on both the regular Project and contextual Registry Ribbon pages, or choose the Import item from the pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection.
Filters' Settings	Any key or value from the Registry view can be easily added either to monitoring or uninstall registry filters using the Apply As Filter sub-menu from the Registry view pop-up menu when a key or value is selected.
Presentation	The changes to a Windows registry performed by a deployment package can be displayed in the Registry view in form of a tree or in form of a table. To switch between different data presentation models, you can use either the Tree and Flat buttons from the Presentation group on the contextual Registry Ribbon page, or the Presentation sub-menu of the view pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection.
Search	Within the Registry view, you can execute a search for specific changes to the Windows registry performed by a deployment package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on the changes to a registry that can be defined in a project, refer to the Registry Modifications section of this document.

Environment Variables View

The **Environment Variables** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Environment Variables** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. This view is used to define and review the changes to be performed to the environment variables when installing a deployment package created on a basis of this project **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. The Environment Variables view

The environment variables modifications can include modifications to user and system variables. When monitoring existing installations, the required changes are created automatically and added to the corresponding project representing the installation process. It is also possible to create the changes manually.

MSIX/AppX packages do not support configuring the environment variables during deployment, so, when generated, those changes are included into MSI and App-V deployment packages only.

The environment variables modifications are by default grouped by the variable type. You can clear the grouping using the table features, and it is possible to revert to the default layout at any time using the **Reset Layout** item from the configuration menu.

The icon next to every item represented in the **Environment Variables** view is used to describe of the item's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not.

Below is the list of type icons used:

🔜 - a user environment variable;

a system environment variable;

The following overlays are used to represent the operation to be performed with each variable when installing a generated deployment package:

- a variable should be created;
- a variable should be created, if it does not exist;
- a variable should be removed;
- a variable should be removed, if its value matches the defined value;
- a variable is excluded from the build.

The actions for adding, editing and deleting the changes to environment variables as well as copying and moving those changes between projects are available in the **Environment Variables** view popup menu and on the contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Changes Management	From the Environment Variables view, you can create, edit and delete the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the environment variables. The New Environment Variable item from the Environment Variables view pop-up menu as well as the Environment Variable button from the New group on the contextual Environment Variables Ribbon page can be used to create a new modification to environment variables. It is possible to create a new variable, append/prepend data to existing variables and remove variables together with a deployment package deployment process. To change any environment variables modification, you can use the Edit item from the pop-up menu or the Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Environment Variables Ribbon page, and to delete the modification, use the Delete items.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the environment variables from the Environment Variables view. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual Environment Variables Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
Search	Within the Environment Variables view, you can execute a search for specific changes to the environment variables performed by a deployment package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information about the changes to environment variables that can be defined in a project refer to the Environment Variables Modifications section of this document.

Services View

The **Services** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Services** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. This view is used to define and review the changes to be performed to the installed services when installing and/or uninstalling a deployment package created on a basis of this project **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. The Services view

MSI Package Builder allows you to create, delete and control Windows services. When monitoring existing installations, the required changes are created automatically and added to the corresponding project representing the installation process. It is also possible to create the changes manually.

Configuring services during deployment is not supported by App-V and MSIX/AppX packages, so, when generated, those changes are included into the MSI deployment packages only.

The icon next to every item represented in the **Services** view is used to describe of the item's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not, and if there are any processing problems.

Below is the list of type icons used:

🔍 - a service;

🐏 - a service containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package.

The following overlays are used to represent the operation to be performed with each service:

- a service should be created;
- a service should be deleted;
- a service should be controlled (started and/or stopped);
- a service should be restarted;
- permissions should be defined for a service;
- a service is excluded from the build.

The actions for adding, editing and deleting the changes to Windows services as well as copying and moving those changes between projects are available in the **Services** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **Services** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Changes Management	From the Services view, you can create, edit and delete the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the Windows services configuration. The New Service item from the Services view pop-up menu and the Service button from the New group on the contextual Service Ribbon page can be used to create a new modification to Windows services. It is possible to create the service together with the package deployment process or control any service that is already installed when installing and/or uninstalling the deployment package. To change any service modification, you can use the Edit item from the pop-up menu or the Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Services Ribbon page, and to delete the modification, use the Delete items.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the Windows services configuration from the Services view. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual Services Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
Search	Within the Services view, you can execute a search for specific changes to the Windows services configuration performed by a deployment package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on the changes to Windows services that can be defined in a project, refer to the Services Modifications section of this document.

Assemblies View

The **Assemblies** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Assemblies** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. This view is used to configure a set of side-by-side .NET and/or Win32 assemblies that are installed by the generated deployment package **Pic 1**.

884 ▶ €	Assemblies Tools EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect			3	-	□ ×
Home Project View Program Win32 .NET Edit Delete Copy To Assembly New Management To To To To	Assemblies Aove To					^
Projects	Assemblies					
Projects Storage 31 projects in the storage 32 projects in the storage Image: Storage	Summary amd64, win32, Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32, Microsoft, VC80, CRT, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32, Microsoft, VC80, MFC, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32, Microsoft, VC80, MFC, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32, Microsoft, VC80, MFC, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32-policy, policy, 8.0.Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32-policy, policy, 8.0.Microsoft, VC80, CRT, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32-policy, policy, 8.0.Microsoft, VC80, CRT, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32-policy, policy, 8.0.Microsoft, VC80, MFC, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32, Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, amd64, win32, Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, x86, win32, Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, x86, win32, Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, x86, win32, Microsoft, VC80, MFC1, OC, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, x86, win32, Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, x86, win32, Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, x86, win32, Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, x86, win32, Policy, policy, 8.0.Microsoft, VC80, ATL, 1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b, 8.0.50727.42, x86, win32, Policy,	 ▼ ■ ▼ × <l< th=""><th>New Win32 Assembly New .NET Assembly Edit Exclude from Build Copy To Move To Cut Ctrl+X Copy Ctrl+C Paste Ctrl+V Delete Del Find Ctrl+F Configuration</th><th></th><th></th><th></th></l<>	New Win32 Assembly New .NET Assembly Edit Exclude from Build Copy To Move To Cut Ctrl+X Copy Ctrl+C Paste Ctrl+V Delete Del Find Ctrl+F Configuration			
Log <u>a</u> Operations						
Done			Clipboard: <empty></empty>			in 👗 🔝

Pic 1. The Assemblies view

This view is used to configure a set of side-by-side .NET and/or Win32 assemblies that are installed by the generated deployment package.

MSIX/AppX packages do not support side-by-side assemblies deployment, so, when generated, those changes are included into MSI and App-V deployment packages only.

The assemblies are displayed in form of a table, where each row represents a single assembly. The icon next to every assembly is used to describe of the assembly's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not and if there are any problems.

Below is the list of icons used to represent the item type and state:

- a .NET assembly;
- 💿 a Win32 assembly;
- an assembly is excluded from the build.

As for the problematic situations, the following overlays are used:

- an assembly item containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package;
- 🔚 an assembly item contains missing links.

The actions for adding new assemblies, editing and deleting existing ones and others are available in the **Assemblies** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **Assemblies** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Assemblies Management	From the Assemblies view, you can add, edit and delete the .NET and/or Win32 side-by-side assemblies to be installed by a generated deployment package. To add a new assembly, you can either choose the New Win32 Assembly/New .NET Assembly item from the pop-up menu, or press the Win32 Assembly/.NET Assembly button from the New group on the contextual Assemblies Ribbon page and on the Project Ribbon page. The Edit item from the pop-up menu, as well as the Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Assemblies Ribbon page can be used to change the selected assembly, and to delete any assembly, you can use the Delete items.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the .NET and/or Win32 side-by-side assemblies to be installed by a generated deployment package from the Assemblies view to another project. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual Assemblies Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
Search	Within the Assemblies view, you can execute a search for specific assembly using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on the side-by-side assemblies and their management process, refer to the Side-by-side Assemblies Deployment section of this document.

Drivers View

The **Drivers** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Drivers** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. This view is used to define and review the changes to be performed to the device drivers when installing and/or uninstalling a deployment package created on a basis of this project **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. The Drivers view

MSI Package Builder allows you to create and delete basic drivers as well as install and pre-install driver packages. Both basic drivers and drivers from packages can be registered as device class filters by MSI Package Builder if it is required. When monitoring existing installations, the required changes are created automatically and added to the corresponding project representing the installation process. It is also possible to create the changes manually.



The icon next to every item represented in the **Drivers** view is used to describe of the item's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not, and if there are any processing problems.

Below is the list of type icons used:

- a basic driver;
- 💽 a driver package;

💽 - a DIFx driver package.

As for the problematic situations, the following overlays are used:

- Pression of the second second
- a driver package containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package;
- 💱 a driver package contains missing links;
- 💱 a DIFx driver package contains missing links.

The following overlays are used to represent the operation to be performed with each driver:

- a basic driver should be created;
- I a basic driver should be deleted;
- 🔢 permissions should be defined for a basic driver;
- a driver package should be installed;
- 💽 a driver package should be pre-installed;
- a DIFx driver package should be installed;
- a DIFx driver package should be pre-installed;
- a driver is excluded from the build.

The actions for adding, editing and deleting the changes to device drivers as well as copying and moving those changes between projects are available in the **Drivers** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **Drivers** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Changes Management	From the Drivers view, you can create, edit and delete the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the device drivers configuration. The New Basic Driver , the New Driver Package and the New DIFx Driver Package items from the Drivers view pop-up menu, as well as the Basic Driver , the Driver Package and the DIFx Driver Package buttons from the New group on the contextual Drivers Ribbon page can be used to create a new modification to device drivers. To change any device drivers modification, you can use the Edit item from the pop-up menu or the Edit button from the Management group on the Drivers contextual Ribbon page, and to delete the modification, use the Delete items.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the device drivers configuration from the Drivers view. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual Drivers Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.

Search	Within the Drivers view, you can execute a search for specific changes
	to the device drivers configuration performed by a deployment package
	using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on the changes to device drivers that can be defined in a project, refer to the Drivers Deployment section of this document.

Printers View

The **Printers** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Printers** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. This view is used to define and review the changes to be performed to the printing system when installing and/or uninstalling a deployment package created based on this project **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. The Printers view

MSI Package Builder allows you to perform the following changes to the printing system: create, modify and delete printers; install and uninstall printer drivers; add and remove print processors, print monitors and printer ports. When monitoring existing installations, required changes are created automatically and added to the corresponding project representing the installation process. It is also possible to create changes manually.

App-V and MSIX/AppX packages do not support configuring the printing system during deployment, so, when generated, those changes are included into MSI deployment packages only.

By default, items in the view are grouped by the entry type. You can change the grouping using the table features, and it is possible to revert to the default layout at any time using the **Reset Layout** item from the configuration menu.

The icon next to every item represented in the **Printers** view is used to describe the item's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is happening in the program at the moment. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not, and if there are any processing problems.

Below is the list of the type icons used:

- 👜 a printer;
- 📥 a printer driver;
- 🚌 a print processor;
- 🙈 a print monitor;
- 🜉 a local printer port;
- a TCP/IP printer port;
- a printer is excluded from the build.

In case of problems, the following overlays are used:

- A printer containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package;
- a printer driver containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package;
- a print processor containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package;
- a print monitor containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package;
- 🛼 a printer driver contains missing links;
- 🛜 a print processor contains missing links.

The following overlays are used to represent the operation to be performed with each item:

- a printer should be created;
- i a printer should be modified;
- a printer should be deleted;
- 📥 a printer driver should be installed;
- 📥 a printer driver should be uninstalled;
- 🚃 a print processor should be added;
- 🚌 a print processor should be removed;
- 🚔 a print monitor should be added;
- 🚔 a print monitor should be removed;
- Image: a local printer port should be created;
- 📃 a local printer port should be deleted;

- a TCP/IP printer port should be created;
- a TCP/IP printer port should be modified;
- **Final Content of Security Final Action and Security Fin**

The actions for adding, editing and deleting the changes to the printing system as well as copying and moving those changes between projects are available in the **Printers** view pop-up menu and on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Changes Management	From the Printers view you can create, edit and delete the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the printing system configuration. The actions for creating changes in printers, printer drivers, print processors, print monitors and printer ports can be found within the New group on the Printers contextual Ribbon page and in the New group of the Printers view pop-up menu. Alternatively you can use the Printer Entries drop-down button from the New group on the Project Ribbon page. To change any modification to printing system, you can use the Edit item from the pop-up menu or the Edit button from the Management group on the Printers contextual Ribbon page, and to delete the modification, use the Delete items.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the printing system configuration from the Printers view. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the Printers contextual Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
Search	Within the Printers view you can execute a search for specific changes to the printing system configuration performed by a deployment package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on changes to the printing system that can be defined in a project, refer to the Printers Deployment section of this document.

Windows Firewall View

The **Windows Firewall** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Windows Firewall** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. This view is used to manage Windows firewall rules and settings when installing and/or uninstalling a deployment package created based on this project **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. The Windows Firewall view

MSI Package Builder allows you to create, modify and delete inbound and outbound rules of Windows Firewall and change settings of Windows Firewall profiles. During existing installations monitoring, the required changes are created automatically and added to the corresponding project representing the installation process. It is also possible to create the changes manually. Windows Firewall changes can be managed on the **Inbound & Outbound Rules** and **Profiles Options** tabs of the view.

The **Inbound & Outbound Rules** tab shows the list of the firewall rules configured in the project. The icon next to every item represented in the **Windows Firewall** view is used to describe the item's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed by some operation now or not, and if there are any processing problems.

Below is the list of the type icons used:

🏣 - a firewall rule;

in a firewall rule is excluded from the build.

The following overlays are used to represent the operation to be performed with each firewall rule:

impose - an inbound firewall rule should be created;

- irewall rule should be modified;
- 🗽 an inbound firewall rule should be deleted;
- image: an inbound firewall rule should be deleted by name;
- an outbound firewall rule should be created;
- an outbound firewall rule should be modified;
- an outbound firewall rule should be deleted;
- image: an outbound firewall rule should be deleted by name;

The actions for adding, editing and deleting changes to Windows Firewall rules as well as copying and moving such changes among projects are available in the **Windows Firewall** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **Windows Firewall** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Changes Management	From the Windows Firewall view, you can create, edit and delete modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the Windows Firewall configuration. Actions for creating changes in firewall rules can be found within the New group on the Windows Firewall contextual Ribbon page and the corresponding buttons of the Windows Firewall view pop-up menu. Alternatively, you can use the Inbound Rule and Outbound Rule buttons from the New group on the Project Ribbon page. To change any modification to firewall rules, you can use the Edit item from the pop-up menu or the Edit button from the Management group on the Windows Firewall contextual Ribbon page, and to delete the modification, use the Delete items.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the Windows Firewall configuration from the Windows Firewall view. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items for this purpose. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the Windows Firewall contextual Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
Search	Within the Windows Firewall view, you can search for specific changes to the firewall rules configuration performed by a deployment package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

The **Profiles Options** tab of the **Windows Firewall** view allows managing firewall settings of the Domain, Private and Public profiles. In this view, you can configure the settings to be applied when installing and/or uninstalling a deployment package.

For detailed information on changes to the Windows Firewall settings that can be defined in a project, refer to the Windows Firewall Modifications section of this document.

Scheduled Tasks View

The **Scheduled Tasks** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Scheduled Tasks** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. In the **Scheduled Tasks** view you can configure Windows scheduled tasks to be created or deleted on package installation or uninstallation **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. The Scheduled Tasks view

MSI Package Builder allows you to create and delete Windows scheduled tasks. When monitoring existing installations, the required changes are created automatically and added to the corresponding project representing the installation process. It is also possible to create the changes manually.

Configuring scheduled tasks during deployment is not supported by App-V and MSIX/AppX packages, so, when generated, those changes are included into the MSI deployment packages only.

The icon next to every item represented in the **Scheduled Tasks** view is used to describe of the item's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not, and if there are any processing problems.

Below is the list of type icons used:

- a scheduled task;
- a scheduled task containing errors that should be resolved before creating a deployment package.

The following overlays are used to represent the operation to be performed with each scheduled task:

- a scheduled task should be created;
- a scheduled task should be modified;
- a scheduled task should be deleted;
- a scheduled task is excluded from the build.

The actions for adding, editing and deleting the changes to Windows scheduled tasks as well as copying and moving those changes between projects are available in the **Scheduled Tasks** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **Scheduled Tasks** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Changes Management	From the Scheduled Tasks view, you can create, edit and delete the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the Windows scheduled tasks configuration. The New Scheduled Task item from the Scheduled Tasks view pop-up menu and the Scheduled Task button from the New group on the contextual Scheduled Tasks Ribbon page can be used to create a new modification to Windows scheduled tasks. It is possible to create a scheduled task together with the package deployment process or control any scheduled task when installing and/or uninstalling the deployment package. To change any scheduled task modification, you can use the Edit item from the pop-up menu or the Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Scheduled Tasks Ribbon page, and to delete the modification, use the Delete items.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the modifications to be performed by a deployment package to the Windows scheduled tasks configuration from the Scheduled Tasks view. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual Scheduled Tasks Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
Import	If you have a Windows schedule task configuration as an XML file, you can import this configuration into the project. The import action is available in the Scheduled Tasks view. To import a task select the Import Task option in the context menu or use the Scheduled Tasks button from the Import group on the contextual Scheduled Tasks Ribbon page.
Search	Within the Scheduled Tasks view, you can execute a search for specific changes to the Windows scheduled tasks configuration performed by a deployment package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on the changes to Windows scheduled tasks that can be defined in a project, refer to the **Scheduled Tasks Deployment** section of this document.

Nested Packages View

The **Nested Packages** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Nested Packages** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. In the **Nested Packages** view, you can configure the installation and uninstallation of nested MSIX packages, including Sparse Packages and replicated MSIX packages. The view displays the configured nested MSIX packages and the order in which they will be deployed **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. Nested Packages view

Deployment of nested MSIX packages is not supported by App-V and MSIX/AppX packages, so, when generated, those changes are included into the MSI deployment packages only.

A list of nested packages is represented as a table, where the first column displays the deployment order, the second column represents the package type and operation, the third column shows the package name, and the fourth column displays the package type.

Below is the list of icons used in the table:

- 🔩 a nested MSIX package;
- 📑 a replicated MSIX package.

As for the problematic situations, the following overlays are used:

🎭 - a package with an error.

The following overlays are used to represent the operation to be performed with each package:

- Image: a package should be installed;
- a package should be uninstalled;
- a package excluded from the build.

The actions for adding, deleting, copying, and moving changes to nested packages are available in the **Nested Packages** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **Nested Packages Ribbon** page.

Functions Overview

Changes Management	From the Nested Packages view, you can create, edit and delete nested and replicated MSIX packages that can be installed and uninstalled by the parent package during deployment. The New Nested MSIX Package and the New Replicated MSIX Package item from the Nested Packages view pop-up menu and the Nested MSIX Package and Replicated MSIX Package buttons from the New group on the contextual Nested Packages Ribbon page can be used can be used to add a new MSIX package entry. To change a nested or replicated MSIX package and its properties, you can use the Edit item from the pop-up menu or the Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Nested Packages Ribbon page, and to delete the modification, use the Delete item.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the modifications to nested packages from one project to another using the Nested Packages view. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to copy/move nested packages between projects. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual Nested Packages Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
Move Up / Move Down	The Move Up and Move Down actions are available in the Nested Packages view either in the context menu or from the Management group on the contextual Nested Packages Ribbon page. These actions allow you to adjust the deployment order of the configured packages.
Exclude from / Include in Build	Within the Nested Packages view, you can configure a project to either exclude a selected package from the build or include it in the build. The corresponding actions are available in the context menu, allowing you to exclude or include nested packages without deleting the configured packages' content from the project.
Search	Within the Nested Packages view, you can execute a search for specific changes to the nested packages configuration performed by a deployment package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on the changes to nested packages that can be defined in a project, refer to the **Nested Packages Deployment** section of this document.

Custom Actions View

The **Custom Actions** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Custom Actions** node of any project is selected in the **Projects** view. In the Custom Actions view you can configure the actions to be executed before/after package installation or uninstallation. The view displays pre & post install/uninstall actions and system actions **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. The Custom Actions view

The pre & post install/uninstall actions are displayed in form of a table, where each row represents a single action. The icon next to every action is used to describe of the action's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not. Below is the list of icons used:

- 📸 an action to be executed before a deployment package installation;
- 📸 an action to be executed after a deployment package installation;
- 🕋 an action to be executed before a deployment package uninstallation;
- 🕋 an action to be executed after a deployment package uninstallation;
- 羄 a SAM licenses installation;
- mail an action to pin an application to the Task Bar and/or Start Menu;
- 🔀 an action to unpin an application from the Task Bar and/or Start Menu;
- an action is excluded from the build.

The system actions are also displayed in form of a table. With the help the system actions, you can pin applications to or unpin them from the Start Menu and the Task Bar. Another available system action is the SAM License Installation action. It allows you to install Software Assets Management (SAM) licenses to the Software Licensing Service (SLS) when deploying MSI packages.

App-V and MSIX/AppX packages virtualization techniques do not support custom actions, thus they can only be included into the MSI package output.

The actions for creating new actions, editing and deleting existing ones and copying/moving actions to another project are available in the **Custom Actions** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Actions Management	From the Custom Actions view, you can create, edit and delete the actions to be performed before and after a generated deployment package deployment. To create a new action, you can either choose the New Action item from the pop-up menu, or press the Action button from the New group on the contextual Custom Actions Ribbon page and on the Project Ribbon page. To create custom actions of a specific type you can use actions available in the Action Templates group on the contextual Ribbon page. The Edit item from the pop-up menu, as well as the Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Custom Actions Ribbon page can be used to change the selected action, and to delete any action you can use the Delete items.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the actions to be performed before and after a generated deployment package deployment from the Custom Actions view to another project. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual Custom Actions Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
Search	Within the Custom Actions view, you can execute a search for specific action using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on the custom actions management process, refer to the Using Custom Actions section of this document.

Wrapped Packages View

The **Wrapped Packages** view is displayed within the main program area when the **Wrapped Packages** node of any project of the corresponding type is selected in the **Projects** view. This view is used to configure a set of packages that are deployed together with the generated MSI package **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. The Wrapped Packages view

The wrapped packages are displayed in form of a table, where each row represents a single package. The icon next to every package is used to describe of the package's type and state. The state icons are provided to help you understand what is currently happening in the program. You can always see if the item is being processed now by some operation or not and if there are any problems. Below is the list of icons used:

- ស an executable package;
- 💱 an executable package containing files that cannot be accessed;
- 📶 a Windows Installer package;
- 🔚 a Windows Installer package containing files that cannot be accessed;
- a package is excluded from the build.

The actions for adding wrapped packages, editing and deleting existing ones, changing the deployment order and others are available in the **Wrapped Packages** view pop-up menu and on the contextual **Wrapped Packages** Ribbon page.

Functions Overview

Packages Management	From the Wrapped Packages view, you can create, edit and delete the installation packages to be deployed together with a generated MSI package. To create a new package, you can either choose the New Wrapped Package item from the pop-up menu, or press the Wrapped Package button from the New group on the contextual Wrapped Packages Ribbon page and on the Project Ribbon page. The Edit item from the pop-up menu, as well as the Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Wrapped Packages Ribbon page can be used to change the selected wrapped package, and to delete any package, you can use the Move Up and Move Down items available in the pop-up menu and in the Order group from the contextual Wrapped Packages Ribbon page.
Copy/Move	You can easily copy and/or move the packages to be deployed together with a generated MSI package from the Wrapped Packages view to another project. You can use the drag/drop and copy/paste techniques as well as the Cut , Copy and Paste menu items to reach the goal. It is also possible to use the Copy To and Move To items available both in the pop-up menu and on the contextual Wrapped Packages Ribbon page to perform copy/move immediately choosing a target project in a dialog.
Search	Within the Wrapped Packages view, you can execute a search for specific installation package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

For detailed information on the wrapped packages and packages management process, refer to the Wrapping Existing Installations section of this document.

Packages View

The **Packages** view is activated when you click the corresponding button on the vertical toolbar located on the left of the main screen or when you click **Packages** on the **View** tab of the Ribbon. This view lists all packages generated by the program, including the details such as type, version, publisher, generation date, and location for each package **Pic 1**. You have the ability to sort the displayed packages by those fields and apply filters by type, allowing you to view packages specifically in MSI, App-V, or MSIX/AppX formats.



Pic 1. The Packages view

Each entry in the package list features an icon indicative of the package type and other defining characteristics. The following is a list of the icons and their respective meanings:



· a package;

a package that is not found, it signifies that although the program generated the package, the actual package file is missing from its designated path;

Different actions can be taken on a selected package through the context menu or via the actions displayed on the Ribbon. You can test a package by deploying it in the test environment. This action opens a wizard that helps you to select a test environment and specify the testing options. Each package is linked to the project from which it was created, allowing you to open the project, make necessary modifications, and generate a new package.

For a selected package, you can use the context menu or the Ribbon to reveal the package file in Windows Explorer. Be aware that package files might be moved or deleted in the file system. Consequently, the program provides a feature to scan the package list for any missing package files, giving you the option to remove entries for which the files cannot be found.

On the right side of the **Packages** view, the primary properties of the selected package are displayed, along with options to perform various operations, such as testing the package. The **Actions History** list chronicles all operations executed on the package. Should package testing be conducted, this is where you can review the test results, complete with a link to detailed test results.

Functions Overview

Package Management	From the Packages view, you can edit and remove the selected package and also import an external package. To perform these actions, you can either use the pop-up menu of the Packages list or the buttons from the Package Management group on the Home Ribbon page. The actions for importing a package is available in the pop-up menu displayed on an empty selection, and to edit and remove packages, you should first select those packages.
Packages Testing	Within the Packages view, it is possible to test a package by deploying it in a test environment on a local computer, virtual machine or Windows Sandbox. The test action is available in the pop- up menu and on the Packages group on the Home Ribbon page. To learn more about package testing, refer to the Package Testing section of this document.
Links Management	In the Packages view, you can verify the availability of the generated package files for the listed packages. Following this check, you may execute an additional action to remove all entries with missing package files. These actions are accessible from the context menu or the Links group on the Home page of the Ribbon.
Search	Within the Packages view, you can execute a search for specific package using the Find item from the pop-up menu.

Log View

The **Log** view is designed to display information on the events taking place during the program execution. The larger part of this information consists of events generated by the operations and the operations results.

884 ▶ €	File System Tools EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect		∞ – ¤ ×
System Drive Folder Sync File Folder New	Program File System Shortcut Edit Delete Copy Move To To To To Import System Folders File Management Import		^
Projects Projects Storage 30 projects in the storage by LibreOffice Version: 7.0.0.3 Version: 7.0.0.3 Expression Bereities Be	File System CommonDesktopFolder CommonProgramMenuFolder CommonProgramMenuFolder ForstFolder File ForstFolder File File File	No. Size Att	ributes
No entries	ProgramFilesFolder\LibreOffice		
Log This view contains all operation results and oth	her program events		∓ × ₽ / = ■
Title Descri ① Create MSI Package The "Lii ① Create MSI Package The "Ad ① Create MSI Package The "Ad	iption breOffice.msi' MSI installer package has been created successfully and saved to the <u>Ci\msi\LibreOffice\</u> path. tobe Packages.msi' MSI installer package has been created successfully and saved to the <u>Ci\msi\Adobe Packages\</u> path.	Time F 12/4/2023 11:55:33 PM 12/4/2023 11:36:12 PM	
Done		Clipboard: <empty></empty>	X

Pic 1. The Log view

The **Log** view is located by default at the bottom of the MSI Package Builder main window and displays the log in form of a tree **Pic 1**. The description for any logged event is by default wrapped, so that you can easily read it. If you would like to have more events visible at the same time, you can configure the **Log** view to display only one line per event by disabling the **Wrap Text** option from the **Configuration** menu.

Every event in the **Log** is assigned a severity level represented by a certain icon. The icon allows you to see if the operation has finished successfully without reading the description. The following icons are available:

- the blue icon with an 'i' character means that everything is OK;
- S the brown circle icon with a cross-cut line is used to identify that the task was canceled by user or due to shutdown of the underlying system;
- I the yellow icon with an exclamation mark is the warning sign: it tells you that some errors have occurred, but they are not critical. In such a case, there is no guarantee that the operation has actually succeeded;
- S the red icon with a white cross is the error sign: it means that the operation execution has failed.

Analyzing the **Log** can help you a lot in your everyday work with MSI Package Builder, because this log contains all the information on the executed operations and provides you with troubleshooting recommendations in case any problems are detected.

Functions Overview

Export All
The Export All button should be used to export the log to the CSV file.
Clear
The Clear button should be used to remove all the logged events from the program.
Full Expand
The Full Expand button from the Log view toolbar should be used to expand all nodes in the table of logged events.
Full Collapse
The Full Collapse button from the Log view toolbar should be used to collapse all nodes in the table of logged events.

The options of clearing the log, expanding nodes in the tree of logged events and collapsing them are also available from the pop-up menu of the **Log** tree **Pic 1**. The layout of the **Log** view, including the visible columns, the column widths, the sorting settings and the text wrapping, is saved between sessions.

Operations View

The **Operations** view **Pic 1** shows the detailed progress of each operation being performed at the moment and allows canceling a particular operation or all running operations. By default, it is located at the bottom of the MSI Package Builder main window.

8	# ▶ €++			EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect	× – • ×
Projects	Home Project ckage Project kation Setup Projects Projects in the Image: Starsge Projects in the	t View Progra te MSI Create App- Package Build storage tariables	am V Create MSDV/AppX Package Project Build Properties Product Details Digital Signature Product Support Information General Properties Identification & Upgrade Install Options Summary Info	Close Close Rename Delete Import Export Manage WM Profiles Project Management Capture Virtualization General - Product Details Product Name: LibreOffice Manufacture: Alex Delorian Language: English (United States) • Version: 7.0.0.3	Platform: x64 - lcone
Oper	rations				÷ ×
This v	iew shows the operation	s progress and allows	cancelling any and all operations		Cancell All
•	Create MSI Package				=
	Log 🛛 Operation	s			
Create	MSI Package: Linking the M	ISI package		Clipboard: <empty></empty>	ы 🗶

Pic 1. The Operations view

Cancell All

Progress information for every operation is shown in the pane with the progress bar, the operation information text and the **Cancel** button. The **Cancel** button is used to cancel individual running operations, whereas if the grouping operation is canceled, all the sub-operations are also canceled.

Cancel All

The **Cancel All** button from the **Operations** view toolbar can be used to cancel all the operations running in the application.

You can cancel all the running operations by clicking the **Cancel All** button on the toolbar of the **Operations** view.

Graphical User Interface features

EMCO Software provides you with a modern and intuitive graphical user interface, because we appreciate the users of our products and would like them to feel glad that they have EMCO programs installed on their PCs. Lots of resources were involved in creating this kind of an interface for you, and now we are proud we have done it. Custom DPI settings are fully supported, so that you can use EMCO programs on any display with any resolution you like. The '*Microsoft User Interface Guidelines on Layout, Icons and Sizing*' have been a powerful base for this work, and we are glad to tell you that they are fully complied with and supported. With the help of the skinning support and the Ribbon UI interface, every customer can configure the program UI to feel comfortable during each working day. EMCO also provides you with the **High Contrast** skin along with the bonus skins pack, which is an accessibility feature designed for people with vision impairment. The High Contrast color scheme can increase legibility for some users by heightening the screen contrast with alternative color combinations.

This chapter gives you a detailed description of how to fully enjoy the graphical user interface features, the skinning mechanism and the Ribbon bar features.

Skinning

MSI Package Builder provides you with a wide range of custom skins with unique look and feel, so that you can choose any skin you like most. If you are a fan of the Microsoft Office interface, you have no reason to complain either, since MSI Package Builder also gives you an option of choosing this type of skin. There are not only formal skins but also some informal ones.

All the skins can be divided into four groups: Office Skins, Custom Design Skins, Bonus Skins and Skins for Fun. The following skins are available:

Office Skins:	"Office 2019", "Office 2019 Black", "Office 2019 Dark", "Office 2019 White", "Office 2016", "Office 2016 Dark", "Office 2013", "Office 2013 Silver", "Office 2013 Black", "Office 2010 Blue", "Office 2010 Silver", "Office 2010 Black", "Office 2007 Blue", "Office 2007 Silver", "Office 2007 Black", "Office 2007 Green", "Office 2007 Pink".
Custom Design Skins:	"Basic", "Bezier", "Modern Style", "Dark Style", "Blue Vision", "Blue Vision 2013", "Light Vision 2013", "Dark Vision 2013", "High Contrast", "Metropolis", "Metropolis Dark", "Seven", "Seven Classic", "McSkin", "Blue", "Black", "Silver".
Bonus Skins:	"Lilian", "iMaginary", "Caramel", "Money Twins", "Sharp", "Sharp Plus", "Foggy", "Darkroom", "Dark Side", "Liquid Sky", "London Liquid Sky", "Stardust", "Coffee", "Blueprint", "Whiteprint".
Skins for Fun:	"Christmas", "Valentine", "Summer", "Springtime".

Let us take a brief look at some of the skins:

Default skin look and feel example



Custom Design Skin look and feel example

🔂 🗔 🕨 🗱 🕶	EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect	-		×	
Home Project View Progra	m				
Repackage Project Installation Setup Wizards Create MSI Create App-V Package Build	Y Create MSIX/AppX Package New Open Close Close Rename Delete Import Export Manage Project Management Close Close Rename Delete Import Export Capture VM Profiles Virtualization			•	
Project age Project Project Management Project M					
Log Coperations	Cipboard: <empty></empty>			I J	

Skins for Fun look and feel example



High Contrast Skin look and feel

🛃 🕹 🕨 🗧 EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect 🛛 🛛 🖛 🗖						
Home Project View Program	ı					
Repackage Project Installation Setup Wizards Create MSI Create App-V Package Build	Create MSIX/AppX Package	New Open Close Close All Project Management	oort Export	Start Monitoring Capture	Manage VM Profiles Virtualization	\$
Projects Image: Storage Image: Stora	Projects Storage The program saves pr can update the folder Storage Location: D:\MSIPBRoot Projects Available i Adobe Packat Adobe Packat Adobe Readd Adobe Readd Adobe Readd Adobe Readd Adobe Readd Adobe Readd Firefox Firefox Firefox Firefox Manager Tod MSI Package NestedPackat	rojects in a designated folder. To modify the storage location, you reath. in Storage work 4.5 age ages er er er 11 er 9 ation okit e Builder Shortcut ages	Product N Manufact Version: Date Cres Last Mod	Adobe Reader Regular Project Name: Adobe Re Lurer: Alex Delo 11.0.3.37 Ited: 9/19/2022 Iffied: 12/5/2023 New Project Win Create a new proj Open Project Depen the selected Export Project Export Project Delete the selected	r 11 ader risn 11:01:02 PM 66:19:13 AM zard ect and save it to the project project for editing. d project. d project from the projects	ts storage. storage.
Log Z Operations				Sipbo	ard: <empty></empty>	I

Ribbon

Ribbon is a tool that presents commands organized into a set of tabs. The tabs on the Ribbon represent commands that are most relevant for each of the task areas in the program **Pic 1**. For example, in Office Word the tabs group commands by activities such as inserting objects like pictures and tables, doing page layout, working with preferences, doing mailings, and reviewing. The Home tab provides an easy access to the most frequently used commands. Office Excel has a similar set of tabs that make sense for spreadsheet work including tabs for working with formulas, managing data, and reviewing. Those tabs simplify access to the program features, because they organize the commands in a way that reflects the tasks people perform in those programs.





We are delighted to let you know that we fully conform with *Microsoft* ® *Ribbons Guidelines* and would like to introduce some Ribbon features to you. To learn more about Ribbon, the story of its development and its usability features, you may visit '*The Story of the Ribbon*' article from the MSDN blogs.

Application Menu

Application Menu in the program is represented as the **Backstage** view that can be used as a starting point and allows you to create a new installation package, open a recent project, configure the program settings or get information about the program. It is somewhat similar to the File menu to most of the programs and can be opened by clicking the **Application** button **Pic 2** located in the top left corner of the main screen.

	EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect —	×
\bigcirc		
New		
Dpen	New	
Repackage	Enter project name here	
(i) Information	Regular Installation	
	Wrapped Packages Create Wrapped Packages Project Wrapped Packages This project type should be chosen if you would like to create a project for wrapping existing executable installations into an MSI package generated on a basis of the project.	
	Projects Storage	
	D:\MSIPBRoot *	
	Browse for a New Storage Location Choose the path to the folder to be used as the root directory for MSI Package Builder projects.	
Ø Preferences		
🕞 Exit		

Pic 2. Backstage view

On the left side of the **Backstage** view, you can see the buttons that allow you to create packages, open recent projects and get information about the program. On the right side, you can find the actions corresponding to the currently selected section of the **Backstage** view. The program settings can be configured by pressing the Preferences button located in the left bottom corner of the **Backstage** view.

Quick Access Toolbar

The **Quick Access Toolbar** Pic 3 is an end-user customizable bar located near the **Application Menu** or below the Ribbon bar depending on the configuration. It can contain links to both Ribbon items and Ribbon groups.

월 & ▶ \$ * *	EMCO MSI Package Builder Architect	1	- 1	• X
Home Project View Program				
🐼 🗔 🗖 🍵 🎁	📮 💵 🔳 🛢 🖳 X 📲 🖻 🕨 📑			
Repackage Project Create MSI Create App-V Create MSIX/AppX Installation Setup Package Package Package	New Open Close Close Rename Delete Import Export Start Manage All Monitoring VM Profiles			
Wizards Build	Project Management Capture Virtualization			^

Pic 3. Quick Access Toolbar

To add an action link to the quick access toolbar, right click this action and select **Add to Quick Access Toolbar** from the pop-up menu. The groups can be added in the same way, the only difference being that to add a group you should right click its caption.

Representation and Navigation Features

The representation of the Ribbon bar can also be configured to make your work more comfortable. You can minimize Ribbon so that the tab's content is only shown when the tab is clicked on, thus extending the program workspace. Also, if it is not convenient for you to have the **Quick Access Toolbar** next to the **Application Menu**, you may place it below the Ribbon bar, so that it will look just like a simple toolbar. This configuration can be accessed from the pop-up menu of the Ribbon bar **Pic 4**.



Pic 4. The Ribbon customization menu

Navigation between the Ribbon tabs can be performed not only with a mouse click on a tab but also with the help of the mouse wheel. Just place the cursor over any tab and scroll the wheel – scrolling up will switch the tabs from right to left, and scrolling down will switch the tabs in the opposite direction.
Main features of UI Elements

The graphics shell used for MSI Package Builder is aimed at providing a high level of usability to everyone. This topic covers main features of the graphical elements used in this program, and here you can find what puts EMCO GUI a step ahead of the others.

Docking

The MSI Package Builder user interface is built using the ultimate docking technology which provides for the maximum use of the program working area. It allows docking the windows that are used less often than the main one to the sides, auto hide them or even close and then open again when required. The dock panels can be docked both to the main window and to each other, thus enabling you to build such a subsidiary window layout that makes you feel comfortable while working with MSI Package Builder **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. Docking preview

To change the position of any dock window, you should click its header and move the mouse pointer while holding the left mouse button down. Hint windows are shown to help you understand where you can drop the window dragged. When you are dragging it over another dock window, it is possible to dock both windows to each other or display them in different tabs of the same dock window. When a dock window is floating, you can expand it to full screen by either clicking the **Full Screen** button in the windows title bar or pressing **F11** on the keyboard. To exit the full screen mode, just press **F11**.

To enable the auto hide feature for a window attached to any side of a main window, click the pin button in the dock window header. Clicking the cross button results in closing of the dock window. Each view can also be closed and opened again using the checkboxes in the **Show** Ribbon group accessible from the **Application** page.

Grouping and Filtering Data

The MSI Package Builder user interface is designed so as to make its usage as flexible as possible. The tables available in every EMCO program provide you with an easy-to-use data filtration and grouping mechanism. To group data by one of the columns, you should drag its header to the grouping box displayed over the table or choose an appropriate item from the column header pop-up menu **Pic 2**.

Path	Attributes			
	Path	k.	Size	Creator
> Path :	C:			
> Path :	C:\Program Files (x86)			
> Path :	C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files			
> Path :	C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe			
> Path :	C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe	\Acrobat		
> Path :	C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe	\Acrobat\ActiveX		
> Path :	C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe	\Acrobat\ActiveX\	AcrolEHelper.dll	

Pic 2. The grouping box of a table grouped by two columns

To group or ungroup data by any column when **Group By Box** Pic 2 is not visible, you can have it displayed by selecting the **Show Group By Box** item from the pop-up menu of any column header.

Data filtration can be performed in two ways: by using the quick filter or the filter editor. To use the quick filter feature, just click on the glyph in the right top corner of any column header. A dropdown list appears offering you to choose one of the predefined filters or select the custom one from the filtering dialog **Pic 3**.

		- Children
> Creator : msiexec.exe		(All)
> Creator : services.exe		(Custom)
> Creator : User		(NonBlanks)
		s
		r

Pic 3. Accessing the quick filter abilities

The **Filter Editor** shipped with MSI Package Builder is easy to use and allows you to build your own complex filters quickly and easily **Pic 4**. To open the filter editor, choose the **Filter Editor** item from the column's pop-up menu.

Filter builder - [untitled.flt]	×
Filter And <root> Path Is like ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader% press the button to add a new condition </root>	^
Qpen Save As OK Cancel Appl	у

Pic 4. Using the filter editor

You can enable and disable the currently applied filter condition using the checkbox displayed next to the filter condition in the bottom of the view, inside the filter info pane <u>Pic 5</u>.

		Path	- E. Y	
~	Cre	ator : msiexec.exe		
	4	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader]
	1	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\AlR		
	4	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Browser]
	1	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\IDTemplates]
	1	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\IDTemplates\ENU		
	1	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Javascripts		
	1	ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Legal		
			C	1
×	\sim	(Path Is like ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader%) ▼	Custon	niz

Pic 5. The filter info pane

To reset the currently applied filter use the \bowtie button from the filter info pane, and to customize it use the **Customize** button from this pane.

Managing Columns in Trees and Tables

You can customize almost every table and tree in EMCO programs by moving and removing columns to make the control most informative for you. To move a column, drag it over the control's header and drop between other columns to its new position **Pic 6**.

		Path	h.	Size	Attributes
~	Cre	ator : msiexec.exe	Ad	itributes 🍸	
		C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe			
		C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\Acrobat			
		C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\Acrobat\Act	iv		
		C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\Help			
		C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\HelpCfg			
		C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\HelpCfg\en_	US		
		C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\Help\en_US			

Pic 6. Moving a column

To remove a column that is of no use for you, right click the control's header and select the **Remove This Column** item from the pop-up menu. Also, you can control columns availability using the column chooser **Pic 7**.

Path 🛌	S Customization X
C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\Reader\11.0\Linguistics\Providers\Plu	Caluman
C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\Reader\11.0\Linguistics\Providers\Plu	Columns
C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\Reader\11.0\Linguistics\Providers\Plu	Creator
C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\Adobe\Reader\11.0\Linguistics\Providers\Plu	
😹 CommonProgramMenuFolder	
RogramFilesFolder	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Esl	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\AIR	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Browser	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\IDTemplates	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\IDTemplates\ENU	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Javascripts	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Legal	
ProgramFilesFolder\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Legal\ENU	

Pic 7. Using the column chooser

To show the column chooser, right click the control's header and select the **Column Chooser** menu item. After that, you can drag and drop columns from the header to the column chooser and backwards.

Automatic Saving and Restoring of Windows Layout

One of the service functions of MSI Package Builder user interface is its ability to save and restore the windows layout. All the changeable parameters like the windows sizes and positions; the table columns order, sizes and positions; the grouping and filtering options; the dock windows configuration, etc. are saved between sessions. Thus, you do not need to configure the program's user interface layout every time you start this program.

Chapter 4: Installations Repackaging

The main goal of MSI Package Builder is to deliver to you an easy-to-use installations repackaging tool. We have designed and developed two different repackaging models, which are monitoring operating system changes and wrapping existing installations. You can choose between smart repackaging, which allows you to easily create a deployment package based on existing installations by simply following the steps of the **Repackage Installation** wizard, and low-level repackaging, which allows you to control each aspect of the repackaging process.



Repackage Installation

The **Repackage Installation** button from the **Builder** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to open the **Repackage Installation** wizard, that is designed to help you with the repackaging process.

The **Repackage Installation** wizard was designed to make the repackaging process as intuitive as it is possible. By default, it is displayed on the program startup, so you can repackage existing installation with no additional actions required. If you do not need it to be displayed on each startup, you can disable this option other on the wizard welcome page, or on the **User Interface** preference page.

Repackage Installation Wizard		×			
Repackaging Method Select whether you would like to monitor change the existing installations into an MSI package.	is performed by the existing installations or to wrap				
Monitoring (generate MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX	packages)				
Create a package by capturing the file syst installations. Select this option to repackage that deploy Windows system components changes and generate a package reproduce	tem and registry changes performed by the existing ge any type of executable installations, except for ir s. Also, use this option if you want to capture the sy ting those changes.	istallations stem			
Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repackage installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and you know how to configure them to be deployed silently.					
Learn more about the repackaging methods					
	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel			
		Concer			



While going through the steps of the **Repackage Installation** wizard, you are choosing the repackaging mode you would like to use, configure a deployment package to be generated and a project to be created. The project containing the repackaging results is saved to the projects storage and can be used in the future to upgrade the installation package. In this chapter we'll go through the available repackaging modes and take a closer look at each one, providing you with some tips and tricks on using the repackaging abilities shipped with MSI Package Builder.

What's Inside

How to Choose a Repackaging Method

Capture Installations

Capture System Changes

Repackaging via Wrapping

Low-Level Repackaging

Projects Preparation

How should I configure the repackaged installations to support an upgrade?

Repackaging in Windows Sandbox

Repackaging on a Virtual Machine

How to Choose a Repackaging Method

MSI Package Builder is shipped with the different repackaging methods to be used for different situations. It is possible to use the **Repackage Installation** wizard to create an MSI package automatically with the help of the smart repackaging, or use the low-level repackaging to benefit from advanced repackaging features. As for smart repackaging, you can choose between installations monitoring, monitoring of changes made to the operating system and wrapping of existing installations into an MSI package. The low-level repackaging allows you to combine different repackaging techniques and to control each aspect of the repackaging process.

When you use the **Repackage Installation** wizard, you can select the monitoring or wrapping methods of installation repackaging **Pic 1**. Note that this step of the wizard is available in the Enterprise and Architect editions of the program, which include the installations wrapping option. The Professional edition of the program offers monitoring only, so the repackaging method selection is not available in this edition.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Repackaging Method Select whether you would like to monitor changes performed by the existing installations or to wrap the existing installations into an MSI package.	
Monitoring (generate MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX packages)	
Create a package by capturing the file system and registry changes performed by the existing installations. Select this option to repackage any type of executable installations, except for inst that deploy Windows system components. Also, use this option if you want to capture the syste changes and generate a package reproducing those changes.	tallations em
 Wrapping (generate MSI packages) 	
Create a package in the MSI format by wrapping existing installations. Select this option to repa installations that deploy Windows system components if they support silent deployment and y how to configure them to be deployed silently.	ackage ou know
Learn more about the repackaging methods	
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Selecting the repackaging method

Installations Monitoring

Repackaging through monitoring of file system and registry changes is the easiest repackaging method, but it has a set of limitations. Using this method, the deployment package is created based on changes performed to the operating system by existing installations. You should choose this method when the repackaged installations do not support silent execution or you cannot find out the parameters to be used for silent execution. Use installations monitoring for creating App-V packages and MSIX/AppX packages as installations wrapping is not applicable for virtualization. This method can also be used when you are going to create an MSI package based on generic changes performed manually rather than those performed by existing installations.

The main prerequisite for repackaging via system changes capturing is that the monitoring should be performed in a clean environment. The main disadvantage of this mode is that the resulting deployment will not be fully cross-platform, thus the repackaging results will be valid only for the same operating system as used for monitoring.

The program supports two types of changes capturing. In the **Repackage Installation** wizard, you can select the option to capture installations or to capture system changes **Pic 2** depending on your needs.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×			
Capturing Type Select whether you would like to repackage existing installations or to capture any system changes and get an output package reproducing the captured changes.				
Capture Installations				
This option allows you to repackage one or multiple installations. The program starts monit runs the specified installations to being captured. Upon completion of the installations, the is stopped automatically and the program generates an output package.	oring and monitoring			
Capture System Changes				
This option allows you to capture system changes and generate an output package reproducing those changes. The program starts monitoring, and you need to make the changes to be captured. When all the changes have been made, you should stop monitoring manually, and then an output package will be generated.				
Learn more about the capturing types				
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel			

Pic 2. Selecting the capturing type

Capture Installations

This option is designed to repackage an existing installation into a package of a different format. The program captures changes performed by the repackaged installation and uses those captured changes to generate a new package. You should use installations capturing if you need to repackage an existing installation with no additional pre/post-installation customization steps.

When the program captures an installation, it starts and stops monitoring system changes automatically. In this case, changes monitoring will stop only after the installation is fully completed, thus all the changes performed by the installation have been included into the resulting deployment package. To use this approach, an installation setup should be designed in such a manner that all the processes configuring the application and the operating system exit on installation completion. You can learn more about this type of monitoring in the Capture Installations chapter.

Capture System Changes

This option is designed to capture any file system and registry changes and use the captured results to generate a package. You can use this option to repackage installations that need additional pre/post-installation customization steps or to convert any changes into a package. For example, this mode allows you to make the required changes manually and generate a package reproducing those changes.

You can also use system changes capturing to repackage an installation that isn't designed to exit on installation completion. In such a case, you are responsible for stopping the monitoring process when all the required changes have been performed.

You can learn more about this type of monitoring in the Capture System Changes chapter.

Installations Wrapping

The wrapping method of installations repackaging is recommended for experienced users for creating MSI packages. When wrapping is used, the program creates an MSI package that includes the repackaged installation file. You can use wrapping if the repackaged installation supports silent deployment and you know the command-line parameters required to deploy the installation silently.

Using wrapping is a little more complicated, but it allows you to avoid all the limitations of the monitoring technology. Installations wrapped into an MSI package will be distributed in the original state and thus deployed correctly to any operating system regardless the deployment process particularities. You can learn more about wrapping by reading the Repackaging via Wrapping chapter.

Low-Level Repackaging

The low-level repackaging options allow you to reach the maximum flexibility in repackaging, but should be used by experienced users only. In this mode, you can change the monitored data and provide the required changes manually. This mode is the most complex one, because you are responsible for preparing the correct changes configuration for creating a deployment package. The complexity of the generic repackaging process requires that you to fully understand each aspect of every step to be performed for successful repackaging. You can learn more about this approach in the Low-Level Repackaging chapter.

Now you have been introduced to the repackaging modes included into MSI Package Builder and should be able to choose an appropriate one during your everyday work.

Capture Installations

MSI Package Builder allows you to automatically monitor the changes performed by a single installation or a set of installations and create a deployment package based on these changes. When multiple installations are monitored, they are launched one by one in the specified order. To monitor installations, you should choose the **Capture Installations** option in the **Repackage Installation** wizard.

Let us take a look at the monitoring process configuration. First, you need to make sure that the monitoring environment is clean and you follow the repackaging best practices. The program can automatically check some requirements and show the list of monitoring environment issues **Pic 1**. You need to resolve those issues by following the displayed recommendations. For example, if any Windows applications are running, you can select them and press the **Fix Issues** button, so those applications will be closed.

Prepare Computer for Monitoring All system changes made on this computer wi detected on this computer may introduce unr	ill be captured to get	generate a package ; to the package bei	. Some items ing created.	,
Monitoring Environment Issues		🗧 Fix Is	sues 💫 📴	8= 🗖
 Additional Preparations 				
MSI Package Builder Monitoring Module: The monitoring modules must be installed	s to run repackagir	ng.	In	stalled
 Active Antivirus Software 				
Windows Defender Antivirus We recommend disabling the Windows De should disable it manually.	fender Antivirus s	oftware when perfo	A orming monito	ctive oring. You
 Running Applications 				
Adobe Photoshop 2021 We recommend to close this application si Help & Manual	nce it may affect	the monitoring rest	ults. Ri	unning unning
How to prepare this computer for monitoring?				
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Monitoring environment issues

At the next step of the wizard, you should specify a name for the project to be created based on the monitored changes, provide a set of installations to be monitored and define the installation order <u>Pic 2</u>. You can define command-line parameters to be passed to the installer application for each installation while adding it.

Repack	age Installation Wizard			×		
Confi Sp de	Configure Installations for Repackaging Specify the name for the project to be created, provide a set of installations to be monitored and define the installations order.					
Project	t Name: Adobe tools					
Instal	llations	🕤 Add Inst	allation 🖋 Edit Installation	X ^ V		
# 5.	Installation Path		Parameters			
1	D:\Install\EXE\AdbeRdr11003_en_US.exe					
2	D:\Install\EXE\flashplayer19_d_install.exe					
		< Back	Next > Finish	Cancel		

Pic 2. Providing installations to monitor

It is possible to monitor Windows Installer packages and executable installation packages.

At the next step, you can choose if you would like to create an MSI package, an App-V package or an MSIX/AppX package based on the monitoring results.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Output Package Format Select the format of the output package to be generated. Some formats may have functionality or Windows compatibility limitations, so select the format that meets your requirements.	S
MSI Package	
This format supports all the packaging features and provides the best compatibility with Windo environments and deployment tools.	ws
O App-V Package	
This format is compatible with Windows environments ready for App-V (Microsoft Application Virtualization) and may include features supported by App-V.	
O MSIX/AppX Package	
This format is compatible with modern Windows environments and distribution tools designed deploy MSIX/AppX. It may include features supported by MSIX/AppX.	to
Skip Package Generation	
Select this option if you need to monitor changes only and skip package generation upon comp the monitoring.	pleting
< Back Next > Finish C	Cancel

Pic 3. Choosing the package type

In case you have chosen to create an MSI package, at the next step you should provide a path the location to save the resulting MSI package and configure the package. Detailed information on configuring an MSI package is available in the Creating an MSI Package chapter.

Repackage	Installa	ation Wizard				×
MSI Pack Provide MSI pac	t age F e a pati ckage (Properties h to the MSI packag deployment setting	ge being created, s gs.	pecify the packa	ge metadata and confi	gure the
General I	ldentifi	ication & Upgrade	Digital Signature	Install Options	Support Information	Summary Info
MSI Path:		C:\msi\Adobe too	ols\Adobe tools.ms	i		
Product N	Name:	Adobe tools				Platform: Auto +
Manufact	turer:	Alex Delorian			-	Icon:
Language	t:	English (United St	ates)	• Version: 1	1.0.3.37	A.
Instal	II MSI t	o Current User		Show in \	Windows Programs an	d Features:
N	lon-Ele	vated Installation		The creat	ted MSI package only	~
Instal	II MSI t	o All Users		Restart M	lode:	
Sr	mart A	ll Users Mode		Restart ti	he computer only if ne	cessary -
Learn mo	re abo	ut the MSI installati	on context			
				< Back	Next > Fini	sh Cancel

Pic 4. Configuring an MSI package

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

If the output in form of an App-V package has been selected, you need to provide a path to the location to save the resulting App-V package and configure the package. Detailed information on configuring an App-V package is available in the Creating an App-V Package chapter. As for the output in form of an MSIX/AppX package, you need to provide a path to the location to save the package to and define the package configuration options, target platforms and digital signature settings. Refer to the Creating an MSIX/AppX Package chapter.

After you press **Finish**, the monitoring process starts. As soon as it is completed, a deployment package is created containing the monitored changes in the specified location.

When does the monitoring process stop?

When a monitoring process is running, you can see the monitoring progress on a screen **Pic 5**. It displays how many installations from those defined are already complete.



Pic 5. Monitoring progress

As soon as all the installations have been completed, the monitoring process is stopped automatically. The installation is treated as completed when the installer process and all the processes daughterly to the installer process exit.

Please note that if the setup wizard suggests running the installed application upon the installation completion, you should decline this suggestion. Otherwise, the monitoring module will wait for the started application to exit.

You can abandon the monitoring process using the **Stop** button at any time, although it is not recommended.

The monitoring process does not stop. Which option should I choose?

You can find yourself in a situation where the monitoring process does not stop after you have passed through all the steps of the setup wizard. To choose further steps, it is necessary to understand what leads to this situation. Let us take a closer look at the list of possible reasons and appropriate solutions for each one.

First, the monitoring process may not be stopping because the installation is still performing the application configuration in background. Thus, it is recommended to be patient and always wait for some time after the installer application user interface has closed.

Another possible reason is that the monitored installation has launched the installed application or one of its modules. This can happen if you have not unchecked an appropriate option on the installation wizard finish page, or if the installation always performs the step of launching the installed program. Please note that those executable modules can be run in the background or minimized to tray. In such a case, you should close the launched applications and continue waiting for the monitoring to stop automatically. The monitoring module will switch to next installation, if any, or create the deployment package, if this installation is the last one from those monitored, as soon as those applications are closed. In case if it is not possible to close the launched applications, but you are sure that the installation is fully complete, you can stop the monitoring process manually and create the deployment package based on the changes currently monitored by pressing the **Stop** button and then choosing the option to proceed with creation.

It is not recommended that the monitoring process be stopped manually to proceed with the deployment package creation unless you are absolutely sure that the installation is fully completed. In case the setup is still in progress, the repackaging will be incomplete.

The last reason may be that the installation does not fulfill the requirements for monitoring (the process performing the installation does not exit after the setup is completed). If you are not sure that the installation process is fully completed and cannot find out the processes that are preventing the monitoring from being completed, you can abort the monitoring process by pressing the **Stop** button and then choosing the **Abort Monitoring** option. All the monitored changes will be irreparably lost. In such a case, it may be convenient for you to use repackaging via wrapping.

Capture System Changes

With MSI Package Builder, you can track changes made to your operating system and create a deployment package based on these changes. With the help of the monitoring technology, you can easily create an MSI, an App-V or an MSIX/AppX package from any installation you want and even from any changes you performed manually. Just start monitoring, perform the changes and stop monitoring, and the newly created project will contain all these changes. You can monitor system changes and create a deployment package on completion choosing the **Capture System Changes** option within the **Repackage Installation** wizard.

Before starting monitoring, you need to make sure that the monitoring environment is clean and you follow the repackaging best practices. The program can check some requirements automatically and show the list of monitoring environment issues **Pic 1**. You need to resolve these issues by following the displayed recommendations. For example, if any Windows applications are running, you can select them and press the **Fix Issues** button, so these applications will be closed.

Prepare Computer for Monitoring All system changes made on this computer will detected on this computer may introduce unne	be captured to g cessary changes	jenerate a pack to the package	age. Some iter being created	ns
Monitoring Environment Issues		∋ F	x Issues 🗞	8= 8= 📕
 Additional Preparations 				
MSI Package Builder Monitoring Modules The monitoring modules must be installed t	o run repackagin	ig.		Installed
 Active Antivirus Software 				
Windows Defender Antivirus We recommend disabling the Windows Defe should disable it manually.	ender Antivirus s	oftware when p	erforming mo	Active mitoring. You
 Running Applications 				
Adobe Photoshop 2021 We recommend to close this application sin	ce it may affect t	he monitoring	results.	Running
Help & Manual low to prepare this computer for monitoring?				Running
	c Paula	Nexts	Einich	Const

Pic 1. Monitoring environment issues

When configuring the monitoring process, you are suggested to provide a name for the project to be created as a result of monitoring. This project will contain all changes made by the running processes to the operating system during the monitoring session. At the next step, you should choose if you would like to create an MSI package, an App-V package or an MSIX/AppX package based on the monitoring results.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Output Package Format Select the format of the output package to be generated. Some formats may Windows compatibility limitations, so select the format that meets your requ	have functionality or
MSI Package	
This format supports all the packaging features and provides the best environments and deployment tools.	compatibility with Windows
O App-V Package	
This format is compatible with Windows environments ready for App- Virtualization) and may include features supported by App-V.	-V (Microsoft Application
MSIX/AppX Package	
This format is compatible with modern Windows environments and d deploy MSIX/AppX. It may include features supported by MSIX/AppX.	listribution tools designed to
Skip Package Generation	
Select this option if you need to monitor changes only and skip packate the monitoring.	age generation upon completing
< Back Next >	Finish Cancel

Pic 2. Choosing the package type

In case you have chosen to create an MSI package, the next step is to provide a path to a location to save the resulting MSI package to and configure the package Pic 3. Detailed information on configuring an MSI package is available in the Creating an MSI Package section of this document. section of this document.

lepackage	e Installa	tion Wizard				×	
MSI Pac Provid MSI p	kage F de a pati ackage (Properties h to the MSI packag deployment setting	ge being created, s gs.	pecify the packa	ge metadata and confi	gure the	
General Identi		cation & Upgrade	Digital Signature	Install Options	Support Information	Summary Info	
MSI Pati	h:	C:\msi\Adobe too	ls\Adobe tools.m	si			
Product	Name:	Adobe tools				Platform: Auto +	
Manufa	cturer:	Alex Delorian				Icon:	
Languag	ge:	English (United St	ates)	• Version: 1	1.0.3.37	<i>2</i> .	
() Inst	all MSI t	o Current User		Show in V	Windows Programs an	d Features:	
	Non-Ele	vated Installation		The creat	ted MSI package only	-	
Inst	all MSI t	o All Users		Restart Mode:			
	Smart A	II Users Mode		Restart t	he computer only if ne	cessary -	
Learn m	ore abo	ut the MSI installati	on context				
				< Back	Next > Fini	sh Cancel	
linsta	all MSI t Smart A	o All Users II Users Mode ut the MSI installati	on context	Restart M Restart ti < Back	lode: he computer only if ne Next > Fini	cessary ish Car	

Pic 3. Configuring an MSI package

If the output in form of an App-V package has been selected, you need to provide a path to save the resulting App-V package to and configure the package. Detailed information on configuring an App-V package is available in the Creating an App-V Package chapter. As for the MSIX/AppX package output, you need to provide a path to save the package to, define the package configuration options, the target platforms and the digital signature settings. Refer to the Creating an MSIX/AppX Package chapter for details.

Pressing the **Finish** button starts the monitoring process, and from that moment until the moment you stop it, all changes, except for those skipped in view of the monitoring filters configuration, are recorded and saved to the specified project. A deployment package is created at a specified location based on those changes.

When should I stop the monitoring process?

While system changes are being monitored, the monitoring process cannot be stopped automatically because there is no trigger for that. Therefore, it is up to you to choose the moment when it should be stopped. Before stopping the monitoring process, you should make sure that all required changes have been made. It means that the installations you have monitored have exited, and all the operations have been fully completed, i.e. the required files have been fully copied, moved, created or deleted, and the required registry keys and values have been fully saved to the Windows registry, etc.

As soon as you stop the monitoring process, the project is created containing the recorded changes. If you are using the **Repackage Installation** wizard, this project is automatically prepared and a deployment package is created. For the manual capturing mode, you should prepare the created project before building a deployment package. See the Projects Preparation section for the information about the required preparation steps.

Repackaging via Wrapping

One of the installations repackaging methods used by MSI Package Builder is wrapping existing installations into a generated MSI package. Wrapping means that those installations are distributed as a part of the MSI package and are installed, uninstalled and repaired simultaneously in the specified order.

Repackaging via wrapping can be used to build MSI packages only. App-V packages require that package content be explicitly defined before building a package, thus it is not possible to launch installations while deploying a virtual application. As the MSIX/AppX packages use an isolated sandbox environment concept for deployed contents, it is also not possible to launch installations while deploying those packages.

The advantage of this mode is that the original installation is always executed on each PC, so there should be no chance that a generated MSI package will be installed incorrectly on specific target machines. The disadvantage of this mode is that you need to know the silent installation parameters and possibly provide installation scenario files to generate an MSI package that can be used for silent deployment.

To perform repackaging via wrapping, either choose the **Wrap Installation** option in the **Repackage Installation** wizard or click the **Wrap Installation** shortcut in the **Product Actions** group on the **Welcome Screen**. In any case, you'll be able to provide a set of installations to be wrapped and their deployment order **Pic 1**.

Vrapped	Packages	🗳 Add Package 🖉 Edit Package 🗙 🔥			
- h.	Name	Setup File			
1 🐻	Adobe Reader 11	D:\Install\EXE\AdbeRdr11003_en_US.exe			
2 💽	DjVu Control	D:\Install\EXE\DJVUCNTL_601_EN.EXE			
3 💽	Java 7	D:\Install\EXE\jre-7u17-windows-i586.exe			

Pic 1. Repackaging via wrapping

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

MSI Package Builder allows you to wrap both Windows Installer packages and executable installation packages. For each package, you can define if it should be repaired and uninstalled while repairing and uninstalling a generated MSI package. You can also specify a list of additional files, if required, and the parameters to be passed to the installer to perform install, uninstall and repair **Pic 2**. The provided packages are included into a created MSI package and saved into a project with the specified name for future usage. Detailed information on configuring wrapped packages is available in the Wrapping Existing Installations chapter.

Vrapped	Package	e Properties		
Specify name a	the installa and the para	stion package to be dep ameters to be passed to	ployed together with the generated MSI, define the package the setup during the package deployment.	
Name	DjVu Conti	rol		
etup File:	D:\install\8	EXE\DJVUCNTL_601_EN	.EXE	
Paramete	rs Package	e Files		
and/ not o inpu Why	or mainten defined or a t. is it import	ance if you are going to are defined incorrectly, ant to supply installer c	o deploy the generated MSI package silently. If the parameter the deployment process will hang indefinitely waiting for the ommand line parameters?	s are user
Install Pa	rameters -			
Install Pa You can	rameters define the p	parameters to be passed	t to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require	ed.
Install Pa You can Paramete	rameters define the p ers: ① /s /	parameters to be passed SMS /f1install.iss	I to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require	ed.
Install Pa You can Paramete Chec	rameters define the p ers: ① /s / k for install	parameters to be passed SMS /f1install.iss failure by the exit code	to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require Success Exit Codes: 0	ed.
Install Pa You can Paramete Chec Mainten	rameters define the p ers: ① /s / k for install ance Param	parameters to be passed SMS /f1install.iss failure by the exit code eters	d to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require success Exit Codes: 0	ed.
Install Pa You can o Paramete Chec Maintene You shou installatio	rameters define the p ers: ① /s / k for install ance Param Ild define th on to be rep	barameters to be passed SMS /f1install.iss failure by the exit code leters he command line to be baired or uninstalled usi	I to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require Success Exit Codes: 0 used to perform uninstall and repair if you would like this ing the created MSI package.	ed.
Install Pa You can Paramete Chec Maintene You shou installatio	rameters define the p ers: • /s / k for install ance Param ald define th on to be rep v Repair	barameters to be passed SMS /f1install.iss failure by the exit code eters he command line to be baired or uninstalled usi Repair CMD Line:	I to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require USUCCESS Exit Codes: O Used to perform uninstall and repair if you would like this ing the created MSI package. S{PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1repair.iss	ed.
Install Pa You can of Parameter Chece Maintene You shou installatii Allow Allow	rameters define the p ers: ① /s / k for install ance Param uld define th on to be rep v Repair v Uninstall	SMS /f1install.iss failure by the exit code eters he command line to be paired or uninstalled usi Repair CMD Line: Uninstall CMD Line:	 I to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require Success Exit Codes: 0 used to perform uninstall and repair if you would like this ing the created MSI package. \${PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1repair.iss \${PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1uninstall.iss 	ed.
Install Pa You can Paramete Chec Maintena You shou installati Vou shou installati	rameters define the p ers: • /s / k for install ance Param uld define th on to be rep v Repair v Uninstall	SMS /f1install.iss failure by the exit code eters he command line to be paired or uninstalled usi Repair CMD Line: Uninstall CMD Line:	I to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require Success Exit Codes: 0 used to perform uninstall and repair if you would like this ing the created MSI package. \${PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1repair.iss \${PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1uninstall.iss	ed.
Install Pa You can Paramete Chec Mainteni You shou installatii V Allow	rameters define the p ers: ① /s / k for install ance Param ald define the on to be rep v Repair v Uninstall	SMS /f1install.iss failure by the exit code eters he command line to be paired or uninstalled usi Repair CMD Line: Uninstall CMD Line:	It to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require Success Exit Codes: Image: Success Exit Codes: Image: Success Exit Codes: Image: Success Exit Codes: Image: Strategy Stra	ed.

Pic 2. Configuring MSI package

The next step is to provide a path to the location to save a resulting MSI package to and configure the package. Detailed information on configuring an MSI package is available in the Creating an MSI Package chapter.

As soon as the package is configured, press **Finish** to proceed with its creation. The created package is saved to the specified location and is ready for deployment. The project representing the current repackaging process is also saved to the projects storage.

Low-Level Repackaging

Typically, installation repackaging uses the **Repackage Installation** wizard, which automates and guides you through the process. While recommended for most cases, in some situations, you may bypass automation for greater control. Low-level repackaging offers the flexibility to combine techniques, not limiting you to a single approach. For instance, you can monitor installations, make additional changes during MSI package deployment, or adjust monitoring results as needed.

The low-level repackaging concept should be used by experienced users only. While using a low-level repackaging you are responsible for performing each and every step required for the successful repackaging, so it is required that you fully understand those steps.

What exactly is low-level repackaging? It involves manual operations for repackaging and project preparation. This chapter details these operations, enhancing your understanding of repackaging and using manual operations when necessary. Low-level repackaging involves the following steps:

Step 1: Start Monitoring

Repackage an installation by capturing its changes, as outlined in the **How Installation Repackaging Works** chapter. To exclusively capture installation changes, bypassing automatic project preparation and package generation, use the **Start Monitoring** button on the Ribbon.



Start Monitoring

The **Start Monitoring** button from the **Capture** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to start a new session for tracking changes performed to the system.

To start a new monitoring session to capture the changes performed to the underlying operating system, you can press the **Start Monitoring** button from the **Capture** group on the **Home** Ribbon page or choose the **Start Monitoring** item from the **Projects** tree pop-up menu. The wizard will appear on the screen, where you can provide a name for the project to be created on a basis of the changes monitored and choose additional processes to be filtered during the monitoring process. The monitoring modules will ignore the activity of the filtered processes, thus the changes performed by those processes will not be included into the resulting set.

Step 2: Apply Changes

Once monitoring starts, execute the changes you wish to track, such as running the applications you want to monitor or manually making modifications. The program captures all these changes.

Step 3: Stop Monitoring

To end the capture process, either press the **Stop Monitoring** button in the **Capture** group on the **Home** Ribbon page or select **Stop Monitoring** from the **Projects** tree pop-up menu.



Stop Monitoring

The **Stop Monitoring** button from the **Capture** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to stop the currently running monitoring session.

When you stop the monitoring process, a project with the specified name is created. It includes all changes made to the operating system during the monitoring period. To create a deployment package from these changes, you must first prepare the project.

Step 4: Prepare the Project

To prepare the project for package generation the captured resources, such as file changes, should be copied into the project storage. This ensures package generation can occur anytime, even if the original files change on the file system. During this process, you might encounter missing captured files. In such cases, decide how to handle these missing links. Additionally, converting absolute resource paths to system folders is advisable to ensure the generated package's compatibility with various operating system configurations.

Project preparation, resolving missing links, and converting to system folders are detailed in the **Projects Preparation** chapter. Follow these instructions for guidance. These steps are automated in the **Repackage Installation** wizard, though some steps, like converting to system folders, are optional - you may choose to use absolute file paths instead if needed. With low-level repackaging, you have the flexibility to decide which actions to perform and which to omit.

Step 5: Edit Project Content

This optional step allows you to review and modify the project contents. Select the desired section in the **Projects** tree to examine it. If necessary, add custom changes manually using the editors, as outlined in the **Installation Projects** chapter. The program also enables copying content from one installation project to another; simply open multiple projects, copy the required data, and paste it into your target project.

Step 6. Generate a Package

As soon as all required changes are provided you can proceed with a deployment package creation. Depending on the edition of the program you have, you can generate an MSI, App-V or MSIX package. To learn more about the options available while creating deployment packages, see the **Creating an MSI Package**, the **Creating an App-V Package** and the **Creating an MSIX/AppX Package** chapters.

These are the primary steps in repackaging. However, you can undertake additional actions as needed, such as adding pre- and post-install custom actions to your packages. Low-level repackaging enables the creation of packages with varying levels of complexity.

Projects Preparation

As the result of the monitoring file system, registry and other changes the MSI Package Builder project is created and filled with those changes. If the monitoring was performed via **Repackage Installation** wizard, all the preparation steps are performed automatically, so this chapter is interesting only to those users who are using advanced changes monitoring through the capturing abilities of MSI Package Builder.



Prepare

The **Prepare** button from the **Links** group on the **Project** Ribbon page should be used to prepare the selected projects.

After monitoring for changes is completed, the files created and modified during the monitoring process are not available in the projects structure. The projects containing those files are marked with a red arrow overlay (,), which means they are unprepared. All external files should be copied to the project structure before creating a deployment package. This is performed using the **Prepare** button from the **Links** group on the **Project** Ribbon page, when the project is selected.

As soon as the preparing operation is completed, you can see if it has actually succeeded by taking a look at the overlay arrow icon. If the arrow is green (,, than the whole projects has been prepared successfully, and if it is yellow (,, than there have been problems during the preparation process. In most cases, this means that some files were missing when the preparation was executed. Detailed information on errors is available in the Log view.



Missing Links

The **Missing Links** drop-down button from the **Links** group on the **Project** Ribbon page allows you to choose the method for resolving the problems with missing files in the selected projects. You can either remove those files, or try to check if they became available.

If the file was not accessible during the preparation process, thus not copied to the project storage, it is marked as missing. For the easier identification of the missing links a broken chain overlay icon (

is displayed in the left top corner of the items in the **File System** view. The problems with missing links should be resolved before creating a deployment package. There are two possible scenarios of solving the missing links problem: repair and remove.

Before choosing a resolution mode, you should analyze the problems. If the missing files are temporary or not required to be created by the installer during a deployment of a generated package, they can be painlessly removed. Otherwise, you should provide access to those files and repair the missing links. You should use the **Missing Links** drop-down button from the **Links** group on the **Project** Ribbon page to resolve problems with missing links.



Roll All

The **Roll All** button from the **System Folders** group on the **Project** Ribbon page should be used to replace all system folders with their definitions in the selected projects.



Unroll All

The **Unroll All** button from the **System Folders** group on the **Project** Ribbon page allows you to expand the system folder definitions to their absolute local paths in the selected projects.

For a deployment package to be installed correctly on different operating systems with different environment configurations, it is required to replace all paths that represent the system folders (such as **My Documents**) with a special system folder object. This object will be expanded to the full path on the destination PC during the package deployment. You can perform this step for all folders in a project at once, using the **Roll All** button from the **System Folders** group on the **Project** Ribbon page.

After performing those steps, the packages are fully prepared to be used for creating a deployment package.

How should I configure the repackaged installations to support an upgrade?

MSI Package Builder allows you to perform installation repackaging fast and easy. But a single instance repackaging is not enough in a real life. It is obvious, that when a new version of the repackaged software is released, you are going to create a new MSI package, containing this version. In this chapter, we will show you how to create an MSI package for repackaging a new version of any application.

The information below must be read by everyone who is going to repackage the upgraded installations and then deploy a resulting MSI package to Machines where the previous version of the package is installed. If the conditions described below are not met, the upgrade won't be performed correctly and the **Programs and Features** section of the **Control Panel** will display both versions of the repackaged installation.

For MSI packages to be deployed and upgraded correctly, they should be properly identified. For each MSI package there is a **Product GUID**, that uniquely identifies the product, and an **Upgrade GUID** that is used for matching upgrades. Windows Installer maintains its database and handles its consistency, depending on these identifiers. These identifiers are defined on a project scope while creating an MSI package and are available in the **Project Details** view.

Create MSI Package	×
MSI Package Properties Provide a path to the MSI package being created, specify the package metadata and configure the MSI package deployment settings.	
General Identification & Upgrade Digital Signature Install Options Support Information Summary In	nfo
Product GUID: {F9EF9A58-DBFC-4FF5-AB6E-3322AE5594FF}	
 Allow an installation upgrade For the upgrade to succeed, it is required that the same installation context (Current User or All 0 be defined for the MSI package used for the upgrade as for the MSI package being upgraded. Upgrade GUID: [74B50590-55BF-4225-B925-00A1EC253451] Protect the installation from downgrading Ignore the language when upgrading this MSI package How should I configure the repackaged installations to support an upgrade? 	Jsers)
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Identifying the generated MSI package

The **Product GUID** value for the different versions of the installations being repackaged should differ, and the **Upgrade GUID** value should match. So, for example, if we are using the GUIDs displayed on **Pic 1** while repackaging the **Abode Reader 10.1.0** installation, the same **Upgrade GUID** in combination with another **Product GUID**, must be used for the **Abode Reader 10.3.1** installation.

If you have lost the project used to create a previous version of the MSI package, thus cannot find GUIDs used to identify that project, you can import that package. You'll find the required GUIDs in the **Project Details** view when the package created on a basis of the import result is selected.

It is also required that at least one of the first three version figures of the MSI package used for upgrade differs from the version of the previously generated package. For example, if we have used the 1.0.0 version of the MSI package while repackaging the Abode Reader 10.1.0 installation, then we can use 1.1.0 version for the Abode Reader 10.3.1, but we cannot use 1.0.0.3.



If you are going to repackage only a single installation into an MSI package, but not a suit of applications, it is recommended that the application version be used as the MSI package version. It will make the configuration process easier.

For the successful upgrade it is also required that both MSI packages should have the same installation context (Current User/All Users) defined.

Before performing a mass deployment of the upgraded package, it is strongly recommended that the upgrade process be checked for correct work on a test PC. First, install a previous version of an MSI package, and then install an upgraded version. If you have configured the packages correctly, you'll be able to see that the new version of the application is installed and there is a single entry in the **Programs and Features** section of the **Control Panel** representing this package.

Following the above-stated recommendations, you'll be able to create MSI packages that fully support upgrade, thus be able to upgrade the applications installed by the repackaged setups.

Repackaging in Windows Sandbox

The program allows you to use Windows Sandbox environment to perform monitoring. Sandbox is a lightweight Windows desktop environment to run applications in isolation. Software installed inside the Windows Sandbox environment remains "sandboxed" and runs separately from the host machine.

Windows Sandbox provides a clean environment for monitoring that follows the repackaging best practices. Sandbox has the following features:

- **Is a part of Windows**. Sandbox is a Windows feature available starting from Windows 10 and above.
- **Clean environment**. Every time Sandbox is started, it runs a clean, brand-new Windows installation.
- **Isolation**. Sandbox uses virtualization, so all changes made in Sandbox are isolated from the host that runs Sandbox.
- Automatic cleanup. When you close Sandbox, all changes made in Sandbox are discarded.

How to Enable Sandbox

A machine running Sandbox should meet the following requirements:

- Run Windows 10 build 18305 or later Windows versions. Sandbox isn't available on the Windows Home edition.
- A machine should have AMD64 or ARM64 architecture.
- A machine should have enabled hardware virtualization capabilities.
- 4GB of RAM minimum.
- 1GB of free disk space.
- 2 CPU cores minimum.

To enable Sandbox you need to enable hardware virtualization capabilities in BIOS settings. After enabling virtualization you need to open **Windows Program and Features** and click **Turn Windows features on or off**. In the list of features you need to find and enable Windows Sandbox and reboot the machine.

Sandbox Usage

When you use Sandbox for monitoring the program runs Sandbox automatically, copies the specified installation file to Sandbox to repackage it there. You need to open Sandbox and follow installation steps there. At the end of installation the program extracts monitoring results from Sandbox and generates a package.

Sandbox environment isn't an identical analog of the regular OS. Some Windows features aren't available in Sandbox and it may influence software installations. Some installations fail to deploy in Sandbox, so that they cannot be repackaged in Sandbox environment. If a repackaged installation cannot be deployed in Sandbox, you can try to repackage it on a virtual machine, for example.

Using Sandbox for monitoring is a good option because you don't need to prepare environment, it provides a clean environment out of the box, but Sandbox has functional limitations and some installations fail to deploy in Sandbox. Using a virtual machine for repackaging is an alternative option that doesn't have Sandbox limitations, but allows using clean environment quickly and easily. This option is described in the next chapter.

Repackaging on a Virtual Machine

The program allows you to perform monitoring on an existing virtual machine connected remotely. In this case EMCO MSI Package Builder is installed on your local machine, and it connects to a Hyper-V, VMware or VirtualBox virtual machine to perform monitoring on it. At the end of monitoring, all captured changes are copied to the local machine and a package is generated locally. Monitoring on a remote virtual machine is recommended instead of monitoring on a local machine because it allows avoiding some extra work. For example, you don't need to install EMCO MSI Package Builder on every machine used for monitoring, so you can easily switch among repackaging environments. Besides, the program can automatically revert virtual machines to a specified snapshot with a clean VM state at the end of monitoring, so you don't need to do it manually.

To perform monitoring on an existing virtual machine, you should select a corresponding option in the **Repackage Installation** wizard **Pic 1**, where you need to choose the VM profile used for monitoring. This profile includes the VM configuration stored in **VM Profiles Manager**.

Repackage Installation Wizard	×
Monitoring Environment Select whether you would like to monitor the installation and ca computer or use an existing virtual machine.	apture installation changes on this
O Monitor on This Computer	
This option allows you to launch the installation to be reputed by this installation on your local machine.	packaged and capture the changes performed
O Monitor in Windows Sandbox	
This option allows you to capture installation changes in represents a brand-new isolated installation of your currents	a Windows Sandbox environment, which ent OS.
Monitor on an Existing Virtual Machine	
This option allows you to capture installation changes or supports repackaging on VMware, Hyper-V and VirtualBo profile or create a new one for the virtual machine to be	n an existing virtual machine. The program ox virtual machines. Select an existing VM used for repackaging.
VM Profile: Windows 10	
Learn more about monit VM Profiles	
VMware Servers	
✓ ↓ 192.168.5.20 Windows 10	
A MILLIONS 10	Next > Finish Cancel

Pic 1. Select a VM as the repackaging environment

You can learn how to configure virtual machines to be used for monitoring in the Requirements for Virtual Machines chapter. To use a VM in the program, you need to create a profile for it. This topic is explained in the Managing VM Profiles chapter. A practical example of using a VM is provided in the How to Use a Virtual Machine for Repackaging chapter.

What's Inside

Requirements for Virtual Machines Managing VM Profiles How to Use a Virtual Machine for Repackaging

Requirements for Virtual Machines

The program can work with virtual machines hosted on Hyper-V, VMware and VirtualBox servers. There are specific requirements for virtualization servers, virtual machines and OS configurations on VMs, which are listed below. Make sure that your environment is configured to satisfy these requirements.

Virtualization Server Requirements

Virtualization servers that host virtual machines must meet the following requirements:

Hyper-V:

• The program supports local and remote Hyper-V servers.

VirtualBox:

- To work with virtual machines hosted locally (on localhost), make sure VirtualBox version 6.0 or above is running on the local machine before starting MSI Package Builder.
- To work with virtual machines hosted remotely, use a server with VirtualBox version 6.1.

VMware:

- To work with virtual machines hosted locally (on localhost), make sure VMware Workstation (version 12 or above) is running on the local machine before starting MSI Package Builder. For MSI Package Builder to discover a VM, the VM should be powered on before creating a profile for it in the program.
- To work with virtual machines hosted remotely, you need to use the VMware ESXi server (version 6.0 or above) with a license that allows remote connections.

To work with the local VMware virtual machines using VMware Workstation, you need to make sure that VMware VIX is configured properly. VMware VIX is an API that allows manipulating files within a guest operating system. VMware VIX configuration is available in the vixwrapper-product-config.txt file located in the VMware Workstation installation folder. This file translates the product version specifications into the appropriate VIX implementations, so you have to specify correct settings there. Typically, the same major version should be specified for all minor versions. For example, for all VMware Workstation builds of version 17 you have to specify Workstation-17.0.0 as VIX implementation.

```
# Workstation 17.0.0
ws 19 vmdb 17.0.0 Workstation-17.0.0
player 19 vmdb 17.0.0 Workstation-17.0.0
# Workstation 17.0.1
ws 19 vmdb 17.0.1 Workstation-17.0.0
player 19 vmdb 17.0.1 Workstation-17.0.0
# latest un-versioned
ws 19 vmdb e.x.p Workstation-17.0.0
player 19 vmdb e.x.p Workstation-17.0.0
```

VMware Workstation or VirtualBox may conflict with Hyper-V installed on the same machine. If you need to run VMware Workstation or VirtualBox on the machine with Hyper-V, you need to

disable Hyper-V first. You can run the following command to disable Hyper-V and restart the PC to apply the changes.

bcdedit /set hypervisorlaunchtype off

Virtual Machines Requirements

Virtual machines and their configuration should meet the following requirements:

For all types of virtual machines:

- The virtual machine can run Windows Vista SP2 or a higher OS.
- In the VM profile, specify a Windows account (by providing the username/password) that has the Local Administrator permissions on the VM.
- Before starting monitoring, log in on the virtual machine with the user account specified in the VM profile. If a snapshot (a checkpoint on Hyper-V) is selected in the VM profile, it is recommended to use an "online" snapshot (checkpoint), i.e. the one with turned-on Windows and logged-in user.
- It's recommended to use "online" snapshots (or checkpoints on Hyper-V) to optimize the repackaging process. In such snapshots, Windows is running and the user is logged in, so you don't need to start Windows and log in to Windows manually every time you make repackaging. To create an "online" snapshot, make sure you have configured the virtual machine to follow the repackaging best practices. Then start the virtual machine, log in to Windows and make a snapshot when you are logged in.

Hyper-V:

- Use checkpoints of the standard type only. Other types of checkpoints aren't supported.
- Enable remote access in Windows on the virtual machine configured in the VM profile (see the explanation below).

VirtualBox:

- For a VM hosted locally, click 'Yes' on the Windows UAC prompt displayed on the virtual machine to allow monitoring.
- For a VM hosted remotely, enable remote access in Windows on the virtual machine configured in the VM profile (see the explanation below).

VMware:

- VMware Tools must be installed on the guest operating system.
- Click 'Yes' on the Windows UAC prompt displayed on the virtual machine to allow monitoring.

How to Configure Windows Running on a Hyper-V or VirtualBox VM to Enable Remote Access

When the program uses a VM for monitoring, it copies an installation file to the VM before monitoring and retrieves the capturing results after monitoring. Virtualization servers provide different levels of support for communicating with VMs. To work with a Hyper-V server or with a remote VirtualBox server, you need to perform some extra configuration steps. You need to enable remote access in Windows on the VMs so that the program can communicate with those VMs.

You need to enable remote access in Windows for every VM you plan to use for repackaging that are hosted on a local or remote Hyper-V server or on a remote VirtualBox server. Follow the instructions below to enable remote access.

Enable Remote Access

Make sure that **NetBIOS over TCP/IP** is enabled on the network adapter of the virtual machine in Windows. This option is configured in the **WINS settings** of the TCP/IP protocol configuration. In the **NetBIOS settings** group, you should either choose the **Enable NetBIOS over TCP/IP** value or leave the **Default** value if a static IP is used or the DHCP server in your domain is configured to enable NetBIOS.

In addition, you need to enable **File and Printer Sharing**. You can do it in the **Network and Sharing Center** of Windows on the virtual machine. Open the connection properties and turn on **File and Printer Sharing**.

Enable Remote Access on Windows Running in a Workgroup

If a virtual machine runs Windows connected to a corporate domain, its remote access is already enabled after joining the domain, so no additional settings are required. If a virtual machine runs Windows connected to a workgroup, you need to enable remote access for it. To enable remote access, you should disable the UAC remote restrictions by creating the **LocalAccountTokenFilterPolicy** DWORD value and setting it to 1 in the following registry key:

HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Microsoft\Windows\CurrentVersion\Policies\System

You can use the Microsoft support article as the reference.

To make sure your virtualization server and virtual machine are configured properly, you need to use the button in **VM Profile Manager** to test the VM profile settings. If you get an error, it means that the VM has problems, so you need to check the requirements and try again.

Managing VM Profiles

The program stores configurations of virtual machines used for monitoring in VM profiles. To configure VMs, you need to click the **Manage VM Profiles** button located in the **Capture** group of the **Home** tab on Ribbon. **VM Profiles Manager** is used to configure Hyper-V, VMware and VirtualBox servers and virtual machines hosted on those servers that can be used by the program for repackaging. The profiles manager dialog consists of the toolbar with the main actions located at the top, the list of VM servers and VM profiles located on the left, and the information area located on the right **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. VM profiles manager

The profiles manager has the following actions displayed on the toolbar.



Hyper-V Server

This button allows adding a new Hyper-V server that hosts virtual machines.

VMware Server

This button allows adding a new VMware server that hosts virtual machines.

VirtualBox	VirtualBox Server
Server	This button allows adding a new VirtualBox server that hosts virtual machines.
VM	VM Profile
Profile	This button allows adding a new profile with the virtual machine configuration.
Edit	Edit This button allows changing properties of the selected item.
Delete	Delete This button allows deleting the selected items.

In **VM Profiles Manager**, you can add Hyper-V, VMware and VirtualBox servers that host virtual machines that you plan to use in the program for repackaging. Note that the program has predefined configurations for local servers displayed in the **VM Profiles** tree, so that you can create new VM profiles on any of them if you plan to work with virtual machines hosted on the local PC. To add a new remote server, you need to click the **Hyper-V Server**, **VMware Server** or **VirtualBox Server** buttons on the toolbar or select the corresponding options in the context menu of the **VM Profiles** tree. In the displayed configuration dialog, you need to specify settings for connecting to a VM server **Pic 2**.

New VMware Se	rver			×
VM Server P Specify the specified se	roperties virtual machine server address an rver.	d the credenti	ials to connect to the	
Server Address:	192.168.1.26			
User Name:	Alex Delorian	Password:	******	•
Description:				
			ОК	Cancel

Pic 2. Configuring a VM server

Server configurations for all types of servers are identical. You need to specify the **Server Address**, **Username** and **Password**. After being added, a server appears in the VM Profiles tree, and you can select it there. Press the **Check Server Connection** button to make sure the server is accessible.

After configuring a server, you can configure a virtual machine by creating its VM profile. On the server, select the option of creating a new VM profile by choosing the corresponding option in the context menu or on the toolbar. As a result, the VM configuration dialog appears **Pic 3**. It is identical for all types of virtual machines and includes the same options.

New VM Profil	e	×					
VM Profile Properties Specify the virtual machine, choose its snapshot and specify the user credentials to be used for monitoring.							
Profile Name:	Windows 10 VM Server: 192.168.5.20						
Machine:	Windows10 ··· Encryption Password: 1 *******	Ŷ					
Snapshot:	<current state=""></current>						
	 Create a snapshot before operation Revert to the snapshot after operation 						
User Name:	Alex Delorian Password:	Ŷ					
Description:							
	ОК	Cancel					

Pic 3. Configuring a VM profile

In the displayed dialog, you need to specify the **Profile Name**. This name will be displayed in the **VM Profiles** tree, and you can see it in the **Repackage Installation** wizard when you select a VM profile for repackaging. The server can host multiple virtual machines, so you need to press it to choose the required one. After selecting a **Machine**, you need to configure the **Snapshot** that will be used for monitoring. Press is to select the required snapshot. If you would like to use the current actual state of the VM, you can select the **<Current State>** option.

Depending on the selected snapshot, you can configure the additional options. If <Current State> is selected, you can enable the **Create a snapshot before operation** option, so the program will automatically create a new snapshot before monitoring. You can also select the **Revert to the snapshot after operation** option, and the program will automatically revert the VM to the created snapshot at the end of monitoring so that you always use a clean VM for monitoring. If you have selected an existing snapshot, the program allows you to revert the VM to this snapshot automatically at the end of monitoring by selecting the **Revert to the snapshot after operation** option.

When a new VM profile is created, you can select it in the **VM Profiles** tree and press the **Check Profile** button to test the VM. If the VM settings are configured properly, you can see a dialog that displays the discovered environment issues for the VM. Make sure that the VM is configured properly to follow the repackaging best practices. If for some reasons there is no connection to the VM, you will see an error message and you need to troubleshoot the problem.

The program has specific requirements for VM servers and virtual machines depending on the used virtualization provider, the location of the server (a local PC or a remote server), and the virtual machine and OS configuration. It's recommended to review the Requirements for Virtual Machines chapter to make sure that your VM configuration satisfies those requirements.

Once a VM is properly configured and tested, you can use it for repackaging. Select the VM profile in the **Repackage Installation** wizard and follow the repackaging process described in the How Monitoring on a Virtual Machine Works chapter.

How to Use a Virtual Machine for Repackaging

Repackaging on a remote virtual machine is similar to repackaging on the local machine, except for a few differences. The step-by-step process is explained in the demo chapter. Here you can learn about the differences caused by monitoring on a remote virtual machine.

To use an existing remote VM for monitoring, you need to select the corresponding option in the **Repackage Installation** wizard and select the required VM profile **Pic 1**. If you don't have a profile

yet, you can create it right at this step by clicking button. You can learn how to configure a VM profile in the Managing VM Profiles chapter.

Repackage Installation Wizard				×
Monitoring Environment Select whether you would computer or use an existin	like to monitor the installatio g virtual machine.	on and capture installatic	n changes on this	E
 Monitor on This Compute This option allows y by this installation Monitor in Windows Sand This option allows y represents a brand- Monitor on an Existing Vin This option allows y supports repackagi profile or create a n 	rou to launch the installation on your local machine. box rou to capture installation ch new isolated installation of y rual Machine rou to capture installation ch ng on VMware, Hyper-V and ew one for the virtual machi	n to be repackaged and c nanges in a Windows San your current OS. nanges on an existing virt I VirtualBox virtual machi ine to be used for repack	apture the changes dbox environment, tual machine. The p ines. Select an existi aging.	; performed , which program ing VM
VM Profile: Windo	ws 10	¥		
Learn more about monif VM Pr	offies VMware Servers IIII 192.168.5.20	Next >	Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Selecting a VM for monitoring
All other steps of the **Repackage Installation** wizard are the same as for monitoring on the local machine, so you can select the required monitoring type to capture an installation or system changes. You need to provide a path to the installation to be monitored and configure the options of the generated package.

When all the settings have been provided and you click the **Finish** button in the wizard, the program interacts with the VM. Before starting monitoring, you need to log in on the virtual machine with the user account specified in the VM profile. At this step, the program needs to interact with the OS running on the VM, so if you use a VMware virtual machine, you need to click 'Yes' on the Windows UAC prompt displayed on the VM to allow such an interaction. The corresponding instructions are displayed by the program **Pic 2**.

Aonitorin	ig on a Virtual Mach	ine	×
(0		
Preparing		Monitoring	Finalizing
Aonitorin	ig on the virtual ma	chine is currently in progress.	
222	The program is au virtual machine sl	tomatically preparing the virtual mac nould be powered on to start the prep	hine for repackaging. The aration process.
	Make sure that	the 'win7' virtual machine is powered	I on and the 'localadmin'
			Cancel
Vaiting f	or Remote Agent mo	dule to start	

Pic 2. Information on the preparation steps displayed by the program

In scope of VM preparation for monitoring, the program needs to check if there are any monitoring issues on the VM. The corresponding dialog is displayed, and you can fix the issues if any have been detected **Pic 3**.

Monitoring Environment Issues		×
Prepare Virtual Machine for Monitoring All system changes made on virtual machine will be captured to generate detected on virtual machine may introduce unnecessary changes to the particular	a package. Some i ackage being creat	tems ted.
Monitoring Environment Issues	🗧 Fix Issues 😸	87 87 📕 🗮
~ Running Services		
Windows Search is active		Active
We recommend disabling Windows Search when performing monitori	ng.	
Windows Update is active		Active
How to prepare this computer for monitoring?		
		OK

Pic 3. Information about the monitoring issues on the VM

Once the monitoring issues have been resolved, the program automatically prepares the VM for monitoring. The installation file is copied to the VM, and the monitoring modules are checked and installed on the VM, if required. All these steps are performed automatically. You don't need to make any special preparations on the VM. Once everything is done, monitoring starts automatically, and the corresponding dialog with instructions is displayed **Pic 4**.

Monitorin	ng on a Virtual Machine	e	×
		2	
Pre	paring	Monitoring	Finalizing
Monitoria	ng on the virtual machi	ine is currently in progress.	
<u>¢</u>	All system changes of the steps of the insta stopped automatica	on the virtual machine are being c Illation running on the virtual mac Illy when the installation is comple	aptured. You should follow :hine. Monitoring will be :ted
	Connect to the 'w installation.	vin7' virtual machine and follow th	e steps of the running
	To ensure that the pr recommendations: 1. If the installation v installation completi 2. If the installed app completion, you sho	rogram stops monitoring automat wizard has an option to run the ins ion, skip this option. blication is started automatically u buld close it.	ically, follow the talled application upon the pon the installation
	When does the mon Press 'Stop', if requir package generation.	itoring process stop? ed, to interrupt the monitoring m	anually and proceed to
	,,.,		Stop

Pic 4. Monitoring is in progress

At this point, you can open the VM and apply the required changes to be monitored. If you configured the program to capture an installation and specified the installation file, this installation should be automatically started on the VM, and you need to follow the installation steps. Monitoring will be stopped automatically once the installation is completed. If you selected the option of capturing system changes, you can apply those changes. When all the changes have been applied, you can go back to the program and press the button to stop monitoring.

Once monitoring is stopped (automatically or manually depending on the selected option), the program exports the captured data from the VM to be saved in the projects storage and runs the package generation. You can see the progress on the screen **Pic 5**.



Pic 5. Final steps of monitoring

If you choose the option in the VM profile to revert the VM to a selected snapshot, it is reverted automatically at the end of monitoring, so that next time you need to repeat repackaging, you can use a ready snapshot with a clean VM state.

The program generates a package using the monitoring results captured on the VM, and you can see the generated package on the file system. It's recommended to test this package before deployment in the corporate network. Follow the instructions available in the Package Testing and Troubleshooting chapter.

How to Optimize Installation Monitoring on a VM

When you use an external VM for monitoring, the program needs to copy an installation to be monitored to the VM. If the installation file is large, it can take some time to copy it to the VM. To reduce the monitoring preparation time, you can select an installation file stored on a network share rather than selecting a local file. In this case, the program doesn't copy the installation to the VM, but runs the deployment from the network share. To use this approach, just make sure the network share allows access for the Windows account used on the VM for monitoring.

Chapter 5: Creating a Package

MSI Package Builder allows you to create packages in different formats, such as MSI, MSIX/AppX, and App-V. The packaging process is similar across different formats; for instance, the same method applies to both repackaging installations and editing package contents, though each format has its nuances.

This chapter provides information on how to create packages in different formats and explains the unique content and settings for each format, including configuring MSI installation contexts for peruser and per-machine installations, the use of MSIX fixups, and more. It also covers how to apply configurations common across all package types, such as digitally signing packages.

What's Inside

MSI Packaging MSIX Packaging App-V Packaging Signing Packages

MSI Packaging

The MSI format, supported by all modern Windows versions, is notable for its silent deployment feature, enabling automatic installation without user interaction. Given its compatibility with various software deployment and distribution tools, the MSI format is an optimal choice for repackaging installations for automatic deployment.

MSI Package Builder supports the creation of MSI packages in all its editions. You can use automatic repackaging to convert non-silent installations into silent MSI packages, or manually create and customize packages. MSI Package Builder enables the creation of packages of any complexity, including wrapped installations.

MSI Package Builder offers advanced MSI creation features. The following chapters will guide you in their practical use. You'll learn how to configure MSI package properties, create per-user and permachine MSI installations, and develop MSI packages targeted at specific languages.

What's Inside

Creating an MSI Package MSI Package Language MSI Installation Context

Creating an MSI Package

MSI Package Builder was designed to repackage existing installations into MSI packages, so one of the main aspects of the program is a flexible configuration of the package being created. The package can be created during the installation repackaging process, or manually from an existing MSI Package Builder project.



Create MSI Package

The **Create MSI Package** button from the **Builder** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to generate an MSI package based on the selected project.

To create an MSI package manually, you can use the **Create MSI Package** item from the **Projects** view pop-up menu or from the **Builder** group on the **Home** Ribbon page. While creating an MSI package based on a project the options for package created are filled automatically using the values defined in the **Project Details** view, and during the repackaging process they are defined on-line and then saved to the created project. Let us take a look at the available options and describe each one, starting with the general product information **Pic 1**.

General Identifi MSI Path: Product Name:		cation & Upgrade	Digital Signature	Install Options	Support Information	Summary Info
		C:\msi\Adobe Reader 11.msi				
		Adobe Reader				Platform: x64
Manufacturer:		Alex Delorian + Icon:				lcon:
Languag	e:	English (United St	ates)	 Version: 1 	1.0.3.37	(Allow)
🔿 Insta	II MSI t	o Current User		Show in V	Windows Programs an	d Features:
N	lon-Ele	vated Installation		The creat	ted MSI package only	
Instal	II MSI t	o All Users		Restart M	lode:	
Smart All Users Mode		II Users Mode		Always r	estart the computer af	ter installation

Pic 1. Specifying general MSI package information

The general information consists of the **Product Name**, **Platform**, **Manufacturer**, **Icon**, **Language** and **Version**. The product name, manufacturer and icon are used to display the product in the **Programs and Features** section of the Windows control panel. The platform is used to define if the installer is deploying an x86 or an x64 application. The **Language** field is responsible for defining a language and encoding used by an installer package.

The version is the most important field of the general information, because it is responsible for the correct package installation and upgrade. That means that when you are preparing an updated package, using the same project, you must change the version to a bigger. This is also displayed in the **Programs and Features** section of the Windows control panel.

The other aspect of the general product information is an installation context. You can choose if the package when launched without additional parameters should be installed only for a current user account, or for all users. This is defined by switching between the **Install MSI to Current User** and **Install MSI to All Users** radio buttons. Please note, that the administrative privileges are required to install the MSI package for all users. You can also choose if the generated MSI package should be displayed in the **Programs and Features** section of the Windows control panel, and if the repackage installations, if any, should also be displayed. If the reboot is required to complete the package installation, an appropriate options should be selected in the **Restart Mode** drop-down list.

Create MSI Package ×				
MSI Package Properties Provide a path to the MSI package being created, specify the package metadata and configure the MSI package deployment settings.				
General Identification & Upgrade Digital Signature Install Options Support Information Summary Info				
Product GUID: {F9EF9A58-DBFC-4FF5-AB6E-3322AE5594FF}				
Allow an installation upgrade				
For the upgrade to succeed, it is required that the same installation context (Current User or All Users) be defined for the MSI package used for the upgrade as for the MSI package being upgraded.				
Upgrade GUID: {74850590-558F-4225-8925-00A1EC253451}				
Protect the installation from downgrading				
✓ Ignore the language when upgrading this MSI package				
How should I configure the repackaged installations to support an upgrade?				
< Back Next > Finish Cancel				

Pic 2. Package Identification & Upgrade

The next step is configuring the package identification and upgrade abilities **Pic 2**. For MSI packages to be deployed and upgraded correctly, they should be properly identified. For each MSI package there is a **Product GUID**, that uniquely identifies the product, and **Upgrade GUID** that is used for matching upgrades. Windows Installer maintains its database and handles its consistency, depending on these identifiers, so you must be very careful with them. You may not provide the upgrade identifier, but in this case, the upgrade will not be supported. If you are going to support upgrades, you can define if the upgrade is language specific and if downgrade is allowed. In case you choose that the upgrade process is language specific, then it will be allowed to install a new version of an MSI package only if its language is the same as the language of the previous version installed. If you disable the protection from downgrade it will be possible to install a previous version of the product even when the newer version is installed, replacing the newer version with the previous one.

For the successful upgrade it is also required that the installed MSI package should have the same installation context (Current User/All Users) defined as the MSI used for update. It is also required that at least one of the first three version figures of the MSI package used for update differs from the version of the installed MSI package.

Create MS	5I Package				×
MSI Pac Provi MSI p	kage Properties de a path to the MSI package ackage deployment setting	ge being created, s js.	pecify the packa	ge metadata and confi	gure the
General	Identification & Upgrade	Digital Signature	Install Options	Support Information	Summary Info
√ Ove	erride common package sig	ning configuration	Change	common configuration	n Reset to common
\checkmark	Sign the package with a dig	jital signature			
	O Select certificate from s	tore: EMCO Sign	Certificate		B(X
	Select certificate from f	ile: D:\Install\S	ign\EMCO.pfx		🗮 🗙
	Use auto-generated sel	f-signed certificate	8		
	Certificate password:				6
	How to install an auto-	generated self-sign	ed certificate?		
	Timestamp Service (URL):	http://timestamp.	verisign.com/scr	ipts/timstamp.dll	•
			< Back	Next > Fini	sh Cancel

Pic 3. Overriding the common package signing options

Before generating the MSI package, you can choose if the common package signing options should be used, or they should be overridden for this specific project <u>Pic 3</u>. As when defining the common settings, you can choose if the digital signature should be added to the package, select the signing certificate from the certificate storage and choose the time server used to generated a digital signature time stamp.

reate MSI Package				>
ISI Package Properties Provide a path to the MSI pac MSI package deployment set	kage being created, s ings.	pecify the packa	ge metadata and confi	gure the
General Identification & Upgra	de Digital Signature	Install Options	Support Information	Summary Info
Supported Operating Systems:	All Operating System	s		Ŧ
Required .NET Framework:	The .NET Framework	is not required		*
Install MSI Files Mode:	If a file is missing or an older version is installed			*

Pic 4. Configuring Install Options

The next aspect of an MSI package configuration is install options Pic 4. You can specify the list of supported operating systems and choose the reinstall mode used if the files deployed by an MSI package already exist in the target location. You can also define the Microsoft .NET Framework versions required by deployed software packages – the Windows Installer will check for those versions and interrupt the deployment process if the required version is missing on a target PC.

	Identificati	on & Upgrade	Digital Signature	Install Options	Support Information	Summary Info
Auth	Author Alex Deloria		n			
Subj	ect	Adobe Pack	ages			
Keyv	vords	Adobe, Read	ler, Flash			
Com	ments					

Pic 5. Defining Summary Information

The last thing to define, that is also optional, is a set of support and summary properties. Those are available in the package properties and are displayed in the **Programs and Features** section of the Windows control panel. As for the support information, you can use the properties defined in the program preferences, or override them for this package.

When all the required settings are configured, either within the **Project Details** view or within the package creation wizard, all you need is to provide a path to the location to save the resulting MSI package to and press **Finish**. As soon as the package is created, it is ready for deployment.

MSI Package Language

The fact that any MSI package can target only one language is a well-known limitation of the Windows Installer technology. Within MSI Package Builder, the installer language is selected during the project configuration and can be changed within the **Project Details** view. As any MSI package is language specific, for a successful deployment, all the characters that may be present in any project entry should be available in the code page of the chosen language when the package is being generated.

To help you avoid language mismatches that are really hard to detect on your own, MSI Package Builder performs the code page verification before generating each MSI package and warns you if the test has not been passed successfully allowing you to choose the resolution mode for the detected conflicts **Pic 1**.

oose Resolution Method The characters contained in these 7 items are not available in the language selected for the MSI package. All the c resolved to proceed. Please, choose the conflict resolution method from those available.	onflicts must b	
Process All Conflicts Automatically (Recommended)		
Choose this option, if you would like all code page conflicts to be automatically processed by MSI Package can be automatically changed to resolve the conflict will be corrected, the others will be excluded from the	Builder. The en	ntries that age.
	,	- ye
Process Each Conflict Manually		
This option should be chosen if you would like to control the conflicts resolution on your own. For every en	ntry, you can eit	ther resolution
package.	e entry from the	e resulting
Entries causing code page conflicts	Autofix A	1 14 1
Name	Status	Autofix
✓ Registry		
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.Document.7\shell\Open	Conflicting	
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.FDFDoc\shell\Open	Conflicting	
	Conflicting	
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile		
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile\shell\Open	Conflicting	
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile\shell\Open Change MSI Package Language A This option allows you to change the target language of the resulting package. The project will be revalidat	Conflicting	entries
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile\shell\Open Change MSI Package Language This option allows you to change the target language of the resulting package. The project will be revalidat conflicting with the selected language before proceeding with the MSI package creation.	Conflicting ed to check for	entries
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile\shell\Open Change MSI Package Language This option allows you to change the target language of the resulting package. The project will be revalidat conflicting with the selected language before proceeding with the MSI package creation. Language: English (United States)	Conflicting ed to check for	entries
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile\shell\Open HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile\shell\Open This option allows you to change the target language of the resulting package. The project will be revalidat conflicting with the selected language before proceeding with the MSI package creation. Language: English (United States)	Conflicting ed to check for	entries
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile\shell\Open HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile\shell\Open This option allows you to change the target language of the resulting package. The project will be revalidat conflicting with the selected language before proceeding with the MSI package creation. Language: English (United States)	Conflicting ed to check for	entries
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.RMFFile\shell\Open Change MSI Package Language This option allows you to change the target language of the resulting package. The project will be revalidat conflicting with the selected language before proceeding with the MSI package creation. Language: English (United States)	Conflicting ed to check for	entries

Pic 1. Code page verification failure

There are actually two types of conflicts: those that can be resolved automatically and those that cannot. As for the conflicts that cannot be resolved automatically, you can either resolve them manually or exclude the entries causing such conflicts from the resulting MSI package. As you can see, the displayed warning allows you to choose among three options.

The first options, which is **Process All Conflicts Automatically**, means that it is up to MSI Package Builder to choose what to do with each entry causing a code page conflict. It is the easiest and the most transparent choice for the user. If his option is used, the program performs necessary changes to the entries containing conflicts that can be resolved automatically. The entries containing conflicts that cannot be resolved automatically are excluded from the resulting package. This options is suitable in most cases, but you should always check the resulting package for correctness in case you are letting MSI Package Builder to perform automatic conflicts resolution.

The next option, which is **Process Each Conflict Manually**, is used to let you decide what to do with each conflicting entry on your own. This option provides the maximum flexibility but requires a great responsibility. Using this method, you can choose for each entry whether you would like to edit it to resolve the conflict, or to apply automatic conflicts resolution to the entry (if applicable), or to exclude the entry from the resulting package. You can also choose to automatically resolve or skip all conflicts using the buttons on the toolbar above the entries list. For each entry in the list, you can see its status, which is either **Conflicting**, or **Resolved**, or **Skipped**.

The last method of resolving code page conflicts is changing the target language of the resulting MSI package. The **Change MSI Package Language** option is used in such a case. As soon as you select the required language from the drop-down list, you are suggested to revalidate the project. If the validation is passed, the resulting MSI package is generated.

We have done our best to help you avoid problems caused by the language limitation of the Windows Installer technology and hope you will find the code page verification process with different conflict resolution methods useful.

MSI Installation Context

Windows Installer can install a package on a computer within two installation contexts: per-machine and per-user. A per-machine package installation is required if all users of the computer need to access and use the application. Based on the context, Windows Installer automatically redirects the values of the folder properties and registrations to the locations for a per-user or per-machine installation. The installation context is specified when configuring the MSI Package Builder project **Pic 1**.

J MSI	^	MSI - General Properties	
General Properties		 Install MSI to Current User 	Show in Windows Programs and Features:
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Non-Elevated Installation	The created MSI package only -
Identification & Upgrade		Install MSI to All Users	Restart Mode:
Install Options		Smart All Users Mode	Always restart the computer after installation
Summary Info		Learn more about the MSI installation context	Analys restart the computer after instantation

Pic 1. Choosing the installation context

When a package is installed for a current user, it is not visible in the **Programs and Features** section of the control panel for other users. In most cases, the deployed content is also accessible only for the user that deployed the package, though it is not always true. To install a package peruser, you should choose the **Install MSI to Current User** radio button during the project configuration.

The generated MSI packages can be installed by Windows users with administrative rights. If an MSI package is installed manually, the Windows User Account Control (UAC) prompt is displayed requiring permissions elevation to complete the MSI installation. Non-administrator users have to provide administrative credentials to install MSI packages. You can avoid seeing the UAC prompt and elevating permissions for installing an MSI package if this package was generated as **Install MSI to Current User** with the **Non-Elevated Installation** option enabled.

Non-elevated installations have some restrictions. If the **Non-Elevated Installation** option is enabled for an installation project that violates such restrictions, this option is skipped and a regular MSI that requires permissions elevation is generated. In this case, the restriction violations are reported in the **Log** view.

Note that it isn't allowed to generate a non-elevated installation if the installation project contains any of the resources listed below:

Resource Type	Resource Value
File System	CommonFiles64Folder,
	CommonFilesFolder,
	ProgramFiles64Folder,
	ProgramFilesFolder,
	System16Folder,
	System64Folder,
	SystemFolder,
	WindowsFolder,
	CommonAdminToolsFolder,
	CommonDesktopFolder,
	CommonProgramMenuFolder,
	CommonStartMenuFolder,

Resource Type	Resource Value
	CommonStartupFolder, FontsFolder, UserProfilesFolder
Registry	HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE, HKEY_USERS
Environment Variables	System Environment Variables
Services	All
Assemblies	All
Printers	All
Drivers	All
Windows Firewall	All
Custom Actions	SAM Licenses

To create a package targeting a per-machine installation, you should choose the **Install MSI to All Users** radio button. As for the per-machine installation, there is some specifics in handing the userspecific folders and registry keys defined in the package. By default, when a per-machine installation is deployed and the package contains user-specific files and registry entries, such files and entries are created only for the user running the deployment. For other users, only the common files and registry entries are deployed. MSI Package Builder allows you to configure the package in such a way that user-specific entries will also be installed for other users on their first log-on after the package deployment. This feature is enabled by means of the **Smart All Users Mode** box.



To obtain proper deployment results, it is recommended that the default installation context be chosen carefully taking into account the specifics of each and every package.

MSIX Packaging

MSIX is a new packaging format introduced by Microsoft in 2018 as a successor of the AppX technology. It was designed to deploy Windows applications on desktops, servers, mobile and other devices running Windows 10 or later OS. Applications deployed as MSIX packages run in a container, so that applications and their child processes are isolated. File system and registry operations are redirected and some security restrictions are applied.

You can use MSI Package Builder to create new MSIX packages from scratch or repackage existing Windows applications to the MSIX format. Application packaging into MSIX works on the same way as packaging to MSI, so you can use installations monitoring to create a new MSIX package, as described in the previous chapters. Note that MSIX applications work in isolated containers, so if the original application wasn't designed to work in isolated environment, you may need to configure MSIX fixups to let it work properly, as described in the following chapters.

What's Inside

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

Creating an MSIX/AppX Package MSIX Applications Configuration MSIX Fixups

Creating an MSIX/AppX Package

MSI Package Builder is shipped with a full support of currently available features of MSIX, the packaging technology recently introduced by Microsoft. It extends the AppX one, used for deploying applications from Windows Store. The MSIX and AppX format has lots in common and both target Windows 10 platform, but MSIX is used starting from Windows 10 October 2018 update, and earlier the AppX format is used. MSI Package Builder generates either the MSIX or AppX package, depending on the targeting.

MSIX/AppX packages can be generated only on PCs running Windows 10 or later. If you run the program on earlier version on Windows, you cannot generate MSIX/AppX. In this case you need to install the program on a PC running Windows 10 or later, copy the installation project and generate MSIX/AppX there.



Create MSIX/AppX Package

The **Create MSIX/AppX Package** button from the **Builder** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to generated an MSIX/AppX package based on the selected project.

To create an MSIX/AppX package manually, you can use the **Create MSIX/AppX Package** item from the **Projects** view pop-up menu or from the **Builder** group on the **Home** Ribbon page. When an MSIX/AppX package is created based on a project, the options for the package created are filled automatically using the values defined in the **Project Details** view, while during the repackaging process they are defined on-line, then saved to the created project. Let us take a look at the available options and describe each one starting with the general product information **Pic 1**.

General Targe		atforms	Digital Signature	Capabilitie	s				
MSIX/AppX Path:		C:\msi	Adobe Reader 11.	msix					
Product	Name:	Adobe	Reader					Platform:	x64 -
Manufa	cturer:	Alex De	lorian				÷	lcon:	
Languag	ge:	English	(United States)	*	Version:	11.0.3.37			×.
Package	e Name: 🛛	AcrobatR	leader						
Publishe	er: C	CN=EMO	:0						(
Descript	tion:								

Pic 1. Specifying general MSIX/AppX package information

The general information consists of the **Product Name**, **Platform**, **Manufacturer**, **Icon**, **Language** and **Version**. The product name, manufacturer and icon are used to display the product on the system. The platform is used to define if the installer is deploying an x86 or an x64 application. The **Language** field is responsible for defining the language and the encoding used by the installer package.

The version is the most important field of the general information because it is responsible for a correct package installation and upgrade. That means that every time you prepare an updated package using the same project you should change its version to a higher one. And it is also displayed on the system.

The **Package Name** and **Publisher** fields are responsible for the package identification. For packages signed with a certificate from store or from file, the **Publisher** field is automatically filled from the certificate. The **Description** field is used to provide a description for the package.

The next aspect of an MSIX/AppX package configuration is choosing the target platforms Pic 2. It's recommended to set target platforms automatically based on the project data and current Windows version. You can also specify the list of supported desktop and server operating system versions manually. When you create an MSIX/AppX package the output package format depends on the selected target platform. If you select a Windows platform that supports MSIX, the program will generate an MSIX package. For earlier versions of Windows that don't support MSIX, an AppX package will be generated.

eneral	Target P	latforms [igital Signature	Capabilities			
🖲 Set	the targe	t platforms	automatically ba	ised on the pro	oject data and the cur	rent Windows version	
) Spe	cify the t	arget platfo	rms manually				
\checkmark	Desktop	Minimum	Windows 10,	version 22 -	Maximum Tested:	Windows 11, version 22H2	
\checkmark	Server	Minimum	: Windows Ser	ver 2022	Maximum Tested:	Windows Server 2022	

Pic 2. Defining the Target Plarforms

Another important thing to configure is a digital signature as MSIX/AppX packages cannot be installed until they are digitally signed. You can use the configuration defined in the program preferences or override it for this package **Pic 3**.

Create MSIX/AppX Package	×
MSIX/AppX Package Properties Provide a path to the MSIX/AppX package being the MSIX/AppX package deployment settings.	g created, specify the package metadata and configure
General Target Platforms Digital Signature Cap	abilities
Override common package signing configurat	tion Change common configuration Reset to common
Sign the package with a digital signature	
○ Select certificate from store: EMCO S	Sign Certificate 🗷 🗙
Select certificate from file: D:\Insta	II\Sign\EMCO.pfx 🗮 🗙
Use auto-generated self-signed certifie	cate:
Certificate password:	\$\begin{aligned} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &
How to install an auto-generated self-	signed certificate?
Timestamp Service (URL): http://timestam	np.verisign.com/scripts/timstamp.dll +
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel

Pic 3. Configuring Digital Signature

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

To create an MSIX package you need to declare its capabilities, i.e. access to APIs or resources, such as pictures, music, camera or microphone. Some capabilities provide applications with access to sensitive resources. These resources are considered sensitive because they can access the user's personal data. You can enable or disable required capabilities manually, if required. By default capabilities are set to auto. If a package contains resources that require specific capabilities, those capabilities are enabled by default **Pic 4**.

th	e MSIX/AppX package dep	loyment sett	ing	j5.
Sene	ral Target Platforms Digi	tal Signature	•	Capabilities
Na	me li.	State		Description
~ (General-use			·
3	D Objects	Auto	÷	Allows applications to have programmatic access to the 3D o
A	AlUoyn	Auto	*	Allows AllJoyn-enabled applications and devices on a networ
A	Appointments	Auto	*	Provides access to the user's appointment store.
E	Background Media Playb	Auto	*	Changes the behavior of the media-specific APIs like the Med.
E	Blocked Chat Messages	Auto	*	Allows applications to read SMS and MMS messages that hav
0	Chat Message Access	Auto	*	Allows applications to read and delete SMS and MMS messag
0	Code generation	Auto	*	Allows applications to access the functions which provide JIT
0	Contacts	Auto	*	Provides access to the aggregated view of the contacts from
0	Custom Devices	Auto	*	Allows applications to access custom devices when some ad
1	Nabal Madia Cashad	A	_	Allow and trading a design of a design of a set of a set of the se

Pic 4. MSIX capabilities configuration

After all the required settings have been configured, either within the **Project Details** view or within the package creation wizard, all you need is to provide a path to the location to save the resulting MSIX/AppX package to and press **Finish**. As soon as the package is created, it is ready for deployment.

MSIX Applications Configuration

To build an MSIX package you need to create at least one MSIX application configuration, where the application represents an MSIX entry point. It specifies an executable file and its startup configuration that is executed when you run the application. This concept is similar to Windows shortcuts, which refers the program executable file and contains configuration of the program execution settings. MSIX application entry is displayed in Windows Start menu after MSIX deployment similarly to shortcuts created after installing a regular Windows application.

If you repackage an existing Windows application into MSIX using monitoring, MSI Package Builder automatically detects all shortcuts and prompts you to select at least one of them as an MSIX application. All settings for the selected shortcut is converted to MSIX application properties automatically.

MSIX applications can be configured on the **MSIX/AppX** tab of **Project Build Properties** for a selected project. **Applications** displays all configured MSIX applications and allows you to add and delete applications using a context menu **Pic 1**.

Project Build Properties							
MSI ^		MSIX/AppX - Applicatio	MSIX/AppX - Applications				
General Properties		ID 🗉	Display Name		Command		
Identification & Ungrade			Adobe Reader 11 [Default]	11 [Default] \${ProgramFilesFolder}\$\Adobe\Reader		der\Act	
identification & opgrade		S AdobeReader11License	Adobe Reader 11 license		\${ProgramFilesFolder}\$\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Read	der\Leg	
Install Options							
Summary Info							
				-2-	New Standard Application		
				6	New Web Application		
Mpp-V	^			~			
					Generate MSIX/AppX Applications		
General Properties				Q	Find Ctrl+F		
Install Options		Application Fixups			Configuration		
Internal Package Info		Name	Apply Scope	Details		Ту	
		Custom Fixup	All Applications	Custom32	2.dll[32-bit], Custom64.dll[64-bit]	Cu	
-		DLL Path Fixup	All Applications	1 DLL sear	rch path	DLI	
MSIX/AppX	^	🔀 Logs Redirection	All Applications	3 redirecti	ions	File	
		Registry Key Access Fixup	All Applications	1 access n	nodification	Reg	
General Properties							
Applications							
Target Platforms							
Capabilities							

Pic 1. MSIX applications

The **Generate MSIX/AppX Applications** action of the context menu allows you to use Windows shortcuts entries of the project to create corresponding MSIX applications automatically. Alternatively, you can create new standard and web application entries and provide the configuration manually.

Standard Application Configuration

When you create a new standard application entry, you need to specify an application **ID** and **Name** to be displayed in the Windows Start menu. The **Target** field sets the path to an executable file. You can set an entry point of the application by selecting a file from those available in the project. The **Parameters** field specifies command-line parameters to be passed to the executable file when you run the application. You can leave them empty or set the required values. The **Working Directory** field sets a directory from those available in the project, to be used as a working directory of the application. The **Run Mode** sets whether the application window should be maximized, minimized or set to normal at start **Pic 2**.

	Powershel	Il Scripts	
ڪر	ID:	AdobeReader11	
	Name:	Adobe Reader 11	
Target:		\${ProgramFilesFolder}\$\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\Act	oF …
Parame	ters:		
Working	g Directory:	\${ProgramFilesFolder}\$\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader	
Run Mo	de:	Normal	¥
		Hide the application from the start menu	
Descript	tion:		
		Change Icon Reset Ico	on

Pic 2. Configuration options of the standard application

You can set a description for the created application and choose the application icon. Click the **Change Icon...** button and choose one of the standard icons available, or specify a path to a file to import an icon from it.

If required, you can configure an MSIX application to run a PowerShell script before the application start or after completion of the application. You can provide the corresponding settings on the **PowerShell Scripts** tab **Pic 3**. Set a path to a script using the **Script File** field. If the script isn't available on the machine where MSIX application will be executed, you can embed the specified script file to deploy the script together with MSIX. The **Script Arguments** field is used to set optional command-line parameters to be passed to the script. **Script Execution Mode** sets a power shell execution option. It is a safety feature that controls the conditions under which PowerShell loads configuration files and runs scripts. Use the execution mode suitable to run the selected script.

New Application X	5
MSIX/AppX Application Settings Specify the MSIX/AppX application ID, target file, execution parameters, working directory and run mode.	
General PowerShell Scripts	
Run the script before application start	
Script File: [SetCustomIconPDF.ps1]	1
Embed the script into the package	1
Script Arguments:	
Script Execution Mode:	
 ✓ Run once Show PowerShell window Wait for the script to finish Execution timeout (sec): 0 ♀ Do not run the application if the script returns an error Run the script after application completion 	
Script File:	1
Script Arguments:	
Script Execution Mode:	
Run once Show PowerShell window	
OK Cancel]

Pic 3. PowerShell scripts configuration

The **Run Once** option allows you to run the script only once, at the first time when MSIX application is executed. If it is enabled, the script isn't executed on the second MSIX execution and all subsequent runs. If the **Show PowerShell** window option is enabled, the PowerShell console will be displayed when the script is running, so you can see the console output.

If you configure a script to run before MSIX application, you can configure the application to wait for the script to finish. The application can wait the script to finish as long as required, or you can set a timeout, so if this timeout is expired, the script is considered to exit with an error. It is possible to set if application execution should be skipped if the script returns an error.

Web Application Configuration

If MSIX deploys a web application, you can configure the web application entry point by creating a new web application configuration **Pic 4**.

ISIX/A Speci	ppX Ap fy the MS	plication So IX/AppX appli	ettings cation ID, na	me and HTML start p	age.
General	ID: Name: ge: [\${Pro	AdobeReado Adobe Read gramFilesFolo	er 11 License er 11 license der}\$\Adobe\	Reader 11.0\Reader\l	Legal\ENU\lic ·
	_ H	ide the applic	ation from th	e start menu	
Descript	tion:				
				Change Icon	Reset Icon
				Change lcon	Reset Icon
				Change lcon	Reset Icon
				Change lcon	Reset Icon
				Change lcon	Reset Icon

Pic 4. Web application configuration

To create a new web application set the application **ID** and the application **Name** to be displayed in Windows Start menu. In the **Start Page** field select an HTML file from those available in the project to be opened in the browser on application start. You can also specify a description and set the application icon if required.

MSIX Fixups

MSIX apps work in a container that restricts access to some of the resources, so MSIX apps should be designed accordingly and don't use the restricted resources. When you package existing applications into MSIX, usually you work with traditional and legacy applications designed with no restrictions. If such an application is packaged to MSIX, it may violate container restrictions. As the result it reports some runtime errors caused by the fact that some resources cannot be accessed in MSIX container environment.

Those legacy applications can be successfully packaged to MSIX, but you need to configure socalled fixups that reconfigure system calls for a running application to comply with the restrictions of the MSIX container. MSIX fixups are based on Package Support Framework (PSF) provided by Microsoft to allow migrating legacy applications to MSIX. If a legacy application crashes at launch after packaging to MSIX, you need to configure fixups for it in the project and generate a new MSIX package to resolve the problem.

Application fixups can be configured on the **MSIX/AppX** tab of **Project Build Properties** for an opened project. You can add and delete fixups using context menu actions in **Application Fixups Pic 1**.

MSI	^	MSIX/Ap	oX - Applicat	ions		
General Properties		ID	h.	Display Name		Command
Identification & Upgrade		AdobeRe	ader11	Adobe Reader 11 [Default]		S{ProgramFilesFolder}S\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\A
Install Options Summary Info		Adoberte	ader i License	Adobe Reader Thirdense		New File Redirection Fixup New Registry Key Access Fixup New DLL Path Fixup
App-V	^					New Custom Fixup
General Properties						Edit X Delete Del
Install Options		Application Fi	cups			🔍 Find Ctrl+F
Internal Package Info		Name	1	Apply Scope	Details	Configuration >
		💡 Custom F	ixup	All Applications	Custom32	2.un(52-Dit), Customo4.un(04-Dit)
~		😰 DLL Path I	Fixup	All Applications	1 DLL sear	rch path E
MSIX/AppX	^	🔀 Logs Redi	rection	All Applications	3 redirecti	ions F
General Properties		Registry K	ey Access Fixup	All Applications	1 access n	modification F
Applications						
Target Platforms						
Capabilities						

Pic 1. MSIX application fixups

MSI Package Builder allows you to configure different types of fixups, such as file redirection, DLL path and so on. You have to use a corresponding fixup, depending on the type of the runtime error reported by the running application. In the following chapters you can learn more about the available fixups.

What's Inside

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

File Redirection Fixup Registry Key Access Fixup DLL Path Fixup Custom Fixup

File Redirection Fixup

MSIX applications work with the virtualized file system (VFS) that provides access to files deployed by the package and to the system files. Access to the system resources is virtualized and redirected to specific locations, so that the application considers that it works with a system resource using a well-known path, while the call is redirected to the corresponding directory in the MSIX package deployment location. MSIX redirects only a predefined list of well-known directories, such as a Windows folder, Program Files folder, etc. If an MSIX application uses a file or folder that isn't redirected, an error is reported when you run the application. To resolve the error you need to create a file redirection fixup that helps MSIX to redirect a referred file. In this case the fixup provides configuration that describes how to redirect file system calls.

To create a fixup choose **New File Redirection Fixup...** in the context menu of **Application Fixups**. In the appeared dialog you can set the fixup settings. Set a name of the fixup in the **Name** filed and enter **Description** if required **Pic 1**. MSIX can contain multiple applications, so you can choose if the created fixup should be applied to **All Applications**, or apply it to specific applications only. Specify an application mask if you want to restrict applications to apply the fixup to. The mask is a regular expression (in the regexp format) to match the application names.

Specify a s	tion Fixun Properties			
opecity of	scope for fixup and redirect	ion settings.		Х;
Name: [Logs Redirection			
Description:				
oply Fixup Se	cope			
All Applica	ations			
Applicatio	ns matching the following	mask		
Fixup Redire	ctions			217
Info	<u>k</u>	Patterns	Exclusior	Read-only
VFS\Progr	ramFilesX64\Adobe\Read	.*\.log		
[Package	drive]\Windows >> [Loc	.*\.log		
	3\System32 >> [LocalAp	.*\.log		

Pic 1. Configuring a file redirection fixup

In **Fixup Redirections** you can specify one or multiple fixups. Click the toolbar buttons or context menu to add or delete fixups. When you create a new fixup, you can select the redirection type on the appeared dialog **Pic 2**.



Pic 2. Select a fixup redirection type

You can redirect resources, located in the package deployment folder, the package deployment drive and in a system folder. Configuration of all of those redirections is described below.

All redirection types have the common configuration settings, including **Pattern** and a couple of options. You can configure one or multiple patterns for each redirection. Patterns are regular expressions (specified in the regexp format) that are matched with the actual file or folder names of the resources to decide if the redirection should be applied for the resource.

How redirection works? When MSIX application makes a Windows API call to work with a file system resource, its path is matched with the base path (specified as **Redirect From**) together with **Patterns**. If the path is matched to the regular expressions, the API call is redirected to the path specified as **Redirect To**.

The **Read-only** option specifies whether the redirected file system resources can be modified. If it is set to true, any changes are forbidden.

The **Do not allow redirection of this pattern match** option allows you to forbid redirection with the matched pattern. This option can be used to prevent redirections.

Package Relative Redirection

This option allows redirecting files and folders, located in the package installation root, to the specified location. Specify a path in the package installation root folder set in the **Redirect From** field, to be matched together with the specified **Patterns** to make a redirection **Pic 3**.

Specify the source folder, destination fold patterns.	er and redirection
Redirect From:	
[Package root folder] \ VFS\ProgramFilesX	64\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Read
Redirect To:	
[LocalAppDataFolder]	
Patterns:	
.*\.log	Add
	Edit
	Remove
Read-only	
	e authora anatah

Pic 3. Package relative redirection configuration

If the pattern matches, the call is redirected to the path specified in the **Redirect To** field. By default it is redirected to LocalAppDataFolder, but you can select any custom path.

Package Drive Relative

You can use this option to redirect files and folders, located on the same drive as the deployed application. The **Redirect From** field allows you to specify a path on the drive to be matched together with **Patterns** with the actual paths to redirect MSIX file system calls **Pic 4**.

Add File Redirection	×
File Redirection Configuration Specify the source folder, destination folder and redirecti patterns.	on
Redirect From:	
[Package drive] \ Windows	
Redirect To:	
[LocalAppDataFolder]	
Patterns:	
."\.log	Add
	Edit
	Remove
Read-only Do not allow redirection operations on this pattern match	'n
ОК	Cancel

Pic 4. Package drive relative redirection configuration

If the pattern matches, the call is redirected. The redirection path is specified in the **Redirect To** field. You can specify a custom path, or the call will be redirected to LocalAppDataFolder if the field is set to empty.

System Folder

Use this option to redirect calls for system folders that aren't redirected automatically. Specify the folder ID or name and specify a subfolder, if required, in the **Redirect From** field **Pic 5**. To redirect a system folder you can specify its GUID as an ID field. You can find a list of GUIDs for system folders in *this atricle*.

Known Folder (ID or Name):	
Windows	
Redirect From:	
[Windows] \ Sys	item32
Redirect To:	
[LocalAppDataFolder]	
Patterns:	
.*\.log	Add
	Edit
	Remove

Pic 5. System folder redirection configuration

If the actual path matches the **Redirect From** together with **Patterns**, the corresponding MSIX file system call will be redirected to the folder specified in the **Redirect To** field.

Registry Key Access Fixup

MSIX applications work in a container with some restrictions, so that full access or write access to some registry keys can be forbidden. Some regular or legacy applications may request full or write access to the registry keys, so when such applications are packaged to MSIX, they report errors when trying to access registry. You can resolve this problem using the registry key access fixup. This fixup modifies certain registry calls that do not work due to the MSIX container restrictions, by modifying the call parameters to a form that would be allowed. Note that it doesn't guarantee that the application could work, but it helps in many cases.

The registry key access fixup changes Windows API calls for accessing registry keys to remove permissions restricted by MSIX container. To create a fixup you need to specify a fixup **Name** and can set **Description** Pic 1. The fixup can be applied to all or specific MSIX applications only, so you can set a mask to configure applications to apply the fixup to.

New	Registry Key Ac	cess Fixup				×
Reg	istry Key Ac Specify a scope	cess Fixup for the fixup	Properties and registry access	modification	s.	8
Nam	ie: Registr	y Key Access	Fixup			
Desc	ription:					
Appl	y Fixup Scope					
•	All Applications					
04	Applications ma	tching the fo	llowing mask:			
Reg	Registry Access Modifications					PPX
	Root Key	Туре	Key Patterns			
2	HKEY_LOCAL	Full2RW	Software\\Adob	e.*		
					OK	Cancel

Pic 1. Creating a registry key access fixup

A fixup can include one or multiple configurations provided in **Registry Access Modifications**. To add a new configuration you need to click the **Add Registry Key Access** button on the toolbar or select the corresponding item in the context menu. In the appeared dialog you can set a configuration of the registry access modification **Pic 2**.

Add Registry Key Acce	55	×
Registry Key Acco Specify a root key	ess Configuration , an access modification and key patterns.	P
Root Key:	HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE	*
Access Modification:	Full2RW	×
Key Patterns:		
Software\\Adobe.*		Add
		Edit
		Remove
	OK	Cancel

Pic 2. Registry key access configuration

To set a configuration you need to select **Root Key** to apply the configuration. Specify one or multiple **Key Patterns** that are represented as regular expressions (use the regexp format) and select **Access Modification Option**. If the MSIX application makes a Windows API call in the specified root key and the accessed registry key matches one of the configured key patterns, the configured access modification is applied.

The following access modifications are supported:

Access Modification	Description
Full2RW	If full access is requested, modify to allow read-write access
Full2R	If full access is requested, modify to allow read access
Full2MaxAllow ed	If full access is requested, modify to set maximum allowed
RW2R	If read-write access is requested, modify to allow read access
RW2MaxAllow ed	If read-write access is requested, modify to set maximum allowed

DLL Path Fixup

This fixup type allows configuring folders where DLL files should be looked for. If an application packaged to MSIX needs to load DLL files from locations restricted in MSIX container, you can use this fixup to resolve DLL loading errors.

To create a DLL path fixup you need to specify the fixup **Name** and set **Description** if required. If the fixup should be applied to all applications, set the corresponding option, otherwise specify a mask to select applications for which the fixup should be applied **Pic 1**.

New DLL Pat	h Fixup	×
DLL Path F Specify t	ixup Properties he paths for applications to search their DLL's in.	\$
Name:	DLL Path Fixup	
Description:		
Apply Fixup	Scope	
All Appli	cations	
Applicati	ons matching the following mask:	
DLL Search	Paths	📕 🖉 🗙
Path		
S{Progra	mFilesFolder}\$\Adobe\Reader 11.0	
	O	K Cancel

Pic 1. DLL path fixup configuration

To configure this fixup you need to select one or multiple paths where DLLs should be located. You can choose the folders available in the project Pic 2.

Select DLL Search Folder	×
DLL Search Folder Path Select a folder to be added to the DLL Search Path configuration of the specified fixup.	
CommonProgramMenuFolder ProgramFilesFolder Adobe Reader 11.0 SystemFolder WindowsFolder WindowsVolume	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 2. Select DLL search folders

When the fixup is applied, the MSIX application will load DLLs from the specified folders.

Custom Fixup

In some cases existing fixups don't allow you to meet the requirements and resolve errors caused by the restricted access to resources in the MSIX container. In this case you can create a custom fixup that meets technical requirements of Package Support Framework (PSF). A custom fixup allows you to apply the created fixup for an MSIX package.

To create a custom fixup you need to specify its **Name** and set **Description** if required. You need to specify a fixup scope, so it should be applied to all applications or those applications that match the specified mask. The mask should be provided as a regular expression (in the regexp format) **Pic 1**.

New Custom Fi	ixup	×
Custom Fixu Specify a fi	p Properties xup scope, fixup binaries and configuration.	Y
Name:	ustom Fixup	
Description:		
Apply Fixup Sc All Applica Application	ope tions as matching the following mask:	
32-bit module:	[Custom32.dll]	··· 🗙
64-bit module:	[Custom64.dll]	··· 🗙
Configuration	File: [config.json]	
	ОК	Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring a custom fixup

A fixup should be specified as DLL files for 32-bit and 64-bit environments. These modules must be created and compiled to DLL files that meet the technical requirements of PSF. You also have to provide a JSON configuration file. Refer the PSF documentation for the details about the configuration format.

App-V Packaging

Microsoft Application Virtualization (App-V) for Windows allows deploying applications in real-time to any client from a virtual application server. Virtual applications are installed on a virtualization server and are delivered (streamed) to clients on demand. App-V thus allows centralized installation and management of deployed applications. It supports policy based access control; administrators can define and restrict access to the applications by certain users, or on certain computers, by defining policies governing the usage.

With a streaming-based implementation, the App-V client needs to be installed on the client machines. Users launch virtual applications from familiar access points and interact with them as if they were installed locally.

Using MSI Package Builder you can create App-V packages from scratch or repackage existing Windows applications into App-V packages. You can use installations monitoring to package existing installations into App-V packages. The repackaging process is identical to repackaging into MSI, described in the previous chapters.

What's Inside

Creating an App-V Package
Creating an App-V Package

MSI Package Builder supports virtualization by repackaging existing installations into App-V packages. The App-V package can be created during an installation repackaging process or manually from an existing regular MSI Package Builder installation project.



Create App-V Package

The **Create App-V Package** button from the **Builder** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to generate an App-V package based on the selected project.

To create an App-V package manually, you can use the **Create App-V Package** item from the **Projects** view pop-up menu or from the **Builder** group on the **Home** Ribbon page. When an App-V package is created based on a project, the options for the package created are filled automatically using the values defined in the **Project Details** view, while during the repackaging process they are defined on-line, and then saved to the created project. Let us take a look at the available options and describe each one starting with the general product information **Pic 1**.

eneral Instal	Options Support Information
App-V Path:	C:\msi\Adobe Reader 11.appv
Product Name	Adobe Reader Platform: x64
Manufacturer:	Alex Delorian - Icon:
anguage:	English (United States) Version: 11.0.3.37
Package GUID Description:	{4A5037E3-96E0-4DD4-83A8-88465C2AD9FC}

Pic 1. Specifying general App-V package information

The general information consists of the **Product Name**, **Platform**, **Manufacturer**, **Icon**, **Language** and **Version**. The product name, manufacturer and icon are used to display the product on the system. The platform is used to define if the installer is deploying an x86 or an x64 application. The **Language** field is responsible for defining the language and the encoding used by the installer package.

The version is the most important field of the general information because it is responsible for a correct package installation and upgrade. That means that every time you prepare an updated package using the same project you should change its version to a higher one. And it is also displayed on the system.

The **Package GUID** is responsible for the package identification. It is generated automatically by default and is never changed in most cases. The **Description** field is used to provide a description for the package.

General Install Options S	upport Information	
Supported Operating Syste	ms: All Operating Systems	-
COM Objects Interaction:	Isolated	÷
	Allow in-process COM to interact with the local system	
	 Allow out-of-process COM to interact with the local system 	
Allow named objects t	o interact with the local system	
_	 A Residue and a final standard file states 	
Allow virtual application	ins full write permissions to the virtual file system	
Allow virtual application	ins full write permissions to the virtual file system	
Allow virtual application	ns full write permissions to the virtual file system	
Allow virtual application	ns full write permissions to the virtual file system	

Pic 2. Configuring the Install Options

The next aspect of an App-V package configuration is the install options Pic 2. You can specify the list of supported operating systems and set up the level of interaction of the virtual application with the underlying operating system.

General	Install Options S	support Information		
√ Ove	rride common sup	port info configuration	Change common co	nfiguration Reset to commo
2 0 1 1 1 0	Contact Phone Online Support Jpdate Info URL Help File URL Manufacturer URL Comments	alex.delorian@dreamlight.org +1 646 255-1267 http://dreamlight.org	9	

Pic 3. Defining Support and Summary Information

The last thing to define, which is also optional, is a set of support and summary properties. Those are available in the package properties and are displayed on the system. You can use the properties defined in the program preferences or override them for this package.

After all the required settings have been configured, either within the **Project Details** view or within the package creation wizard, all you need is to provide a path to the location to save the resulting App-V package to and press **Finish**. As soon as the package is created, it is ready for deployment.

Signing Packages

Digitally signing files helps protect against changes to a file by validating that a hash of the current file matches the hash stored in the digital signature. Digital signatures also help verify that a package came from a particular publisher by encrypting the hash with the publisher's private key. Verifying the signature using the publisher's public key or a trusted certificate authority that signed their public key validates the publisher.

You can sign Windows Installer packages to help guarantee that users know if your packages have been modified and that they came from you, the publisher. Windows Installer validates that a package hasn't been changed if it contains a digital signature when attempting to install it. Properly signed MSI packages can be installed via GPO even within the environments with strict security policies. As for an MSIX/AppX package, it is required to be digitally signed to be deployed.

About Digital Signatures

A digital signature is based on a signing certificate. A certificate is a set of data that completely identifies an entity, and is issued by a certification authority only after that authority has verified the entity's identity. The data set includes the entity's public cryptographic key. When the publisher of a package signs the package with its private key, the installer can use the publisher's public key to verify the publisher's identity.

In order to perform a package signing operation, both private key and signer identification information must be supplied. The digital certificate used in the signature usually supplies the signer identification information, however. Thus, the private key must be supplied through some other means. Additionally, the signature must include the certificate chain for the cryptographic service provider (CSP), up to a root certificate trusted by the user, in order for the signed file to be authenticated. So in all, there are several items that need to be provided in order to generate a digital signature.

Microsoft has developed a certificate store technology to reduce the above complexity. Using this technology, when a user enrolls to obtain a certificate, they specify the private key information, the CSP information, and the certificate store name for the certificate. The certificate will then be stored in the certificate store and be associated with the other items. When the user wants to sign a package, they only need to identify the certificate in the certificate store. The code-signing tool will retrieve the certificate, the private key, and the certificate chain for the CSP, all based on the specified certificate.

When signing a package, a trusted time server is used to generate a time stamp for a digital signature. This is performed, to guarantee that the package is signed with the certificate that is neither expired not revoked.

Requirements for a Digital Certificate

For a digital certificate to be used by MSI Package Builder for signing the generated packages, the following set of requirements must be met:

- 1. The certificate must include the **Code Signing (1.3.6.1.5.5.7.3.3)** within its Intended Purpose.
- 2. The certificate's **Valid From** date must be less and the **Valid To** date must be greater than the package signing date.

If you would like to use the certificate from certificates storage:

- 1. The digital certificate must be placed in the **Current User** certificates storage.
- 2. Both the private key and the signer identification information must be supplied.
- 3. The private key must be available together with the signing certificate in the certificate storage. In case you have a private key in a separate file, please use the tool provided by Microsoft for preparing the a private & public key pair for importing into the certificates storage as described here: Pvk2Pfx, Combine PVK + SPC to PFX.

In case the digital certificate does not meet the above-stated requirements, MSI Package Builder will not suggest that you use it for signing packages.

Configuring Packages Signing

MSI Package Builder allows you both to define the common packages signing configuration to be used for adding digital signatures to generated MSI packages and to override those settings for specific projects. The common digital signing options are specified on the **Packages Signing** preference page **Pic 1**, and the overriding feature can be used either when creating an MSI package, creating an MSIX/AppX package or in the **Project Details** view.

Preferences		×	:
MSI Package Builder	~	Package Signing	
Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface		MSI Package Builder allows you to sign generated MSI packages to help guarantee that users know if your files have been modified and that they came from you. Here you can configure the signing options.	
		Digital Signature	
Filters Monitoring File Filters Monitoring Registry Filters	^	Specify if you would like to sign generated MSI packages. To be able to sign a package, you should select the certificate to be used for generating the signature from the certificate store and choose the time server used for generating a digital signature time stamp. Sign packages with a digital signature	
Monitoring Process Filters Uninstall File Filters		Select certificate from store: EMCO Sign Certificate	
Uninstall Registry Filters		Select certificate from file:	2
iscellaneous	^	Use auto-generated self-signed certificate:	
General Settings		Certificate password:	2
Layouts Proxy Settings		How to install an auto-generated self-signed certificate?	
		Timestamp Service (URL):	-
		Restore Defaults Apply	
Restore Defaults		OK Cancel	

Pic 1. Configuring the package signing options

In any case, if you enable the packages signing, you are suggested to select the signing certificate to be used for creating a digital signature and choose the time server for generating a digital signature time stamp.

The required certificate can be selected from those installed to the above-mentioned certificate storage. To select the certificate from store, check the **Select certificate from store** radio button

and press the button within the following field. The dialog will be displayed to let you choose the certificate from those available. When choosing the certificate, you can press the **View Certificate** button on the toolbar to view detailed information on the selected certificate. This information dialog

can also be reached via the \square button from the certificate choosing field when the certificate is already specified. To reset the certificate, you can use the \square button.

If you would like to use the certificate stored within the private information exchange (pfx) file,

check the **Select certificate from file** radio button press the The file browser dialog will appear on the screen to let you provide the path to the file. Normally, private keys in pfx files are password encrypted, so you're going to be prompted for the password to use the certificate from the specified file for signing packages. The same as for the certificates

chosen from store, you can open the certificate information dialog via the \square button from the certificate choosing field and reset the certificate via the \square button.

If you do not have a required certificate, as a workaround it is possible to generate a self-signed certificate for the package being generated. In such a case the pfx file containing the automatically generated certificate will be placed next to the generated package and must be installed on the client machines before deploying the package. Please refer to the How to install the auto-generated self-signed certificate? section for details. To use the described approach, check the **Use auto-generated self-signed certificate** radio button and provide the password to protect private key to the **Certificate password** field.

As for the time server, you can either choose the one from those predefined in the **Time Server** field or provide the address of another trusted server that can generate a time stamp for digital signatures. A time stamp should always be added when signing a package. Although it is strongly recommended that a digital signature time stamp be added immediately when signing packages with MSI Package Builder, you can leave the **Time Server** field empty, thus skipping the time stamping. In case a time stamp is not added, it is possible to time stamp a signed package in future with the help of the sign tool.

If the package signing is enabled, MSI Package Builder will add a digital signature using the specified signing certificate and chosen time server when a package is generated. If there are any problems occurred during the signing process, they are added to the **Log** view.

Project Files Signing

When the package signing is enabled, the program signs a generated package, but you can configure the program also to sign the files deployed by the package. You can configure files to be signed in **Project Build Properties**. Select a project in the **Projects** view and open the **General** tab of the build properties. In the **Digital Signature** section you can find the list of files configured for signing. By default, the program signs the generated package only, but you can add the project files for signing **Pic 2**.

General	^	General - Digital Signature			
Product Details		✓ Override common package signing c	onfiguration	Change common configuration	Reset to common
Digital Signature		✓ Sign the package with a digital sig	gnature		
Product Support Informa	tion	Select certificate from store:	EMCO Sign Certificate		= X
		Select certificate from file:	D:\Install\Sign\EMCO.pfx		🗮 🗙
SI MSI	^	Use auto-generated self-sign	ed certificate:		
General Properties		Certificate password:			(°
Identification & Upgrade		How to install an auto-generated self-signed certificate?			
Install Options		Timestamp Service (URL): http://	/timestamp.verisign.com/scripts/timstamp	.dll	Ŧ
Summary Info		Files configured for signing:			
		✓ Project files			Add File
App-V	~	S{ProgramFilesFolder}&Adobe\Re	eader 11.0\Reader\AcroRd32.dll		Remove
whh.		S{ProgramFilesFolder}S\Adobe\Re	eader 11.0\Reader\AcroRd32.exe		
General Properties		Package output files			
Install Options		Generated package			
Internal Daskage Infe					
internal Package Info					
	~				

Pic 2. Signing project files

Press the **Add File** button and select a file available in the project, to add it to the list of files to be signed during the package generation. You can select EXE, DLL or SYS files because these file types support digital signing. To delete a file from the list, select it and press the **Remove** button.

How to install the auto-generated self-signed certificate

When using auto-generated self-singed certificate, it should be installed on client Machines before deploying generated packages. The following steps should be followed to install the certificate:

- 1. Double click the auto-generated pfx file. The **Certificate Import Wizard** will appear on the screen.
- 2. Select the Local Machine store and press Next.

÷	🚰 Certificate Import Wizard	×
	Welcome to the Certificate Import Wizard	
	This wizard helps you copy certificates, certificate trust lists, and certificate revocation lists from your disk to a certificate store.	
	A certificate, which is issued by a certification authority, is a confirmation of your identity and contains information used to protect data or to establish secure network connections. A certificate store is the system area where certificates are kept.	
	Store Location	
	O gurrent User	
	● Local Machine	
	To continue, click Next.	
	Sext Cancel	

3. Double check that you are importing the certificate from the appropriate pfx file and press **Next**.

File to Import	
Specify the file you want to import.	
Ele errer	
C:\appx\EMCO.pfx	Browse
Note: More than one certificate can be stored	in a single file in the following formats:
Personal Information Exchange- PKCS #12 ((.PFX,.P12)
Cryptographic Message Syntax Standard - P	KCS #7 Certificates (.P78)
Microsoft Serialized Certificate Store (.SST)	

4. Provide the password you have specified in the **Certificate password** field to the **Password** field and press **Next**.

riv	ate key protection
	To maintain security, the private key was protected with a password.
	Type the password for the private key.
	Password:
	••••
	Display Password
	Import options:
	Snable strong private key protection. You will be prompted every time the private key is used by an application if you enable this option.
	Mark this key as exportable. This will allow you to back up or transport your keys at a later time.
	Protect private key using virtualized-based security(Non-exportable)

5. Select the **Place all certificates to the following store** radio button, press the **Browse** button and choose the **Trusted People** store. Then press **Next**.

Certificate Store	
Certificate stores are system areas where certificates are kept.	
Windows can automatically select a certificate store, or you can specify a location for the certificate.	
O Automatically select the certificate store based on the type of certificate	
Place all certificates in the following store	
Certificate store:	
Trusted People Browse	

6. After checking the import settings on the final wizard page, press **Finish**.

As soon as the certificate is imported to the **Trusted People** store, the packages signed with the certificate are considered trusted thus fully secure, so you can successfully install MSI packages signed with such certificate via GPO. To allow deploying MSIX/AppX packages signed with the autogenerated certificate, it is also required to enable the **Developer mode** in the Windows settings **Pic 3**.

← Settings	- O X
· Strangs	
යි Home	For developers
Find a setting	Use developer features
Update & Security	These settings are intended for development use only.
	Learn more
C Windows Update	O Microsoft Store apps
별 Delivery Optimization	Only install apps from the Microsoft Store.
Windows Security	Sideload apps Install apps from other sources that you trust, like your
→ Backup	workplace.
	Developer mode
2 ³ Troubleshoot	Install any signed and trusted app and use advanced
T Recovery	development features.
O Activation	Enable Device Portal
A Find my device	Turn on remote diagnostics over local area network connections.
第 For developers	Off Off
😸 Windows Insider Program	Device discovery

Pic 3. Enabling the Developer mode

As you can see, using a self-singed certificate as a workaround has a set of limitations, but allows you to get a signed packaged that can be trusted within your organization or by specific PCs only.

Chapter 6: Installation Projects

MSI Package Builder is a project based program – this means that all data is grouped by the projects, that are displayed in the **Projects** view. The interesting feature of the projects structure is that you can close the project if it is not needed right now then reopen it again. This allows you to keep the **Projects** view in an actual state during the everyday work.

MSI Package Builder supports various project types depending on the program edition. All editions support regular projects, while the Enterprise and Architect editions also handle projects with wrapped packages, useful for repackaging installations via wrapping. You can identify the project type by its icon, displayed in the **Projects** tree, **Projects** Storage, and the **Welcome** view.

- A regular project includes file system, registry, and other changes to be applied to the system upon package deployment.
- A project containing wrapped packages. These packages are installed and uninstalled when you install and uninstall the packages containing them.

A regular project contains the information on file system, registry and other modifications – the deployment package based on the project will perform these modifications during the installation on the computer. The project stores all configuration options, required to create a deployment package between sessions. That makes it easier to manage updates. So, for example, if you have upgrade enabled in the project settings, all you need to create an updated package is to define the required modifications, change the version and provide another product GUID – everything else is already configured.

The MSI Package Builder Professional edition allows you to define file system, registry, and assembly changes for MSI packages. The Enterprise and Architect editions not only include these features but also offer advanced options. These additional options enable you to modify user and system environment variables, manage Windows services, configure printers, deploy drivers, create firewall settings, and handle scheduled tasks.

In this chapter we will take a closer look on the project structure, will show you how you can define the changes, specify actions to be performed during the package deployment, provide installations to be deployed together with the package and will guide you through the process of manual MSI package creation. This part is for those who want to fully understand the concept of MSI Package Builder and be able to use all available advanced features.

What's Inside

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

Projects Management

File System Modifications

Registry Modifications

Environment Variables Modifications

Services Modifications

Side-by-side Assemblies Deployment

Drivers Deployment

Printers Deployment

Windows Firewall Modifications

Scheduled Tasks Modifications

Nested Packages Deployment

Using Custom Actions

Wrapping Existing Installations

Using Placeholders

Exporting a Project

Importing a Project

Projects Management

MSI Package Builder is a project based program, so a project is a main structure unit. Manage your projects from the **Projects** view, accessible by clicking the Projects button on the navigation bar on the left side of the main screen or by selecting the **Projects** button on the **View** tab of the Ribbon. While repackaging installations the required projects are created automatically, but it is also possible to create projects manually to be used for generating deployment packages. The projects that are not currently in use are closed, thus are not available in the **Projects** tree. On each program start up, all projects are closed, and then you can open any project from those available to start working with it. Let us take a closer look on the projects management process, including creating, renaming, closing, opening and deleting projects.

MSI Package Builder saves all projects within a designated projects storage folder on the file system. Each project is contained within its own sub-folder, which includes all the necessary components, such as file system changes, registry changes, drivers, and other contents required to generate an output package. You can administer the contents of the project storage from the **Projects** view. This view features the **Projects** tree and contains the **Projects Storage** node - select this node to manage the storage **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. Projects Storage

Selecting the **Projects Storage** node in the **Projects** tree displays the contents of the project storage on the right side of the screen. Here, the path to the project storage folder is shown, with the default folder pre-selected. You have the flexibility to manage multiple storage folders and switch between them as needed. To introduce a new storage folder, click the the new storage path. To alternate between existing folders, click the button.

Please be aware that extensive installations may encompass thousands of files and consequently necessitate adequate disk space for storing installation changes. A chart on the right side of the screen visualizes the free and used space on your disk, enabling you to ascertain the available free space for your projects.

Projects Storage displays a list of projects within the selected storage folder, allowing you to locate and either open a project for editing or delete it if necessary. Double-clicking a project will open it for editing in the **Projects** tree. Upon selection, a project's key details are shown, including product name, manufacturer, version, and the dates of creation and last modification. The available actions enable you to open or delete the selected project, export it as a file or to initiate the creation of a new project.

Main Project Actions

To manage projects in storage, use the actions available when the **Projects Storage** node is selected in the **Projects** tree. These actions include creating, opening, or deleting a project. While these options are accessible in the **Projects** view, you can also manage projects from any screen using the **Home** tab on the Ribbon. Actions such as the **Project Setup** button and those in the **Project Management** group offer additional project management capabilities, detailed below.



Project Setup

The **Project Setup** button from the **Wizards** group on the **Home** Ribbon page opens the project setup wizard, that can be used as an entry point both for managing MSI Package Builder projects and creating deployment packages on the basis of those projects.

To make it easier to create new projects (both empty and bases on an existing deployment packages), open existing projects, and create a deployment package based on an opened project we have designed a **Project Setup Wizard Pic 2**. To open this wizard, just press the **Project Setup** button from the **Wizards** group on the **Home** Ribbon page.

Project Setup Wizard	¢
Project Management Choose if you would like to create a new project, open any of the projects available from the projects storage, or create a deployment package based on any of the opened projects.	
Create Empty Project	
Use this option to create a new project having provided the project name. The created project should bused to define the changes to be performed by the deployment package.	e
Open Existing Project	
This option should be chosen if you would like to open a single project or multiple projects from those available in the projects storage. You can create a deployment packages based on any of those projects	i.
Create Package	
This option allows you to generate a deployment package using any MSI Package Builder project from those available having provided the required package properties.	
O Import Project	
This option should be used to import an existing project or to create a new project based on the existin installation package.	9
< Back Next > Finish Cancel	

Pic 2. The Project Setup Wizard

The first page of the wizard is used to introduce its abilities to you, and on the next page you are able to choose the action you would like to perform. It is possible to choose between the following options: **Create Empty Project, Open Existing Projects, Create Package** and **Import Package**.

The **Create Empty** Project option allows you to create a new project with empty content. When you select this option, you must choose whether you want to create a project for a regular installation or a wrapped package. This selection will result in the creation of a project with corresponding sections and empty content. You can use this option if you intend to configure a project manually.

The **Open Existing** Projects option allows you to open a project for editing. After selecting this option, you should choose one or multiple projects from the project storage to add them to the **Projects** tree.

The **Create Package** option allows you to generate a deployment package using any project from those currently opened. For detailed information on the MSI package creation, refer to the Creating an MSI Package section of this document, for the App-V packages creation process, you can refer to the Creating an App-V Package section, and, as for the MSIX/AppX packages creation process, refer the Creating an MSIX/AppX Package section.

The **Import Package** option should be used if you would like to create a new project, containing all the changes to be performed by an existing deployment package created with MSI Package Builder. This can be useful, if you need to change the package you have generated earlier but the original project is no longer available. Detailed information on the package import is available in the **Importing Package** section of this document.

Instead of using the wizard, you can use one of the actions available in the **Project Management** group on the **Home** tab of the Ribbon. These actions allow you to perform operations by selecting the required action on the Ribbon.

New

New

The **New** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to create a new project.

The **New Project** dialog will appear on the screen **Pic 3**. The same pane is also displayed if you choose the **Create Empty Project** option in the **Project Setup Wizard** or choosing the corresponding option on the **Welcome** view.

Project Setup Wizard				×		
Project Properties Specify a name for the project to be created. The cr a deployment package.	eated project o	can be used in fu	iture for generating	—		
Project Name: AdobeReader						
Choose if you would like to create a regular installation used for wrapping existing installations into an MSI pac	project for ger kage.	nerating a deplo	yment package or a	project		
 Regular Installation Choose this type to create a project that explicitly describes the changes to the file system, the registry and other parts of the operating system that can be used in future for creating deployment packages. Wrapped Packages This project type should be chosen if you would like to create a project for wrapping existing executable installations into an MSI package generated on a basis of the project. 						
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel		

Pic 3. Creating a new project

You are suggested to specify a name for the project to be created and the project type. You should pay enough attention to a project name; it will help you to identify the project in future. As for the project type, you are suggested to choose between the regular repackaging project and the project for wrapping existing installations into a single MSI package.



Open

The **Open** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page allows you to open projects available in the projects storage.

When you close MSI Package Builder all the projects you were working with are automatically closed too. It is also possible to close projects manually – this will be described further. If you want to continue working with those projects that were closed, you should open them again.

The links to the projects you have used recently are available in the **Application Menu** and in the **Recent Projects** group of the **Welcome View**. To open any of those projects, simply click on a link.

To open projects, choose the **Open Project** item from the **Projects** view pop-up menu or press the **Open** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page. Alternatively, you can click the **Open Project** link in the **Recent Projects** group on the **Welcome View**. The **Open Project** dialog will appear on the screen **Pic 4**. The same pane is also displayed if you choose the **Open Existing Projects** option in the **Project Setup** wizard.

Project Setup Wizard ×
 Open Existing Project Select the projects to open from those available in the projects storage. These projects can be used in future for generating a deployment package.
Available Projects X Q
Name
INET Framework 4.5
🔯 Adobe Package
🔛 Adobe Packages
Adobe Reader
Adobe Reader 9
🔯 Drives
Firefox
Fonts Installation
LibreOffice
🔯 Manager Toolkit
MSI Package Builder Shortcut
M Office 8.0
< Back Next > Finish Cancel

Pic 4. Opening existing projects

You can select both single and multiple projects in the **Available Projects** table to be opened at the same time. It is also possible to delete a project from the projects storage, if it is no longer needed by using the **Delete Projects** button from the toolbar.

Close

Close The Close button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to close the selected projects, thus remove them from the Projects view.



Close All

The **Close All** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** ribbon page allows you to close all currently opened projects, thus remove them from the Projects view.

MSI Package Builder provides you with an ability of always keeping the **Projects** view in an actual state. You can always close the projects you are not going to work with right now and they will be removed from the view, but they still exist so you can reopen any of them to continue working with them anytime you want. To close the project select it in the **Projects** view and choose the **Close** item from the pop-up menu, or press the **Close** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** ribbon page. It is also possible to close all the currently opened projects at once using the **Close All** button.



Rename

The **Rename** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to provide a new name for the selected project.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

You can face a situation when the name you have given to a project is no longer actual or you have mistakenly provided a wrong name during the project creation. It is not a problem – with MSI Package Builder you can rename the project easily any time you want. Just double click the project, or select it and press the **Rename** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page. The **Rename Project** dialog will appear on the screen, where you can provide a new name for the project **S**.

Renam	e Project	×
Projec Spo you	ct Properties ccify a name for this project. Providing a meaningful name can help a to identify this project.	
Name:	Adobe Reader	
	ОК	ancel

Pic 5. Renaming a project

The important limitation for a project name is that it must be unique. Thus, it is not possible to rename the project, if the project with the same name as specified already exists (even if it is now closed).



Delete

The **Delete** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page allows you to delete the selected projects from the projects storage.

The projects created in MSI Package Builder can require much space on the hard drive, but it is always possible to delete the project from the storage if it is no longer needed. To delete the project select it in the **Projects** view and choose the **Delete** item from the pop-up menu or press the **Delete** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page.



After you have deleted a project it is not possible to restore it any more. Make sure that the project is no longer needed before deleting it.

Now you are introduced to the project management features and should be able to organize your MSI Package Builder projects the way that will fit your needs best.

File System Modifications

The file system modifications are the changes to be performed by a generated package during its deployment to the file system on a target PC. Those changes can include files and folders creation or deletion, file content modification and shortcuts creation. The file system modifications are displayed in the **File System** view when the **File System** node of a project is selected in the **Projects** view. The changes performed during the monitoring process are added to the file system modifications automatically and can be edited only after the project is prepared. Let us take a closer look at configuring file system modifications.

System Folders and Drives

Each file system modification is defined with a full path of the resource, so to add a file you should also define the whole file path. Each path is routed either with a logical drive or with a system folder object. The logical drive simply represents the drive letter, and the system folder object is used to define one of the available system folders. You can review a list of system folders in the **System Folder Definition Placeholders** section of this document.



System Folder

The **System Folder** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page should be used to add a new system folder object to the currently configured project.



Drive

The **Drive** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page should be used to add a new logical drive to the currently configured project.

To add a new logical drive definition, you should either choose the **New Drive** item from the pop-up menu, or click the **Drive** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **File System** Ribbon pages. Within the **New Drive** dialog, you are suggested to choose a drive letter **Pic 1**.

New Drive	×		
Drive Name Choose the drive name to be used for defining a set of changes to files and folders.			
Drive Name: D	Ť		
0	Cancel		

Pic 1. Adding a logical drive definition to a project

As soon as the drive is added, you can define modifications to files and folders on this drive.

Mostly the programs are installed to specific folders, and the shortcuts are created within the specific folders, that are operating system specific. To reach the same behavior you should use the system folders. To add a new system folder definition to the file system modifications, either choose the **New System Folder** menu item, or click the **System Folder** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **File System** Ribbon pages. Within the **New System Folder** dialog, you are suggested to choose a system folder to add to the project **2**.

oose System Folder Review the list of available syst select the system folder refere	tem folder definitions with detailed information on each pl nce you would like to add to the project.	aceholder that can be used and
System Folder	Description	Path on this PC
AdminToolsFolder	The file system directory that is used to store administr	C:\Users\Alex\AppData\Roaming\Mic.
AppDataFolder	The Application Data folder for the current user.	C:\Users\Alex\AppData\Roaming
CommonAdminToolsFolder	The file system directory that contains administrative t	C:\ProgramData\Microsoft\Windows\.
CommonAppDataFolder	The Application Data for all users.	C:\ProgramData
CommonDesktopFolder	The Desktop folder for all users.	C:\Users\Public\Desktop
CommonDocumentsFolder	The file system directory that contains documents that	C:\Users\Public\Documents
CommonFiles64Folder	The 64-bit Common Files folder for the current user.	C:\Program Files\Common Files
CommonFilesFolder	The Common Files folder for the current user.	C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files
CommonStartMenuFolder	The Start menu folder for all users.	C:\ProgramData\Microsoft\Windows\.
CommonStartupFolder	The Startup folder for all users.	C:\ProgramData\Microsoft\Windows\.
CurrentUserProfileFolder	The current user's profile folder.	C:\Users\Alex
DesktopFolder	The Desktop folder.	C:\Users\Alex\Desktop
FavoritesFolder	The Favorites folder for the current user.	C:\Users\Alex\Favorites
FontsFolder	The Fonts folder.	C:\Windows\Fonts

Pic 2. Adding a system folder to a project

As soon as the system folder is added, you can define modifications to files and folders in this folder. Each system folder is expanded to a full path during a generated package deployment.



Folder

The **Folder** button from the **New** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page should be used to create a new folder modification within the selected path.

Ð
Sync

Sync Folder

The **Sync Folder** button from the **New** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page can be used to create a new folder, which content is synchronized with the selected folder on the file system.



File

The **File** button from the **New** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page should be used to create a new file modification within the selected path.



Shortcut

The **Shortcut** button from the **New** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page allows you to create a new shortcut to any target from this project in the selected path.

MSI Package Builder allows you to define which files and folders should be created, modified or deleted during a deployment package installation.

Folders

To add a new folder modification, select the drive, folder or system folder to add modification to, and either choose the **New > Folder** item from the pop-up menu, or press the **Folder** button from the **New** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page. The **New Folder** dialog will appear on the screen to configure the folder modification **Pic 3**.

New Folder	×
Folder Properties Specify the folder name, choose the operation to be performed to the folder during the package deployment and provide the path to the folder content, if required.	
General Advanced Options Security	
Name: Adobe	
Operation: Create -	
Attach content to this folder	
Content Path:	
Collect permissions from the file system	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 3. Adding a folder modification to a project

While configuring a folder modification, you should specify a folder name and an operation to be performed over this folder during a deployment package installation. You can choose between the **Create**, **Modify** and **Delete** operations. For the folder creation and modification, you can attach content to this folder, using the file system import. Just check the **Attach content to this folder** option and provide a path to the folder to import its content. If you need to set file system attributes to be applied to the folder, you can configure these attributes on the **Advanced Options** tab. On the **Security** tab, you can specify the permissions to be explicitly assigned to this folder.

Sync Folders

When you add a folder and prepare the project, the folder contents is copied into the project storage, as described in the **Project Preparation** chapter. The project storage is used to generate an output package. So when you add a regular folder, its content is copied to the storage when the project is prepared, but after preparation folder changes aren't reflected in the generated package.

A sync folder allows you to add a folder to the project and let the program use the folder content to generate a package. Any external changes in the folder contents will be reflected in the package generated. To add a new sync folder choose the **New > Sync Folder** item from the pop-up menu, or press the **Sync Folder** button from the **New** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page. The **New Sync Folder** dialog will appear on the screen to configure the folder modification **Pic 4**.

lew Sync Fo	der	×
Sync Folde Specify a synchror	r Properties name of the sync folder, set a path to the folder to synchronize with and set ization options.	0
General Ad	vanced Options Security	
Name:	sync-folder	
Sync Path:	c:\customization	
Mode:	Files and Folders Regex Mask:	
	Collect permissions from the file system	
Operation:	Create ~	
	ОК	Cancel

Pic 4. Adding a sync folder modification to a project

A sync folder has the same parameters as a regular folder, but additionally you need to specify a **Sync Path** to the folder used to provide content to the generated package. The **Mode** option allows you to retrieve files only, or files and folders that are stored in the sync folder. The **Regex Mask** option allows you to specify a regular expression to retrieve folder entries. Only resources matching these options will be added to the generated package.

Once a sync folder is added to the project, you can see its content retrieved from the file system according with the configured options. If the sync folder content is changed on the file system, you can refresh it in the project by choosing the **Synchronize** option in the context menu for the sync folder.

Files

To add a new file modification, select the drive, folder or system folder to add modification to, and either choose the **New > File** item from the pop-up menu, or press the **File** button from the **New** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page. The **New File** dialog will appear on the screen to configure the file modification **Pic 5**.

tw File		>
le Prope Specify t during th	rties he file name, provide the path to the file content, choose the operation to be performed to the file he package deployment and configure the advanced options, if required.	
Seneral Ad	dvanced Options Security	
Name:	ArcoRd32.exe	
Content:	C:\Program Files (x86)\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\AcroRd32.exe	
Operation:	Create ~	
	OK	Cancel

Pic 5. Adding a file modification to a project

While configuring a file modification, you should specify a file name and an operation to be performed over this file during a deployment package installation. You can choose between **Create**, **Modify** and **Delete** operations. For the file creation and modification, you should define file content in the **Content** field, providing a path to an existing file to get content from.

While specifying files and folders modifications you can provide a relative path to the **Name** field – the missing path elements will be automatically created in the file system modifications.

It is also possible to override file system attributes to be used for the file and specify if this file should be treated as persistent, thus not removed during a deployment package uninstall process. These options are available on the **Advanced Options** tab. On the **Security** tab, you can specify the permissions to be explicitly assigned to this file.

The advanced options are provided for the experienced users. Please do not modify these options until you are positively sure that this modification is required for the correct package deployment.

Shortcuts

MSI Package Builder allows you to create shortcuts to any item defined in the file system modifications during a deployment package installation. To add a shortcut definition, select the path you would like to create shortcut in and choose the **New > Shortcut** item from the pop-up menu. Alternatively, you can use the **Shortcut** button from the **New** group on the contextual **File System** ribbon page. The **New Shortcut** dialog will appear on the screen to let you configure the shortcut **Pic 6**.

Shortcut F Specify t	Properties the shortcut name, choose the target for this
shortcut	and configure additional options, if required.
e N	ame:
<u>∕~</u> ∧	dobe Reader 11.0.Ink
larget:	S{ProgramFilesFolder}S\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader\A
Start In:	\${ProgramFilesFolder}\$\Adobe\Reader 11.0\Reader
Run:	Normal Window ~
Arguments:	0
Comment:	
	Change Icon Reset Icon
	OK Cancel

Pic 6. Adding a shortcut to a project

While adding a shortcut, you should provide a name for the shortcut to be created to the **Name** field and choose the shortcut target in the **Target** field. Optionally you can configure a set of additional shortcut settings. You can choose a working directory for a shortcut, choose a required window state, provide command-line arguments to be passed to the shortcut target and define a comment for the shortcut. The **Arguments** field supports the property definition placeholders, so you can use the standard MSI properties while specifying the arguments. See the Property Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders.

Modifying File System Resources

The file system modifications can be changed, deleted and transferred to different location.



Delete

Edit

The **Edit** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page should be used to change the selected file system modification.

Delete

The **Delete** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page allows you to delete the selected file system modification from the project.



Сору То

The **Copy To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page should be used to copy the selected file system modifications to another location.

Move To

Move To

The **Move To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page allows you to move the selected file system modifications to another location.

To change the modification, select it in the **File System** view and either choose the **Edit** item in the pop-up menu or click the **Edit** button on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page. While editing a file system modification, it is possible to configure the same options as during its creation. To delete specific modifications from the project, select them and choose the **Delete** item from the pop-up menu or click the **Delete** button on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page.

If the project contains some files or folders that you don't want to include into the generated package, you can use the context menu option **Exclude from Build**. Excluded resources are displayed in the project using the faded icons. Use the context menu option **Include in Build** for excluded resource to add them into the generated package. The **Exclude from Build** option allows you to make experiments with the set of resources included into the resulted package with no deleting resources from the project.

The well-known drag/drop and copy/paste techniques are fully supported for copying and moving file system modifications within a single project and between projects. You can also use the **Copy To** and **Move To** buttons from the **Management** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page to transfer the selected file system modifications to a different location. While using these buttons, you are suggested to select a target location in a dialog and confirm your selection **Pic 7**.

Copy Folde	er To	×
Choose I Select will be	Destination the destination folder from those available the specified folder copied to.	
Ad	obe Reader 11 CommonProgramMenuFolder ProgramFilesFolder Adobe SystemFolder WindowsFolder WindowsVolume	
	OK Can	cel

Pic 7. Copying file system modifications

When a container (drive, system folder or folder) is transferred to another location, all files and folders within the container are transferred as well. Also all files and folders within a container are deleted irreparably when a container is deleted, so be careful while transferring and deleting file system modifications.

Importing Existing Files and Folders

MSI Package Builder allows you to ease the file system modifications definition by using an ability of importing the local file system objects to the project. You can import both files and folders with or without their contents. While importing file system elements, a folder structure is created and files contents are attached automatically. To perform import, you can choose the **Import > Folder** or **Import > File** items from the pop-up menu. Alternatively, you can use the **File System**, **Folder** and **File** buttons from the **Import** groups on the regular **Project** and contextual **File System** Ribbon pages.



File System

The **File System** drop-down button from the **Import** group on the **Project** Ribbon page should be used to add files and folders from the file system to the selected project.

Folder

The **Folder** button from the **Import** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page allows you to add a folder from the file system with or without its content to the selected project.



File

The **File** button from the **Import** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page allows you to add a file from the file system to the selected project.

While importing a folder, you are suggested to provide the path to the folder to be added to the selected project and choose if the folder content should also be imported. You can import files and folders from the specified folder, only files from the specified folder or ignore the folder content. As for importing a file, you should provide the path to the file to be added to the selected project. The file content will be attached automatically.

Exporting Files and Folders

File system resources in the project are stored in encrypted form within the project storage. You can export resources as regular files and folders by saving them to the file system. To do this, select the resource you want to export, choose the **Export...** option from the context menu, and specify the location where the resource should be saved.

Rolling and Unrolling System Folders

If a deployed file system resource should be stored in one of the Windows system folders, a path to this resource can be different on different machines. To create installations that can be deployed successfully on different machines, it's recommended to replace absolute deployment paths by system folders in the project. When such an installation is deployed, system folders are automatically resolved to absolute paths suitable for the system, where the installation is deployed. When you use monitoring the program automatically rolls system folders by replacing system paths, but you can also roll system folder manually for a project or for a specific folder.



Roll

The **Roll** button from the **System Folders** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page should be used to replace the selected system folders with their definitions in the selected project.



Unroll

The **Unroll** button from the **System Folders** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page allows you to expand the selected system folders to their absolute local paths in the selected project.

Together with rolling and unrolling all system folders in a project, that is a recommended way, it is possible to roll and unroll only the specific folders. To roll a folder select it and choose the **Roll** item from the pop-up menu, and to perform unroll you should choose the **Unroll** item. Alternatively, you can use the **Roll** and **Unroll** buttons from the **System Folders** group on the contextual **File System** Ribbon page. Rolling and unrolling only specific folders is an advanced feature of MSI Package Builder and should be used very carefully.

Now you are introduced to the features used to manage the file system modifications with MSI Package Builder and should be able to define the modifications to be included into a deployment package without any misunderstanding.

Registry Modifications

The registry modifications are the changes to be performed by a generated package during its deployment to the registry on a target PC. Those changes can include keys and values creation or deletion and values modification. The registry modifications are displayed in the Registry view when the **Registry** node of a project is selected in the **Projects** view. The changes performed during the monitoring process are added to the registry modifications automatically. Let us take a close look at configuring registry modifications.



Root Key

The **Root Key** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page should be used to add a new root key to the currently configured project.

Each registry modification is defined with a full path of the resource, so to add a value you should also define the complete key path. Each path is routed with a root registry key, also known as a registry hive. To add a new root key, you should either choose the **New Root Key** item from the pop-up menu, or click the Root Key button from the New group on the regular Project and contextual **Registry** Ribbon pages. Within the **New Root Key** dialog, you are suggested to choose a registry hive Pic 1.

New Root Key	×		
Root Key Choose the root key to be used for defining a set of changes to registry keys and values.			
Root Key: HKEY_CURRENT_CONFIG *			
OK	ncel		

Pic 1. Adding a root key to a project

As soon as the root key is added, you can define modifications to keys and values in this key.



Key

The Key button from the New group on the contextual Registry Ribbon page should be used to create a new registry key modification within the selected registry key.



Value

The Value drop-down button from the New group on the contextual Registry Ribbon page should be used to create a new registry value modification within the selected registry key.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

MSI Package Builder allows you to define which registry keys and values should be created, modified or deleted during a deployment package installation. To add a new registry key modification, select the root key or key to add modification to, and either choose the **New > Key** item from the pop-up menu, or press the **Key** button from the **New** group on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page. The **New Key** dialog will appear on the screen to configure the registry key modification **Pic 2**.

Specify during	y the registry key na the package deploy	me, choose the operation to be performed with the registry key ment and configure the advanced options, if required.	
General Name: Operatio	Advanced Options Adobe Create	Security *	

Pic 2. Adding a registry key modification to a project

While configuring a registry key modification, you should specify a key name and an operation to be performed over this key during a deployment package installation. You can choose between the **Create**, **Modify** and **Delete** operations.

While specifying registry modifications you can provide a path to the **Name** field, and the missing path elements will be created in the registry modifications automatically.

The **Name** field supports the property definition placeholders, so you can use the standard MSI properties while specifying the arguments. See the Property Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders.

It is also possible to specify if the registry key should be treated as persistent, thus not removed during a deployment package uninstall process, on the **Advanced Options** tab. On the **Security** tab, you can specify the permissions to be explicitly assigned to this key.

The advanced options are provided for the experienced users. Please do not modify these options until you are positively sure that this modification is required for the correct package deployment.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

To add a new registry value modification, select the key you want to add modification to and choose the appropriate value type from the **New** item in the pop-up menu or from the drop-down of the **Value** button from the **New** group on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page. The **New Value** dialog will appear on the screen **Pic 3**. This dialog is almost the same for all value types; it differs only with a value data editor.

New String Valu	e		×
Registry Val Specify the value durin	ue Properties registry value name g the package deplo	and data, choose the operation to be performed to to yment and configure the advanced options, if require	he registry ab
General Adv	anced Options		
Value Name: Value Data:	Path S{ProgramFilesF	older)\$\Adobe\Reader 11.0	
Operation:	Create	▼ Value Action: 0	Verwrite 👻
		C)K Cancel

Pic 3. Adding a registry value modification to a project

While configuring a registry value modification, you should specify a value name and an operation to be performed over this value during a package deployment. You can choose between **Create**, **Modify** and **Delete** operations. For the value creation and modification, you can define a data to be written to this value. For the string, expandable string and multi-string values, in case if the value already exists, you can choose if it should be overridden by the specified data or the specified data should be appended/prepended to the existing.

To define a modification to a default registry value, you can select it and choose the **Edit** item from the pop-up menu. If you want to edit it as a type, different from REG_SZ, you should use the Change Type item from the pop-up menu.

It is also possible to specify if the registry value should be treated as persistent, thus not removed during a deployment package uninstall process, within the **Advanced Options** group.

The advanced options are provided for experienced users. Please do not modify these options until you are positively sure that this modification is required for the correct package deployment.

The **Value Name** and **Value Data** fields support the property definition placeholders, so you can use the standard MSI properties while specifying the arguments. See the Property Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders.

Edit

Edit

The **Edit** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page should be used to change the selected registry modification.

X Delete

Delete

The **Delete** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page allows you to delete the selected registry modification from the selected project.



Сору То

The **Copy To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page should be used to copy the selected registry modifications to another location.

Move To

Move To

The **Move To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page allows you to move the selected registry modifications to another location.

The registry modifications can be changed, deleted and transferred to different location. To change the modification, select it in the **Registry** view and either choose the **Edit** item in the pop-up menu or click the **Edit** button on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page. While editing a registry modification, it is possible to configure the same options as during its creation. To delete specific modifications from the project, select them and choose the **Delete** item from the pop-up menu or click the **Delete** button on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page.

If the project contains some registry entries that you don't want to include into the generated package, you can use the context menu option **Exclude from Build**. Excluded resources are displayed in the project using the faded icons. Use the context menu option **Include in Build** for excluded resource to add them into the generated package. The **Exclude from Build** option allows you to make experiments with the set of resources included into the resulted package with no deleting resources from the project.

The well-known drag/drop and copy/paste techniques are fully supported for copying and moving registry modifications within a single project and between projects. You can also use the **Copy To** and **Move To** buttons from the **Management** group on the contextual **Registry** Ribbon page to transfer the selected registry modifications to a different location. While using these buttons, you are suggested to select a target location in a dialog and confirm your selection **Pic 4**.

Сору Кеу То	×
Choose Destination Select the destination key from those available the specified key will be copied to.	Þ
Adobe Reader 11 HKEY_CURRENT_USER HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE SOFTWARE Classes Indices Policies Version Wow6432Node SYSTEM HKEY_USERS	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 4. Copying registry modifications

When a registry key is transferred to another location, all keys and values within the key are transferred as well. Also all keys and values within a registry key are deleted irreparably when a registry key is deleted, so be careful while transferring and deleting registry keys.

Importing Changes from Registration Entries (.reg) File

MSI Package Builder allows you to ease the registry modifications definition by using an ability of importing changes from a registration entries (.reg) file. To perform import, you can choose the **Import** item from the pop-up menu. Alternatively, you can use the **Registry** button from the **Import** groups on the regular **Project** and contextual **Registry** Ribbon pages.



Registry

The **Registry** button from the **Import** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Registry** Ribbon pages allows you to add the changes defined in the specific registration entries (.reg) file to the selected project.

While importing changes, you are suggested to provide the path to the file to use as a definition for the changes to be included into a project.

Now you are introduced to the features used to manage the registry modifications with MSI Package Builder and should be able to define the modifications to be included into a deployment package without any misunderstanding.

Environment Variables Modifications

With MSI Package Builder you can easily add to a project any system and user environment variables so that they will be registered in or unregistered from the operating system when the deployment package is installed on the computer.

MSIX/AppX packages do not support configuring the environment variables during deployment, so, when generated, those changes are included into MSI and App-V deployment packages only.

The environment variables modifications are displayed in the **Environment Variables** view when the **Environment Variables** node of a project is selected in the **Projects** view. Let us take a close look at configuring environment variables modifications.



Environment Variable

The **Environment Variable** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon pages should be used to add a new environment variable modification to the currently configured project.

MSI Package Builder allows you to add both modifications to system and user environment variables. To add a modification choose the **New Environment Variable** item from the pop-up menu or click the **Environment Variable** button from the **New** group on regular **Project** and contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon pages. The **New Environment Variable** dialog will appear on the screen **Pic 1**.

New Environ	nment Variable	×
Environmo Specify t variable	ent Variable Properties the environment variable name and value, choose the operation to be performed to the during the package deployment and configure the advanced options, if required.	• (V)
General A	dvanced Options	
Name:	PATH Type: System Variable	*
Value:	\${ProgramFilesFolder}\$\CollabNet\Subversion Client	
Operation:	: Create	-
	ОК	Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring an environment variable modification

During the configuration process, you are suggested to specify the environment variable name and the operation to be performed over this variable during a deployment package installation. You can choose between the **Create**, **Create if does not exist**, **Remove** and **Remove if value equals** operations. For creating an environment variable you should provide a variable value to the **Value** field. If variable already exists during a generated package installation, you can choose if its value should be overridden with the defined one, or the defined value should be appended/prepended to the existing one. The **System Variable** checkbox is used to identify if you are going to modify system or user environment variable.

It is also possible to specify if the environment variable should be treated as persistent, thus not removed during a deployment package uninstall process, within the **Advanced Options** group.

The advanced options are provided for the experienced users. Please do not modify these options until you are positively sure that this modification is required for the correct package deployment.

The **Value** field supports the property definition placeholders, so you can use the standard MSI properties while specifying the value for an environment variable. See the Property Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders.

Edit

The **Edit** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon page should be used to change the selected environment variables modification.



Edit

Delete

The **Delete** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon page allows you to delete the selected environment variables modifications from the selected project.



Сору То

The **Copy To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon page should be used to copy the selected environment variables modifications to another location.



Move To

The **Move To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon page allows you to move the selected environment variables modifications to another location.

The environment variables modifications can be changed, deleted and transferred to different location. To change the modification, select it in the **Environment Variables** view and double-click it. Alternatively, you can either choose the **Edit** item in the pop-up menu or click the **Edit** button on the contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon page. While editing an environment variables modification, it is possible to configure the same options as during its creation. To delete specific modifications from the project, select them and choose the **Delete** item from the pop-up menu or click the **Delete** button on the contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon page.

If the project contains some environment variables that you don't want to include into the generated package, you can use the context menu option **Exclude from Build**. Excluded resources are displayed in the project using the faded icons. Use the context menu option **Include in Build** for excluded resource to add them into the generated package. The **Exclude from Build** option allows you to make experiments with the set of resources included into the resulted package with no deleting resources from the project.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

The well-known drag/drop and copy/paste techniques are fully supported for copying and moving environment variables modifications between projects. You can also use the **Copy To** and **Move To** buttons from the **Management** group on the contextual **Environment Variables** Ribbon page to transfer the selected environment variables modifications to a different location. While using these buttons, you are suggested to select a target location in a dialog and confirm your selection **Pic 2**.

Copy Environment Variable To	×
Choose Destination Select the destination project from those available the specified environment variable will be copied to.	Þ
🕵 Adobe Reader 11	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 2. Copying environment variables modifications

Now you are introduced to the features used to manage the environment variables modifications with MSI Package Builder and should be able to define the user and system variables modifications to be included into a deployment package without any misunderstanding.
Services Modifications

The services modifications are the changes to be performed by a generated package during its deployment to the installed services on a target PC. Those changes can include services creation, deletion and control.

Configuring services during deployment is not supported by App-V and MSIX/AppX packages, so, when generated, those changes are included into the MSI deployment packages only.

The services modifications are displayed in the **Services** view when the **Services** node of a project is selected in the **Projects** view. The changes performed during the monitoring process are added to the services modifications automatically. Let us take a close look at configuring service modifications.



Service

The **Service** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Services** Ribbon pages should be used to add a new service modification to the currently configured project.

To add a new service modification, you should either choose the **New Service** item from the pop-up menu, or press the **Service** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Services** Ribbon pages. Within the **New Service** dialog, you are suggested to configure the service modification in detail **Pic 1**.

lew Service		×
Specify the s and the oper	erties ervice properties, choose the service executable ation to be performed to this service.	Q,
General Log O	n Dependencies Security	
Name:	Manager Service	
Display Name:	1 Dreamlight Manager Service	
Description:	This service is used help Dreamlight managers during their every day work with financial documentation.	
Service Binary:		
\${SystemFolde	r}\$\Manager.exe	
Service Type:	Own Process	-
Startup Type:	Auto	*
Arguments:	0	
Operation:	Create 👻	
Start On:	Install - Stop On: None	-
	ОК	Cancel

Pic 1. Adding a service to be created and started during a deployment package installation

While adding a service modification, you should first specify the service name and the operation to be performed over the service. You can choose between the **Create**, **Delete**, **Control** and **Restart** operations. The scope of the settings available for configuring depends on the selected operation. Let us describe each operation in detail.

The **Create** operation is used if the service is a part of the installation. So, it is created together with the generated deployment package installation. For the **Create** operation, the scope of options is the widest. Together with the service name, used to install the service, you must also provide a display name used for the service and a path to the file from the current project to be used as the service executable on the **General** tab. It is also recommended that a service description be provided, which is displayed in a services section of the computer management console for each installed service. The other options available for service creation on the **General** tab are the execution options; those are the service type, startup type and the arguments to be passed to the service on startup.

On the **Log On** tab for the service being created, you can choose it should log on as a local system, or as a specific user. For the local system account, it is possible to define if the service should interact with desktop. On this tab, you can also configure an error control level used for this service. You can choose from the following:

- **Normal** the startup program logs the error in the event log but continues the startup operation.
- **Critical** the startup program logs the error in the event log, if possible. If the last-knowngood configuration is being started, the startup operation fails. Otherwise, the system is restarted with the last-known good configuration.
- **Ignore** the startup program ignores the error and continues the startup operation.

The **Dependencies** tab is also used when configuring the service creation and allows defining the services this service depends on. The service name is provided to the **Dependency** field and you can add, edit and remove dependencies on-line using the corresponding buttons built into this field.

On the **Security** tab, you can specify the permissions to be explicitly assigned to this service.

While specifying a service name, display name, description, startup arguments and dependencies you can use the property definition placeholders, standing for the standard MSI properties. See the Property Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders.

For the other operations, except **Create**, the **Log On**, **Dependencies** and **Security** tabs are not used and only the **Name** field from the top part of the **General** tab is used. As for the **Delete** operation, the service name is the only field to be specified. The service with the matching name will be deleted from a target PC during a generated deployment package installation. For the **Control** operation, after providing a service name, you should define triggers to start and stop the service on. You can choose between **Install**, **Uninstall**, **Both** and **None** options to start and stop the service on. As for the **Restart** operation, you should choose if it should be restarted on install, uninstall or both events.

Edit

The **Edit** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Services** Ribbon page should be used to change the selected services modification.



Edit

Delete

The **Delete** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Services** Ribbon page allows you to delete the selected services modifications from the selected project.



Сору То

The **Copy To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Services** Ribbon page should be used to copy the selected services modifications to another location.

Move To

Move To

The **Move To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Services** Ribbon page allows you to move the selected services modifications to another location.

The services modifications can be changed, deleted and transferred to different location. To change the modification, select it in the **Services** view and double-click it. Alternatively, you can either choose the **Edit** item in the pop-up menu or click the **Edit** button on the contextual **Services** Ribbon page. While editing a service modification, it is possible to configure the same options as during its creation. To delete specific modifications from the project, select them and choose the **Delete** item from the pop-up menu or click the **Delete** button on the contextual **Services** Ribbon page.

If the project contains some services that you don't want to include into the generated package, you can use the context menu option **Exclude from Build**. Excluded resources are displayed in the project using the faded icons. Use the context menu option **Include in Build** for excluded resource to add them into the generated package. The **Exclude from Build** option allows you to make experiments with the set of resources included into the resulted package with no deleting resources from the project.

The well-known drag/drop and copy/paste techniques are fully supported for copying and moving services modifications between projects. You can also use the **Copy To** and **Move To** buttons from the **Management** group on the contextual **Services** Ribbon page to transfer the selected services modifications to a different location. While using these buttons, you are suggested to select a target location in a dialog and confirm your selection **Pic 2**.



Pic 2. Copying services modifications

Now you are introduced to the features used to manage the services modifications with MSI Package Builder and should be able to create and control services by a generated deployment package without any misunderstanding.

Side-by-side Assemblies Deployment

MSI Package Builder provides you with an ability to deploy shared libraries. A shared library is a file that is intended to be shared by executable files and further shared objects files. Modules used by a program are loaded from individual shared objects into memory at load time or run time. Side-by-side assemblies can safely share assemblies among multiple applications and can offset the negative effects of assembly sharing. Such effects, known as 'DLL hell', include version conflicts, missing DLLs, duplicate DLLs, and incorrect or missing registration. Instead of a single version of an assembly that assumes backward compatibility with all applications, side-by-side assembly sharing enables multiple versions of an assembly to run simultaneously on the system. As for .NET assemblies, the side-by-side concept is implemented with a help of the Global Assembly Cache. It case of Win32 assemblies, in side-by-side, Windows stores multiple versions of a DLL in the WinSxS folder of the Windows directory. SxS is also the technological basis for registration-free COM activation.

MSIX/AppX packages do not support side-by-side assemblies deployment, so, when generated, those changes are included into MSI and App-V deployment packages only.

For the side-by-side assemblies to be deployed, they are specified on a project level and displayed in the **Assemblies** view when the **Assemblies** node of a project is selected in the **Projects** view. The assemblies installed during the monitoring process are added to the project automatically and can be edited only after the projects containing those changes are prepared. Let us take a closer look at configuring side-by-side assemblies.

	Ô	
١	Win3	2
As	sem	bly

Win32 Assembly

The **Win32 Assembly** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and on the contextual **Assemblies** Ribbon page should be used to add a new Win32 assembly to the currently configured project.

	w	
As	.NET	bly

.NET Assembly

The **.NET Assembly** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and on the contextual **Assemblies** Ribbon page should be used to add a new .NET assembly to the currently configured project.

To add a new assembly to a project, you can choose the **New Win32 Assembly** and **New .NET Assembly** items from the **Assemblies** view pop-up menu. Alternatively, you can use the **Win32 Assembly** and **.NET Assembly** button from the **New** group on the **Project** and **Assemblies** Ribbon pages. The dialog will appear on the screen to let you configure the assembly to be added **Pic 1**.

New Win32 Assen	nbly ×
Assembly Pro Provide the p by the genera	perties ath to the manifest and security catalog files describing the Win32 assembly to be deployed ated package together with other assembly files, if any.
ID:	x86,win32,Microsoft.VC90.CRT,1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b,9.0.30729.6161,
Manifest File:	[x86_microsoft.vc90.crt_1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b_9.0.30729.6161_none_50934f2ebcb7eb57.manifest]
Security Catalog:	[x86_microsoft.vc90.crt_1fc8b3b9a1e18e3b_9.0.30729.6161_none_50934f2ebcb7eb57.cat]
Assembly Files	🖹 X 🥒
Name	k
msvcm90.dl	1
msvcp90.dll	
msvcr90.dll	
	OK Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring a Win32 Assembly

While configuring a Win32 assembly you should provide a path to the assembly manifest and security catalog files. If it is required, you should also add assembly files to the **Assembly Files** table. As for a .NET assembly, it is required that a path to the assembly file be provided. Optionally, it is possible to add configuration files, required for the assembly installation, to the **Assembly Files** table.

Edit The Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Assemblies Ribbon Edit page should be used to change the selected assembly. Delete The **Delete** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Assemblies** Ribbon Delete page allows you to delete the selected assemblies from the selected project. Сору То The Copy To button from the Management group on the contextual Assemblies Ribbon Copy page should be used to copy the selected assemblies to another project. То Move To The Move To button from the Management group on the contextual Assemblies Ribbon Move page allows you to move the selected assemblies to another project.

То

The side-by-side assemblies can be changed, deleted and transferred between projects. To change the assembly, select it and either double-click, or choose the **Edit** item in pop-up menu or on the contextual **Assemblies** Ribbon page. While editing an assembly, you can define the same scope of properties as during its creation. To delete the assembly from the project, select it and choose the **Delete** item in the pop-up menu or on the contextual **Assemblies** Ribbon page.

If the project contains some assemblies that you don't want to include into the generated package, you can use the context menu option **Exclude from Build**. Excluded resources are displayed in the project using the faded icons. Use the context menu option **Include in Build** for excluded resource to add them into the generated package. The **Exclude from Build** option allows you to make experiments with the set of resources included into the resulted package with no deleting resources from the project.

The well-known drag/drop and copy/paste techniques are fully supported for copying and moving assemblies between projects. You can also use the **Copy To** and **Move To** buttons from the **Management** group on the contextual **Assemblies** Ribbon page to transfer the selected assemblies to a different project. While using these buttons, you are suggested to select a project from those available in a dialog and confirm your selection **Pic 2**.

Copy Assembly To	×
Choose Destination Select the destination project from those available the specified assembly will be copied to.	Þ
SVN Client Extensions	
	Created
OK	Cancel

Pic 2. Copying assemblies between projects

Now you are introduced to the side-by-side assemblies concept and an ability to deploy such assemblies with MSI Package Builder, thus you should be able to define the assemblies to be installed by a deployment package without any misunderstanding.

Drivers Deployment

MSI Package Builder is capable of deploying hardware and software drivers. It is possible to create or delete basic drivers and install or pre-install driver packages in scope of an MSI package installation.

App-V and MSIX/AppX packages do not support configuring the device drivers during deployment, so, when generated, those changes are included into MSI deployment packages only.

Both basic drivers and drivers from packages can be registered as device class filters by MSI Package Builder, if required. Changes to the operating system drivers are displayed in the **Drivers** view when the **Drivers** node of a project is selected in the **Projects** view. Changes performed during the monitoring process are added automatically to the drivers deployment actions. Let us take a closer look at configuring the drivers deployment actions.



Basic Driver

The **Basic Driver** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Drivers** Ribbon pages should be used to add a new basic driver deployment action to the currently configured project.

Driver Package

Driver
Package

The **Driver Package** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Drivers** Ribbon pages should be used to add a new driver package to the currently configured project to be either installed or pre-installed by the resulting MSI package.

DIFx Driver Package

DIFx Driver Package

The **DIFx Driver Package** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Drivers** Ribbon pages should be used to add a new **Driver Installation Framework** package to the currently configured project to be either installed or preinstalled by a resulting deployment package.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

The basic driver is a simple driver that is shipped as a single dynamic link library (usually as the *.sys file) and is managed like a windows service. A driver package consists of all the software components that you must supply for your device to be supported under Windows. The following components are necessary to install and support a device on a Windows operating system: the driver file (*.sys), the installation files (*.inf and *.cat) and other files (the device installation application, the device icon, the device property pages, etc).

To add a new basic driver deployment action, you should either choose the **New Basic Driver** item from the pop-up menu or press the **Basic Driver** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Drivers** Ribbon pages. Within the **New Basic Driver** dialog, you are suggested to configure the basic driver deployment action in detail **Pic 1**.

Speci perfo	fy the d rmed to	Properti Iriver prop this driv	i es perties, ch er.	noose th	e driver binar	y and the o	peration to be	Î
General	Deper	dencies	Security	Install	Options			
Name:		VBox	USBMon					
Display	Name:	1 Virtua	Box USE	3 Monito	or Driver			
vescrip								
Driver B C:\Win Security	inary: dows\s catalo	ystem32\/ g:	DRIVERS\	VBoxUS	BMon.sys			
Driver B C:\Win Security	inary: dows\s Catalo ype:	ystem32\/ g:	DRIVERS	VBoxUS	BMon.sys Load Or	der Group:		X
Driver B C:\Win Security Driver T Startup	inary: dows\s Catalo ype: Type:	ystem32\/ g: Kernel D System	DRIVERS\ river	VBoxUS	BMon.sys Load Or Err	der Group: or Control:	Normal	×

Pic 1. Adding a basic driver to be created and started during an MSI package installation

While adding a basic driver deployment action, you should first specify the driver name and the operation to be performed on the driver. You can choose between the **Create** and **Delete** operations. The scope of settings available for configuring depends on the selected operation. Let us describe each operation in detail.

The **Create** operation is used if the driver is a part of an installation. Thus, it is created together with the generated MSI package installation. Along with the driver name used to install the driver, you should also provide the display name used for the driver and the path to the file from the current project to be used as the driver binary on the **General** tab. You can also provide the driver security catalog file, if required. It is also recommended that the driver description be provided, which is displayed in the computer management console for each driver. Other options displayed on the **General** tab are the advanced driver loading settings, which are the driver type, the startup type, the load order group and the error control.

The **Driver Type** field is used to choose the type of the basic driver to be installed: either a kernel driver or a system driver.

As for the **Startup Type**, the following values can be used:

- Boot the device driver required to start the computer;
- System the non-boot-start driver that detects device(s) that are not PnP-enumerable;
- Auto the Non-PnP driver that must be started by the service control manager;
- On Demand the PnP driver;
- **Disabled** the disabled driver.

The **Load Order Group** is used to define the group this driver should be added to for loading by the operating system.

You can choose from the following Error Control levels:

- Normal the startup program logs error in the event log but continues the startup operation.
- **Critical** the startup program logs error in the event log, if possible. If the last-known-good configuration is being started, the startup operation fails. Otherwise, the system is restarted with the last-known good configuration.
- Ignore the startup program ignores error and continues the startup operation.

The **Dependencies** tab is also used while configuring the driver creation. It allows defining the drivers this driver depends on. The driver name is provided to the **Dependency** field, and you can add, edit and remove dependencies on-line using the corresponding buttons built into this field.

On the **Security** tab, you can specify the permissions to be explicitly assigned to this driver.

While specifying the driver name, display name, description and dependencies you can use the property definition placeholders standing for the standard MSI properties. See the Property Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders.

For the **Delete** operation, the **Dependencies** tab is not used and only the **Name** field from the **General** tab is applicable. The driver with the matching name will be deleted from the target PC while installing the generated MSI package.

If you would like to register the basic driver as a filter for one or more device classes, you should enable the **Register this driver as a device class filter** option on the **Install Options** tab. The **Install Options** tab contains a list of device class filters the configured driver is used as. You can add and remove the filter configuration entries using the corresponding buttons on the toolbar. Let us take a closer look at the device class filter configuration **Pic 2**.

Add Device C	ass Filter		×
Device Clas Choose the filter type	Filter Configuration the device class to be filtered l and define the filtering order	by the driver, select the r.	*
Device Class: Dependency:	{BFCE8D35-DC25-4104-A68	E-248DDE5AA9F8}	
Filter Type:	Upper-Level -	Order: Prepend	Cancel

Pic 2. Registering a driver as an upper-level device class filter

When registering a driver as a device class filter, you should provide the device class to register the driver to into the **Device Class** field. Within the **Filter Type** drop-down, you should choose the type of the filter to be registered. A **Lower-Level** filter driver monitors and/or modifies I/O requests to a particular device. Typically, such filters redefine the hardware behavior to match the expected specifications. For example, a lower-level class filter driver for mouse devices could provide acceleration performing a nonlinear conversion of the mouse movement data. An **Upper-Level** filter driver adds value to a particular device. For example, an upper-level device filter driver for a keyboard could enforce additional security checks. The **Dependency** and **Order** fields are responsible for the filter driver position in the scope of all filters for the specified device class.

To add a new driver package deployment action, you should either choose the **New Driver Package** item from the pop-up menu or press the **Driver Package** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Drivers** Ribbon pages. If you are going to deploy the package that requires deployment via the DIFx (Driver Installation Framework), use the **New DIFx Driver Package** menu item and the **DIFx Driver Package** button respectively. The file system browser will be opened to let you choose the driver information file for the package. As soon as it is chosen, you will see the dialog where you are suggested to configure the driver package deployment action in detail. Let us use the **New Driver Package** one as the example **Pic 3**.

lame:	Driver Package Driver Class: GARMIN Devices Platform:	x64 -
viver Information	E D:\Install\drivers\grmnusb.inf_amd64_neutral_d77b1dda68556870\grmnusb.inf	
ecurity Catalog:	D:\Install\drivers\grmnusb.inf_amd64_neutral_d77b1dda68556870\grmnusb.cat	
)peration:	Install -	
Driver Package Fi	iles 📔	×
Name	t Kurdi	h
Amd64\grmn	ngen.sys	
Amd64\armr	nusb.sys	

Pic 3. Adding a driver package to be pre-installed during an MSI package installation

Common information on the driver package being configured is displayed on the **General** tab. As you can see, the Driver Information and Security Catalog fields, as well as the Driver Package Files table, are filled automatically with the files provided by the selected installation file. You can change any of these aspects in the future, if required.

The next step is providing the driver name and configuring the deployment. The name is provided to the **Name** field. The next step is to specify the target platform in the **Platform** field. The platform can be specified only during the driver package creation. As for the deployment options, you can choose if the driver should be installed or pre-installed within the **Operation** drop-down. The **Install** operation should be chosen if the device with an appropriate ID is already present in the system or it is a virtual device created by the installer. The Pre-Install operation allows you to install a package to the driver storage. The operating system will use the installed driver as soon as an appropriate device is installed to the system.

The content of the **Install Options** tab differs depending on the type of the driver package. It may be possible to choose the devices or sections from the package to be installed, the hardware component ID and/or register a driver from the configured package as a filter for one or more device classes.



Move

Down

Edit

Delete

Copy

То

Move

То

Move Up

The **Move Up** button from the **Order** group on the contextual **Drivers** ribbon page should be used to move the selected drivers up the deployment order.

Move Down

The **Move Down** button from the **Order** group on the contextual **Drivers** ribbon page should be used to move the selected drivers down the deployment order.

By default, the drivers deployment order is the same as the addition order, but you can reorder the drivers using the **Move Up** and **Move Down** items from the pop-up menu or the **Order** group on the contextual **Drivers** Ribbon page.

Edit The Edit button from the Management group on the contextual Drivers Ribbon page should be used to change the selected driver deployment action. Delete Сору То The Copy To button from the Management group on the contextual Drivers Ribbon page should be used to copy the selected driver deployment actions to another location. Move To The Move To button from the Management group on the contextual Drivers Ribbon page allows you to move the selected driver deployment actions to another location.

The **Delete** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Drivers** Ribbon page allows you to delete the selected driver deployment actions from the selected project.



Driver deployment actions can be changed, deleted or transferred another location. To change the driver deployment action, select it in the **Drivers** view and double-click it. Alternatively, you can either choose the **Edit** item in the pop-up menu or click the **Edit** button on the contextual **Drivers** Ribbon page. While editing a driver deployment action, it is possible to configure the same options as those available during the action creation. To delete specific actions from a project, select them and choose the **Delete** item from the pop-up menu or click the **Delete** button on the contextual **Drivers** Ribbon page.

If the project contains some drivers that you don't want to include into the generated package, you can use the context menu option **Exclude from Build**. Excluded resources are displayed in the project using the faded icons. Use the context menu option **Include in Build** for excluded resource to add them into the generated package. The **Exclude from Build** option allows you to make experiments with the set of resources included into the resulted package with no deleting resources from the project.

The well-known drag/drop and copy/paste techniques are fully supported for copying and moving driver deployment actions between projects. You can also use the **Copy To** and **Move To** buttons from the **Management** group on the contextual **Drivers** Ribbon page to transfer the selected driver deployment actions to another location. While using these buttons, you are suggested to select the target location in the dialog and confirm your selection **Pic 4**.

Copy DIFx Driver Package To	×
Choose Destination Select the destination project from those available the specified difx driver package will be copied to.	Þ
👰 Adobe Reader 11	
👯 SVN Client Extensions	
ОК С	ancel

Pic 4. Copying driver deployment actions

Now that you have been introduced to the features used to manage driver deployment actions with MSI Package Builder, you should be able to deploy drivers by the generated MSI package with full understanding.

Printers Deployment

MSI Package Builder comes with an option of performing changes to the printing system configuration. It is possible to create, delete and modify printers; install and uninstall printer drivers; create and delete print processors and monitors; create, modify and delete printer ports, both local and TCP/IP. All those actions will be performed within the scope of the generated MSI package installation if defined in the project.

App-V and MSIX/AppX packages do not support configuring the printing system during deployment, so, when generated, those changes are included into MSI deployment packages only.

The set of changes to the printing system described in the project is displayed in the **Printers** view when the **Printers** node is selected in the **Projects** view. The changes performed during the monitoring process are automatically added to the printing system configuration actions. Let us take a closer look at the possible types of actions.



Printer Entries

The **Printer Entries** drop-down button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page can be used to create modifications to the printing system to be performed by the resulting MSI package

Printer

Printer

The **Printer** button from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page should be used to add a new deployment action for creating, modifying or deleting a printer during the package deployment.

e y
Printer
Driver

Printer Driver

The **Printer Driver** button from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page should be used to add a new deployment action for installing or removing a printer driver during the package deployment.

Print
Processor

Print Processor

The **Print Processor** button from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page should be used to add a new deployment action for adding or removing a print processor during the package deployment.



Print Monitor

The **Print Monitor** button from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page should be used to add a new deployment action for adding or removing a print monitor (either a language monitor or a port monitor) during the package deployment.



Printer Port

The **Printer Port** button from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page should be used to add a new deployment action for creating, modifying or deleting a printer port during the package deployment.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

Let us start with adding a printer deployment action. As it has already been mentioned, it is possible to create, modify and delete printers during a package deployment. To add a printer deployment action, you should use the **Printer** item either from the **Printers** view pop-up menu or from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page. Alternatively you can use the **Printer Entries** drop-down button located on the **Project** Ribbon page in the **New** group. The **New Printer** dialog will appear on the screen to let you configure the required deployment action **Pic 1**.

Specif the in	fy the cor stallation	nfiguration properties for the printer to be created during of the deployment package to be generated.	_
General	Registry		
Name:		Print+Share	
Driver:		OPTIsend Printer	
Port:		OPPD Port1	
Process	or:	PrintAndShare Data Type: NT EMF 1.006	
Paramet	ters:	0	
Attribut	es:	65	
Priority:		1 Default Priority: 0	¢
Separate	or File:		X
Location	n:	0	
Share N	ame:	0	
Spool D	irectory:	S{WindowsFolder}S\TEMP	
Comme	ent:	0	
Operatio	on:	Create -	

Pic 1. Adding a printer to be created during installation of the resulting package

The common printer deployment action configuration is represented on the **General** tab of the dialog. If you would like the resulting MSI package to delete one of the existing printers, you should choose the **Delete** value in the **Operation** drop-down list and provide the name of the printer to be deleted to the **Name** field. For creation and modification of printers, there is a set of other fields to be specified beside the name. Along with the name, it is required to choose a driver to be used by the printer device and a port for the printer to reside on in the **Driver** and **Port** fields respectively. Two more required fields are **Processor** and **Data Type**. The **Processor** field should contain the properly. We will take a closer look at print processors later in this section of the documentation. The processor parameters can be provided to the **Parameters** field. The bitwise attributes mask can be specified by means of an easy-to-use editor using the ellipses button of the **Attributes** field. The current and default priorities of printers are specified in the **Priority** and **Default Priority** fields respectively. The page separator field. You can also specify the printer location, the share name, the custom spooler directory and a comment for the printer in the corresponding fields of this dialog.

On the **Registry** tab of the configuration dialog it is possible to configure the changes applied to printer-specific sections of Windows registry while creating or modifying the printer during the MSI package deployment process.

If you want to make a specific printer as default after installing it, you can select it in the modifications list and choose the **Set as Default Printer** item from the **Printers** view pop-up menu.

The next printer system layer available for configuration is the printer drivers. Printer drivers contain information specific to the printer begin used. Printer drivers reside on user's computers and are used by the GDI to render print jobs. A printer driver is a software program that understands how to communicate with printers and plotters. Printer drivers translate information a user sends from his/her computer into commands that a printer understands. A printer driver sends printer-setting data, including the specifications needed to produce each character of the document, to the GDI. It also transmits helper services or utilities required to make the output print correctly. Each printer driver consists of the driver binary, data type and configuration files, an optional help file and dependent files. MSI Package Builder allows you to install and/or uninstall printer drivers during the resulting package deployment.

To add a deployment action to be performed for a printer driver, you should use the **Printer Driver** item either from the **Printers** view pop-up menu or from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page. Alternatively you can use the **Printer Entries** drop-down button located on the **Project** Ribbon page in the **New** group. The **New Printer Driver** dialog will appear on the screen to let you configure the required deployment action **Pic 2**.

New Printer Dr	iver				×
Printer Driv Configure registered	the op in the	r operties ptions for the printer driver to be added to the project. T operating system and can be used in the future when a	he printer driver dding printers.	is	
Name:		OPTIsend Printer	Environment:	x64	-
Language Mor	nitor:	0	Version:	3	¢
Default Data Ty	/pe:	• NT EMF 1.006			
Driver Binary:	[OPP	DUnidrv.DLL]			
Data File:	[OPT	sendPrinter.gpd]			
Config File:	[OPP	DUnidrvUI.dll]			
Help File:	[OPP	DUnidrv.HLP]			X
Dependent F	iles				×
Name					h.
OPPDOEN	MUNI.	dll			
oppdrv.in	ni				
stdnames	s.gpd				
unires.dll					
Operation: Cr	reate				
			OK	Ca	ancel

Pic 2. Adding a printer driver to be installed with the resulting package

The **Name** and **Environment** fields are used to provide a driver name and specify the target environment. These fields must be filled for both **Create** and **Delete** operations. As for the **Create** operation, you should also define the print monitor for the driver, the driver version, the default data type and driver files as described above.

MSI Package Builder allows you to manage print processors when deploying the resulting package. Print processors are user-mode DLLs that are responsible for converting a print job's spooled data into a format that can be sent to a print monitor. They are also responsible for handling application requests to pause, resume and cancel print jobs. You can add and delete print processors during a package deployment.

To add a print processor to be managed during a package deployment, you should use the **Print Processor** item either from the **Printers** view pop-up menu or from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page. Alternatively you can use the **Printer Entries** drop-down button located on the **Project** Ribbon page in the **New** group. The **New Print Processor** dialog will appear on the screen to let you configure the required deployment action **Pic 3**.

New Print Process	or	×
Print Processo Configure the print job's spo	r Properties print processor to be installed. The processor is respo oled data into a format that can be sent to a print mo	nsible for converting a nitor.
Name:	PrintAndShare	Environment: x64 ~
Processor Binary:	[PrintAndShare.dll]	
Operation:	Create *	
		OK Cancel

Pic 3. Adding a print processor

Within the dialog, you can define a name for the print processor to be managed and the target environment. If you are going to create a processor, it is also required to provide a path to the processing library in the **Processor Binary** field.

With MSI Package Builder, it is also possible to manage print monitors. Print monitors are responsible for directing a print data stream from the print spooler to an appropriate port driver. Two types of print monitors are defined: language monitors and port monitors. Both can be created or deleted with a package generated with MSI Package Builder.

To add a print monitor entry, you should use the **Print Monitor** item either from the **Printers** view pop-up menu or from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page. Alternatively you can use the **Printer Entries** drop-down button located on the **Project** Ribbon page in the **New** group. The **New Print Monitor** dialog will appear on the screen to let you configure the required deployment action **Pic 4**.

New Print Monit	or			×
Print Monitor Configure th print data st	r Properties ne print monitor to be added. Print monitors are respo ream from the print spooler to an appropriate port driv	nsible for directin rer.	g a	
Name:	OPTIsendPrintMonitor	Environment:	x64	-
Monitor Binary:	\${System64Folder}\$\OPPDPortMonitor.dll			
Operation:	Create ~			
		ОК		Cancel

Pic 4. Adding a print monitor

When adding a print monitor, you should define its name, the environment to be affected and the operation to perform over this monitor. For the monitors being installed, you should also choose the monitor binary from the file available in the configured project.

The last layer available for management with a package generated via MSI Package Builder is the printer ports. There are two types of ports, namely local and TCP/IP. Packages generated with MSI Package Builder can create and delete both local and TCP/IP printer ports as well as modify TCP/IP ports.

To add a printer port operation, you should use the **Printer Port** item either from the **Printers** view pop-up menu or from the **New** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page. Alternatively you can use the **Printer Entries** drop-down button located on the **Project** Ribbon page in the **New** group. A dialog will be displayed for choosing the port type, and as soon as it is chosen, you will get to either the **New Local Port** dialog **Pic 5** or the **New TCP/IP Port** dialog **Pic 6**.

New Local I	Port	×
Local Por Specify for exe	t Properties the name for the local port to be used by the printer monitor cuting the print job request sent by the printer clients.	
Name:		
Operation:	Create *	
	ОК	Cancel

Pic 5. Adding a local printer port

When adding a modification to local ports, you should simply provide the local port name to the **Name** field and specify the operation to be performed with this port (either **Create** or **Delete**) in the **Operation** drop-down.

New TCP/IP P	ort		×
TCP/IP Por Specify th request s	t Properties ne TCP/IP port for the printer monito ent by both local and remote printe	or to listen to for the executing print job c clients.	
Name:	1 Laser	Version: 2 - MIB Index: 0	÷
Host Address	192.168.1.1	Protocol: R	aw -
Raw Settings			
Port Num	ber: 9100 🌲		
LPR Settings			
Queue Na	nme: 🕕 LPR Byte Counting Enable	d	
SNMP Sta	tus Enabled		
Commun	ity Name:	SNMP Device Index: 0	÷
Operation:	Create -		
		ОК	Cancel

Pic 6. Adding a TCP/IP port

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

The TCP/IP ports configuration process is a bit more complex. You can choose if you would like to create, modify or delete the port being added using the **Operation** drop-down. For deleting a port, it is only required to provide its name. For both adding and modifying a port, you should also provide the port properties. Beside the name, the port is identified with its version, the MIB index and the host address. The values should be provided to the **Version**, **MIB Index** and **Host Address** fields respectively. If the port is meant for raw bytes communication, then the **Raw** value should be selected in the **Protocol** drop-down list, and the port number should be selected in the **Port Number** field. In case the LPR protocol is used, the corresponding value should be selected in the **Protocol** drop-down, and the LPR queue name should be specified in the **Queue Name** field. In case the LPR byte counting is enabled for communication, the SNMP status, the **SNMP Status Enabled** check should be ticked, and the required values should be provided to the **Community Name** and **SNMP Device Index** fields.

Edit

Edit

The **Edit** button from the **Management** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page should be used to change the selected printing system configuration action.



Delete

The **Delete** button from the **Management** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page allows you to delete the selected printing system configuration actions from the selected project.



Сору То

The **Copy To** button from the **Management** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page should be used to copy the selected printing system configuration actions to another location.



Move To

The **Move To** button from the **Management** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page allows you to move the selected printing system configuration actions to another location.

The printing system configuration actions can be changed, deleted and transferred to different location. To change the printing system configuration action, select it in the **Printers** view and double-click it. Alternatively you can either choose the **Edit** item in the pop-up menu or click the **Edit** button on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page. While editing a printing system configuration action, it is possible to configure the same options as during its creation. To delete specific actions from the project, select them and choose the **Delete** item from the pop-up menu or click the **Delete** button on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page.

If the project contains some printers that you don't want to include into the generated package, you can use the context menu option **Exclude from Build**. Excluded resources are displayed in the project using the faded icons. Use the context menu option **Include in Build** for excluded resource to add them into the generated package. The **Exclude from Build** option allows you to make experiments with the set of resources included into the resulted package with no deleting resources from the project.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

The well-known drag/drop and copy/paste techniques are fully supported for copying and moving printing system management actions between projects. Also you can use the **Copy To** and **Move To** buttons from the **Management** group on the **Printers** contextual Ribbon page to transfer the selected printing system configuration actions to a different location. While using these buttons, you are suggested to select a target location in a dialog and confirm your selection **Pic 7**.

Copy Print Monitor To	×
Choose Destination Select the destination project from those available the specified print monitor will be copied to.	Þ
🞇 Adobe Reader 11	
👯 SVN Client Extensions	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 7. Copying printing system configuration actions

Now that you have been introduced to the features used for managing the printing system configuration actions with MSI Package Builder, you should be able to set up a printing system with the help of a generated MSI package without any difficulties.

Windows Firewall Modifications

MSI Package Builder allows modifying Windows Firewall settings. It is possible to create, modify and delete inbound and outbound firewall rules and to change firewall profile settings during installation and uninstallation of the created package.

Windows Firewall settings described in the project are displayed in the **Windows Firewall** view when the **Windows Firewall** node is selected in the **Projects** view. Changes performed during the monitoring process are automatically added to the view, so you can edit them or add the required changes manually. Changes to the inbound and outbound rules are represented on the **Inbound & Outbound Rules** tab. Let us take a closer look at the possible types of actions.



Inbound Rule

The **Inbound Rule** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Windows Firewall** Ribbon pages should be used to add a firewall inbound-rule deployment action to the currently configured project.



Outbound Rule

The **Outbound Rule** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Windows Firewall** Ribbon pages should be used to add a firewall outbound-rule deployment action to the currently configured project.

When creating an inbound or outbound rule, you need to configure the rule properties in the **New Firewall Rule** dialog **Pic 1**. First, you need to configure the operation type on the **General** tab of the dialog. The Create option allows creating a new firewall rule when a package is deployed. If you need to modify a rule, you should select the Modify option. To delete a rule, you can select the Delete or Delete by Name options.

	Programs and Services	Protocols and Ports	Scope	Advanced Option
Name:	LibreOffice			
Group:	0			
Descript	tion:			
Libr	eOffice			
0				
- Ena	bled			
V Ella	bied			
Action				
	w the connection			
Allo	w the connection if it is	secure		
۲	Allow the connection if i	t is authenticated and	integrit	y-protected
	Require the connection t	o be encrypted		
	Allow the computers	to dynamically nego	tiate end	ryption
	Allow the connection to	use null encapsulation	n	
Blog	ck the connection			
Operati	on: Create	*		
-				

Pic 1. Configuring firewall rule options

Using the options configured in the **Firewall Rule Properties** dialog, you can configure a rule to allow or block a connection. You can switch to different tabs of the dialog to configure the programs and services for the rule to be applied to and to specify ports, scopes and protocols. These settings are similar to the settings of the Windows Firewall configuration.

If the Delete option is specified in the firewall rule, you need to configure all the rule options. In this case, a rule is deleted during the package deployment only if all the options match the options of the rule on the machine. The rule deletion doesn't work if any option doesn't match. To delete a rule regardless of its options, you can use the Delete by Name option. In this case, you should specify the rule name, so all rules with this name will be deleted.

To configure profiles in Windows Firewall, you can switch to the **Profiles Options** tab. It is possible to configure options for the Domain, Private and Public profiles. There is a set of options for every profile, and you can configure the changes for those options to be applied upon the package installation and uninstallation **Pic 2**.

omain Profile			
	Install Action	Uninstall Action	
Windows Defender Firewall state:	Leave Unchanged 🛛 👻	Leave Unchanged	٣
Default behavior for inbound connections:	Leave Unchanged 🛛 👻	Leave Unchanged	٠
Default behavior for outbound connections:	Leave Unchanged 🛛 👻	Leave Unchanged	Ŧ
Display a notification to the user when a program is blocked from receiving inbound connections:	Leave Unchanged 🛛 👻	Leave Unchanged	Ŧ
Allow a unicast response to multicast or broadcast network traffic:	Leave Unchanged 👻	Leave Unchanged	Ŧ
ivate Profile			[
ivate Profile	Install Action	Uninstall Action	
ivate Profile Windows Defender Firewall state:	Install Action	Uninstall Action Leave Unchanged	-
ivate Profile Windows Defender Firewall state: Default behavior for inbound connections:	Install Action Leave Unchanged * Leave Unchanged *	Uninstall Action Leave Unchanged Leave Unchanged	
ivate Profile Windows Defender Firewall state: Default behavior for inbound connections: Default behavior for outbound connections:	Install Action Leave Unchanged • Leave Unchanged • Leave Unchanged •	Uninstall Action Leave Unchanged Leave Unchanged Leave Unchanged	* * *
ivate Profile Windows Defender Firewall state: Default behavior for inbound connections: Default behavior for outbound connections: Display a notification to the user when a program is blocked from receiving inbound connections:	Install Action Leave Unchanged * Leave Unchanged * Leave Unchanged * Leave Unchanged *	Uninstall Action Leave Unchanged Leave Unchanged Leave Unchanged Leave Unchanged	•

Pic 2. Configuring firewall profile options

Using the configuration options, you can turn on or off Windows Defender Firewall for a selected profile, set the default behavior for inbound and outbound connections or configure displayed notifications. You can configure different install and uninstall actions, if you need.

Scheduled Tasks Modifications

It is possible to create and delete scheduled tasks in Windows during project deployment. A set of scheduled tasks changes described in the project is displayed in the **Scheduled Tasks** view when the **Scheduled Tasks** node is selected in the **Projects** view. You can use the follow action to configure a scheduled task change in the project.



Scheduled Task

The **Scheduled Task** button from the **New** group on the regular **Project** and contextual **Scheduled Tasks** Ribbon pages should be used to add a new Windows scheduled task deployment change to the currently configured project.

When you configure a scheduled task you have to specify its general options, execution triggers, actions, executing conditions and run settings. All these configuration parameters and displayed in the correspond tabs of the **New Scheduled Task** dialog and are described below.

Task General Options

When you configure a new scheduled task you start from providing settings on the **General** tab of the **New Scheduled Task** dialog **Pic 1**. On this tab you have to specify a name of the task, task storage location and the name of the task author. You can also specify a description for the task, if required.

New Schedule	ed Task	×
Scheduled Specify sci to be depl	Task Properties :hedule properties, security options, triggers, actions and conditions of a task loyed.	Ð
General Trig	ggers Actions Conditions Settings	
Name:	Scheduled Task	
Location:	Alex tasks	
Author:	MERCURIUS\Alex	
Description:		
Security Opt	tions	
SYSTEM	Change User or Gro	up
Run only	ly when user is logged on	
Run whe	ether user is logged on or not	
Do n	not store password	
Run with	h highest privileges	
Operation:	Create Configure for: Windows Vista and later	•
	OK Ca	ncel

Pic 1. Scheduled task general options

On the same tab you can also specify security options, such as a Windows user account to run the task. Click the **Change User or Group...** button to retrieve and select an account, otherwise a task will be executed using the system account. In this section you can configure the task to run only if the selected user account is logged on.

The program allows you to create a new scheduled task or delete an existing task on the package deployment, so you have to select the corresponding **Operation** option. You can also select an operation system compatibility options.

Task Triggers

On the **Triggers** tab you can configure triggers to be used to activate the task. You can add one or multiple triggers using the **Add** button, located on the toolbar or in the context menu of the **Triggers** table **Pic 2**.

Trio	ral Triggers	Actions	Condition	s Settings	
ing	Trigger			Details	Status
•	At start-up		A	at system start-up	Enabled
õ	On idle		V	When the computer is idle	Enabled

Pic 2. Task triggers configuration

The program supports different types of triggers that are used to activate a task. Windows runs the task when the trigger condition is satisfied. Each trigger type contains its own configuration parameters depending on the nature of the trigger. Supported triggers are listed below.

System Startup Trigger	Run the task on the system startup, when the machine is booted.
Computer Idle Trigger	Run the task when the machine is in the idle state.
User Logon Trigger	Run the task when a user logs on into system.

Scheduled Trigger	Run the task on the regular basis – daily, weekly, etc.
Event Trigger	Run the task when a specific event occurs.
Run Once Trigger	Run the task at the specified date and time.
Task Registration Trigger	Run the task when a task is created or modified.
User Session Trigger	Run the task when a user connects or disconnects the system locally or remotely, or when the workstation is locked or unlocked.
Windows Notification Trigger	Run the task when a specific Windows Notification Facility (WNF) code occurs.

Each trigger type can have custom configuration depending on the trigger type and also has common configuration suitable for all trigger types. Let's take a look at the trigger configuration. For example, when you configure a **User Logon Trigger Pic 3**, you need to specify a user account to fire the trigger or select the option to fire the trigger for any user. This configuration is specific for this type of the trigger.

Add User Logon Trigger	×
User Logon Trigger Properties Specify a user whose log-on should trigger the task execution.	4
Any User	
O Specific User: MERCURIUS\Alex	Change User
Advanced Options	
✓ Delay the task for: 15 minutes →	
Repeat the task every: 1 hour of: 1 day	~
Stop all running tasks at the end of repetition duration	
✓ Stop the task if it runs longer than: 3 days →	
Activate: 12/5/2023 11:56:56 PM Synchronize across time zones	
Expire: 12/5/2024 11:56:56 PM 🚽 Synchronize across time zones	
C Enabled	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 3. User Logon Trigger configuration

Other trigger configuration options are the same for all types of triggers. You can delay the task for the configured time interval. Or you can repeat the task execution. Or stop the task if it runs longer than the specified period. It is also possible to activate and expire the task at configured date and time.

Task Actions

A task can run one or multiple actions that are configured on the **Actions** tab. Pic 4 You can add a new action by pressing the **Add** button on the toolbar of the **Actions** table or select the **Add** option in the context menu.

w serie	dule	d Tasl	k									
hedul Speci to be	ed fy sc depl	Task hedul loyed	Proper le proper	ties ies, securi	ty optio	ns, trig	gers, act	tions an	d condit	tions of	a tas	k (
ieneral	Trig	gers	Actions	Conditio	ns Sett	ings						
Action	ıs								Co Ad	ld • 🥖	2 X	1 A V
# 15.		Acti	on			Detail	s					
1	6	Start	a progra	m/script		script.	cmd					

Pic 4. Task actions configuration

It is possible to start a program or run a COM object as a task action. When you configure a program you have to specify a program or script to run, its execution arguments and the start folder. For a COM object you should specify ClassID and data.

Task Conditions

On the Conditions tab you need to configure conditions that should be satisfied to run the task. **Pic 5** You can configure a task to be started only when a computer is in the idle state. Specify how long the computer should be in idle before running this task and how long to wait for idle.

au Schadulad Tack	~
ew Scheduled lask	×
cheduled Task Properties Specify schedule properties, security options, triggers, actions and conditions of a task to be deployed.	\bigcirc
General Triggers Actions Conditions Settings Idle Idle for: Wait for idle for: Stop if the computer ceases to be idle Restart if the idle state resumes Power Stop if the computer switches to battery power Stop if the computer to run this task	
ОК С	ancel

Pic 5. Task conditions configuration

You can also configure to run the task when the machine runs on AC power or wake the machine to run the task.

Task Settings

On the Settings tab you can configure task running and creating options. Pic 6 These options configure various aspects of task behavior – how it can be started, what to do on the task failure, how task should be stopped, etc.

Speci to be	fy schedu deployed	le propert	ies, security op	otions, triggers, ac	tions and o	onditions of a	task 🕒
General Run Run Run If th Max Stop Stop	Triggers w the task the task fail c number p the task the running the task is n	Actions k to be run as soon as s, restart e of restart a if it runs le task does	Conditions on demand possible after very: 1 minut attemts: 3 onger than: 3 not end wher led to run aga	Settings the scheduled sta te c days requested, force in, delete it after:	rt is missed • it to stop 30 days	d	
If the ta Attribut Crea	sk is alrea es ate task di ate task hi	dy runnin sabled idden	g: Do not star	t a new instance	*		

Pic 6. Task settings

On the same tab you can also configure task creation options. It is possible to create a hidden and disabled task.

Nested Packages Deployment

In the scope of package deployment, it is possible to install and uninstall MSIX packages that are part of the installation. This functionality can be used, in particular, to deploy MSIX Sparse Packages that provide access to new Windows APIs and UWP features such as BackgroundTasks, Notifications, LiveTiles, Share, and others.

During monitoring, the program automatically detects MSIX packages deployed by the repackaged installation and creates corresponding entries in the **Nested Packages** view **Pic 1**, which is displayed when the **Nested Packages** node is selected in the **Projects** view. You can review automatically created nested packages, as well as modify, delete or add new packages manually using this view. You can also change the nested packages deployment order and exclude/include a package from the build. To modify nested package properties, you can use the **Edit** action available in the context menu.

E. (6).		Name	Туре
1	4	PythonSoftwareFoundation.Python.3.8_3.8.2800.0_x64	Nested MSIX Package
2	4	Python.3.8_3.8.2800.0_x64	Nested MSIX Package
- 3	- G	Mozilla.Firefox_125.0.3.0_x64	Nested MSIX Package

Pic 1. Nested packages view

There are two types of nested MSIX packages that can be managed in the **Nested Packages** view: nested MSIX packages and replicated MSIX packages. Below is detailed information about each type. You can use the following actions to create different types of nested packages.



Nested MSIX Packages

Nested packages enable the deployment of existing MSIX packages within the scope of the parent package. If you use monitoring to capture changes of an installation that deploys some MSIX packages, these packages are detected and added to the generated project as nested MSIX packages. This ensures that the repackaged installation will also deploy them. During the repackaging process, nested packages are created and configured automatically, or you can create them manually in the **Nested Packages** view. Nested MSIX packages have several configurable properties **Pic 2**.

Edit Nested MSIX	Package ×
Nested MSIX P Choose an MS	Package Properties SIX package to be installed or uninstalled during the installation of the MSI package.
Package Identity	
Name:	PythonSoftwareFoundation.Python.3.8
Publisher:	CN=4975D53F-AA7E-49A5-8849-EA4FDC1BB66B
Architecture:	x64 Version: 3.8.2800.0 Read Identity from Package
Package File:	C:\Users\Alex\Desktop\Python.3.8_3.8.2800.0_x64.msix ····
External Location:	•
Operation:	Install ~ Apply To: Same As Owner Package ~
	OK Cancel

Pic 2. Nested MSIX package editing

When you configure a new package, you need to choose an **Operation** for the package, such as Install or Uninstall. If you configure a package installation, you must choose a package file to be deployed from those stored in the project; select it in the **Package File** field. If you are deploying a Sparse Package, you also need to specify a folder in the **External Location** field that is set as the root for the installing MSIX package. Additionally, you must configure how a package should be deployed in the **Apply To** field, whether it should be deployed to the current user, all users or use the same settings specified for the owner MSI package.

To configure package uninstallation, you must specify package uninstallation conditions such as **Package Name**, **Publisher**, **Architecture**, and **Version Pic 3**.

New Nested MSIX	Package X
Nested MSIX F Choose an M	Package Properties SIX package to be installed or uninstalled during the installation of the MSI package.
Package Identity	
Name:	Python.3.8
Publisher:	CN=4975D53F-AA7E-49A5-8849-EA4FDC1BB66B
Architecture:	x64 • Version: 3.8.2800.0 Read Identity from Package
Package File:	
External Location:	•
Operation:	Uninstall ~ Apply To: All Users ~
	OK Cancel

Pic 3. Nested MSIX package uninstall options

The program will uninstall only those packages that meet the entered conditions. To automatically fill in these fields, you can use the **Read Identity from Package** button, so conditions are extracted from the selected package file, and the program will uninstall only packages with the same identity during deployment. You can configure to uninstall multiple packages at once by specifying regular expressions in the package properties. The program also supports simple placeholders, so you can use "*" as a replacement for varying string width and "?" as a replacement for one symbol. You can leave the **Publisher** and **Version** values empty, so they aren't evaluated to find suitable packages.

Replicated MSIX Packages

In some cases, a nested MSIX package file may not be available during installation packaging. For example, when monitoring a package installation from the Windows Store, the installation happens, but the MSIX package file used for this process may not be available afterward. In such situations, replicated MSIX packages can be used to package these installations.

During monitoring, the program automatically detects the deployment of MSIX packages. If the MSIX package file itself is unavailable, the program uses the deployed MSIX manifest file to replicate the deployment of the nested MSIX package. A corresponding entry for the replicated package is automatically created and displayed in the **Nested Packages** view. Additionally, you can manually create a replicated MSIX package entry in the project.

To manually create a replicated MSIX package, the program prompts you to specify the path to an MSIX manifest file, analyzes its content, and creates a corresponding entry in the installation project. During the parent package generation, the replicated package configuration is used to create a nested MSIX package, which is deployed as part of the parent package installation.

MSIX packages must be digitally signed, and the program signs them using the digital signature configured in the installation project or in the **Package Signing Page** of the program **Preferences** depending on the configured digital signing options. To generate a package with a replicated MSIX package, a digital signature must be enabled and specified.
You can modify the content of a replicated MSIX package by editing it. On the **General** tab, you can view the main properties of the replicated package. You can change the package name, version, architecture, and other properties **Pic 4**.

eneral Package	Files
Package Identity -	inca inca
Name:	PythonSoftwareFoundation.Python.3.9
Publisher:	<the based="" be="" generated="" of="" on="" package="" parent="" publisher="" signature="" the="" will=""></the>
Architecture:	x64 * Version: 3.9.2800.0
Manifest File:	[AppxManifest.xml]
External Location:	•
	Apply To: Same As Owner Package

Pic 4. Replicated MSIX package properties

On the **Package Files** tab, you can review a list of file system resources deployed by the replicated package. When you create a replicated package, this resource list is generated based on the package's manifest file **Pic 5**.

dit Replicated MSIX Package	×
Replicated MSIX Package Properties Specify the MSIX package manifest to build a nested MSIX package and install it during the install	lation of the parent package.
General Package Files	
MSIX Package Files	📄 📕 X 🖉 🍳
Name	h
> 📙 DLLs	
> 📙 include	
> 📙 Lib	
> 📙 libs	
> 👫 tcl	
> 👫 _resources	
classicAppCompat.sccd	
idle3.8.exe	
LICENSE.txt	
	OK Cancel

Pic 5. Replicated MSIX package files

If needed, you can add new files to the replicated package or remove existing ones. The files listed in this view will be included in the MSIX package, which will be automatically generated and added to the parent package.

Using Custom Actions

The custom actions are the actions that can be performed together with the MSI package install and/or uninstall process. They can be used, for example, to prepare the system for installation of the package, to check prerequisites, to start the application on installation completion, etc. These actions are defined on a project level and are displayed in the **Custom Actions** view when the **Custom Actions** node of a project is selected in the **Projects** view.

There are two kinds of custom actions, namely pre & post actions and system actions. The pre & post actions are generic commands to be performed, and the system actions are predefined commands.

 Custom Actions

 Custom Actions

 Custom Actions

 Custom Actions

 Custom Actions

 Image allows creating a new action of a specific type and add it to the selected project.

 Image Pre & Post Action

 The Pre & Post Action button from the New group on the Custom Actions Ribbon

page should be used to create a new generic action and add it to the selected

Managing Pre & Post Actions

project.

Pre & Post

Action

To create a new action, choose the **New Pre & Post Action** item in the **Custom Actions** view popup menu from the **Pre & Post Actions** part. Alternatively, you can use the **Pre & Post Action** option within the **Custom Action** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and the **Pre & Post Action** button on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page. In any case the **New Pre & Post Action** dialog will appear on the screen to let you configure the action to be created **Pic 1**.

New Pre & Post Ac	tion		×
Action Propert Provide a com install/uninstal	ies mand, a URL or a path to the executable to be run before or after the gen I process, define when to execute the action, and choose from a variety o	erated MSI pack of the execution	age options.
General Files			
Name:	Gather Feedback	Run Action:	After Uninstall 👻
Command Line:	http://dreamlight.org/feedback.php?product=management_console	&version=2.7.0	E 🔛 🖹
Context:	Current user account with limited privileges (possible impersonation)	 Run As: 	Invoker 👻
	Wait until this action is completed Interrupt the install/uninstall process if this action is completed v	vith an error (exp	perienced users only)
			OK Cancel

Pic 1. Creating a new pre & post action

Each pre & post action can be represented with a command (such as an executable or script file) or a simple action to open a file or an URL. The action to be executed should be specified in the **Command Line** field, where you can also configure optional command-line parameters to be passed to the executable/script.

A custom action can be executed before install of the package, after install, before uninstall or after uninstall. It's important to understand when the action will be executed to configure a command properly. A custom action can run executable and script files that is a part of deployed package, but for actions executed before install or after uninstall these files are not available because the installation isn't deployed them (in the case of before install action) or already deleted them (in the case of after uninstall action). Custom actions executed before install or after uninstall can run scripts/executables always available in a system, for example system commands. Or you can configure action files, as explained below, and use them to run an action.

To specify a command using an executable/script file use buttons available in the **Command Line** edit box.

- Choose the file from those available in the action files
- Choose the file from those available in the project
- Choose the file from those available on the system

Using a File from Action Files

Custom actions can operate with own set of files that are deployed independently from the deployed package. You can configure those files on the Files tab of the custom action configuration dialog **Pic 2**.

ew Pre & Post Action	×
ction Properties Provide a command, a URL or a path to the executable to be run before or after the generated MSI package install/uninstall process, define when to execute the action, and choose from a variety of the execution options.	
General Files	
Action Files	🖹 🗙 🍠
Name	h.
Make.cmd	
OK	Cancel

Pic 2. Configuring custom action files

If you have been added custom actions files, you can use the **Select a File from the Actions Files** button of the **Command Line** edit box to configure a file to be executed as a custom action. When you select a file, it is represented as \${ActionFiles}\$\<file> in the commend line, where <file> is the file you selected and \${ActionFiles}\$ is a property definition placeholder that specified a path to the storage of custom action files. You can add command-line parameters to the command, if required.

Using a **File from Actions Files** allows you to run executables/scripts independently from the type of the custom action (before/after install/uninstall) and environment. Custom actions operate with the own set of files always available in all the cases, so, for example, you can execute a custom script before package installation or after uninstallation, for example. Other options, represented below, have limitations and aren't as flexible as this option.

Using a File from the Project

This option allows you to run an executable or a script deployed by the package. The executable/script file should be available in the **File System** section of the project. This option can be used, for example, to run a file that is a part of the captured installation, for example. This file is a part of deployed changes, so you can run it.

This option has some limitations. You cannot use it to run a command before installation, because the file to be executed isn't deployed yet. You cannot use it to run a command after uninstallation, because the file is already deleted. Use it when you need to run a file that is a part of the deployed installation after install or before uninstall.

When you select a file from those available in the project, the path to the file may be represented using the property definition placeholders. They replace absolute paths to the files location with placeholders to represent special system folders to make the package independent from the deployment environment.

Using a File

This option allows you to select a location on the local file system and is applicable only to run standard Windows commands. The custom action will work only if the configured executable with the same file path is available on the system where the package will be deployed. If you need to run an executable that isn't available on each system where the package will be deployed, use any of the options above.

The **Command Line** field supports the property definition placeholders, so you can use the standard MSI properties while configuring the action. See the Property Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders.



The Windows Installer does not allow installing, configuring and uninstalling packages in parallel, though it is impossible to execute installation, repair or uninstallation of another MSI package within the custom actions execution scope.

As for the start type, you can choose between **Before Install**, **After Uninstall**, **Before Uninstall** and **After Uninstall**. Thus, you can, for example check some prerequisites and perform preparation steps before the package installation and perform a kind of clean-up after uninstalling the package. For each action, you can choose the execution context, if to run it as administrator or as invoker in case of current user account context, if the installer should wait for the action to complete and if it should analyze the completion result.

The **Administrator** value from the **Run As** drop-down should be selected only for executing the actions that required administrative privileges to function. It is insecure to run all actions

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

as administrator.

If the successful action completion is required for the installation to complete successfully, than you can check both the **Wait until this action is completed** and **Interrupt the install/uninstall process if this action is completed with an error** options. However, be aware of the fact, that if the action is implemented incorrectly, the whole installation will fail.



Move Up

The **Move Up** button from the **Order** group on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page should be used to move the selected pre & post actions up the execution order.



Move Down

The **Move Down** button from the **Order** group on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page should be used to move the selected pre & post actions down the execution order.

By default, the pre & post actions execution order is the same as the addition order, but you can reorder the actions using the **Move Up** and **Move Dow**n items from the pop-up menu or the **Order** group on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page.

Custom Action Templates

Some custom actions are used regularly in different projects. To simplify configuring those actions the program provides preconfigured templates. Use **Run PowerShell Script**, **Run VB Script**, **Run Batch File** or **Run Installed Application** actions available in the **Action Templates** group of the contextual **Custom Actions** tab on Ribbon to configure a corresponding action.

Action templates allow you to select a file to be executed. This file is automatically added to action files storage and the path to the file is specified in the command together with the standard command-line options. Other suitable configuration options are also set to the required values. You only need to set **Run Action** according with your needs.

Managing System Actions

To create a new action for installing Software Assets Management (SAM) licenses, choose the **New SAM Licenses Installation** item in the **Custom Actions** view pop-up menu from the **System Actions** part. Alternatively, you can use the **SAM Licenses Installation** option within the **Custom Action** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and the **SAM Licenses Installation** button on the **Custom Actions** contextual Ribbon page.



SAM Licenses Installation

The **SAM Licenses Installation** button from the **New** group on the **Custom Actions** contextual Ribbon page should be used to create a new action for installing Software Assets Management (SAM) licenses to the Software Licensing Service (SLS) and add it to the selected project.

Configure the action to be created in the New SAM Licenses Installation dialog Pic 3.

New SAM Licenses Installation	×
Configure SAM Licenses Installations Provide a set of Software Assets Management (SAM) license files to be installed to the Software Licensing Service (SLS) when deploying the MSI package.	
Name: SAM Licenses Installations	
License Files	\times
Name	h.
Daba458d-8edc-4a28-9b07-a6c42d7fa64e	
6d4a1523-f3fe-4139-bf36-2373ea286100	
bf315270-644e-4eb1-8407-fb00d44a942d	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 3. Creating a new SAM Licenses Installation action

For each SAM licenses installation action, you can define a name and a set of licenses to be installed to the Software Licensing Service (SLS) during the installation of the generated MSI package.



Pin Application Action

The **Pin Application Action** button from the **New** group on the **Custom Actions** contextual Ribbon page allows you to create a new action to pin any application to or unpin it from the Start Menu and/or the Task Bar.

If you would like to pin any application to or unpin it from the Start Menu and/or the Task Bar, you can use the Pin Application action. To create such an action, choose the **New Pin Application Action** in the **Custom Actions** view pop-up menu from the **System Actions** part. Alternatively, you can use the **Pin Application Action** option within the **Custom Action** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and the **Pin Application Action** button on the **Custom Actions** contextual Ribbon page. The **New Pin Application Action** dialog will appear on the screen in any case **Pic 4**.

New Pin Applicati	on Action			×
Configure Pin Provide a nan define if it sh	Application Action he for the action, choose the executa build be pinned to or unpinned from	ble path of the application the Start Menu and/or the	n to operate and Task Bar.	XA
Name:	Adobe Reader			
Executable Path:	S{ProgramFilesFolder}S\Adobe\R	eader 11.0\Reader\AcroRc	i32.exe	
Operation:	Pin +	Pin To:	Start Menu	*
			ОК	Cancel

Pic 4. Creating a new Pin Application action

For each action, you should define its name, the application to operate, whether the application should be pinned or unpinned, and if the operation should be performed for the Start Menu, the Task Bar or both.

Editing, Deleting and Transferring Actions

The custom actions can be changed, deleted and transferred between projects. The corresponding actions are available in pop-up menu or on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page.

Edit

The **Edit** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page should be used to change the selected action configuration.



Edit

Delete

The **Delete** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page allows you to delete the selected actions from the selected project.



Сору То

The **Copy To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page should be used to copy the selected actions to another project.



Move To

The **Move To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Custom Actions** Ribbon page allows you to move the selected actions to another project.

To change the action, select it and either double-click, or choose the **Edit** item in pop-up menu or on the contextual **Custom Actions** contextual Ribbon page. While editing an action, you can define the same scope of properties as during its creation. To delete the action from the project, select it and choose the **Delete** item in the pop-up menu or on the contextual **Custom Actions** contextual Ribbon page.



If the project contains some custom actions that you don't want to include into the generated package, you can use the context menu option **Exclude from Build**. Excluded resources are displayed in the project using the faded icons. Use the context menu option **Include in Build** for excluded resource to add them into the generated package. The **Exclude from Build** option allows you to make experiments with the set of resources included into the resulted package with no deleting resources from the project.

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

The well-known drag/drop and copy/paste techniques are fully supported for copying and moving custom actions between projects. You can also use the **Copy To** and **Move To** buttons from the **Management** group on the contextual **Custom Actions** contextual Ribbon page to transfer the selected actions to a different project. While using these buttons, you are suggested to select a project from those available in a dialog and confirm your selection **Pic 5**.

Copy Pin Application Action To	×
Choose Destination Select the destination project from those available the specified pin application action will be copied to.	Þ
🕅 SVN Client Extensions	
OK	Cancel

Pic 5. Copying custom actions between projects

Now you are introduced to the custom actions concept and the abilities the custom actions provide you with, thus you should be able to use this feature of MSI Package Builder to resolve appropriate tasks.

Wrapping Existing Installations

One of the methods of installations repackaging supported by MSI Package Builder is wrapping existing installations into a generated MSI package. The generated MSI includes one or multiple installations that are deployed when you deploy the MSI. To create a wrap MSI package you need to specify wrapped installations and configure them for silent deployment, so they will be installed automatically when you install the generated MSI. You can also configure uninstall and repair options for wrapped installations if you want to uninstall and repair them when you uninstall and repair the MSI.

To use wrapping you need to create a project with wrapped packages and configure those packages. Each wrapped package in the project corresponds to an installation you need to wrap. The wrapped packages are defined on a project level and displayed in the **Wrapped Packages** view when the **Wrapped Packages** node of a project is selected in the **Projects** view.



Wrapped Package

The **Wrapped Package** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and on the contextual **Wrapped Packages** Ribbon page should be used to create a new wrapped package and add it to the selected project.

If the project was created in a scope of the **Repackage Installation** wizard, the packages defined during repackaging are automatically added to the project. You can also add any number of wrapped packages to any project manually. To add a new wrapped package, choose the **New Wrapped Package** item from the **Wrapped Package** view pop-up menu. Alternatively, you can choose the **Wrapped Package** button from the **New** group on the **Project** Ribbon page and on the contextual **Wrapped Packages** Ribbon page. The browse dialog will be displayed to let you choose the installation package to be wrapped. As soon as the installation is chosen, you are suggested to configure the package **Pic 1**.

Spacify	Packag	e Properties	interved together with the generated MSL define the nackage	$\mathbf{\bullet}$
name a	nd the par	ameters to be passed to	to the setup during the package deployment.	
liName	DjVu Cont	trol		
Setup File:	D:\install\l	EXE\DJVUCNTL_601_EN	V.EXE	
Parameter	Package	e Files		
A You r and/o not d input	nust specif or mainten efined or a	fy the parameters to be nance if you are going t are defined incorrectly,	e passed to the provided setup for performing a silent installa to deploy the generated MSI package silently. If the paramete , the deployment process will hang indefinitely waiting for the	tion rs are e user
Why	is it import	tant to supply installer o	command line parameters?	
Install Par	ameters			
You can d	lefine the p	parameters to be passe	d to the installer during the MSI package installation, if require	red.
Paramete	rs: 🚺 /s /	/SMS /f1install.iss		
	for install	I failure by the exit code	e Success Exit Codes: 🕕 0	
Check				
Maintena	nce Param	neters		
Maintena You shou installatio	nce Param Id define ti n to be rep	neters he command line to be paired or uninstalled us	e used to perform uninstall and repair if you would like this sing the created MSI package.	
Maintena You shou installatio	nce Param Id define ti n to be rep Repair	he command line to be paired or uninstalled us Repair CMD Line:	e used to perform uninstall and repair if you would like this sing the created MSI package. ① \${PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1repair.iss	
Maintena You shoul installatio	nce Param Id define tl n to be reg Repair Uninstall	heters he command line to be paired or uninstalled us Repair CMD Line: Uninstall CMD Line:	e used to perform uninstall and repair if you would like this sing the created MSI package. () \${PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1repair.iss () \${PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1uninstall.iss	
Maintena You shou installatio Allow	nce Param Id define tl n to be reg Repair Uninstall	heters he command line to be paired or uninstalled us Repair CMD Line: Uninstall CMD Line:	e used to perform uninstall and repair if you would like this sing the created MSI package. () \${PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1repair.iss () \${PackageSetupFile}\$ /s /SMS /f1uninstall.iss	

Pic 1. Configuring a wrapped package

While configuring a package, you should provide a package name – this name is also used as the installation package name while deploying a generated MSI package. If additional files are required to install a wrapped package, they should be added to the **Additional Files** table, using the **Add File** and **Add Folder** buttons on the toolbar. You can add only files and folders that are located in the same folder as the setup file. In case the additional parameters are required to be passed to the installer during a generated MSI package installation, they should be provided to the **Parameters** field within the **Install Parameters** group. A wrapped installation has to be deployed silently. Usually an installation deploys silently when running with parameters activating silent deployment, so you have to specify these parameters in the **Parameters** field.

It is possible to use the property definition placeholders when configuring both the installer parameters and maintenance parameters. See the Property Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders. Together with the common properties, you can also use the **\${PackageSetupFile}\$** and the **\${PackageSetupDir}\$** placeholders. The **\${PackageSetupFile}\$** placeholder stands for the path to the setup file during the package deployment and the **\${PackageSetupDir}\$** is replaced with the path to the setup file location.

In some cases you need to check the results of wrapped package deployment to revert MSI deployment if a wrapped installation fails to install. You can use the **Check for install failure by the exit code** option to check results of the wrapped packages deployment. You can enable this option and specify exit codes for a wrapped package. If during MSI installation this wrapped installation exits with different exit codes than specified, an installation failure is detected for the wrap MSI. In this case already deployed wrapped packages are uninstalled, if their uninstallation settings are specified, and the wrap MSI package entry isn't created.

To be able to repair and uninstall this wrapped package, you should enable the **Allow Repair** and **Allow Uninstall** options within the **Maintenance Parameters** group. In case if the wrapped package is an MSI, you can define the Windows installer parameters used for uninstall and repair, if required. Otherwise, if the wrapped package is an executable installer, you should define a command line to be executed to uninstall and/or repair the package.



Move Up

The **Move Up** button from the **Order** group on the contextual **Wrapped** Packages ribbon page should be used to move the selected packages up the deployment order.



Move Down

The **Move Down** button from the **Order** group on the contextual **Wrapped** Packages ribbon page should be used to move the selected packages down the deployment order.

By default, the wrapped packages deployment order is the same as the addition order, but you can reorder the packages using the **Move Up** and **Move Down** items from the pop-up menu or the **Order** group on the contextual **Wrapped Packages** Ribbon page. Please take into account, that the install, repair and uninstall order for the wrapped packages is the same.



Edit

The **Edit** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Wrapped** Packages Ribbon page should be used to change the selected wrapped package configuration.



Delete

The **Delete** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Wrapped** Packages Ribbon page allows you to delete the selected wrapped packages from the selected project.



Move

То

Сору То

The **Copy To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Wrapped** Packages Ribbon page should be used to copy the selected wrapped packages to another project.

Move To

The **Move To** button from the **Management** group on the contextual **Wrapped** Packages Ribbon page allows you to move the selected wrapped packages to another project. The wrapped packages can be changed, deleted and transferred between projects. To change the wrapped package, select it and either double-click, or choose the **Edit** item in pop-up menu or on the contextual **Wrapped Packages** Ribbon page. While editing a wrapped package, you can define the same scope of properties as during its creation. To delete the wrapped from the project, select it and choose the **Delete** item in the pop-up menu or on the contextual **Wrapped Packages** Ribbon page. The well-known drag/drop and copy/paste techniques are fully supported for copying and moving wrapped packages between projects. You can also use the **Copy To** and **Move To** buttons from the **Management** group on the contextual **Wrapped Packages** Ribbon page to transfer the selected wrapped packages to a different project. While using these buttons, you are suggested to select a project from those available in a dialog and confirm your selection **Pic 2**.

Copy Wrapped Package To	×
Choose Destination Select the destination project from those available the specified wrapped package will be copied to.	Þ
🕵 Adobe Packages	
OK	Cancel

Pic 2. Copying wrapped packages between projects

As you can see, the process of wrapping existing installations is fast and easy, but if you are going to deploy the generated MSI package in a silent mode, you should pay a special attention to the parameters passed to the wrapped package installer.

Why is it important to supply installer command line parameters?

By default, most of the installation setup programs guide the end user through the setup wizard, thus the interaction with the user is required to complete the setup. So if you are going to deploy a generated MSI package in a silent mode, it is required the wrapped installation is performed without any interaction with the user. If the package is configured incorrectly, the deployment process may pause to wait for user input, and if there is no user during the remote deployment process, it will hang indefinitely. Installation setup programs mostly support silent execution, but the execution parameters may vary depending on the installation vendor.

Now let us take a look at the importance of an answer file. In some cases, the installer simply does not provide a default installation sequence without any user input, so a silent deployment without any additional configuration is impossible. Such installers commonly provide a technique for recoding an answer file to perform the deployment saving the user answers to that file. Another example is setups that use the same command for uninstall and repair and simply ask you what you would like to do on the first step of the installation wizard. If you launch an uninstall using this command with a default scenario, the installation setup may simply perform a repair, and that is not what you are expecting. Therefore, the required answer files, if any, must be added to the wrapped package and used while specifying the installer command line parameters **Pic 1**.

As a conclusion, we should emphasize that providing the parameters to be passed to the installer setup and the answer file, if required, is always a must. You should contact the installation package vendor or should do Internet search to get the proper parameters to be passed to each executable installer setup.

Using Placeholders

The MSI Package Builder enables the creation of adaptable installations for various deployment environments. In practice, file system structures and paths to system folders can vary across machines, influenced by Windows system language, user profiles, and other factors. MSI Package Builder addresses these challenges using placeholders.

The file system definition placeholders, represented in the next chapter, enable you to replace absolute file system paths, which are unique to each system, with universal placeholders. This approach ensures your installations are adaptable to various environments with different Windows system folder structures.

With property definition placeholders, you can utilize both a predefined set of standard placeholders and create your own for tasks like configuring custom actions, modifying the registry, and implementing other changes in the installation project. For instance, this allows passing a custom property as an installation parameter, enabling the package to utilize the provided property during installation.

System folder definition placeholders can also be used in a set of monitoring filters to skip activities from specified processes or changes to defined file system items and registry keys during the Live Monitoring process. Additionally, they can be utilized in uninstall filters to retain shared resources on a PC after uninstalling an MSI.

What's Inside

System Folder Definition Placeholders Property Definition Placeholders

System Folder Definition Placeholders

Different Windows systems may have different locations of standard Windows folders. For example, the location of the Program Files, ProgramData and other system folders may be different and depends on a particular system. You need to take that into account when you create an MSI, you cannot use absolute paths to the standard system folders. An MSI fails to deploy if it uses absolute path to system folders and these folders are missing on the system. Instead, you can use so-called system folders placeholders that represent well-known system locations and are automatically converted to correct file system paths when a package is deployed.

When you use **Repackage Installation Wizard** to monitor an installation, the program automatically converts captured absolute paths to system folders. In the **File System** editor you can select a system folder to add a file into it when adding a file manually. You can automatically covert absolute paths to system folders by executing the **Roll All System Folders** action from the context menu of the project.

System folders placeholders are represented in the project with a set of predefined names to wellknown system paths. In the project they are represented with special names started with **\$**{ and ended with **}\$**, for example **\${ProgramFilesFolder}\$**.

System folders are replaced with the file system locations actual for the system where the package is deployed, so file system resources are created in correct locations.

System folder placeholders can be used in different places within the project and in the program settings. In the **File System** section of the project system folders are used to configure paths to the files and folders to be deployed. System folders can be used in **Custom Actions** to specify a path to the deployed script or executable to be invoked after deployment. System folder definition placeholders can be used to configure filters in the program Preferences.

Placeholder	Replacement
AdminToolsFolder	The file system directory that is used to store administrative tools for the current user.
AppDataFolder	The Application Data folder for the current user.
CommonAdminTool sFolder	The file system directory that contains administrative tools for all users of the computer.
CommonAppDataF older	The Application Data folder that is common for all users.
CommonDesktopFo Ider	The folder for the Desktop content that is common for all users.
CommonDocument sFolder	The file system directory that contains documents that are common to all users.
CommonFiles64Fol der	The Common Files folder for 64-bit applications.
CommonFilesFolder	The Common Files folder for 32-bit applications.
CommonProgramM enuFolder	The folder for the All Programs menu content that is common for all users.
CommonStartMenu Folder	The folder for the Start menu content that is common for all users.

Below is a list of the available placeholders for system folder definitions.

Placeholder	Replacement
CommonStartupFol der	The folder for the programs executed on startup for all users.
CurrentUserProfileF older	The current user's profile folder.
DesktopFolder	The current user's Desktop content folder.
FavoritesFolder	The Favorites folder for the current user.
FontsFolder	The folder used to install fonts to.
LocalAppDataFolde r	The folder that serves as a data repository for local (nonroaming) applications for the current user.
MyPicturesFolder	The Pictures folder for the current user.
NetHoodFolder	The file system directory that contains the link objects that may exist in the My Network Places virtual folder.
PersonalFolder	The Documents folder for the current user.
PrintHoodFolder	The file system directory that contains the link objects that can exist in the Printers virtual folder.
ProgramFiles64Fold er	The Program Files folder for 64-bit applications.
ProgramFilesFolder	The Program Files folder for 32-bit applications.
ProgramMenuFolde r	The folder for the All Programs menu content for the current user.
RecentFolder	The file system directory that contains shortcuts to the user's most recently used documents.
SendToFolder	The folder tor the Send To menu content for the current user.
StartMenuFolder	The folder for the Start menu content for the current user.
StartupFolder	The folder for the programs executed on startup for the current users.
System16Folder	The System folder for 16-bit libraries.
System64Folder	The System folder for 64-bit libraries.
SystemFolder	The System folder for 32-bit libraries.
TempFolder	The file system directory that is designated for temporary files.
TemplateFolder	The Templates folder for the current user.
UserProfilesFolder	The system user profiles folder.
WindowsFolder	The folder the operating system is installed to.
WindowsVolume	The volume the operating system is installed on.

Please note that specific system folders can be indefinite on specific operating systems, so you should make sure that the operating systems you have defined as target during a deployment package creation process support the folders you have defined.

Property Definition Placeholders

MSI Package Builder allows using standard and user-defined MSI property placeholders when configuring custom actions, registry modifications and other changes in the installation project. Standard property placeholders are defined in Windows Installer specification. You can find a full list of supported standard properties in the **Property Reference** article on MSDN. These properties include system folder placeholders, explained in the system folder definition placeholders article.

Placeholders are replaced with actual values during the package deployment. In the project you can use a property definition placeholder that starts with **\$**{ and ends with **}\$** and contains one of the supported property names, e. g. **\${Manufacturer}\$**. For example, if you specify this placeholder as a value of the registry key, it will be replaced with the name of package manufacturer during package deployment. As another example, you can use a system folder placeholder to specify a path to a script that should be executed in the custom action configuration. The system folder placeholder will be replaced with the actual path during the package deployment.

The program allows using user-defined MSI properties passed to the package externally during deployment. These properties should be spelled with all capital letters and should be passed to the package during deployment as parameters of msiexec.exe command, for example:

msiexec.exe /i installer.msi
AUTOUPDATE=1;REGISTEREDOWNER=Dreamlight;REINSTALLMODE=omus

The command allow defines **\${AUTOUPDATE}\$**, **\${REGISTEREDOWNER}\$** and **\${REINSTALLMODE}\$** property placeholders that can be used in the project.

In addition to standard and user-defined placeholders, there are additional placeholders available that can be used to configure specific project settings.

Custom Action Placeholders

Using the following placeholders you can specify locations of file system resources. For example, a custom action includes a reference to a script deployed and executed by the action. To specify a path to the script a special placeholder should be used. It has the same syntax as system folder placeholders starting from **\$**{ and ending by }**\$**. Below is a list of placeholders supported by custom actions.

Placeholder	Replacement
ActionFiles	This placeholder can be used in Custom Actions to specify a path to the
	location that stores files deployed by the custom action. To use this placeholder you need to add a file in the custom action. The placeholder can
	be used to specify a path to the files configured in the custom action.

Wrapped Package Placeholders

When you configure a wrapped package, you can use special placeholder to specify paths to the file system locations. Below you can find a list of supported placeholders. They have the same syntax as system folder placeholders starting from **\${** and ending by **}\$**.

Placeholder	Replacement
PackageSetupFile	This placeholder can be used to specify a full path to the wrapped installation. You can use it in the wrapped package installation parameters configuration.

Placeholder	Replacement
PackageSetupDir	This placeholder can be used to specify a full path to the directory where the wrapped installation is located. You can use it in the wrapped package installation parameters configuration.

Exporting a Project

All project data, including a set of files, registry and other changes, as well as package settings are stored in the project. To transfer projects from one computer to another or to back up projects, the program allows you to export the project contents as a single project archive file.

The **Projects Storage** view lets you review all projects available in the program. To export a project, simply select it from the list and either choose **Export** from the context menu or use the **Export Project** action on the right side of the view.

Opened projects appear in the **Projects** tree. To export one, either select **Export Project...** from its context menu or choose the project in the **Projects** tree and click the **Export** button in the **Project Management** group on the **Home** ribbon page.



Export

The **Export** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to export all project contents to a compressed file.

When you initiate project export, the **Export Project** wizard is opened, where you can configure the export operation **Pic 1**.

Export	t Project					×
Expo Sp	rt Installation Pro pecify a path to the ex	ject ported project file an	d configure the	export data com	pression.	
Export	t To: C:\msi\AdobeRe	eader.pbproj				
PROJ	The project contents compression level. T level.	will be compressed he export time may	and included ir vary depending	to the export file on the project si	. You need to select te and the selected of	the required compression
	Compression Level:	None (Very Fast)	¥			
			< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel

Pic 1. Exporting a project

On the displayed dialog, you should specify a path to the export file and select the file compression level. The export file size depends on the selected compression level. Hence, the smaller output file you need, the higher compression level you should select, but exporting project data with a higher compression may require more time.

Importing a Project

With MSI Package Builder, you can not only create new packages but also modify existing ones using the project importing feature. You can import both project archive files and existing packages. The program allows you to select a package you want to modify, import it to a new project, perform the changes needed and build a new package. This feature is designed to address situations where you have generated a deployment package, subsequently deleted the project, but still need to make changes to or upgrade the package.

Though it is guaranteed that the import of the deployment package built with any previous version of MSI Package Builder is fully supported, some MSI, App-V and MSIX/AppX features are not available in the MSI Package Builder import technology. So if you are importing a generic deployment package, please check the import results and a newly generated deployment package carefully.

The feature of creating a new deployment package based on an existing deployment package is available in the **Project Setup** wizard. Alternatively, you can use the **Import** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page or the **Import Project** link in the **Product Actions** group on the **Welcome View**.



Import

The **Import** button from the **Project Management** group on the **Home** Ribbon page should be used to create a new MSI Package Builder project based on an existing deployment package or a project archive file.

In any case, you will reach the page where you are proposed to provide the path to the existing deployment package to import and a name for the project to be created as a result **Pic 1**. The project allows you to import *.msi, *.appv, *.appx, *.msix and *.pbproj files.

Import Project		×
Import Setti Provide a p name for t	ings path to the existing installation package or to the project file to be imported and specify a he project to be created.	2
Project Name:	AdobeReader	
Import From:	C:\msi\AdobeReader.pbproj	
	< Back Next > Finish C	ancel

Pic 1. Importing a project

When the import is complete, you can see the project that contains the changes performed by the specified deployment package created in the **Projects** view. The imported package also appears in the **Projects Storage** view.

Chapter 7: Packages Management

MSI Package Builder offers an interface for managing and performing actions on packages generated by the program. These packages are listed in the **Packages** view, which can be accessed either through the vertical navigation toolbar on the left side of the main screen or by clicking the **Packages** button on the **View** tab of the Ribbon.



Pic 1. The Packages view

The program saves generated packages in the folders designated during the package creation process. As packages may reside in various locations across the file system, the program aggregates them into a single list to facilitate easy navigation. This list displays each package's project name, size, file location, and a suite of properties including type, generation date, and version. You have the ability to sort this list by a package property and to filter the view by package type.

When no packages are selected, the interface displays the total count of packages, categorized by type, as managed by the program. Since each package is linked to the originating project, you can utilize the **Edit** action from the context menu or the Ribbon to open and edit the project. This enables modifications to the project content, if necessary, and allows the subsequent regeneration of the package.

Within the package list, you have the option to open the file location of any generated package in Windows Explorer. Since output package files may be altered outside the program, such as being moved to another folder, discrepancies can occur where the package is listed in the program but its file is absent from the expected location. To address this, the **Check All Packages** action is provided. This function, found on the **Home** tab of the Ribbon and within the context menu, verifies the presence of all package files. Should you wish to remove all listings of packages with missing files, the **Remove All Missing Packages** action is also available.

The **Packages** view grants access to the generated packages and enables the performance of various actions on them. The following chapter will guide you through the process of testing these generated packages.

What's Inside

Packages Testing

Packages Testing

Upon generating a package, it is advisable to test its functionality to ensure it meets your requirements and is free of issues. Initiate this test by selecting a package from the **Packages** list and choosing **Test Deployment** from the context menu or on the **Home** tab of the Ribbon. This action launches the **Package Deployment Test** wizard **Pic 1**.

Package Deployment Test	×
Deployment Test Environment Select whether you would like to test the package deployment on this computer or use an existing virtual machine.	ą
Deploy on This Computer	
This option allows you to test the package deployment on your local machine.	
O Deploy in Windows Sandbox	
This option allows you to test the package deployment in a Windows Sandbox, which represents brand-new, isolated installation of your current OS.	a
O Deploy on an Existing Virtual Machine	
This option allows you to test the package deployment on an existing virtual machine. The progra supports testing on VMware, Hyper-V and VirtualBox virtual machines. Select an existing VM prof create a new one for the virtual machine to be used for deployment testing.	am file or
VM Profile: <select profile="" vm=""> ····</select>	
Learn more about the deployment test environment	
< Back Next > Finish Ca	incel

Pic 1. Deployment environment selection

Choosing Test Environment

In the initial step of the **Package Deployment Test** wizard, you must select a target machine for testing. Adhere to the same recommendations as those outlined for installation repackaging, utilizing a clean environment with a fresh OS installation. The wizard provides options to deploy on the local computer, in Windows Sandbox, or on a virtual machine. For package compatibility tests, either select an existing VM profile used during the package's creation or set up a new one. Windows Sandbox inherently offers a clean state and is also a viable option. When testing on a local machine, the preferred method is to employ a VM with MSI Package Builder installed, ensuring a pristine environment. Follow the guidance given in the Selecting the Monitoring Environment chapter for detailed recommendations.

Choosing Testing Mode

At the subsequent step of the **Package Deployment Test** wizard, select the desired testing mode. You can opt to test solely the installation process, both the installation and execution of the installed program, or conduct a full test, which encompasses installation, execution, and uninstallation **Pic 2**. When selecting a testing mode, it's important to be aware that package installation and uninstallation occur automatically. The program initiates, runs them, and monitors the results. However, the execution of the installed application should be done manually. This means you will need to launch the application, test it, and then submit the test results. Keep this in mind when choosing the testing mode.

Package Deployment Test	×
Deployment Test Mode Select the testing mode for package deployment. Op running, and uninstallation.	tions include testing installation, program
 Full This option enables comprehensive testing, in program, and package uninstallation. Install and Run This option allows you to test package installation 	icluding package installation, running the installed
deployment process and the installed program Install Only	n work correctly.
installation without encountering any potenti	ition. The package is deployed to ensure a seamless al issues or complications.
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel

Pic 2. Choosing a testing mode

Package Testing

By clicking the **Finish** button in the **Package Deployment Test** wizard, you will initiate the testing process. During testing, the package is transferred to the chosen machine and installation begins. The program manages package deployment in automatic mode. Should the testing mode include executing the installed program, following installation, you will be prompted to manually start the program and verify its functionality. This manual step requires you to perform the test and report the outcomes. Depending on the test results, choose the appropriate option and provide comments for the test log. To advance, click **Submit Run Results Pic 3** If your testing mode encompasses package uninstallation, the program will proceed to uninstall the package automatically.

Testing Pa	ckage in Windows Sandbox			_	×
Preparing		2 Testing		3 Finalizing	
	The 'Adobe Reader 9.msi' packa manually to ensure it operates a any optional comments.	age has been installed. as expected, and then	Run the ir submit yo	nstalled applicatio ur results along w	in ith
	The installed application operates as expected			Submit Run Resul	ts
	 The installed application is not 	operating correctly			
	Application verification was su	ccessful			
				Cance	1

Pic 3. Submitting the application test results

Analyzing Test Results

Upon completion of the testing, the status is displayed in the **Actions History** list for the chosen package. For each instance of test execution, the testing log is accessible via the **View Details** link **Pic 4**. Within this log, you can review the status for each testing phase and access detailed low-level logs.



Pic 4. Test results

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

The program executes both the installation and uninstallation of packages automatically, employing verbose logging for comprehensive tracking. Detailed logs can be examined on the respective tabs of the dialog. For example, the **Install Log** tab displays the verbose log messages reported during the package test deployment **Pic 5**. Should any issues arise during the installation or uninstallation processes, the verbose logs offer insights into the causes.



Pic 5. Installation log

If the package installation concludes unsuccessfully, the logs can provide insight into the underlying issues. To rectify the problem, you may either edit the installation project and regenerate the package, or opt to repeat the repackaging process.

Chapter 8: Command-Line Interface

The MSI Package Builder command-line interface provides a set of commands that allow you to monitor installations, build packages, repackage installations, import/export projects and perform other operations. These commands can be used as alternatives for the features available in the program GUI, so you can run a command from the command-line for the main features instead of performing it in the GUI. However, the command-line interface supports the basic features only, and you need to use the GUI to work with the advanced features.

The command-line interface is provided by the PackageBuilderCMD.exe executable available in the program installation folder. You can run a command using the following format:

Command	Description
-monitor	Monitor system activity and create a project based on the captured changes.
-build-msi	Build an MSI package using an existing project.
-build-appv	Build an App-V package using an existing project.
-build-appx	Build an MSIX/AppX package using an existing project.
-repackage-msi	Repackage an installation to the MSI package format.
-repackage-appv	Repackage an installation to the App-V package format.
-repackage-appx	Repackage an installation to the MSIX/AppX package format.
-sign-package	Sign the package with a digital certificate.
-import-project	Import the project from an archive file.
-export-project	Export the project to an archive file.
-test-deployment	Test functionality of the package
-help <command/>	Display detailed help for the specified command.

PackageBuilderCMD.exe <command>

The command-line interface requires that you should have a license for the program. It is possible to use the command-line interface in the trial mode, but the generated MSI packages will have the same restrictions as those applied to packages generated in the GUI.

You need to have local administrative permissions to run MSI Package Builder commands, so it is recommended to open the command-line prompt in Windows "As Administrator".

If you would like to get help for a specific command, you can run PackageBuilderCMD.exe with the -help command, for example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -help monitor

Detailed information on these commands and examples of their usage are available in the next chapters.

What's Inside

EMCO MSI Package Builder 11

Monitoring Command Package Building and Signing Commands Repackaging Commands Package Testing Commands Project Import and Export Commands

Monitoring Command

The monitoring command allows repackaging an installation and creating a project based on the captured changes. As a result of the execution of this command, you get a project with captured changes, which you can use to generate a package in different formats. When you run the monitoring command, the repackaging process is performed on the local machine, so you need to make sure your repackaging environment is clean and you follow the repackaging best practices.

To run monitoring, you need to execute the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -monitor <project-name> [-i <application-path> [-p <applicationparams>] | -m <applications-list>] [-l <path>] [-e <project-archive>] [-c]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
<project-name></project-name>	No	The name of the project to be created.
-i <application-path></application-path>	Yes	The path to the installation to be monitored (*.exe, *.bat, *.cmd, *.msi, *.msp file types are supported).
-p <application- params></application- 	Yes	Command-line parameters of the installation. This parameter can be used if the installation path is specified with the $-i$ option.
-m <applications-list></applications-list>	Yes	The path to the .csv file with a list of installations to be captured and their command-line parameters.
-l <path></path>	Yes	The path to the project to be created. If this option is skipped, the project is created in the current folder.
-e <project-archive></project-archive>	Yes	The path to the archive file to export the project to.
- C	Yes	Prepare the project after monitoring.

The monitoring command can be used for capturing installations and system changes. For example, if you need to repackage an executable installation, you can run the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -monitor AdobeReader -- i c:\downloads\reader-install.exe -- c

When you monitor an installation, the specified installation file is executed automatically, and you need to follow the installation steps as usual. The monitoring progress and additional information are displayed in the console window **Pic 1**. Once the installation is completed, the monitoring stops automatically and the project is created.



Pic 1. Monitoring console

If you need to repackage multiple installations into a single package, you can run the following command using the path to a .csv file where the installations and their command-line parameters are specified:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -- monitor OfficeTools -- m c:\config\office-tools.csv -- c

The program starts monitoring and runs the installations specified in the .csv file. When the last installation is completed, the monitoring stops automatically and the project is created. You can use the created project to generate an output package by running other commands.

Using the monitoring command, you can also capture system changes to generate a project including those changes. In this case, you don't have an installation to be repackaged, so you need to start monitoring and apply the required changes manually. Run the following command that enables that:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe --monitor FontsInstall --c

When monitoring is enabled, you need to apply the required changes to be captured. To stop monitoring and create a project, you need to press **F6** in the monitoring console window.

Final Notes

In the examples above, the -c parameter is used. It allows preparing a project after monitoring by saving all captured files in the project folder, so that the project can be transferred to another computer and used for generating a package. It's recommended to use the -c if there are no reasons to skip it.

You can save the project content as a single archive file using the -e option.

Package Building and Signing Commands

If you have a project, you can generate a package using the project content. It is possible to generate a package in the MSI, App-V and AppX/MSIX formats.

MSI Package Generation

To generate an MSI package, you can run the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -build-msi <project-path> <package-path> [-g <guid>] [-u <guid>] [-m <manufacturer>] [-n <product-name>] [-l <language-id>] [-v <version>] [-p <x86|x64>]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
<project-path></project-path>	No	The path to the project used to generate an MSI package.
<package-path></package-path>	No	The path to the MSI package output file.

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
-g <guid></guid>	Yes	Set the product GUID for the generated MSI package.
-u <guid></guid>	Yes	Enable an upgrade for the generated MSI package with the specified GUID.
-m <manufacturer></manufacturer>	Yes	Set the manufacturer for the generated MSI package.
-n <product- name></product- 	Yes	Set the product name for the generated MSI package.
-l <language-id></language-id>	Yes	Set the MSI package language.
-v <version></version>	Yes	Set the MSI package version.
-p <x86 x64></x86 x64>	Yes	Set the MSI package platform.

To generate an MSI, you need to specify a path to the project and the output file only. Other parameters are optional. For example, you can use the following command to generate an MSI package:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -build-msi c:\Projects\AdobeReader c:\Projects\AdobeReader.msi

The project name, manufacturer, version and other settings should be specified in the project, so that you don't have to specify them when you generate a package from the command-line. If those settings are missing for some reason, you can specify them using the corresponding command-line parameters.

App-V Package Generation

To generate an App-V package, you can run the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -build-appv <project-path> <package-path> [-g <guid>] [-m <manufacturer>] [-n <product-name>] [-l <language-id>] [-v <version>] [-p <x86|x64>]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
<project-path></project-path>	No	The path to the project used to generate an App-V package.
<package-path></package-path>	No	The path to the App-V package output file.
-g <guid></guid>	Yes	Set the product GUID for the generated App-V package.
-u <guid></guid>	Yes	Enable an upgrade for the generated App-V package with the specified GUID.
-m <manufacturer></manufacturer>	Yes	Set the manufacturer for the generated App-V package.
-n <product- name></product- 	Yes	Set the product name for the generated App-V package.
-l <language-id></language-id>	Yes	Set the App-V package language.
-v <version></version>	Yes	Set the App-V package version.
-p <x86 x64></x86 x64>	Yes	Set the App-V package platform.

Example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -build-appv c:\Projects\AdobeReader c:\Projects\AdobeReader.appv

MSIX/AppX Package Generation

To generate an MSIX/AppX package, you can run the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -build-appx <project-path> <package-path> [-a <package-name>] [-u <publisher>] [-d <package-description>] [-m <manufacturer>] [-n <product-name>] [-l <languageid>] [-v <version>] [-p <x86|x64>]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
<project-path></project-path>	No	The path to the project used to generate an MSIX/AppX package.
<package-path></package-path>	No	The path to the MSIX/AppX package output file.
-a <package-name></package-name>	Yes	The package name.
-u <publisher></publisher>	Yes	The name of the package publisher (in the Relative Distinguished Name (RDN) format)
-d <package- description></package- 	Yes	The package description.
-m <manufacturer></manufacturer>	Yes	Set the manufacturer for the generated MSIX/AppX package.
-n <product-name></product-name>	Yes	Set the product name for the generated MSIX/AppX package.
-l <language-id></language-id>	Yes	Set the MSIX/AppX package language.
-v <version></version>	Yes	Set the MSIX/AppX package version.
-p <x86 x64></x86 x64>	Yes	Set the MSIX/AppX package platform.

Example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -build-appx c:\Projects\AdobeReader c:\Projects\AdobeReader.appx

Package Signing

You can digitally sign a package using the sign command. You can find detailed information on digital signatures in the signing packages chapter. To digitally sign a package, run the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -sign-package <package-path> <certificate> [-p <password>] [-t <timestamp-url>]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
<package-path></package-path>	No	The path to the AppX or MSI package to sign.
<certificate></certificate>	No	The path to the certificate pfx file to sign the package with.
-p <password></password>	Yes	The certificate password.

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
-t <timestamp- url></timestamp- 	Yes	The timestamp URL to use in the signing process.

Example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -sign-package c:\Projects\AdobeReader.msi c:\certificate.pfx

Repackaging Commands

MSI Package Builder enables you to convert an existing installation into an MSI, App-V, or MSIX/AppX package. When you execute the repackaging command, the software initiates the targeted installation on your local machine and starts monitoring. You should complete the installation steps as usual, while the program records the changes. Finally, it generates a package in the chosen format, incorporating your specified configuration parameters.

MSI Packaging

To repackage an installation into an MSI package you can run the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -repackage-msi <application-path> [-x <application-params>] <packagepath> [-r <project-path>] [-s] [-m <manufacturer>] [-n <product-name>] [-l <language-id>] [-v <version>] [-p <x86|x64>] [-g <guid>] [-u <guid>]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
application-path	No	The path to the installation to be monitored (*.exe, *.bat, *.cmd, *.msi, *.msp file types are supported).
package-path	No	The path to the MSI package output file.
-x <application- params></application- 	Yes	Command-line parameters of the installation.
<project-path></project-path>	Yes	Path to the project to be created, including the project name.
- S	Yes	Run command in Windows Sandbox.
-m <manufacturer></manufacturer>	Yes	Set the manufacturer for the generated MSI package.
-n <product- name></product- 	Yes	Set the product name for the generated MSI package.
-l <language-id></language-id>	Yes	Set the MSI package language.
-v <version></version>	Yes	Set the MSI package version.
-p <x86 x64></x86 x64>	Yes	Set the MSI package platform.
-g <guid></guid>	Yes	Set the product GUID for the generated MSI package.
-u <guid></guid>	Yes	Enable an upgrade for the generated MSI package with the specified GUID.

Example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -repackage-msi c:\Downloads\AdobeReaderInstaller.exe c: \Packages\AdobeReader.msi

When performing repackaging, you must specify only the path to the repackaged installation and the path for the generated package; other parameters are optional. Repackaging is performed by default on the local machine, therefore, ensure your repackaging environment follows the repackaging best practices. Use a clean VM for repackaging, where MSI Package Builder is installed only. If you prefer repackaging in Windows Sandbox, specify the corresponding command-line option.

Other configuration parameters are the same as specified during in the GUI in the **Project Details** view, so you can enter them for the product name, manufacturer, package language, version, and platform. For packages designed to upgrade, set the necessary product GUID and upgrade GUID.

App-V Packaging

To repackage an installation into an App-V package you can run the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe —repackage-appv <application-path> [-x <application-params>] <package-path> [-r <project-path>] [-s] [-m <manufacturer>] [-n <product-name>] [-l <languageid>] [-v <version>] [-p <x86|x64>] [-g <guid>]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
application-path	No	The path to the installation to be monitored (*.exe, *.bat, *.cmd, *.msi, *.msp file types are supported).
package-path	No	The path to the App-V package output file.
-x <application- params></application- 	Yes	Command-line parameters of the installation.
<project-path></project-path>	Yes	Path to the project to be created, including the project name.
- S	Yes	Run command in Windows Sandbox.
-m <manufacturer></manufacturer>	Yes	Set the manufacturer for the generated App-V package.
-n <product- name></product- 	Yes	Set the product name for the generated App-V package.
-l <language-id></language-id>	Yes	Set the App-V package language.
-v <version></version>	Yes	Set the App-V package version.
-p <x86 x64></x86 x64>	Yes	Set the App-V package platform.
-g <guid></guid>	Yes	Set the product GUID for the generated App-V package.

Example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -repackage-appv c:\Downloads\AdobeReaderInstaller.exe c: \Packages\AdobeReader.appv

The command-line parameters used for App-V generation closely mirror those for generating MSI packages, as detailed in the previous section.

MSIX/AppX Packaging

To repackage an installation into an MSIX/AppX package you can run the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -repackage-appx <application-path> [-x <application-params>] <packagepath> [-r <project-path>] [-s] [-m <manufacturer>] [-n <product-name>] [-l <language-id>] [-v <version>] [-p <x86|x64>] [-a <package-name>] [-u <publisher>] [-d <package-description>]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
application-path	No	The path to the installation to be monitored (*.exe, *.bat, *.cmd, *.msi, *.msp file types are supported).
package-path	No	The path to the MSI package output file.
-x <application- params></application- 	Yes	Command-line parameters of the installation.
<project-path></project-path>	Yes	Path to the project to be created, including the project name.
-s	Yes	Run command in Windows Sandbox.
-m <manufacturer></manufacturer>	Yes	Set the manufacturer for the generated MSIX/AppX package.
-n <product- name></product- 	Yes	Set the product name for the generated MSIX/AppX package.
-l <language-id></language-id>	Yes	Set the MSIX/AppX package language.
-v <version></version>	Yes	Set the MSI/AppX package version.
-p <x86 x64></x86 x64>	Yes	Set the MSI/AppX package platform.
-a <package- name></package- 	Yes	The package name.
-u <publisher></publisher>		The name of the package publisher (in the Relative Distinguished Name (RDN) format).
-d <package- description></package- 		The package description.

Example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -repackage-appx c:\Downloads\AdobeReaderInstaller.exe c: \Packages\AdobeReader.msix

The command-line parameters used for MSIX/AppX generation closely mirror those for generating MSI packages, as detailed in the previous section. You can also specify MSIX/AppX-specific properties, including the package name, publisher, and description.

Package Testing Commands

The program facilitates testing of generated packages through a command-line interface. This testing ensures that packages install and uninstall correctly, and verifies the proper functioning of the installed program. To initiate testing via the command-line, execute the command below:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -test-deployment <package-path> [-m <test-mode>] [-l <log-path>] [-s]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
<package-path></package-path>	No	Path to the MSI, App-V or MSIX/AppX package for testing.
-m <test-mode></test-mode>	Yes	Mode for testing the package.

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
-I <log-path></log-path>	Yes	Path to the root directory to store log files.
-s	Yes	Run command in Windows Sandbox.

Example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -test-deployment c:\Projects\AdobeReader.msi

To conduct deployment testing, you must provide the path to the packages being tested. While other options are available, they are not mandatory. Testing is executed on the local machine by default; however, you may opt to perform tests in Windows Sandbox by using the appropriate option.

The program offers various testing modes, with the default being a full test. This comprehensive test includes the installation of the package, execution of the deployed program, and subsequent uninstallation. The available testing modes are as follows:

Testing Mode	Description
full	The full testing is performed, including the package deployment, executing the deployed program and package uninstallation.
run	The program deployment and execution of the deployed program are tested only.
install	The program deployment is tested only.
Project Import and Export Commands

MSI Package Builder has commands that allow you to export and import projects to/from the project archive file. Using the project archive file, you can transfer a project to another computer or back up a project as a single file.

You can use the following command to export a project:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -export-project <project-path> <project-archive>

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
<project-path></project-path>	No	The path to the project to export.
<project-archive></project-archive>	No	The path to the destination project archive file *.pbproj.

Example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe	-export-project	c:\Projects\AdobeReader	c:
\Projects\AdobeReader.nbnroj			

\Projects\AdobeReader.pbproj

To import a project from the project archive file, you can run the following command:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe -import-project <project-archive> <project-location> [-n <project-name>]

Parameter	Optiona I	Description
<project-archive></project-archive>	No	The path to the project archive file *.pbproj to import.
<project-location></project-location>	No	The path to the folder to import the project content to.
-n <project- name></project- 	Yes	The name of the project to be created to store the imported data.

Example:

PackageBuilderCMD.exe	-import-project	c:\Projects\AdobeReader.pbproj	c:
\Projects\AdobeReader			

The log is designed to store information on the events taking place while the program is running. Most of them are messages sent by the operations and operations results. Such events are displayed in the **Log** view and can significantly help you to analyze the operation execution results and troubleshoot problems taking place while the program is in use. The log may grow continually, thus slowing down the program loading and response time. To prevent this, it can be cleared manually at any moment.

In this chapter, we will explain how to analyze the log to ensure that the operations are completed successfully or to troubleshoot possible problems and describe the option of exporting the log to a simple format.

What's Inside

Analyzing Log Exporting Log

Analyzing Log

The main purpose of the **Log** view is to help you understand if the operation execution has succeeded and troubleshoot problems if any have occurred. Each entry in the log has a severity icon, a title and a description. From the title, you can understand which operation has been performed; the description provides you with the result message and a hint on solving the problem, if any; and the severity icon can be used to quickly understand if the operation has fully succeeded.

For example, let us take a closer look at the following result set in the log Pic 1.

Log				
This view contains all operation results and other program events				
Title	Description	Time		7
> 1 Package Deployment Test	The deployment test completed successfully. See child nodes or open Test Results for result details.	12/6/2023 1	:23:41 AM	
🕕 Create MSI Package	The 'Adobe Reader 9.msi' MSI installer package has been created successfully and saved to the <u>C:\msi\Adobe Reader 9\</u> path.	12/6/2023 1	:16:57 AM	
🗸 🛕 Open 'Drives' Project	The operation has been completed with warnings. See child nodes for details.	12/5/2023 1	1:32:42 PM	
🛕 Load Files	The 'VBoxUSB\VBoxUSB.sys' file content (ID: 287f07a3-f256-4b32-917a-f5e4b1a29eca) could not be loaded. The system cannot find the file specified (Error code: 2).	12/5/2023 1	1:32:41 PM	
🛕 Load Files	The 'Driver Package\VBoxDrv.sys' file content (ID: 06d5b634-81c2-405e-976b-7a0a9b39885a) could not be loaded. The system cannot find the file specified (Error code: 2).	12/5/2023 1	1:32:41 PM	

Pic 1. Sample logged events

The picture above shows the set of result we received after performing an operation. As we can see, most of the logged events are informational, but some stand for problems. We need to find out what caused the problem and what should be done to avoid it in future. In addition, it may be interesting to go through the warnings to see if anything wrong is going on.

After the results have been reviewed and all the problems have been solved, you can run the operation again and ensure that it completes successfully.

Exporting Log

With MSI Package Builder, you can easily export the log to the CSV file format for future analysis or processing by an automated tool. To export the log, click the **Export** button from the **Log** view toolbar or choose the **Export** item from the pop-up menu. The **Export Log** dialog will appear on the screen **Pic 1**.

Export Log	×
Configure Log Export Provide the path to the CSV file to export the log to. A detailed description of the export format can be found in the product documentation.	
Export To: C:\Users\Alex\Documents\Log.csv	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 1. Exporting Log

In the **Export Log** dialog, you are offered to choose a file you are going to save the log data to. The file path should be provided to the **Export To** field. After you are ready with configuring the export, press **OK** to proceed. The file containing the log data will be created in the path specified.

Column Index	Header	Description
1	Title	The logged event title (including the path).
2	Severity	The logged event severity level.
3	Description	The logged event description.
4	Time	The time when the event occurred.

The CSV file with the exported data consists of four columns, which are the following:

Sample exported log data in the CSV format

"Title", "Severity", "Description", "Time"

"Create MSI Package", "Information", "The operation was completed successfully.", "12/3/2013 11:14:50 AM"

"Create MSI Package", "Cancel", "The operation was canceled by the user.", "12/3/2013 11:12:51 AM"

"Create MSI Package\Code Page Verification", "Cancel", "All code page errors should be resolved for a successful MSI package creation. To find out which items could not pass the code page verification process, review the Application Log.", "12/3/2013 11:12:51 AM"

"Create MSI Package\Code Page Verification", "Warning", "The characters contained in the 'HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Wow6432Node\Adobe\PDF

Owner\PreviousOwner\Acroexch.Document.7\shell\Open' Registry item are not available in the code page selected for the MSI package.","12/3/2013 11:12:43 AM"

"Create MSI Package\Code Page Verification", "Warning", "The characters contained in the 'HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Wow6432Node\Adobe\PDF

Owner\PreviousOwner\CLSID\{B801CA65-A1FC-11D0-85AD-444553540000}\Verb\0' Registry item are not available in the code page selected for the MSI package.","12/3/2013 11:12:43 AM"

"Create MSI Package\Code Page Verification", "Warning", "The characters contained in the 'HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Classes\AcroExch.Document.7\shell\Open' Registry item are not available in the code page selected for the MSI package.", "12/3/2013 11:12:43 AM"

Now you are introduced to the log export and export data file format and can use the export feature for the log analysis without any misunderstanding.

Chapter 10: Program Preferences

MSI Package Builder comes with a wide range of settings available for changing by any user. Every preference page has a detailed description of its content and of the feature it is used to configure. To reach the program preferences, click the **Preferences** button available from the **Application Menu**. Besides, the clickable Ribbon groups' glyphs open the preference pages that configure the functionality incorporated in the respective group.

What's Inside

MSI Package Builder Part Filters Part Miscellaneous Part

MSI Package Builder Part

The **MSI Package Builder** part of the program preferences is used to configure the main program settings, such as the projects storage location, project signing options and user interface settings. To open the **Preferences** dialog, click the **Preferences** button available from the **Application Menu**. Feel free to configure the available settings to suit your needs best.

What's Inside

Projects Configuration Page Package Signing Page User Interface Page

Projects Configuration Page

MSI Package Builder is a project based program – this means that all data is grouped by the projects. Each project contains one or several packages. Such data structure allows grouping the coupled installations, storing them and managing them as the unit. The projects are saved to the projects storage. To define a projects storage location, open the program preferences using the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and click the **Projects Configuration** link on the navigation bar on the left of the **Preferences** dialog within the **MSI Package Builder** group **Pic 1**.

Preferences		×
MSI Package Builder Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface Filters	^	Projects Configuration MSI Package Builder is a project based program – this means that all data is grouped by the projects. Here you can configure the location used to save projects to. Projects Storage Provide the path to the folder to be used as the MSI Package Builder projects storage. It is recommended that the provided path is as short as possible.
Monitoring File Filters Monitoring Registry Filters Monitoring Process Filters Uninstall File Filters Uninstall Registry Filters Miscellaneous General Settings Layouts Proxy Settings	^	Path: D:\MSIPBRoot Support Information Provide the support information to be added to the generated deployment packages describing you as a package vendor, if required. Contact Phone Online Support Update Info URL Help File URL Manufacturer URL Comments
Restore Defaults		Restore Defaults Apply OK Cancel

Pic 1. The Projects Configuration preference page

The path to the folder to organize the MSI Package Builder projects storage in should be provided to the **Path** field within the **Projects Root Directory** group.

On the **Projects Configuration** preference page, you can provide the default support information to be used for all deployment packages, if not overridden for a specific project.

Package Signing Page

MSI Package Builder allows you to sign generated deployment packages to help guarantee that users know if your packages have been modified and that they came from you, the publisher. To configure the signing options, open the program preferences using the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and click the **Package Signing** link on the navigation bar on the left of the **Preferences** dialog within the **MSI Package Builder** group **Pic 1**.

Preferences		×	
MSI Package Builder	^	Package Signing	
Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface		MSI Package Builder allows you to sign generated MSI packages to help guarantee that users know if your files have been modified and that they came from you. Here you can configure the signing options.	
Filters	~	Digital Signature	
Monitoring File Filters		should select the certificate to be used for generating the signature from the certificate store and choose the time server used for generating a digital signature time stamp.	
Monitoring Registry Filters		Sign packages with a digital signature	
Uninstall File Filters		Select certificate from store: EMCO Sign Certificate Image: Image Amplitude Amp	¢
Uninstall Registry Filters		Select certificate from file:	3
Miscellaneous	^	Use auto-generated self-signed certificate:	
General Settings		Certificate password:	2
Layouts Proxy Settings		How to install an auto-generated self-signed certificate?	
		Timestamp Service (URL):	h
			1
		Desters Defectes Apple	-
		Restore Defaults Apply	
Restore Defaults		OK Cancel	1

Pic 1. Configuring the package signing options

Within the **Digital Signature** group, you can define if generated deployment packages should be signed, select the certificate to be used for a digital signature (either from those available in the certificate storage, or from the file, or use auto-generated one) and choose the time server that should be used for creating a time stamp for the digital signature.

The package signing options defined in the program preferences are used as default for each project, but it is possible to override those options for each specific project on the **Project Details** view or while creating an MSI package or creating an MSIX/AppX package from the project.

Refer to the Signing Packages section of this document for detailed information on the purpose and the process of packages signing.

User Interface Page

MSI Package Builder is a multifunctional tool, which can be used as an easy-to-use installations repackager and as an advanced packages editor. That is why different user interface configuration may be required for different persons. The configuration is performed on the **User Interface** preference page **Pic 1**. To access this page, click the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and select the appropriate link in the navigation bar, on the left in the **Preferences** dialog within the **MSI Package Builder** group.

Preferences		×
M5I Package Builder	^	User Interface
Projects Configuration Package Signing <u>User Interface</u>		The user interface options allow you to configure the dialog settings to be used by MSI Package Builder to make your work with the program more comfortable. Dialog Settings
Filters	^	Configure the program behavior with respect to Repackage Installation wizard and the option of displaying a created package in a new Windows Explorer window.
Monitoring File Filters Monitoring Registry Filters Monitoring Process Filters Uninstall File Filters Uninstall Registry Filters Miscellaneous General Settings Layouts Proxy Settings	^	 Show Repackage Installation wizard on the program startup Run package creation in the background Select whether to display the newly created package in a new Windows Explorer window or in the Packages view: Ask me what to do
		Restore Defaults Apply
Restore Defaults		OK Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring user interface

For those who use it as a simple repackager, it might be enough to walk through the repackaging wizard and build a resulting deployment package, so it would be convenient for them to display the **Repackage Installation** wizard on start up. However, it is not convenient for those who are using the program also for managing the software packages or creating their own packages. It is also possible to define if the deployment package creation is always run in background.

The other aspect is a decision making. By default, after each deployment package creation the program asks if the folder containing the newly created package should be opened in Windows Explorer. If your answer is always the same, you can answer this question only once, on the **User Interface** page. You can configure the program to perform one of the following actions automatically after generating a package: open the package in the Packages view, reveal the package in Windows Explorer, or take no action. By default the program prompts you for a preferred action following each package generation.

Filters Part

During the monitoring process MSI Package Builder records the modifications performed by all processes that operate in the system. Thus monitoring results can include the modifications performed by system processes. These modifications do not refer to the application or installation that you have monitored and that is why they should be excluded from monitoring results. This goal can be reached using the Monitoring Processes Filters configuration. While using process filters, the changes made by those processes are automatically excluded from the resulting deployment package. In the same manner, there are registry keys and file system paths that should be excluded from the resulting deployment package. The Monitoring Registry Filters and Monitoring File Filters configuration allow you to fulfill this.

When the installation creates a joint resource that is commonly used by several applications, such resource should be indicated as permanent. Permanent files, keys and registry entries are not deleted during application uninstall process to prevent functionality violation of applications that use these resources. You are able to set permanency option for each resource in separate during its edit but it seems to be quite a complex way. To simplify the operation with permanent resources MSI Package Builder comes with a set of predefined uninstall filters and allows you to add some.

All the filters in MSI Package Builder are set up in the program preferences. Press the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and you'll find the filtration settings under the **Filters** group.

What's Inside

How should I correctly specify the filter value? Monitoring File Filters Page Monitoring Registry Filters Page Monitoring Processes Filters Page Uninstall File Filters Page Uninstall Registry Filters Page

How should I correctly specify the filter value?

With MSI Package Builder, it is possible to define a set of monitoring filters that allow skipping the activity of the defined processes or the changes made to the defined file system items and registry keys during the Live Monitoring process and a set of uninstall filters that allow leaving joint resources on a PC after an MSI is uninstalled. In this chapter, we will show you how to specify a filter value. There are two methods of specifying a filter value – those are using a simple filter value and using a regular expression. Let us take a close look at each method.

Simple Filter Value

Simple filter value is a string to be used for matching elements to be filtered. In case of a processes filter this string should be a process name, e.g. explorer.exe. For the file system filters this string should be a file system path to filter – all the sub-directories and files in the path specified are also filtered, for example C:\Windows\ filter value will lead to filtering all data inside Windows directory. The registry filter string should match a path to the registry key – all the sub-keys along with registry values in the path specified are filtered, e.g. choosing HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE as root key and setting Software\Microsoft\Windows NT as key will filter all data inside Windows registry key.

While specifying a simple filter value you can use wildcard characters same as for file system search, for example setting a file system filter value to **?:\Temp*** will filter all the folders that start with Temp from all logical drive, such as C:\Temp, D:\Temporary Data, etc.

Regular Expressions

Using regular expressions is a more advanced way of a filter value specification. Regular expression is a string that is used to match a set of strings, particular characters, words, or patterns of characters according to certain syntax rules that are described below. Regular expressions usage is a more flexible way of specifying a filter value than a simple filter value, because one regular expression can cover lots of items to be filtered. For example:

^\${CommonUserFolder}\$\\[^\\]+\\Local Settings\\!(Application Data\\).+\$

This expression will filter all the folders from the Local Settings folder of each user except the Application Data folder.

Metacharact er	Meaning
•	Matches any single character.
[]	Indicates a character class. Matches any character inside the brackets (for example, [abc] matches a, b, and c).
^	If this metacharacter occurs at the start of a character class, it negates the character class. A negated character class matches any character except those inside the brackets (for example, [^abc] matches all characters except a, b, and c). If $^$ is at the beginning of the regular expression, it matches the beginning of the input (for example, ^[abc] will only match input that begins with a, b, or c).

The following syntax should be used to define a filter value with a help of regular expression.

Metacharact er	Meaning
-	In a character class, indicates a range of characters (for example, [0-9] matches any of the digits <mark>0</mark> through <mark>9</mark>).
?	Indicates that the preceding expression is optional: it matches once or not at all (for example, [0-9][0-9]? matches 2 and 12).
+	Indicates that the preceding expression matches one or more times (for example, [0-9]+ matches 1, 13, 456, and so on).
*	Indicates that the preceding expression matches zero or more times.
??, +?, *?	Non-greedy versions of ?, +, and *. These match as little as possible, unlike the greedy versions that match as much as possible (for example, given the input <abc><def>, <.*?> matches <abc> while <.*> matches <abc><def>).</def></abc></abc></def></abc>
()	Grouping operator (for example $(d+,)^*d+$ matches a list of numbers separated by commas, such as 1 or 1,23,456).
{ }	Indicates a match group.
١	Escape character: interpret the next character literally (for example, [0-9]+
	matches one or more digits, but [0-9]\+ matches a digit followed by a plus
	character). Also used for abbreviations (such as \a for any alphanumeric character - see the following table for details).
	If \ is followed by a number n, it matches the nth match group (starting from 0). Example: <{.*?}>.*? \0 matches <head>Contents</head> .
\$	At the end of a regular expression, this character matches the end of the input (for example, $[0-9]$ \$ matches a digit at the end of the input).
1	Alternation operator: separates two expressions, exactly one of which matches (for example, T the matches The or the).
!	Negation operator: the expression following ! does not match the input (for example, a!b matches a not followed by b).

The following abbreviations can be used in regular expressions.

Metacharact er	Meaning
\a	Any alphanumeric character: ([a-zA-Z0-9])
\b	White space (blank): ([\\t])
\c	Any alphabetic character: ([a-zA-Z])
\d	Any decimal digit: ([0-9])
\h	Any hexadecimal digit: ([0-9a-fA-F])
\n	Newline: (\r (\r?\n))

Metacharact er	Meaning
\q	A quoted string: (\"[^\"]*\") (\'[^\']*\')
\w	A simple word: ([a-zA-Z]+)
\z	An integer: ([0-9]+)

Now you are introduced to the possible ways of specifying a filter value and should be able to provide any filter to solve any problem.

OS and Platform Conditions

For any filter type, you may configure conditions, including the operating system, the OS build number and the platform. It allows you to configure filters to be used for specific operating systems only. OS and platform conditions can be configured in the **Conditions** tab **Pic 1**.

Add Monitoring File I	Filter			×
Filter Condition Provide a file-sys subfolders in the	tem path to be filtere provided folder will	ed during the monitoring p also be filtered.	process. Changes to all files and	Ş
General Condition Apply this filter onl Operating System: Build Number: Platform:	s y on operating system equals is greater than equals	where all of the followi Windows 10 18363 x64	ng conditions are met:	
			ОК	Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring OS and platform conditions filters

As a condition, you may specify the required **Operating System**, **Build Number** and **Platform**, or any combination of these fields together with the comparison operators. The applied conditions are displayed in the filters list, so you can find filters that are applicable for the current OS or any specific OS.

Monitoring File Filters Page

The Monitoring File Filters are used to allow the Live Monitoring technology to skip the changes performed to specific files and folders. This prevents unnecessary changes from being included into a deployment package based on monitoring results. To configure the Monitoring File Filters open the program preferences using the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and click the **Monitoring File Filters** link on the navigation bar on the left of the **Preferences** dialog within the **Filters** group **Pic 1**.

Preferences				×
MSI Package Builder	^	Мо	nitoring File Filters	
Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface		The M perfor deploy Filters	onitoring File Filters are used to allow the Live Monitoring technology to skip the med to specific files and folders. This prevents unnecessary changes from being i ment package based on monitoring results.	changes ncluded into a
Filters Monitoring File Filters	^	F	The Monitoring File Filters consist of predefined system filters and user-defined filters can only be enabled or disabled. As for user-defined filters, it is possible n enable or disable such filters, but also to add new filters and edit or delete any.	filters. System ot only to
Monitoring Registry Filters			Vuse the following filters	(// 9-
Uninstall File Filters			Filter	Conditions
Uninstall Registry Filters			✓ System Filters	
<u>ര്</u> ഷം മ			S{AppDataFolder}S\Microsoft\CryptnetUrlCache	OS is less than
Miscellaneous	^		S{AppDataFolder}\$\Microsoft\Crypto	
General Settings			S{AppDataFolder}\$\Microsoft\Protect	
Layouts			✓ \${AppDataFolder}\$\Microsoft\SystemCertificates	
Proxy Settings			✓ \${AppDataFolder}\$\Microsoft\Windows\Cookies	OS is greater tl
			S{AppDataFolder}S\Microsoft\Windows\IETIdCache	
			S{AppDataFolder}S\Microsoft\Windows\PrivaclE	
			S{AppDataFolder}\$\Microsoft\Windows\Recent	OS is greater tl
			\${AppDataFolder}\$\Microsoft\Windows\Themes\CachedFiles	
			Level 1	
			Restore Defaults	Apply
Restore Defaults			ОК	Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring Monitoring File Filters

The filters are divided into two categories; those are **User Filters** and **System Filters**. The system filters are predefined ones and cannot be deleted, but can be disabled, if required, using the **Disable Selected** item from the pop-up menu. You can then re-enable any filter using the **Enable Selected** menu item. To enable/disable a filter and to check if it is enabled, you can use the check boxes located on the left of each row representing the filter. It is also possible to refuse filtering file system items by disabling the **Use the following filters** option.

Toolbar Overview

Add Filter

The Add Filter button should be used to add a new user-defined Monitoring File Filter.

Edit

The **Edit** button allows you to change the selected user-defined **Monitoring File Filter**.

	Delete
×	The Delete button allows you to delete the selected user-defined Monitoring File Filter items.
	Clear User Filters
/	The Clear User Filters button should be used to delete all user-defined Monitoring File Filter items.
	View Mode
~	The View Mode button is intended to show only the filters that meet specific criteria. You may show all the filters, the filters applicable for the current OS only, or specify a custom criterion for filters.

As for the user filters, those are the user-defined ones. To add a new filter, use the **Add Filter** item from the pop-up menu or press the **Add Filter** button on the toolbar.

Add Monitoring File Filter	×
Filter Condition Provide a file-system path to be filtered during the monitoring process. Changes to all files and subfolders in the provided folder will also be filtered.	Ş
General Conditions Path: • \${WindowsVolume}\$\NVIDIA Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value How should I specify the filter value correctly?	🖬 🖬
ОК	Cancel

Pic 2. Configuring a Monitoring File Filter

When configuring a Monitoring File Filter **Pic 2**, you should provide a file system path to be filtered. All changes to the specified path are ignored during a monitoring process. You can provide the path

manually or select it through the file picker using the induction built into the edit box. It is possible to use the system folder definition placeholders while specifying the filter, these placeholders are replaced automatically with corresponding file system paths during an installation monitoring process. See System Folder Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders.

Each system folder definition should be proceeded with **\$**{ and succeeded with **}\$**, e. g. **\${ProgramFilesFolder}\$**.

The and buttons built into the edit box can help you with replacing specific paths to their system folder definitions and vice versa. If you enable the **Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value** option, you can define a filter that will exclude all paths matching the expression from monitoring results. See the How should I correctly specify the filter value? section of this document for a detailed description of possible values.

A filter can be used in specific environments if you configure conditions for it. On the **Conditions** tab **Pic 3** you can specify the **Operating System**, the **Build Number** (of the OS) and the **Platform** where the filter should be applied. You can use one or multiple criteria together with the comparison operators to specify environments for the filter. If you specify a condition, you can see its value in the filters list. Using conditions can be helpful if you plan to perform monitoring on different OSs so that you can configure OS/platform-specific filters, if required.

ilter Condition Provide a file-sys subfolders in the	tem path to be filtere provided folder will	ed during also be fi) the monitoring p itered.	process	. Changes to all files and	F
General Condition Apply this filter on Operating System: Build Number:	s y on operating system equals is greater than	ms where *	e all of the followi Windows 10 18363	ng con v	ditions are met:	
Platform:	equals	٣	x64	*		

Pic 3. Configuring OS and platform conditions

To edit a user-defined Monitoring File Filter select it in the filters table and choose the **Edit** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Edit** button on the toolbar. The filter editing process is similar to the above-stated creation process. To delete the user-defined filters that are no longer needed, you can select those items in the filters table and choose the **Delete** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Delete** button on the toolbar. It is also possible to delete all user-defined filters using the **Clear User Filters** menu item and the corresponding button on the toolbar.

Monitoring Registry Filters Page

The Monitoring Registry Filters are used to allow the Live Monitoring technology to skip the changes performed to specific registry keys. This prevents unnecessary changes from being included into a deployment package based on monitoring results. To configure the Monitoring Registry Filters open the program preferences using the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and click the **Monitoring Registry Filters** link on the navigation bar on the left of the **Preferences** dialog within the **Filters** group **Pic 1**.

Preferences				×
MSI Package Builder	^	Мо	nitoring Registry Filters	
Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface		The M performinclud	onitoring Registry Filters are used to allow the Live Monitoring technology to skip ned to specific registry keys and values. This prevents unnecessary changes from ed into a deployment package based on monitoring results.	the changes being
Filters Monitoring File Filters	^	Filters	The Monitoring Registry Filters consist of predefined system filters and user-def System filters can only be enabled or disabled. As for user-defined filters, it is po to enable or disable such filters, but also to add new filters and edit or delete any	ned filters. ssible not only /.
Monitoring Registry Filters			🗸 Use the following filters 📫 🖉 🤉	(/ 9-
Uninstall File Filters			Filter	Conditions
Uninstall Registry Filters			✓ System Filters	
			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\\Software\\Microsoft\\Windows\\CurrentVersi	OS is greater t
Miscellaneous	^		HKEY_CURRENT_USER\\Software\\Microsoft\\Windows\\CurrentVersi	OS is greater t
General Settings			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\SessionInformation\ProgramCount	
Layouts			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\AppDataLow	OS is greater t
Proxy Settings			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\Classes\Local Settings\ImmutableMui	OS is greater tl
			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\Classes\Local Settings\MrtCache	OS is greater t
			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\Classes\Local Settings\MuiCache	OS is greater t
			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\Classes\Local Settings\RegMuiCache	OS is greater t
			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\Classes\Local Settings\Software\Micr	OS is greater t
			Land	
			Restore Defaults	Apply
[]				
Restore Defaults			OK	Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring Monitoring Registry Filters

The filters are divided into two categories; those are **User Filters** and **System Filters**. The system filters are predefined ones and cannot be deleted, but can be disabled, if required, using the **Disable Selected** item from the pop-up menu. You can then re-enable any filter using the **Enable Selected** menu item. To enable/disable a filter and to check if it is enabled, you can use the check boxes located on the left of each row representing the filter. It is also possible to refuse filtering registry keys by disabling the **Use the following filters** option.

Toolbar Overview

F	Add Filter The Add Filter button should be used to add a new user-defined Monitoring Registry Filter.
	Edit

	The Edit button allows you to change the selected user-defined Monitoring Registry Filter .
×	Delete The Delete button allows you to delete the selected user-defined Monitoring Registry Filter items.
	Clear User Filters The Clear User Filters button should be used to delete all user-defined Monitoring Registry Filter items.
Ŷ.	View Mode The View Mode button is intended to show only the filters that meet specific criteria. You may show all the filters, the filters applicable for the current OS only, or specify a custom criterion for filters.

As for the user filters, those are the user-defined ones. To add a new filter, use the **Add Filter** item from the pop-up menu or press the **Add Filter** button on the toolbar.

Add Monitoring Registry Filter	×
Filter Condition Provide a registry key to be filtered during the monitoring process. Changes to all values and subkeys in the provided key will also be filtered. You can use a regular expression, if required.	
General Conditions Key: HKEY_CURRENT_USER Software\NVIDIA Corporation Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value How should I specify the filter value correctly?	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 2. Configuring a Monitoring Registry Filter

When configuring a Monitoring Registry Filter Pic 2, you should define a registry key to be filtered. All changes to the specified key and its sub-keys are ignored during a monitoring process. To define a registry key you first choose the root key from the drop down list and then type in the path to the key in the text edit. If you enable the **Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value** option, you can define a filter that will exclude changes to all keys matching the expression from monitoring results. See the How should I correctly specify the filter value? section of this document for a detailed description of possible values.

A filter can be used in specific environments if you configure conditions for it. On the **Conditions** tab **Pic 3** you can specify the **Operating System**, the **Build Number** (of the OS) and the **Platform** where the filter should be applied. You can use one or multiple criteria together with the comparison operators to specify environments for the filter. If you specify a condition, you can see its value in the filters list. Using conditions can be helpful if you plan to perform monitoring on different OSs so that you can configure OS/platform-specific filters, if required.

ilter Condition Provide a registry in the provided k	key to be filtered o ey will also be filter	during the red. You ca	monitoring proc in use a regular e	ess. Ch xpressi	nanges to all values and subkey: ion, if required.	• 🖪
General Conditions	s y on operating syst	ems where	e all of the follow	ing cor	nditions are met:	
Operating System:	is less than	÷	Windows 10	*		
Build Number:	any	-	0]	
Platform:	any	*	x86	~]	
	1					

Pic 3. Configuring OS and platform conditions

To edit a user-defined Monitoring Registry Filter select it in the filters table and choose the **Edit** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Edit** button on the toolbar. The filter editing process is similar to the above-stated creation process. To delete the user-defined filters that are no longer needed, you can select those items in the filters table and choose the **Delete** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Delete** button on the toolbar. It is also possible to delete all user-defined filters using the **Clear User Filters** menu item and the corresponding button on the toolbar.

Monitoring Processes Filters Page

The Monitoring Process Filters are used to allow the Live Monitoring technology to skip the changes performed by certain processes. This prevents unnecessary changes from being included into a deployment package based on monitoring results. To configure the Monitoring Process Filters open the program preferences using the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and click the **Monitoring Process Filters** link on the navigation bar on the left of the **Preferences** dialog within the **Filters** group **Pic 1**.

Preferences			×
MSI Package Builder	~	Monitoring Process Filters	
Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface		The Monitoring Process Filters are used to allow the Live Monitor performed by certain processes. This prevents unnecessary char deployment package based on monitoring results.	ring technology to skip the changes iges from being included into a
Filters Monitoring File Filters	^	The Monitoring Process Filters consist of predefined system System filters can only be enabled or disabled. As for us to enable or disable such filters, but also to add new filter	em filters and user-defined filters. er-defined filters, it is possible not only ers and edit or delete any.
Monitoring Registry Filters		Use the following filters	84 🖉 X 🥒 🌱 -
Uninstall File Filters		Filter	E. Conditions
Uninstall Registry Filters	Image: state of disable such filters, but also to add new filters and edit or delete any. Image: state of disable such filters Image: state of disable such filters		
*		AggregatorHost.exe	OS is greater ti
Miscellaneous	^	✓ CompatTelRunner.exe	OS is greater t
General Settings		✓ consent.exe	OS is greater t
Layouts		✓ Drwtsn32.exe	OS is less than
Proxy Settings		✓ dumprep.exe	OS is less than
		System Modules Filters Specify if the program should skip the changes perform specific operating system modules. Filter default browser	ed during monitoring processes by Restore Defaults Apply
Restore Defaults			OK Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring Monitoring Process Filters

The filters are divided into two categories; those are **User Filters** and **System Filters**. The system filters are predefined ones and cannot be deleted, but can be disabled, if required, using the **Disable Selected** item from the pop-up menu. You can then re-enable any filter using the **Enable Selected** menu item. To enable/disable a filter and to check if it is enabled, you can use the check boxes located on the left of each row representing the filter. It is also possible to refuse filtering processes by disabling the **Use the following filters** option.

Toolbar Overview

Add Filter

The Add Filter button should be used to add a new user-defined Monitoring Process Filter.

Edit

The **Edit** button allows you to change the selected user-defined **Monitoring Process Filter**.

	Delete
×	The Delete button allows you to delete the selected user-defined Monitoring Process Filter items.
	Clear User Filters
	The Clear User Filters button should be used to delete all user-defined Monitoring Process Filter items.
	View Mode
7.	The View Mode button is intended to show only the filters that meet specific criteria. You may show all the filters, the filters applicable for the current OS only, or specify a custom criterion for filters.

As for the user filters, those are the user-defined ones. To add a new filter, use the **Add Filter** item from the pop-up menu or press the **Add Filter** button on the toolbar.

Add Monitoring Process Filter	×
Filter Condition Specify the process name to filter the changes made by this process during the monitoring process. You can use a regular expression, if required.	F
General Conditions Process Name: nvtray.exe Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value How should I specify the filter value correctly?	
ОК	Cancel

Pic 2. Configuring a Monitoring Process Filter

When configuring a Monitoring Process Filter Pic 2, you should define a process name to be filtered. All changes performed by the specified process are ignored during a monitoring. If you enable the **Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value** option, you can define a filter that will exclude changes by all processes which names are matching the expression from monitoring results. See the How should I correctly specify the filter value? section of this document for a detailed description of possible values.

A filter can be used in specific environments if you configure conditions for it. On the **Conditions** tab **Pic 3** you can specify the **Operating System**, the **Build Number** (of the OS) and the **Platform** where the filter should be applied. You can use one or multiple criteria together with the comparison operators to specify environments for the filter. If you specify a condition, you can see its value in the filters list. Using conditions can be helpful if you plan to perform monitoring on different OSs so that you can configure OS/platform-specific filters, if required.

Add Monitoring Proc	ess Filter		×
Filter Condition Specify the proce monitoring proce	iss name to filter the change ess. You can use a regular exp	s made by this process during pression, if required.	the 🛱
General Condition Apply this filter only Operating System:	y on operating systems when is less than or equal to 👻	e all of the following conditio	ns are met:
Build Number: Platform:	any + any +	v.86 ~	
		ОК	Cancel

Pic 3. Configuring OS and platform conditions

To edit a user-defined Monitoring Process Filter select it in the filters table and choose the **Edit** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Edit** button on the toolbar. The filter editing process is similar to the above-stated creation process. To delete the user-defined filters that are no longer needed, you can select those items in the filters table and choose the **Delete** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Delete** button on the toolbar. It is also possible to delete all user-defined filters using the **Clear User Filters** menu item and the corresponding button on the toolbar.

In addition to using the generic process monitoring filters, you are suggested to define if the changes performed by specific system modules should be filtered or not. Currently, you can choose if the activity of a default browser should be taken into account during the monitoring process using the **Filter default browser** option.

Uninstall File Filters Page

The Uninstall File Filters allow you to prevent removing system-critical files while uninstalling a generated deployment package. All changes to files and folders in the filtered folder that are captured by the Live Monitoring technology are treated as permanent. To configure the Uninstall File Filters open the program preferences using the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and click the **Uninstall File Filters** link on the navigation bar on the left of the **Preferences** dialog within the **Filters** group **Pic 1**.

Preferences			×
MSI Package Builder	^	Uninstall File Filters	
Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface		The Uninstall File Filters are used to prevent removing generated MSI package. All changes to files and subfe the Live Monitoring technology will be permanent.	system-critical files while uninstalling a olders in the filtered folder that are captured by
Filters Monitoring File Filters	^	Filters The Uninstall File Filters consist of predefined filters can only be enabled or disabled. As for enable or disable such filters, but also to add r	system filters and user-defined filters. System user-defined filters, it is possible not only to new filters and edit or delete any.
Monitoring Registry Filters		✓ Use the following filters	🛤 🖉 🗙 🍠 🗣 -
Uninstall File Filters		Filter	IL Conditions
Uninstall Registry Filters		✓ System Filters	
		S{System16Folder}S	
Miscellaneous	^	✓ \${System64Folder}\$	Platform equa
General Settings		✓ \${SystemFolder}\$	
Layouts Proxy Settings			Restore Defaults Apply
[Restore Defaults]			OK Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring Uninstall File Filters

The filters are divided into two categories; those are **User Filters** and **System Filters**. The system filters are predefined ones and cannot be deleted, but can be disabled, if required, using the **Disable Selected** item from the pop-up menu. You can then re-enable any filter using the **Enable Selected** menu item. To enable/disable a filter and to check if it is enabled, you can use the check boxes located on the left of each row representing the filter. It is also possible to refuse filtering files and folders from uninstall by disabling the **Use the following filters** option.

Toolbar Overview

Add Filter

The Add Filter button should be used to add a new user-defined Uninstall File Filter.

Edit

The **Edit** button allows you to change the selected user-defined **Uninstall File Filter**.

	Delete
×	The Delete button allows you to delete the selected user-defined Uninstall File Filter items.
	Clear User Filters
	The Clear User Filters button should be used to delete all user-defined Uninstall File Filter items.
	View Mode
7.	The View Mode button is intended to show only the filters that meet specific criteria. You may show all the filters, the filters applicable for the current OS only, or specify a custom criterion for filters.

As for the user filters, those are the user-defined ones. To add a new filter, use the **Add Filter** item from the pop-up menu or press the **Add Filter** button on the toolbar.

Add Uninstall File Filter	×
Filter Condition Provide a path to the file-system entry to filter during the MSI package uninstall process. All files and subfolders in the provided folder will also be filtered.	Ę
General Conditions Path: • \${WindowsVolume}\$\NVIDIA Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value How should I specify the filter value correctly?	🖬 📾
ОК	Cancel

Pic 2. Configuring an Uninstall File Filter

When configuring an Uninstall File Filter Pic 2, you should provide a file system path to be treated as persistent. No files and folders in the specified path, including the one represented with this path, will be deleted while uninstalling a generated deployment package. You can provide the path

manually or select it through the file picker using the button built into the edit box. It is possible to use the system folder definition placeholders while specifying the filter, these placeholders are automatically replaced with the corresponding file system paths during a deployment package uninstall process. See System Folder Definition Placeholders section of this document for the list of available placeholders.

Each system folder definition should be proceeded with **\$**{ and succeeded with **}\$**, e. g. **\${SystemFolder}\$**.

The and buttons built into the edit box can help you with replacing specific paths to their system folder definitions and vice versa. If you enable the **Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value** option, you can define a filter that will treat as permanent all paths matching the expression. See the How should I correctly specify the filter value? section of this document for a detailed description of possible values.

A filter can be used in specific environments if you configure conditions for it. On the **Conditions** tab **Pic 3** you can specify the **Operating System**, the **Build Number** (of the OS) and the **Platform** where the filter should be applied. You can use one or multiple criteria together with the comparison operators to specify environments for the filter. If you specify a condition, you can see its value in the filters list. Using conditions can be helpful if you plan to perform monitoring on different OSs so that you can configure OS/platform-specific filters, if required.

Provide a path to and subfolders in	the file-system en the provided folde	try to filter er will also	during the MSI p be filtered.	oackage	uninstall process. All files	F
General Condition Apply this filter onl Operating System: Build Number:	y on operating syst is less than any	tems where	e all of the follow Windows 7	ing con	ditions are met:	
	[_		

Pic 3. Configuring OS and platform conditions

To edit a user-defined Uninstall File Filter select it in the filters table and choose the **Edit** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Edit** button on the toolbar. The filter editing process is similar to the above-stated creation process. To delete the user-defined filters that are no longer needed, you can select those items in the filters table and choose the **Delete** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Delete** button on the toolbar. It is also possible to delete all user-defined filters using the **Clear User Filters** menu item and the corresponding button on the toolbar.

Uninstall Registry Filters Page

The Uninstall Registry Filters allow you to prevent removing system-critical registry keys and values while uninstalling a generated deployment package. All changes to values and sub-keys in the filtered key that are captured by the Live Monitoring technology are treated as permanent. To configure the Uninstall Registry Filters open the program preferences using the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and click the **Uninstall Registry Filters** link on the navigation bar on the left of the **Preferences** dialog within the **Filters** group **Pic 1**.

Preferences					×
MSI Package Builder	~	Uni	nstall Registry Filters		
Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface		The Un while u are cap	install Registry Filters are used to prevent removing system-critical regist ninstalling a generated MSI package. All changes to values and subkeys i tured by the Live Monitoring technology will be permanent.	ry keys an in the filte	d values red key that
Filters Monitoring File Filters	^	ŝ	The Uninstall Registry Filters consist of predefined system filters and use System filters can only be enabled or disabled. As for user-defined filters to enable or disable such filters, but also to add new filters and edit or de	r-defined ;, it is poss elete any.	filters. ible not only
Monitoring Registry Filters			Use the following filters	PX	1 7-
Uninstall File Filters			Filter	h. I	Conditions
Uninstall Registry Filters			✓ System Filters		
A			✓ HKEY_CLASSES_ROOT\Component Categories		
Miscellaneous	^		HKEY_CLASSES_ROOT\Wow6432Node\Component Categories		
General Settings			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\Microsoft\SystemCertificates		
Layouts			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\Microsoft\Windows NT\Current	Versio	
Proxy Settings			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\Microsoft\Windows\CurrentVer	sion\	
			HKEY_CURRENT_USER\Software\Microsoft\Windows\CurrentVer	sion\E	
			HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\\SOFTWARE\\Microsoft\\Windows NT	\Curr	
			HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\\SOFTWARE\\Wow6432Node\\Microso	oft\\Wi P	latform equa
			HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\\SYSTEM\\CurrentControlSet\\Control	\\!(Cla	
			logod		
			Restore D	efaults	Apply
[Restore Defaults]			(ж	Cancel

Pic 1. Configuring Uninstall Registry Filters

The filters are divided into two categories; those are **User Filters** and **System Filters**. The system filters are predefined ones and cannot be deleted, but can be disabled, if required, using the **Disable Selected** item from the pop-up menu. You can then re-enable any filter using the **Enable Selected** menu item. To enable/disable a filter and to check if it is enabled, you can use the check boxes located on the left of each row representing the filter. It is also possible to refuse filtering registry keys from uninstall by disabling the **Use the following filters** option.

Toolbar Overview

Add Filter

The Add Filter button should be used to add a new user-defined Uninstall Registry Filter.

Edit

The Edit button allows you to change the selected user-defined Uninstall Registry Filter.

	Delete
×	The Delete button allows you to delete the selected user-defined Uninstall Registry Filter items.
	Clear User Filters
/	The Clear User Filters button should be used to delete all user-defined Uninstall Registry Filter items.
	View Mode
7.	The View Mode button is intended to show only the filters that meet specific criteria. You may show all the filters, the filters applicable for the current OS only, or specify a custom criterion for filters.

As for the user filters, those are the user-defined ones. To add a new filter, use the **Add Filter** item from the pop-up menu or press the **Add Filter** button on the toolbar.

Add Uninstall Registry Filter	×
Filter Condition Provide a path to the registry key to filter during the MSI package uninstall process. All keys and values in the provided key will also be filtered. You can use a regular expression, if required.	ř
General Conditions Key: HKEY_CURRENT_USER Software\NVIDIA Corporation Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value How should I specify the filter value correctly?	
ОК С	ancel

Pic 2. Configuring an Uninstall Registry Filter

When configuring an Uninstall Registry Filter Pic 2, you should define a registry key to be treated as persistent. No keys and values from the specified key, including the key itself, will be deleted while uninstalling a generated deployment package. To define a registry key, you should first choose the root key from the drop down list and then type in the path to the key in the text edit. If you enable the **Use a regular expression while specifying the filter value** option, you can define a filter that will treat as permanent all keys matching the expression. See the How should I correctly specify the filter value? section of this document for a detailed description of possible values.

A filter can be used in specific environments if you configure conditions for it. On the **Conditions** tab **Pic 3** you can specify the **Operating System**, the **Build Number** (of the OS) and the **Platform** where the filter should be applied. You can use one or multiple criteria together with the comparison operators to specify environments for the filter. If you specify a condition, you can see its value in the filters list. Using conditions can be helpful if you plan to perform monitoring on different OSs so that you can configure OS/platform-specific filters, if required.

Ilter Condition Provide a path to in the provided k	the registry key to ey will also be filter	filter during t red. You can u	he MSI packa se a regular e	ge unin xpressio	stall pro n, if req	cess. All uired.	keys and v	alues
General Condition	s y on operating syst	ems where all	of the follow	ing con	ditions a	ere met:		
Build Number:	any	- 0	indows /	-				
Platform:	any	- ×	16	~				
	-							

Pic 3. Configuring OS and platform conditions

To edit a user-defined Uninstall Registry Filter select it in the filters table and choose the **Edit** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Edit** button on the toolbar. The filter editing process is similar to the above-stated creation process. To delete the user-defined filters that are no longer needed, you can select those items in the filters table and choose the **Delete** menu item from the pop-up menu or press the **Delete** button on the toolbar. It is also possible to delete all user-defined filters using the **Clear User Filters** menu item and the corresponding button on the toolbar.

Miscellaneous Part

The **Miscellaneous** part of the program preferences should be used to configure the common MSI Package Builder options, such as automatic update settings, layouts configuration, the proxy settings to be used to connect to the Internet, etc. To open the **Preferences** dialog, click the **Preferences** button available from the **Application Menu**. Configure the available settings to best suit your needs.

What's Inside

General Settings Page Layouts Page Proxy Settings Page

General Settings Page

MSI Package Builder can automatically check for updates for you to always have the latest version of the program. You can configure this feature from the **General Settings** preference page. To open this page, click the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and select the **General Settings** link in the navigation bar on the left in the **Preferences** dialog within the **Miscellaneous** group **Pic 1**.



Pic 1. Configuring general settings

MSI Package Builder can check for updates automatically every day or once a week. To enable an automatic checking for updates, check the **Automatically check for updates** option and choose the checking frequency between **Daily** and **Weekly**. You can also define if the program should check for major updates by changing the **Automatically check for major updates** option value.

If you use a proxy server to connect to the Internet and the required proxy settings are not provided, an automatic check for updates will not take place.

The application may display warnings and hints, and you can choose if you would like each one to be shown again. On this page, you can reset all the remembered decisions to the defaults so that all the warnings and hints are shown. Use the **Reset All Remembered Decisions** button to this purpose.

Layouts Page

Layout management technology allows you to configure MSI Package Builder user interface, save it any time you want and then select between saved layouts to change the appearance without reconfiguring windows positions, sizes, etc.

The **Layouts** preference page **Pic 1** is designed to help you with windows layout management. To access this page click **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and select the appropriate link in the navigation bar on the left of the **Preferences** dialog.

Preferences			×	
MSI Package Builder Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface	^	Layouts Layout management allows you to configure the MSI Package Builder user interface, save it any t you want and then select from the saved layouts to change the appearances without reconfigurin window positions, sizes, etc.	ime ig the	
Filters	^	You can create a new layout, modify the existing one or choose from the already saved on The currently active layout is colored in grey and can be neither renamed nor deleted.		
Monitoring File Filters Monitoring Registry Filters Monitoring Process Filters Uninstall File Filters Uninstall Registry Filters		Layout Name My Layout	b	
General Settings Layouts Proxy Settings	^			
		New Rename Use Layout Reset Delete		
		Restore Defaults App	ly	
Restore Defaults		OK Can	el	

Pic 1. Managing Layouts

On the **Layouts** preference page **Pic 1** you can create new layout, modify existing one or choose from already saved layouts. Currently active layout is colored gray and cannot be either renamed or deleted.

Proxy Settings Page

MSI Package Builder requires an Internet connection to support the Live Update and Feedback features. Therefore, if a proxy server has to be used to connect to the Internet, it should be configured on the **Proxy Settings** preference page **Pic 1**. To access this page, click the **Preferences** button from the **Application Menu** and select the appropriate link in the navigation bar on the left in the **Preferences** dialog within the **Miscellaneous** group.

Preferences		×
Preferences MSI Package Builder Projects Configuration Package Signing User Interface Filters Monitoring File Filters Monitoring Registry Filters Monitoring Process Filters Uninstall File Filters Uninstall Registry Filters	^	X Proxy Settings MSI Package Builder requires an Internet connection to check for updates. Here you can specify the proxy settings to be used for Internet access. Configure Proxy Vou can choose between automatic detection and manual specification of the proxy configuration. Automatic detection means that Internet connection is established using the settings predefined in the Internet Explorer. Specify the proxy configuration to be used to access the Internet: Auto-detect proxy settings for this network Direct connection to the Internet Manual proxy configuration:
General Settings Layouts Proxy Settings	^	Address: Port: 8080 The network can be configured so that the proxy server would require authentication to connect to the Internet. Here you can specify the username, password and authentication type. Proxy server requires authentication User Name: Password: Restore Defaults Apply
Restore Defaults		OK Cancel

Pic 1. Proxy Settings

On this page **Pic 1**, you may choose among three variants of the proxy configuration to be used by the program. If **Auto-detect proxy settings for this network** is chosen, the program uses the settings predefined in the **Internet Explorer**. If MSI Package Builder does not have to use a proxy server to connect to the Internet, the **Direct connection to the Internet** option should be chosen. The **Manual proxy configuration** option allows you to provide the proxy server address and port manually.

Both for the automatic detection and manual configuration, it is possible to specify if the proxy server requires authentication and what credentials should be used to connect to the proxy server.

Chapter 11: Evaluation of the Program

MSI Package Builder is a shareware product, so you can try it before ordering a license. The download includes a free 30-days trial of the Enterprise edition of the program. It provides access to all the available features. After the trial expires, the program reverts to the Free edition, and you can keep using it as long as you like. You can order a license for a commercial edition of the program to register it and use the program's commercial features.

This chapter will cover the particularities of the evaluation mode, tell you how and where you can get the license code and how you can request the extended evaluation. Read this chapter carefully to face no difficulties during the EMCO MSI Package Builder evaluation.

Evaluation Wizard

As long as the EMCO MSI Package Builder is not activated on each program startup the **Evaluation Wizard** Pic 1 is displayed on the screen, showing you the information about the evaluation process and providing with quick links for the program activation, purchase and extended evaluation request.



Pic 1. The EMCO MSI Package Builder Evaluation Wizard welcome page

The welcome page of the **Evaluation Wizard** allows you to choose between four options to continue. Those are **Evaluate**, **Enter License Code**, **Request extended evaluation** and **Buy now**. Optionally you can press **Exit** button to close the program. In this section we will help you to choose the option that will best fit your needs.

The **Evaluate** option shows you the time left until the evaluation period expires. You should choose this option to continue the evaluation process – the wizard will be closed and you can start working with MSI Package Builder. You can use the program as long as the evaluation period does not expire to get a closer introduction to its main features.

It you have already purchased the license for using the EMCO MSI Package Builder you should choose the **Enter License Code** option to activate the program. This options also should be chosen if the extended evaluation request has been approved by EMCO Software and you have been provided with the Extended License. If you are having problems with finding the License Code refer to the Where can I get my License Code? section of this document. After choosing the **Enter License Code** option the program activation page is displayed on the screen **Pic 2**.

Activate EMCO MSI Package Builder	×
Enter License Code Copy and paste the License Code to the field below to activate the product. The program will be restarted to proceed with the activation.	R
Activate	Cancel

Pic 2. Activating EMCO MSI Package Builder

To activate EMCO MSI Package Builder copy and paste the License Code to the input field on this page and press **Activate** - the program will be restarted to activate.

If the evaluation period has expired and you are not sure you have fully introduced yourself to EMCO MSI Package Builder main features you can once request the extended evaluation. As soon as the request is processed by EMCO Software you are provided with the Extended License to prolong the evaluation period. To request the Extended License you should choose the **Request extended** evaluation option. After choosing this option the request form will appear on the screen **Pic 3**.

Extend Eval	uation of EMCO MSI Package Builder			×	
Request extended evaluation Fill in the fields below to request an Extended License. The comment field is optional and can be used to provide additional requirements for the evaluation extension. Please note that an Extended License can only be requested once.				•	
Name:	Alex Delorian	Company:	Dreamlight		
E-mail:	alex@dreamlight.org				
Comment:					
How should 1 formulate the extended license request?					
			Send Request	ancel	

Pic 3. Requesting an extended evaluation

To request the Extended License fill the fields on the request form regarding the recommendations and press the **Send Request** button.

The **Evaluation Wizard** also provides you with the short cut action that allows you to visit EMCO Software web store. To use this feature choose the **Buy Now** option. The on-line ordering process is fast, easy, and fully secure.

Where can I get my License Code?

After you have purchased the license for using EMCO MSI Package Builder our experts will generate the License Code and send it to you via e-mail to the address you have specified during the purchasing process. You are supposed to receive two e-mail messages – one with the License Code written in the message body and one with the attached text file (license.txt), containing the license. It is your choice to use any message because both License Codes are identical.

To activate the program the License Code received via e-mail should be copied and pasted to the program activation form **Pic 1**. This form can be reached using the **Enter License Code** button from the **Information** group on the Ribbon bar or by choosing the appropriate option in the **Evaluation Wizard**.

Activate EMCO MSI Package Builder	×
Enter License Code Copy and paste the License Code to the field below to activate the product. The program will be restarted to proceed with the activation.	R
Activate	Cancel

Pic 1. Activating EMCO MSI Package Builder

To activate MSI Package Builder, copy and paste the License Code to the input field and press **Activate** - the program will be restarted to activate.

How should I formulate the Extended License request?

The Extended License is used to prolong the evaluation period to get a closer look at EMCO MSI Package Builder. This feature can be reached by choosing the appropriate option in the **Evaluation Wizard**. Here we'll give you the recommendations on filling the **Request extended evaluation** form **Pic 1**.

Extend Eval	uation of EMCO MSI Package Builder			×
Request of Fill in the used to Extended	extended evaluation he fields below to request an Extended Lice provide additional requirements for the ex ed License can only be requested once.	nse. The comr valuation exter	ment field is optional and can be nsion. Please note that an	2
Name:	Alex Delorian	Company:	Dreamlight	
E-mail:	alex@dreamlight.org			
Comment:				
How should	I formulate the Extended License request?			
			Send Request	Cancel

Pic 1. The Request Extended Evaluation form

In the **Request extended evaluation** form you should obligatory specify your name in the **Name** field, company name in the **Company** field and your e-mail address in the **E-mail** field.

Though the **Comment** field is optional it is strongly recommended to use this field for providing EMCO Software with the reason of requesting the Extended License. Please notice that EMCO Software reserves the right to decline the request without providing a requester with any explanations.

If the extended license request is approved by EMCO Software experts you'll receive the License Code to the e-mail address specified.
Chapter 12: Program Updates

EMCO Software cares for versatile needs of the users of EMCO programs and fully understands their wish to have the most up-to-date software installed on there PCs. That is why we provide you with an easy update feature. You do not need to browse the Internet again and again to find out if any updates are available – MSI Package Builder will do this work for you. Checking for updates can be performed both manually and automatically. This chapter describes the Live Update process for the current major version of the program and the Major Update feature which allows you to get a brand new version of MSI Package Builder quickly and easily.

Live Update

MSI Package Builder can be easily updated with just a few clicks. The update process is performed via an Internet connection using preconfigured proxy settings.



Check for Updates

The **Check for Updates** button from the **Update** Ribbon group should be used to check for new versions of MSI Package Builder.

MSI Package Builder can check for updates automatically. You can configure the program behavior regarding the automatic check for updates on the **General Settings** preference page.

To check for updates, click the **Check for Updates** button from the **Application Menu** or from the **Update** group of the **Program** Ribbon page. MSI Package Builder will check if any updates are available and if so, the **Live Update Wizard Pic 1** will appear on the screen.



Pic 1. The Live Update Wizard welcome page

The **Live Update Wizard** will introduce you to the changes made in the newer version and guide you through the whole updating process while showing the detailed download progress. When the download is finished, the program will be restarted to perform the actual update.

Major Update

Along with the **Live Update** feature, MSI Package Builder comes with a built-in function of automatic checking for Major Updates. The Major Update is an update to a brand-new version of MSI Package Builder that includes a number of significant changes.

You can install this version alongside the version you are using now. It will import the settings and data from your current version, so that you won't need to configure the new version in the same way you configured the one you are using at the moment. Such parallel installation allows you to inspect the new version and compare it with the previous one in your environment with your data and settings.

The Major Update is installed alongside the version you currently use. The existing version is not automatically uninstalled from your PC, and you can continue using the program version you are accustomed to while having a look at the brand new one.

If the program detects availability of a Major Update, the **Major Update Wizard** Pic 1 will appear on the screen.

Major Update Wizard		×
	Welcome to the Ma The major update is an installation of b includes a number of significant change The new version of the program will im current version, so you won't need to c	ajor Update Wizard prand-new version of the program, which es. port the settings and data from your onfigure the new version in the same way
	you configured the one you are using a allows you to inspect the new version a environment with data and settings. You are eligible to purch the upgrade price. Till pu program will be run in th <u>Review the upgrade price</u> The new version will be i of the program. The curr be modified nor uninsta it while trying out the br	At the moment. Such parallel installation and compare it with previous one in your base the new version of the program at urchased, the new version of the he evaluation mode.
	To proceed, press Next.	How to benefit from Major Update?
	< Back	ext > Finish Cancel

Pic 1. The Major Update Wizard welcome page

The **Major Update Wizard** will introduce you to the features available in the brand new version of MSI Package Builder and guide you through the update process. The message displayed at the bottom of the welcome page will let you know if the current License allows you to install and use the Major Update for free. When the download is finished, the new version installation will be run automatically.

Chapter 13: Requirements

Please carefully read and follow all requirements, listed here, or you may not be able to successfully use the product. You can contact our support if you experience a problem during the product use.

System Requirements

Computer running MSI Package Builder must meet the following requirements:

Minimum Hardware Requirements

- Intel Core iX Processor or equivalent
- 4 GB of RAM
- 2 GB of free disk space

Recommended Hardware Requirements

- 6th Gen Intel Core iX Processor or equivalent
- 8 GB of RAM
- 10 GB of free disk space

Supported Platforms (x86/x64)

- Windows 11, 10, 8.1, 8, 7 (with SP1 or later)
- Windows Server 2022, 2019, 2016, 2012 R2, 2012, 2008 R2 (with SP1 or later)

Requirements

- Administrative rights on the local computer
- Microsoft .NET Framework 3.5 SP1 or above

Chapter 14: Edition Upgrade

The program has multiple editions with different features, so you can select the one that suits your needs.



Edition Upgrade

The **Edition Upgrade** provides you with an ability of benefiting from update to a more comprehensive edition of MSI Package Builder with a help of the **Edition Upgrade Wizard** that will help you choose an appropriate edition and purchase a license for using it.

The **Edition Upgrade Wizard** Pic 1 was designed to make the upgrade process easier. This wizard can be reached by clicking an appropriate hyper link in the **About** dialog or by using the **Edition Upgrade** button from the **Program** Ribbon page.



Pic 1. The Edition Upgrade Wizard

With a help of the **Edition Upgrade Wizard**, you can purchase an upgrade to more comprehensive edition of MSI Package Builder with a single click on the **Get more features with an advanced edition of the program** option or introduce yourself to the features available in the other edition of the program using the **Choose the program edition that is best for you** option. This option will open a feature list web page that shows you the detailed comparison matrix of the features available in different MSI Package Builder editions so that you can review all the features of each edition before choosing the one that best fits your needs.

Chapter 15: How can I leave my Feedback?

EMCO Software always takes care of its customers, and your opinion means a lot to us. For this reason, our programs have built-in features for your feedback. You can suggest a feature you want to see in new program versions or report a technical problem you have faced using the program. Specifying your contact information on the feedback forms ensures that you will be informed of any changes with regard to the reported issue, our plans for implementing the suggested feature or fixing the reported bug. Those actions can be found in the **Feedback** Ribbon group of the Program page.



Suggest a Feature

The **Suggest a Feature** button from the **Feedback** Ribbon group should be used to suggest a functionality you would like to see in the next versions of MSI Package Builder.

MSI Package Builder comes with a wide range of features, but if you feel some functionality is missing, you can always suggest a new feature to us that you want to see in the program. To suggest a new feature, you should press the **Suggest a Feature** button from the **Feedback** Ribbon group. After pressing this button, you will see the **Feature Suggestion** dialog **Pic 1** on the screen where you are offered to enter your contact information and describe your suggestion.

Feature Sugg	jestion	×
Define rep No infor informat	Port content mation is gathered from your computer - the data we receive contains only this tion. You will receive a copy of this report by e-mail to the specified address.	
Name:	Alex Delorian Company: Dreamlight	
E-mail:	alex@dreamlight.org	
Summary:	Custom Actions	
Description:	I would like to execute custom actions before and after the installation. I think it would like to execute custom actions before and after the installation.	uld be useful.
How can I le	ave my feedback?	
	Send	Cancel

Pic 1. The feature suggestion form

Press **Send** when you are done with filling out the form to send your suggestion.



Report a Problem

The **Report a Problem** button should be used to report a problem you have faced while working with MSI Package Builder.

MSI Package Builder is easy to use and very stable. Nevertheless, if you have faced any difficulty or problem while working with it, you can send us a problem report. To send such a report, you should press the **Report a Problem** button from the **Feedback** Ribbon group. When this button is pressed, the **Problem Report** dialog **Pic 2** will appear on the screen where you are offered to enter your contact information and describe your problem.

Problem Repo	rt		×
Define repo No inform receive on is provide	ort content nation except the data you see i ily this information. You will rea d.	in this dialog is gathered from y ceive a copy of this report by e-	rour computer - we mail if an e-mail address
Name:	Alex Delorian	Company: Drea	amlight
E-mail:	alex@dreamlight.org		
Environment:	Microsoft Windows NT 10.0.19045		
Summary:	How to make changes to the repackaged installation?		
Description:	I cannot find the way, how can I monitor the installation and then add two more shortcuts to the installation. I am using the Repackaging Wizard. Please assist.		
How can I leav	e my feedback?		
			Send Cancel

Pic 2. The problem report form

In the **Environment** field, you can provide us with a description of the specific environment used while working with the program. Press **Send** when you are done with filling out the form to send your report.

Do not hesitate to contact EMCO Software - we are always glad to receive your feedback and are doing our best to satisfy our customers' preferences.

Chapter 16: About EMCO Software

EMCO creates mission-critical software to manage network computers remotely and automate network administration.

Our company was founded in 2001 in Reykjavik, Iceland. Managing Windows networks as network administrators, we could not find tools that would help us automate our routine network administration tasks, so we decided to create such tools for fellow administrators and ourselves.

Today we offer innovative software that help IT specialists and network administrators to automate their Windows network management tasks. Our software tools are focused on remote management of Windows computers across networks and allow administrators to perform routine tasks on all managed computers with a few mouse clicks. We automate software audit and deployment, power management, hosts monitoring and other computer administration tasks.

Learn more: http://emcosoftware.com.

Our Customers

Being suitable for managing networks of any size, our products cater to the needs of 25,000+ customers in 85 countries around the globe. They are Fortune 100 corporations and small businesses, as well as governments, military institutions, universities, public schools, libraries and charities.

Our customers rely on EMCO products for managing their mission-critical network infrastructure. Using our products, network administrators monitor, audit, deploy and manage 3,000,000+ network devices every day.

Chapter 17: Contact Information

We would be glad to help you with any questions and problems you might have. Use the contact information below.

Contact Sales	Contact Support	
Our sales team is standing by to answer your	Our support team is here to help you with any	
questions about purchasing or licensing EMCO	technical product-related issues you may have.	
products. Submit a request, send us an e-mail or	We provide free technical support for all our	
call us: Contact Sales.	products, including freeware. Submit a request	
	or send us an e-mail: Contact Support.	